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You may be one of the thousands of people around the world who 

have first- or secondhand information about flying saucers. You may 

have had a sighting yourself, or know someone who has. You may 

have a friend or relative who was involved in one of the government 

agencies named in this book. You may have thought your story was 

not important, or you may have convinced yourself that it was all 

your imagination. 

What you know can make a difference. Hundreds of people like 

you have been inspired after reading books or seeing TV documen- 

taries to tell what they know. Quite often, these leads reveal new 

paths in the search for the truth about flying saucers, allowing re- 

searchers to corroborate older information or to uncover new wit- 

nesses and documents. 

If this book inspires you to come forth with your own knowl- 

edge, don’t hesitate to contact me. My telephone number is 506-457- 

0232; my fax number is 506-450-3832. From the United States, you 

can write to me at PO Box 958, Houlton, ME 04730-0958. From 

Canada or other parts of the world, send mail to 79 Pembroke 

Crescent, Fredericton, New Brunswick E3B 2V1 Canada. On the 

Internet, you can reach me at fsphys@brunswickmicro.nb.ca. 

Witnesses’ names will not be used without permission. I’m willing to 

listen. 

Stanton Friedman 

Fredericton, New Brunswick 
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FOREWORD 

In this book, Stanton Friedman does something that nobody else has 

ever done before: he provides virtual proof that there is a UFO 

coverup, and that it is regarded as a matter of the very highest im- 

portance by U.S. government agencies. 

Friedman has been involved in UFO research for more than a 

quarter century. During that time, he has struggled tirelessly against 

a vast amount of resistance on almost every level. He has uncovered 

hoaxes, discovered hidden truths, and has fought arrogant bureau- 

crats and fallacy-happy UFO debunkers, not to mention other re- 

searchers eager to discredit him for their own ends. He is one of the 

few truly professional UFO researchers. 

In these pages, he develops a detailed chronicle of a seemingly 

incredible reality: there is a great secret at the center of the U.S. gov- 

ernment, and the government is guarding that secret with a zeal 

so fanatical that its actions appear to have crossed the border into 

paranoia. 

To pursue his case, Friedman has spent a substantial part of his 

adult life struggling to extract secrets from a bureaucracy that has 

reduced things like the Freedom of Information Act to a grotesque, 

x1 
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Kafkaesque joke. Abuse of FOIA is routine in the federal system. 

Responses to requests that the act mandates should take only short 

periods are dealt with at a pace so slow that it amounts to contempt 

for the law. Certain requests that Friedman initiated in 1988 have yet 

to be acted upon. 

The remarkable thing is that Friedman has kept at this for so 

long. Being a professional UFO researcher doesn’t return much 

money. The public recognition is at best a very mixed bag. But 

Friedman is among a small group of brave and determined people 

who have persisted for years. 

He offers a remarkably cogent case for the authenticity of a num- 

ber of documents relating to the coverup. Notable among these are 

the Cutler-Twining memo of 1954 that refers to MJ-12, the group of 

high-level scientists and military personnel who oversaw the recovery 

and analysis of UFOs in the 1940s and 1950s, and which may still 

exist today. Another astonishing document that has stood up under 

his close scrutiny is the Eisenhower briefing of 1952, which offers a 

short background regarding the status of the recovery of debris and 

extraterrestrial biological remains. 

Both of these documents have been extensively debunked in the 

UFO press, but Friedman’s very close and painstaking analysis leads 

one to doubt not their authenticity, but the veracity and motives of 

some of the people who have taken such pains to deny their valid- 

ity. Some of these individuals are shown to have ignored and even 

doctored evidence in their zeal to prove the documents false. It 

would now seem essential for them to prove that they are not work- 

ing in furtherance of a conspiracy of silence before they can be 

trusted further. 

More important even than these documents, though, is an event 

that took place in the late 1970s, which Friedman precipitated along 

with the Citizens Against UFO Secrecy (CAUS), and which proves, 

beyond any doubt, that there is a coverup. 

Under FOIA, CAUS asked to obtain UFO information from the 

CIA. The CIA claimed that it had none. After the demand was 

made through federal judge Gerhard Gesell, the CIA produced doc- 
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* uments, some of which suggested that other agencies, including the 

National Security Agency, also had files. A request to the NSA for its 

documents was turned down. Further court action elicited none of 

the 156 documents which were withheld. 

CAUS then asked Gesell to request to see the documents that he 

might rule on the legality of the NSA’s actions. Incredibly, the NSA 

refused even to do this. Instead, it produced an affidavit saying why 

they should be kept secret. 

To read this affidavit, Gesell had to be security cleared Above 

Top Secret. When he had read the affidavit, the judge agreed that 

nobody should be allowed to read the documents—not even himself! 

When the issue was brought before the Court of Appeals, that tri- 

bunal concurred with Gesell and the NSA that they didn’t need to 

know. The appeals court, which normally takes months and even 

years to decide issues, handed down its opinion in a matter of days. 

Whatever was in that affidavit was so convincing that they agreed 

without question to continue the coverup. 

This certainly reveals one thing: those documents contain infor- 

mation that is spectacularly and incredibly secret. What sort of in- 

formation might produce a need for this unprecedented level of 

concealment is unknown. The secret must be different from the other 

secrets held by the federal government. It is hard to conceive of any- 

thing so dangerous that it could not be revealed even to a security- 

cleared federal judge in the privacy of his chambers. It is almost as 

if the judge himself would have been placed in some sort of jeop- 

ardy if he knew the secret. Arguably, Friedman and CAUS were 

dealing with the most jealously kept secret in American history. 

What the secret might be is another question. There has been a 

lot of speculation, of course. For example, it has been suggested that, 

since the aliens are so secretive themselves, they are forcing our gov- 

ernment to maintain its part of the coverup. 

However, the real reasons for it may be much more down to 

earth. It is more likely that the coverup of this most important of all 

information has been going on so long that it has become self-per- 

petuating—revealing it now would cause the public to realize that 
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it had been lied to for years in ways so fundamentally irresponsible as 

to make the government unworthy of the public trust. 

Friedman provides his own fascinating insights into why this 

material was held to such extremely rigorous standards of secrecy, 

and details some remarkable stories about this secrecy, including an 

extraordinary close encounter that had tragic results for some of the 

military personnel involved. 

His argument concerning the existence of a coverup is devastat- 

ingly powerful, even terrifying, and the complicity of the powerful 

national press seems inescapable and tragic. Friedman documents the 

Washington Post responding to him in a completely inappropriate 

manner when he questioned some facts it had reported in relation 

to Congressman Steven Schiff’s request for the General Accounting 

Office to investigate the 1947 Roswell incident. 

This terribly provocative book is not only the history of an appalling 

secret that is probably the central reality of our times, but also of the 

life of a man who has been fighting to reveal that secret for most of 

his adult life. The vilification and scorn that has been heaped upon 

Stanton Friedman is amazing, and it can be safely assumed that this 

book will receive the same sort of treatment from the press. 

That this will not stop him is fortunate. Friedman is the sort of 

man who, after being thrown down a cliff, simply gathers himself up 

and starts climbing again. 

A shadow hangs over our world, and it is the shadow of this se- 

cret. We have reached a terrible place indeed in the history of our 

republic when the servants of the people would keep the most vital 

information they possess—indeed, the most vital information any 

human institution has ever possessed—from the people. 

It is to be hoped that Friedman and his successors will one day 

write the complete history of this dreadful secret, so our nation will 

be cleansed at last of its corrosive and debilitating effects. 

Whitley Strieber 

May 1996 

* 



INTRODUCTUON 

WHAT'S A NICE NUCLEAR 
PHYSICIST DOING IN 
A PLACE LINE THIS? 

For almost 40 years, I have been researching UFOs. I have written 

two books and dozens of articles, have spoken before hundreds of 

live audiences, and have appeared on many more call-in shows on 

television as well as radio. I am what you might call a “personality,” 

judging from the number of strangers who stop me on the street 

when I am away from home on speaking tours. 

I am positively convinced that alien UFOs exist, that they are vis- 

iting earth, and that our government knows this. I do not base this on 

wishful thinking, nor am I some apocalyptic philosopher concerned 

about the coming of the millenia. My conviction comes from a sci- 

entific analysis of facts that I and other researchers have gathered 

over the years. This growing body (I might say mountain) of data 

overwhelmingly supports the idea that other civilizations, probably 

from nearby in our own galaxy, are checking us out from close range. 

While growing up in Linden, New Jersey in the lat
e 1940s, my best 

friend was Roger, who lived about a block away. Roger’s brother was 

four years older than us, and he had a great collection of pulp mag- 

azines that he let us read. Although I went more for the adventure 

1 
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stories that I got out of the library, I enjoyed the sci-fi magazines, 

too. I was certainly excited about space travel in the late 1940s, as 

many of us post-World War II kids were, but in high school I was, 

too busy with sports, the debate team, and work to follow it. After 

high school, my busy schedule continued as I worked my way 

through two years at Rutgers as a busboy in the Catskills and down 

on the Jersey shore. I continued my studies—and my restaurant ex- 

perience—at the University of Chicago. 

After the University of Chicago awarded me a masters degree 

in physics in 1956, I got a job at the General Electric Aircraft 

Nuclear Propulsion (ANP) Department in Evendale, just north of 

Cincinnati, Ohio. As the name of the department indicates, we were 

working on nuclear-powered high-performance jet aircraft, and so 

our research was classified Secret Restricted Data. The program was 

jointly sponsored by the Atomic Energy Commission and the Air 

Force. We were at the leading edge of technology, and our program 

had money for exotic materials, expensive tests, and extensive cal- 

culations. 

The department was growing rapidly. In 1958 we had perhaps 

3,500 employees, of whom about 1,100 were engineers and scientists. 

The government provided facilities, fissionable materials, and a bud- 

get of more than $100 million a year. My associates—many of whom 

had been in the service and so were several years older—were very 

sharp people from whom I learned a lot. But I was anxious to assert 

my knowledge as well, since there was really nobody around with a 

long history in the field. 

The emphasis of our work was developing shielding for the nu- 

clear reactor that was to power the aircraft. The reactor heated air 

to above 1,700°F for the turbines—a much higher temperature than 

conventional water-cooled reactors. Thus, our two primary concerns 

were temperature and weight, since the nuclear-powered engine re- 

quired a new kind of shielding that was the biggest portion of the 

weight of the engine. Thus I had a real opportunity to make a sig- 

nificant contribution through high-temperature experiments with 

various exotic combinations of materials. We made great strides to- 
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-ward our goal, and as early as 1957 we successfully operated jet en- 

gines on nuclear power. 

Some time in 1958, I was ordering a batch of books from a mail 

order company. I needed one more choice so we wouldn't have to pay 

shipping charges, and so I was idly leafing through the catalog. My 

eye fell on a blurb about The Report on Unidentified Flying Objects by 

Air Force Captain Edward J. Ruppelt, who had headed the Air Force 

Project Blue Book in the 1950s at Wright-Patterson Air Force Base 

in Dayton, just up the road. 

The Air Force was very exciting to me. The experiments I was 

involved in were conducted at a nuclear testing facility operated by 

Convair at the end of a runway at Carswell Air Force Base in Fort 

Worth, Texas, and when I was there I used to enjoy watching the 

many different planes taking off and landing. The huge, lumbering 

B-36 was built at Convair in Fort Worth, as was the sleek, high-per- 

formance B-58 bomber. The Air Force’s flagship B-52 bombers were 

there as well. 

While I neither knew nor cared much about flying saucers, I fig- 

ured that Captain Ruppelt probably knew what he was talking about. 

What if there really were alien spacecraft, perhaps using nuclear 

power for high-speed travel in the atmosphere or between the stars? 

Our program could certainly benefit from the knowledge. Or the 

book might be good for a laugh. 

When the books came, I read Ruppelt’s first. It didn’t convince 

me on the spot that flying saucers existed, but the captain had in- 

cluded a lot of hard-to-refute data. I loaned the book to my neighbor, 

Charlie, also an engineer and about ten years my senior. I respected 

Charlie, and he was more convinced than I was that there really was 

something to this UFO stuff. His opinion that Ruppelt’s data was 

sensible heightened my interest in the subject. (More than a decade 

later, when I spoke to a chapter of the Institute of Electrical and 

Electronic Engineers in Connecticut, Charlie’s first words when he 

came up to me with his wife were, “We knew you when you didn’t 

believe in flying saucers.”) 



4 FOP SECRET UMAIIC 

* * * * 

A couple of years later, I was working at Aerojet General Nucleonics 

near San Francisco. I had become disenchanted with the ANP pro- 

gram, as it had gone through several budgetary ups and downs and 

it lacked the kind of leadership it needed to compete for research and 

development funding. Aerojet General was much smaller than GE- 

ANP, and I was now considered an expert in the field. Due in part 

to my expertise, Aerojet General won a contract to develop very- 

high-performance, extremely compact nuclear reactors to provide 

electric power for space vehicles. 

Unfortunately, not too long afterward, the ANP program was 

canceled and Pratt & Whitney, GE’s major competitor, was given the 

compact reactor contract. It had expensive facilities that Aerojet 

General could not match, and their design used liquid metals such as 

sodium, potassium, or lithium to cool the reactors. Since I liked 

California, I managed to get work on other proposals for Aerojet 

General, including the development of a nuclear rocket. We won 

that contract, too, but the work was mostly done elsewhere. 

I wound up consulting with other parts of the company on a 

compact, transportable reactor that could be set up quickly to pro- 

duce power at remote installations. Since this was at the height of the 

cold war and Americans were worried about the Russians raining 

missiles down on us, I was also involved in a proposal to review 

Soviet scientific literature to determine their capabilities in regard 

to nuclear power in space—whether it be to power radar, weapons, or 

other systems. 

We won that competition, and I spent well over a year as pro- 
ject engineer for the “Analysis and Evaluation of Fast and 
Intermediate Reactors for Space Vehicle Applications.” Although 
the program's title was impressive, it was really just a one-person op- 
eration. The contract was administered out of the Air Force’s Foreign 
Technology Division at Wright-Patterson back in Ohio—coinci- 
dentally the same division that administered Project Blue Book, the 
most extensive and more or less unclassified study of UFO sightings 
done by the U.S. government. 
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Over the next year and a half, I made a number of trips back to 

Dayton to meet with my project monitor and to review huge collec- 

tions of abstracts of Soviet technical literature at the Battelle Mem- 

orial Institute in Columbus. I also met with the new Project Blue 

Book head, Major Friend, on several occasions. Although I had se- 

curity clearance to work on the program, the Foreign Technology of- 

fice was in a vault inside a vault, and I was admitted only with an 

escort. 

During this time, I had happened upon a privately published ver- 

sion of U.S. Air Force Project Blue Book Special Report 14 at the 

nearby University of California, Berkeley, library. I had already read 

more than a dozen UFO books thanks to a very helpful local librar- 

ian, but none had mentioned Special Report 14 by name. By nature, 

I’m a facts and figures man, and now I was in data heaven. The 

Special Report had more than 240 charts, tables, graphs, and maps. 

It covered over 3,000 sightings of which more than 600 could not 

be identified by the professiona! investigators. 

The organization that actually did the work of collecting, re- 

viewing, and evaluating the sightings was none other than Battelle 

Memorial Institute. They found that the better the quality of a sight- 

ing, the more likely it would remain unidentified after investigation 

by the scientists involved. 

Whoever compiled the report did quality evaluations of each re- 

ported sighting. They characterized the sightings into “knowns” (air- 

craft, astronomical, etc.), “unknowns,” and “insufficient information,” 

and also cross-compared the “unknowns” with the “knowns” using six 

characteristics—including apparent size, shape, speed, and color. The 

researchers found that the probability of “unknowns” simply being 

missed “knowns” was less than one percent! 

As I sorted through this mountain of data, I became more and 

more certain that the government’s own information strongly indi- 

cated that a significant number of UFO sightings were probably of 

alien vehicles. I also recognized that the Air Force, in its October 

1955 press release about the study, flat-out lied. 
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The report was never publicly distributed by the Air Force, al- 

though they gave very wide distribution to the press release, a comic- 

book style drawing of a “flying saucer,” and what the Air Force said: 

was a summary of the Blue Book report—which did not include any 

of the fascinating data in all those tables. Naturally, they didn't say 

who did the work or where it was done or even give the title of the 

program. Undoubtedly, if “Project Blue Book Special Report 14” 

had been mentioned in the press release, some intrepid reporter 

would have asked, “What about Reports 1-13?” 

For my Foreign Technology project, I wrote two final reports. 

The first, for general consumption, was basically an unclassified bib- 

liography listing Soviet publications on every aspect of technology re- 

lated to building nuclear reactors for space applications. The second 

was highly classified, had a very limited distribution, and included my 

evaluation of Soviet capabilities vis-a-vis U.S. technology and my 

prediction that the USSR would very soon be building nuclear reac- 

tors for space applications. (When the Soviet Cosmos 954 satellite, 

with its nuclear reactor, reentered the atmosphere and crashed in the 

Canadian wilderness, I was probably one of very few Americans who 

were delighted to hear the news. My report had been right on! 

Cosmos 954 was about the thirteenth such satellite the Soviets had 

orbited, and the total eventually reached more than thirty. Even now, 

the United States has launched only one nuclear reactor into space. 

There was a great fuss in the press about possible radiation damage to 

caribou and lichens, but I never saw one report that mentioned the 

real significance of the satellite—that the Soviets were well ahead of 

us in providing power for military applications in space.) 

Because of my own experience with the Foreign Technology 

Division and Battelle, I was absolutely convinced that a highly clas- 

sified report, most likely Special Report 13, had been written with 

the good stuff in it. But the Air Force got away with their totally mis- 

leading press release. At the time, no one asked about it. 

While at Aerojet General, I joined the Washington-based National 

Investigations Committee on Aerial Phenomena (NICAP) and the 
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Fucson-based Aerial Phenomena Research Organization (APRO). 

Both are gone now, but they did lead me to other interested profes- 

sional people. Many of us at Aerojet General ate our lunches at 

our desks, and we often discussed outer space, flying saucers, and 

security. I wrote to Aime Michel, a French researcher who had writ- 

ten two excellent books on UFOs, for ideas on how to get more in- 

volved in the field. His advice was, “Don’t bother. It’s much too 

frustrating.” 

This advice was not a deterrent to me, for I had other influences. 

While working on Aerojet General’s design of a nuclear fusion 

rocket for deep space travel using newly discovered superconduct- 

ing materials, I came in contact with John Luce, probably the best 

scientist I have ever known. Luce, who had been head of the Oak 

Ridge National Laboratory’s nuclear fusion department, joined 

Aerojet General as director of research. John was a true leader of men 

although he never went to college. Apparently, this was no drawback, 

for he received an honorary Ph.D. and more than 40 patents for 

high-tech devices. He was a world-renowned leader in fusion and 

plasma physics devices, and was always doing things that other ex- 

perts said couldn't be done. 

His work demonstrated to me a very important maxim: techno- 

logical progress comes from doing things differently in an unpre- 

dictable way. Thus, the future is not an extrapolation of the past. For 

example, rockets propelled by nuclear fusion, the process that pro- 

duces the sun’s energy, are as much of an advance over our present 

chemical-fuel rockets as microintegrated circuitry is over the vacuum 

tubes that powered our first computers. Using the right materials in 

a properly designed nuclear fusion rocket, one can eject particles hav- 

ing ten million times as much energy per particle as in the chemical 

rockets we use now. Yet most academic reports about interstellar 

travel assume the use of primitive chemical rockets in calculating 

how long it would take us to reach other stars. If we extrapolate from 

the past, interstellar travel is impossible. If we do things differently 

than in the past, interstellar travel becomes feasible. 
* * * * 
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In early 1963, I moved to General Motors’ Allison Division in 

Indianapolis, where I oversaw the shielding work on the military 

compact reactor program. Much of my time was spent looking over, 

the shoulder of our nuclear subcontractor in White Plains, New York. 

My son has hemophilia, and so I had become active in the local 

chapter of the National Hemophilia Foundation. Needing a fasci- 

nating speaker for a fundraising dinner, I contacted Frank Edwards, 

a well-known reporter who was on the board of NICAP and was 

quite outspoken about his conviction that some UFOs were extrater- 

restrial and that the government knew about it. The speech went 

over very well. 

My next stop as an itinerant nuclear physicist was Westinghouse 

Astronuclear Laboratory near Pittsburgh, where I was involved in re- 

search on shielding for a nuclear rocket engine. Once again, I found 

many of my colleagues very interested in UFOs. Frank Edwards sent 

me a copy of his new book, Flying Saucers—Serious Business, and after 

I read it, I called Frank to see how I might help spread the word. 

Having traveled extensively and met media people everywhere, he 

gave me some leads, including the producer of a talk show on 

KDKA, the biggest radio station in Pittsburgh. I called and offered 

to appear to talk about UFOs. The producer was relatively cold to the 

idea, and said he would get back to me. It seemed like a brush-off, 

but not too long thereafter, they called me at 6:30 P.M. for a 7:00 

show. Their other guest had canceled—could I make it? 

Luckily, I lived close to the station and got there on time. 

Unluckily, it was baptism by fire. The host knew little about the topic 

and made ridiculous charges about UFOs and those who were in- 

terested in them. I didn’t know how to handle the situation, and did 

the best I could. I apparently did well enough, for a woman who was 

a technician at Westinghouse heard it and asked me to talk to her 

book review club, which was reading Edwards's book. And so it was 

in her living room that I gave my first UFO lecture, for free. I did a 

number of such presentations on what I came to call the chicken- 

and-peas circuit. 
* * * * 
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As I gave more lectures, | found that I enjoyed speaking and that 

people believed me no matter what I said. After all, I was a nuclear 

physicist for Westinghouse, which in Pittsburgh, with its numerous 

nuclear divisions and research facilities, were gold-plated credentials. 

The blind acceptance frightened me—now I knew how the dema- 

gogues of the twentieth century had had such success. I wanted peo- 

ple to think, to explore, to look at the data and make up their own 

minds. I decided that I would try to reach more technical groups, 

who presumably wouldn't accept everything I said as gospel. 

I didn’t want to jeopardize my job, so I asked my boss if man- 

agement had any restrictions on employee speaking engagements. 

The response was that I could speak where I wanted and say what I 

wanted on my time, so long as I made clear that the opinions ex- 

pressed were mine and not those of my employer. I could even iden- 

tify myself as a Westinghouse nuclear physicist. They could not have 

been fairer. (Even in recent months I have found that many scientists 

in Europe are afraid to speak out about UFOs for fear of retribution 

by management.) 

I convinced a Westinghouse colleague to have me as a speaker for 

a joint meeting of the local sections of the Institute of Electrical and 

Electronic Engineers IEEE) and the American Institute of Aero- 

nautics and Astronautics (AIAA), to be held at the Mellon Institute. 

He was program chairman. I told him a lot of people would come, 

and all I wanted in return was the cost of a babysitter and dinner for 

my wife and me. 

When we went to the the preprogram dinner at a hotel across the 

street from the institute, I thought I would be eating my words in- 

stead. Only about two dozen people showed up at dinner. However, 

when we walked into the auditorium, my faith in my colleagues was 

borne out. The hall was packed, and people were still sifting in. By 

the time I started speaking, more than 400 people were in atten- 

dance. 

My lecture—‘“Flying Saucers Are Real!’—was designed to raise 

the objections of the skeptics and then demolish them with facts. I 

leaned heavily on Special Report 14 for my data, and I could tell that 



10 TOP SECRET/MAJIC 

the audience was interested. This was just the sort of presentation 

they could relate to. I recognized a number of high-level people from 

Westinghouse and other area corporations, and the question-and- | 

answer session went on until the janitor chased us out. There were no 

hostile questions. People came at me not only with questions, but 

with money. I sold eight copies of Special Report 14 and took or- 

ders for ten more. Even more gratifying, as after my radio stints, a 

number of listeners asked how they could dig deeper into the subject, 

and I was able to refer them to our very active UFO group in 

Pittsburgh, the UFO Research Institute. 

UFORI had begun as a subcommittee of NICAP, and it ex- 

panded rapidly. It funded meetings, published a newsletter, investi- 

gated UFO cases, had a 24-hour answering service, and distributed 

scientific materials. I was elected president in 1968. Our goals were 

to get instrument data during a sighting and to educate the public via 

the media to the existence of alien spacecraft. I also contributed a 

paper to Congressional hearings on UFOs held on July 29, 1968. 

Some time after the IEEE-AIAA session, I was driving to work with 

a woman named Jo Ann, who was a supervisor at Westinghouse. She 

had received her Ph.D. from Carnegie-Mellon University, and in ca- 

sual conversation, I told her I would like to speak at CMU. She said, 

“Talk to the dean.” Unthinkingly, I replied that I had spoken with a 

professor there who expressed no interest. She looked at me. “Talk to 

the dean, Stan. He’s my husband!” 

I called her husband, and it turned out he had heard some of my 

appearances on KDKA. He said he would be delighted to have me 

speak at the university. After we settled on a date and time, he asked 

me how much money I wanted. Thinking quickly—I would have to 

take a half-day off from work—I said $100, hoping for $50. “Sold!” 

he said. Then, because Jo Ann knew me, he let me in on what the 

other speakers in the series were getting paid: $1,200-$1,500! He 

also was kind enough to give me the name of the agency through 

which he had booked the other speakers. After my Carnegie-Mellon 

lecture, which went extremely well, I called the agency and they 
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booked me to speak to the Engineering Society of Detroit for the as- 

tronomical sum of $300 plus travel expenses. That lecture was truly 

a turning point. It sold out three weeks in advance for 1,000 people. 

I was now a professional speaker. 

In the coming months, I spoke at a number of gatherings of the 

IEEE, AIAA, and other technical societies. I also received a request 

from a colleague at Los Alamos National Laboratory to speak to the 

local section of the American Nuclear Society. My host and I were 

both delighted when a crowd of 500 showed up for the lecture and 

stayed for an enthusiastic question-and-answer session. But I wasn’t 

surprised, for the man responsible for obtaining the copy of Special 

Report 14 that I had found in the Berkeley library had been a sci- 

entist there. Their library had lots of UFO books. Ironically, at the 

time, I knew nothing about UFO crashes in New Mexico, specifi- 

cally the Roswell incident, with which I was to become so closely 

linked. But twenty-five years later when I spoke at Los Alamos, my 

lecture title was “Crashed Saucers in New Mexico.” I was certain that 

pieces of the wrecked saucers went to Los Alamos for testing, since 

that installation had very high security and some of the finest scien- 

tists and equipment in the world. I suspect that some of those very 

scientists were part of the overflow audience at my presentation. 

In the meantime, my work on the nuclear rocket program at 

Westinghouse was rewarding. I was planning and evaluating radia- 

tion shielding measurements made during full-power tests at the nu- 

clear test site in Nevada and low-power tests at our local facility. I 

developed a new technique for evaluating nuclear heating rates in our 

control devices and even wrote an unclassified paper about it. As ar- 

cane as this sounds, one of the highlights was listening over the pub- 

lic address system in Pittsburgh to a full-power test of our NRX-A6 

system in Nevada. The reactor was only five feet by six feet in size, 

but it produced 1,100 megawatts, or about half the capacity of the 

mammoth Grand Coulee Dam. 

Running at temperatures close to 4,000° F, cooled by hydrogen 

gas, the reactor roared away while we listened for signs that it was 
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breaking up. Estimates for how long it could run ranged from five to 

forty minutes, but the reactor lasted for the entire hour-long run. It 

was shut down only because the hydrogen used to cool the core was” 

exhausted. The test was tangible proof of the success of our work. 

Less than a year later, Los Alamos operated their slightly larger 

Phoebus 2B nuclear rocket reactor propulsion system at a power level 

of 4,400 megawatts, the highest-powered reactor ever operated in 

the free world at that time. Unfortunately, by then the nuclear rocket 

program was dying. There were substantial cutbacks in spending, and 

neither politicians nor bureaucrats had courage enough to back the 

program, even though the rockets showed real promise for getting 

astronauts to Mars or to help establish a base on the moon or provide 

transfer capabilities from earth orbit to lunar orbit. I got caught in 

a major layoff, and went full-time on the speaking circuit. 

Lecturing full-time put a lot of stress on my family. My younger son’s 

hemophilia caused him to have unpredictable and very painful 

bleeds. My daughter is deaf, and needed special schooling. My wife 

had had a serious bout of mental illness and was hospitalized for 

months. I had my hands full dropping off my two-year-old daugh- 

ter at one babysitter and my four-year-old at another before head- 

ing to work. Finally, I hired a housekeeper who could look after the 

family so I could keep my sanity. During this time, my wife and I 

separated. The break-up was rough on all of us, and especially my 

14-year-old son. 

I was traveling a lot, and was feeling terrible about my inability to 

help out at home. Then what I thought was a great opportunity 

opened up for me. I was hired to work for McDonnell Douglas in 

Santa Monica, California, under Dr. Robert Wood, a scientist who 

had a long-time interest in UFOs. One of his people had heard a talk 

I gave at the Westinghouse Research Laboratory, and recommended 

me to work on trying to back-engineer flying saucers using some 

Blue Sky (far-out thinking) funds available through the Manned 

Orbiting Laboratory program at McDonnell. I packed up a bunch of 

furniture, clothes, and household goods and headed across country. 
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But during the trip, I heard a radio report that the program had been 

canceled. What could I do? I reported to the personnel department, 

which was already in shock. “We are laying off 5,000 people,” they 

told me, “and you want to begin work?” 

Even so, they honored my contract and let me stay for three 

months. I researched magnetoaerodynamic propulsion systems (sim- 

ilar in principle to an electromagnetic submarine developed by a 

Westinghouse scientist) that might explain the hypermaneuverabil- 

ity of flying saucers and their ability to overcome the obvious prob- 

lems of heating, drag, sonic boom production, and reduced radar 

cross sections. I found references to hundreds of papers in the mostly 

nonacademic literature. The great majority were classified, indicating 

the government was certainly interested in such technology. 

My three-month stay at McDonnell Douglas was followed by six 

months at TRW Systems, where I worked on the Pioneer spacecraft 

that have now left the solar system. When that contract ended, I was 

back full-time on the lecture circuit. Except for consulting work, I 

was finished with industry for good, and became the only space sci- 

entist known to be devoting full time to ufology. 

Much of what I learned in industry has come in handy during my 

ufological research. Every report or paper I wrote and every claim I 

made at group meetings had to be justified by logic and evidence to 

colleagues and supervisors. I couldn't get by on research by procla- 

mation, and often I had to say that there wasn't enough evidence to 

justify any conclusion. I learned early on that absence of evidence is 

not the same as evidence for absence. And through my own classified 

research, I learned that secrets can certainly be kept; that an enor- 

mous amount of extraordinary scientific work is done in classified 

programs that the public never hears about. 

Thus, the data presented in this book is the result of long, 

painstaking research, and the logical connections that I make are 

based on my almost 40 years’ acquaintance with high-tech matters 

and high-security procedures. Far from being a story that only 

techno-nerds would relish, the chase for details about extraterrestrial 
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visitors and our government's interest in them (and denial of their ex- 

istence) makes one of the fascinating adventure stories of our time. 

The objective of this book is to review a very substantial amount of 

research that has been done since receipt of the first Operation 

Majestic-12 documents in late 1984. In addition, more recently re- 

ceived MJ-12 documents will be presented here for the first time ever 

in a public report. In many ways the chase has been fascinating and 

very frustrating as well. It is complicated by the simple fact that, if 

the documents are genuine, they deal with a very highly classified 

matter. I worked as a nuclear physicist with a Q clearance (required 

for work on highly classified nuclear projects) under security from 

1956 until 1970 and have over the years visited a total of 15 docu- 

ment archives and have a very healthy respect for national security. 

There is no question that the U.S. government is able to keep secrets, 

including those about UFOs. 

Over the years, I have become accustomed to dealing with op- 

posing viewpoints. But the attacks on the documents presented 

herein have been intensive indeed. The arguments have been raging 

for many years. With this book, the data is on the table. Make up 

your own mind. 



i 

THE ROSWELL CRASH 
AND MAJESTIC-Te 

For a period of about five years after I moved to southern California 

in 1969, I had worked on a number of magazine articles about UFOs 

with the late Bobbi Ann Slate Gironda. It was a good relationship. I 

knew my way around the scientific research and security matters, and 

knew how to verify the authenticity of material. Bobbi had the rare 

ability to make this information accessible to nontechnical readers. 

In 1973, Bobbi had interviewed a forest ranger about his UEO 

sighting. During their conversation, the ranger had said that if she 

wanted an even better story, she ought to talk to his mother, Lydia 

Sleppy. When we called her shortly thereafter, she first related a 

sighting of her own, which had occurred while she was living in New 

Mexico. But then she told us of something far more important. 

Back in 1947, when she was working at a radio station in 

Albuquerque, New Mexico, she had taken a call from their affiliate in 

Roswell, nearly 200 miles southeast. The caller described how a 

saucer had crashed outside of town, had been recovered by the Army 

Air Force group stationed at the Roswell base, and was being taken 

to Wright Field (now Wright-Patterson Air Force Base) in Ohio. 

Newspapers all over the country had been carrying front-page 

15 
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stories about “flying saucers” for many days after private pilot Ken- 

neth Arnold’s famous June 24, 1947 sighting of nine disc-like objects 

moving “as a saucer would if it was skipped across the water.” Arnold, 

timed the objects’ flight between two mountain peaks and figured 

out that they were traveling at a velocity of over 1,500 miles per hour! 

(At that time, the aircraft speed record was only 625 miles per hour.) 

By early July 1947, there had been more than 1,500 sightings re- 

ported across the United States, in Canada, and in other countries. 

As Sleppy’s informant dictated his story to her, she typed it out 

over the newswire. Suddenly, her transmission was interrupted, and a 

message came back to her—“Stop. Do NoT CONTINUE THIS 

TRANSMISSION.” Although from our vantage point it is not surpris- 

ing that the station’s teletype was being monitored, what with so 

much classified government and military activity in New Mexico, it 

certainly was a shock to Lydia. Later, when she talked to the person 

who had called her, he wouldn't talk about it. 

A crashed saucer and a 26-year government coverup. Bobbi and 

I set out to verify Lydia’s story. We actually located some people who 

had worked with Lydia at that time. However, they either did not 

know about the event or had selective amnesia, and the trail turned 

cold. I tucked the story away as one of those fascinating leads that 

one hears but about which little can be done. More than 15 years 

passed before I spoke to Lydia again. 

On January 11, 1977, I was in Minnesota to give a lecture at the state 

university campus in Morris, 26 miles from the Dakota border. The 

temperature that evening was 41° below zero, but even so, I spoke 

to a full house. After the lecture, I went out for a pizza with an old 

acquaintance, Bill Moore, who had attended the program. Bill and 

I had met in Pittsburgh a decade earlier when I was very active in 

UFORI while working at Westinghouse. He was interested in 

UFOs, but had been only peripherally involved in UFORI, most of 

whose board members were scientists. 

We talked at some length. He was teaching high school in 

Herman, about 10 miles away, but was interested in a wide variety 
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of topics. We had other conversations over the next year about UFO 

research that later developed into actual projects. 

On February 20, 1978, I was in Baton Rouge to lecture at 

Louisiana State University and was doing three separate interviews 

at a local television station. Over coffee, the station manager, who 

was a little embarrassed that the third interviewer was late, told me, 

“The person you really ought to talk to is Jesse Marcel. He handled 

pieces of one of those flying saucers when he was in the service, a 

long time ago.” The man was absolutely offhand about this remark, 

but I sat right up and pumped him for more information. Finally, 

he said, “Well, Jesse and I are old ham radio buddies. He lives over in 

Houma. He’s very straightforward and trustworthy.” 

I had a very busy day and a great crowd at LSU. The next day 

while I was waiting to catch a plane to my next stop, I got Marcel’s 

telephone number from information and called him. He told a fas- 

cinating story of having been the base intelligence officer at Roswell 

Army Air Field in the late 1940s. He was eating lunch at the offi- 

cer’s club when he took a call from the local sheriff who mentioned 

that some sheep rancher had come in with pieces of strange wreck- 

age. By prearrangement, the sheriff was supposed to notify the base of 

anything that might be related to the base’s people or equipment. 

Marcel went down to the sheriff’s office to check out the debris, 

and knew immediately that it was nothing that he had ever seen in 

his extensive Army Air Force experience. He talked to the base com- 

mander, Colonel William Blanchard, who told him to get out to the 

ranch for a firsthand look. So, with a Counter-Intelligence Corps 

agent named Cavitt, Marcel followed the rancher out to his place in 

a remote area that wasn’t really on any road. Since it was dark, they 

camped out overnight. The next day, the rancher showed them the 

wreckage strewn over an area about three-quarters-of-a-mile long 

and hundreds of feet wide. Marcel and Cavitt brought back an Army 

carry-all and a Buick full of fragments—a mere fraction of the 

wreckage on the ranch. 

There were several kinds of very strong, lightweight materials 

which Jesse could not identify. There were I-beams with unusual 



18 TOP SECRET/MAJIC 

symbols along the inside that were as light as balsa wood but which 

could not be cut, broken, or burnt. There was a foil-like material that 

when crumpled would go back to its original shape uncreased. And 

he remembered some thin material that couldn't be broken through 

with a sledgehammer. 

After stopping at home late that night and showing some of the 

wreckage to his wife and son, Jesse brought the debris back to the 

base. On July 8, 1947, Colonel Blanchard ordered the base public in- 

formation officer, Walter Haut, to issue a press release announcing 

the recovery of a crashed saucer, and instructed Jesse to put the 

wreckage on a B-29 and fly with it to Wright Field in Ohio, the nor- 

mal destination for captured enemy equipment. They were to make a 

stop in Forth Worth, Texas, at the headquarters of the 8th Air Force, 

of which his group, the 509th Composite Bomb Wing, was a part. 

(At that time the 509th was the only atomic bombing group in the 

world.) When they arrived in Fort Worth, General Roger Ramey, 

head of the 8th Air Force and Blanchard’s immediate superior, in- 

structed Marcel to say nothing and told the press the material was 

just the wreckage of a weather balloon radar reflector. Jesse went on 

back to Roswell, but his picture was in newspapers across the coun- 

try over the next few days as part of the Army’s campaign to scotch 

the flying saucer stories. 

This conversation was the beginning of a long, intensive effort 

on my part to dig out the truth about what happened at Roswell. 

Marcel’s story and others related to the crash and recovery of an alien 

craft near Roswell and another one elsewhere in New Mexico have 

been told and retold in various articles, books, and movies (see 

Sources), so there is no need to recapitulate them. But as a result of 

publicity and hard research efforts, I and other investigators have 

continued to turn up new witnesses and leads that have brought the 

truth closer to the light of day. 

Another very important event took place on October 24, 1978. That 

was the day I met Vern and Jean Maltais after my lecture at Bemidji 

State University in Bemidji, Minnesota. They quietly told me of an 
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old friend of theirs, a civil engineer named Barney Barnett who lived 

for a while in Socorro, New Mexico. He had told Vern and Jean that 

he had come across an almost-intact saucer stuck in the ground with 

four strange bodies around it. The military had come along, and told 

him and a nearby archaeological expedition to leave the area imme- 

diately and never say anything about the event, ever. The Maltaises 

had no date for the Barnett story. The very next day, I met with Bill 

Moore at colleges in Thief River Falls and Crookston, Minnesota, 

where I was lecturing, and passed on the Barnett story for follow-up. 

In January 1979, Bill came across the story of Hughie Green, an 

English actor, who described how, while driving across the United 

States in the late 1940s, he had heard an incredible story about the 

recovery of a crashed flying saucer in New Mexico on several radio 

stations. But when he got to the East Coast, there was nothing more. 

Bill contacted Green, got a date for the event (early July 1947) that 

led him to check out newspaper stories at the University of 

Minnesota Periodicals Library. He found articles dated July 8, 1947 

about what had happened to Jesse Marcel! Thus, we were able to ver- 

ify the accuracy of Marcel’s memory. Now we had a solid date for 

which to look at other newspapers. These additional reports gave the 

names of a number of people we could contact—if we could find 

them. Our research effort intensified. 

Three months later I was in Houma, making one of a number 

of stops with a crew filming what eventually became the 93-minute 

documentary UFOs Are Real. Brandon Chase was the producer, and 

I was technical advisor and one of the scriptwriters, as well as an on- 

screen commentator. (According to a recent ad in Omni, more than 

100,000 copies of the video have been sold.) We interviewed Jesse 

Marcel at length. As of 1980, when the book The Roswell Incident (by 

Moore and Charles Berlitz) came out, Bill and I had talked to about 

60 people in conjunction with the event. 

Bill and I continued our research and publicity efforts. When Bill 

was promoting The Roswell Incident in 1980, he was approached by 

Richard Doty—an “insider”—who arranged to meet with him. At 

the meeting, Doty showed credentials indicating that he worked for 
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the Air Force’s Office of Special Investigations (OSI). Bill estab- 

lished a good relationship with Doty, who said he wanted to get the 

UFO information out and would try to help quietly in any way he 

could. We would have to be cautious about anything that was given. 

It was a fascinating contact with the “underworld” of Air Force in- 

telligence that continued for several years. 

In August 1980, I moved from Hayward, California 3,500 miles 

east to Fredericton, New Brunswick, Canada, my second wife’s home 

province. Proposition 13 had passed in California, slashing education 

budgets and thus my income from lecturing at California community 

colleges. Before we left, I had been contacted by a company that 

wanted to produce a fictional movie about UFOs. Jaime Shandera 

was to be the director, and they wanted me as a consultant. Since 

they also needed somebody to help out with the script, I recom- 

mended Bill Moore, who had written and directed plays. Although 

we had several meetings and shot some scenes, the project fell apart 

for lack of funding. But the end result was that Bill, who had by that 

time moved to Arizona, hit it off with Jaime. With me back in the 

East, Bill (who was now in southern California, too) and Jaime 

began to work together on UFO contacts while staying in touch with 

me by telephone and at various conferences and meetings that we 

all attended. 

Then, in December 1984, the Majestic-12 documents showed up 

on Jaime Shandera’s doorstep. 

To be more exact, a roll of undeveloped black-and-white 35mm 

film came in the mail to Shandera’s home in Burbank in a double- 

wrapped plain brown envelope with no return address and an 

Albuquerque, New Mexico postmark. Why was it sent to Jaime? 

One possibility is that it was well-known that Shandera had been 

working closely with Bill Moore and myself on the Roswell crash 

story, and that together with Bill, had had many contacts with in- 

siders, some of whom were connected with OSI in Albuquerque. 

Bill and Jaime’s meetings with Agent Doty and others had left 

them with the impression that these insiders.were interested in hav- 
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. ing the facts about flying saucers released to the public, in a manner 

that would protect their identity and their status. But we may never 

know. 

After Bill and Jaime developed the film, they called me. What 

they found on the film were duplicate sets of eight pages of docu- 

ments that were classified TOP SECRET/MAJIC, with a title page 

declaring “Briefing Document: Operation Majestic 12 Prepared for 

President-Elect Dwight D. Eisenhower: (Eyes Only) 18 November, 

1952.” The second page of the set listed the members of the 

Majestic-12 group, all of whom were dead. Then they read to me the 

third page: “On 24 June, 1947, a civilian pilot flying over the Cascade 

Mountains in the State of Washington observed nine flying disc- 

shaped aircraft traveling in formation at a high rate of speed... . In 

spite of these efforts, little of substance was learned about the ob- 

jects until a local rancher reported that one had crashed in a remote 

region of New Mexico... . On 07 July, 1947, a secret operation was 

begun to assure recovery of the wreckage of this object. . . .” 

Incredible as it sounded, the documents on this film dealt with 

the New Mexico crashes as well as with the government's efforts to 

keep them secret. According to the briefing, the wreckage of a 

crashed flying saucer was recovered by the U.S. government 75 miles 

northwest of Roswell in early July 1947. Four small alien bodies, ap- 

parently ejected from the vehicle, were found two miles east of the 

main wreckage site. The government took into its possession the 

wreckage and the bodies for careful study and evaluation, and in 

September 1947, officially established Operation Majestic-12 as “a 

top secret Research and Development/Intelligence operation re- 

sponsible directly and only to the President of the United States.” 

This “preliminary” briefing for Eisenhower notes that the char- 

acteristics of the humanlike bodies were different from those of homo 

sapiens, that there were strange symbols on the wreckage which had 

not yet been interpreted, that there had been an increase in UFO ac- 

tivity in 1952, that there had been another crashed saucer recovered 

in December 1950, and that it was strongly recommended that 

Operation Majestic-12 be kept accountable only to the President. 
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A contingency plan for release of information had been prepared. 

The security markings indicate that the original is copy one of one. 

Apparently no other copies were made at that time. (See Appendix A 

for a full transcript of the documents on the film.) 

The last page of the documents on the film was marked 

“Attachment A.” This was a brief memo from President Truman to 

Secretary of Defense James Forrestal, dated September 24, 1947, au- 

thorizing Forrestal to proceed with Operation Majestic-12 with ad- 

vice from noted science and technology administrator Dr. Vannevar 

Bush and the Director of Central Intelligence, who at that time was 

Admiral Roscoe H. Hillenkoetter (listed as the briefing officer on 

page 2 of the document). 

I was very excited about this discovery, but I also knew that we 

had to be very, very cautious with it. There was no question that if 

the TOP SECRET/MAJIC Eyes Only briefing document for pres- 

ident-elect Eisenhower was genuine, it was one of the most impor- 

tant classified government documents ever leaked to the public. 

Of course, the first question was whether these eight pages were le- 

gitimate. 

There were three possible answers to this question. First, the en- 

tire roll of film could be disinformation or a hoax. Despite the sup- 

posed power of the media, it is relatively easy for the government and 

powerful people to disseminate misleading but believable informa- 

tion to the public. One need only think of the dirty tricks campaigns 

of the Watergate era to understand how this works, or the carefully 

staged press conferences during the Gulf War in 1991. 

In addition, there have been a wide variety of private frauds as- 

sociated with UFOs over the years. People created fake photographs. 

Individuals claimed credentials they didn’t have, experiences they 

didn’t have. Some created false physical traces where a UFO sup- 

posedly had been seen on the ground. Some sought fame and fortune 

for their UFO-related experiences. 

For example, in the 1960s an evangelist named Frank Stranges 

exhibited a dried devilfish in a velvet-lined casket and charged ad- 

mission to view the “alien” body. Frank had served time for trying to 
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_smuggle a load of marijuana into the country, according to his pa- 

role officer. He is still on the convention and conference circuit au- 

thoritatively making wild claims. 

Not only are there plenty of pro-UFO conmen, but there are also 

a number of unscrupulous UFO debunkers who make up phony ex- 

periences, documents, and photos to try to show that UFO investi- 

gators are all gullible fools. Bill Moore and I had tangled more than 

once with such people, many of whom were connected with the 

Committee for the Scientific Investigation of Claims of the Para- 

normal (CSICOP). Were these mysterious documents intended to 

fool us into going public so that these debunkers could say “Gotcha!” 

and discredit not only us but the entire Roswell story as well? 

Second, the documents could contain some truth mixed with 

some phony material, sending researchers off on a wild-goose chase 

and keeping the secrets for that much longer. Perhaps there was a 

Majestic-12 group, but it dealt with something entirely different. 

Third, they could be plain straight legitimate. We had to establish 

which answer was correct. 

There are many complications involved in assessing the validity of 

these documents, and their evaluation is much more complex, in a 

sense, than the original crash-retrieval story. Based on my decades 

of research into the Roswell incident and subsequent coverup, I am 

certain that alien bodies and wreckage were retrieved. Based on my 

detailed study and investigation of the overall UFO phenomenon be- 

ginning in 1958, I am equally certain that (1) some UFOs are intel- 

ligently controlled extraterrestrial spacecraft; (2) the subject of flying 

saucers represents a kind of cosmic Watergate, wherein a relatively 

small group of people in government have known about the visitors 

for many years; (3) none of the anti-UFO arguments made bya small 

but vocal group of debunkers stand up under careful scrutiny, and (4) 

visits by extraterrestrial space vehicles and the successful 50-year gov
- 

ernment coverup of the best evidence (alien bodies and wreckage) is 

the biggest story of the millennium. 

Certainly it seemed very reasonable that after recovering a 
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crashed flying saucer and alien bodies, some sort of high-security 

organization would have been established to deal with the implica- 

tions. The very-high-security Manhattan Project during World War 

II would have provided an excellent model, especially since many of 

the activities controlled by that project took place in New Mexico. 

This does not mean that I or other legitimate UFO researchers 

believe every UFO story that comes down the pike. I have what I call 

a “gray basket” for all those stories which have not yet been validated 

and may or may not be true. Neither myself nor Bill nor Jaime were 

ready to accept the briefing as genuine without validation. 

As Bill read me the list of Majestic-12 members, it was immediately 

obvious that the group was an all-star cast made up of top-level per- 

sonnel in the armed forces, the intelligence community, and the sci- 

entific community. All of the members (with one exception) certainly 

had the highest security clearances, meaning they would have had 

access to documents that touched on the most sensitive national se- 

curity matters. This would have been extremely important, as we 

knew that, despite denials, the U.S. government considered the sub- 

ject of UFOs to be classified above Top Secret. In 1979 I had ob- 

tained a copy of the so-called “Smith Memo” of November 1950, a 

formerly Top Secret Canadian government memo which included 

this paragraph: 

I made discreet inquiries of the Canadian Embassy in Washington 

and obtained the following information about flying saucers: (1) the 

subject is the most classified in the United States, even more so than 

the H bomb; (2) flying saucers exist; (3) their modus operandi is as yet 

unknown, but there’s a small group working under Doctor Vannevar 

Bush; and (4) the entire subject is considered of enormous signifi- 

cance by the United States authorities. 

The most bothersome thing about the list—the one major item 

that made me think the documents were frauds—was the presence of 

Harvard astronomer Donald Menzel. His was the only name that 
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had not surfaced in our continuing research on the Roswell incident. 

By the time Jaime received the film, we had contacted 92 people con- 

cerned with the incident. We had been checking at various archives 

on who was doing what in the government in July 1947. We had 

looked at White House logs of Truman’s visitors, newspaper articles 

around that time which mentioned government officials and their 

whereabouts and activities, and cross-contacts between people who 

would have some reason to be involved with UFOs. We had recon- 

sidered a September 23, 1947 letter from General Nathan Twining 

describing a number of government organizations that were to be 

notified of news on the UFO scene. (See Appendix B.) 

All of the other men on the Majestic-12 list made sense as part 

of a group dealing with UFOs. But not Donald Menzel. People don't 

require high-level security clearances to be Harvard astronomers. 

And for years, Dr. Menzel had been the primary debunker of UFOs 

in the United States, if not the world. 
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THE DOUBLE LIFE OF OR. MENZEL 

When Bill Moore told me that Donald Menzel’s name was on the 

list of Majestic-12 members, my first reaction was that the document 

must be a hoax. 

Donald Howard Menzel was known in ufological circles since 

the early 1950s as a total skeptic. He authored or co-authored three 

debunking books and made frequent public statements that all UFO 

sightings could be explained as common natural or manmade phe- 

nomena. How could such a skeptic have possibly been a member of a 

group dealing with the crash and recovery of flying saucers and alien 

bodies? 

I didn’t like Menzel. We had never met, although we spoke once 

on the phone. I had read his three anti-UFO books and many of his 

articles, and I felt that Max Planck was thinking of people like him 

when he said, “New ideas come to be accepted, not because their op- 

ponents come to believe in them, but because their opponents die and 

a new generation grows up that is accustomed to them.” In my opin- 

ion, Menzel took an a priori approach to explaining UFO sightings— 

he started with the presumption that the sighting was caused by some 

common phenomenon, and then made the facts fit the presumption. 

26 
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Menzel and I had only one close encounter. I was scheduled to 

speak to the Harvard Engineering Alumni Association, and I called 

him earlier that day. When I introduced myself, he said icily, “Yes, I 

know all about you.” 
“Oh. You read my congressional testimony?” I replied in a civil 

tone. 

“No, but I have seen memos and letters about you. You can’t be 

a scientist and believe in UFOs!” 

I had to laugh, although I did the best I could to cover it. This 

was a Harvard scientist and professor, supposedly trained to reserve 

judgment until all the facts are known. I commented that surely he 

wasn't serious, and he started to rant at me about science and UFOs. 

I broke in and said, “Dr. Menzel, I didn’t call to argue with you. I 

called to give you my personal invitation to my lecture tonight at the 

Harvard Engineering Alumni Association meeting.” 

Menzel’s reply was terse. “I won't be there.” 

So for me, Menzel always stood for all those rigid UFO de- 

bunkers whose approach seems to be “Don’t bother me with the 

facts, my mind is made up.” 

Although I didn’t like the man personally, I actually found his 

role in the UFO controversy puzzling rather than maddening. Here 

was a famous astronomer whose reasoning about UFO sightings 

could be picked to pieces by a first-year physics student. Over and 

over again, he adjusted the facts to match his explanation. 

Menzel testified in congressional hearings on UFOs on July 29, 

1968, and in a meeting session on UFOs sponsored by the American 

Association for the Advancement of Science in Boston in December 

1969. One observer at the Boston meeting indicated that Menzel al- 

most had a heart attack and appeared much more upset than the sit- 

uation warranted, especially during the testimony of Dr. James E. 

McDonald, professor of physics at the University of Arizona. 

McDonald had interviewed over 500 UFO witnesses, and provided 

tremendous evidence that destroyed the theories of Menzel and an- 

other debunker, Philip Klass. 

I was also mystified by the fact that I found proof in the Air 
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Force files that Menzel had a copy of Project Blue Book Special 

Report 14, but he never mentioned it in any of his three books or nu- 

merous papers! This official database is unique, and one would expect _ 

it to be acknowledged by any scientist with a serious interest in flying 

saucers. 

And why would a Harvard professor of astronomy, hardly a 

high-security-level position, be working with the other people on the 

Majestic-12 list? These included the first four directors of the CIA 

(or its forerunner), the first Secretary of Defense, and Vannevar 

Bush, who headed the wartime Office of Scientific Research and 

Development and was in charge of the Manhattan Project and other 

high-security military research projects. 

I sat down in my office and thought this over. Could I have been 

wrong about Menzel’s intentions? I started rereading my files on the 

other people listed in the document, all of whom had popped out in 

one way or another in our attempts to fathom the government's early 

UFO operations. In my papers on Vannevar Bush, I found a perti- 

nent letter I had copied at the Library of Congress. The January 14, 

1951 letter was to Bush from Robert Proctor, a member of the very 

old Boston law firm of Choate, Hall, and Stewart: 

I am happy to inform you that the Air Force central loyalty se- 

curity board has under date of January 11, 1951, advised Dr. Donald 

H. Menzel and myself of Dr. Menzel’s complete clearance with re- 

spect to loyalty and security charges brought against him by the U.S. 

Air Force. The letter of the executive secretary of the board advising 

of this determination contains the following paragraph: 

“I am pleased to inform you that the board determined that on all 

the evidence reasonable grounds do not exist for the belief that you 

are disloyal to the Government of the United States and that reason- 

able grounds do not exist for the belief that your immediate removal 

would be warranted by the demands of national security. This deci- 

sion has been approved by the Assistant Secretary of the Air Force 

(Management).” 
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I know that you will be hearing directly from Donald Menzel, but 

I am, in accordance with my commitment to you, advising you im- 

mediately of this result because of your great interest in the matter. 

In doing so, I want to express personally my very sincere apprecia- 

tion of the all out help which you provided in presentation of his case. 

Now I looked at this letter in a new light. Why had Menzel been 

in danger of losing an Air Force security clearance? Why did he have 

such clearance in the first place? I knew he had been in the Navy dur- 

ing World War II. What connection was there between Bush and 

Menzel? Why did Bush give his “all out help” at the hearing? 

There was no mention of Menzel’s loyalty hearings in the New 

York Times (they were commonly reported in that communists- 

under-every-bed era). Freedom of Information requests to various 

government agencies and the National Archives brought no infor- 

mation. I contacted Choate, Hall, and Stewart and learned that there 

had been more than a week of hearings in May 1950 that produced 

over 1,300 pages of testimony, and that one of Menzel’s staunchest 

defenders had been Vannevar Bush! 

I then determined that, in addition to the huge correspondence 

about UFOs by Menzel at the American Philosophical Society 

Library in Philadelphia, there were also substantial holdings at the 

University of Denver, where he had been an undergraduate, and at 

Harvard. 

Gaining access to the Harvard papers took some doing. I had to 

get written permission from the chairman of the astronomy depart- 

ment and the director of the Smithsonian Observatory. I also needed 

to obtain Mrs. Menzel’s permission to read his unpublished autobi- 

ography. I was finally granted permission by the Harvard folks, and 

visited Cambridge in April 1986. (The Fund for UFO Research paid 

my travel expenses.) The evening of my first day at Harvard, I and 

several people from the astronomy department visited Mrs. Menzel. 

She was most charming and cooperative, and I got her permission 

as well. 

Most of my questions to her focused on the loyalty hearings, not 
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on flying saucers. I did ask her casually about her husband’s classified 

work; she indicated she knew nothing about that. From my own ex- 

tensive work on classified nuclear programs, I knew this was the 

truth: you simply don’t tell your family the details of what you are 

doing on highly classified programs. 

Thanks to Joan Thompson, who worked in the astronomy de- 

partment at Harvard and has a longstanding interest in UFOs, I was 

able to ask a number of other people in the department about 

Menzel, too. 

Once inside the Harvard archives, things were not so hospitable. 

The Finders Guide, a sort of index to the Menzel papers, gave no in- 

dication of any documents on UFOs. There was no copier in the fa- 

cility for researchers to use. As at all archives, I had to list the boxes 

I wanted to search, wait for an attendant to bring them from the 

vaults, go through them folder by folder, return them to the atten- 

dant, and write another request. I had only three days at Harvard, 

as I was scheduled to go to Princeton to search Forrestal’s papers. 

Faced with all these innocuous file folder titles and being under 

time pressure, I decided to make a stab in the dark and start with 

Menzel’s correspondence with President Kennedy. Frankly, I was cu- 

rious as to why there even was such a file. (It turns out that Kennedy 

was on the Board of Overseers at Harvard, had chosen astronomy 

as his special interest area, and was well-acquainted with Menzel.) To 

my surprise, the correspondence showed that Menzel led two sepa- 

rate lives. 

Publicly, Menzel was a famous astronomy professor serving on 

international committees, leading solar eclipse expeditions, estab- 

lishing solar observatories, supervising graduate students, and de- 

bunking UFOs. 

Privately, he did highly classified consulting work for federal in- 

telligence agencies, primarily with the huge National Security 

Agency (NSA), and for more than thirty corporations on such mat- 

ters as radio wave propagation, cryptography, and apparently, alien 

interstellar spacecraft. 

(None of the several biographies of Menzel deal at all with his 
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_ close connection with intelligence agencies. The articles in Current 

Biography, the McGraw-Hill Modern Scientists and Engineers, Whos 

Who, and the eight-page appreciation by his former student and 

long-time colleague Leo Goldberg in the April 1977 Sky and 

Telescope, mention his UFO debunking, but do not even hint at his 

connections with the NSA, the CIA, the military, or Vannevar Bush. 

Discretion and patriotism were two prominent features of his fasci- 

nating career.) 

Two quotes from letters to Kennedy (there are many others) 

show Menzel’s intelligence involvement and his discretion. Speaking 

of the NSA and its predecessor U.S. Navy agency in an August 13, 

1960 letter, he said, “I have been associated with this activity for al- 

most 30 years and probably have the longest continuous record of as- 

sociation of any person in the country. I still keep my close 

association with them. Properly cleared to one another, | should be 

able to help in this sensitive area.” (The NSA has a strong UFO con- 

nection. It has refused to release 156 UFO documents or even an un- 

expurgated version of a 21-page Top Secret affidavit to federal judge 

Gerhard Gesell justifying the withholding of the documents. About 

75 percent of the version of the affidavit eventually released under 

FOIA is blacked out.) 

On November 3, 1960, again about the NSA: “I have been a con- 

sultant to that activity with Top Secret clearance and have also had 

some association with the CIA. Obviously in an unclassified letter, 

I cannot go further into detail.” 

So Menzel did belong with the other high-security-level members of 

Majestic-12! Among other fascinating facts, my three days at 

Harvard revealed the following: 

* Menzel stated to Kennedy that he had had a Navy Top Secret 

Ultra Security Clearance, even at the time that the Air Force was 

trying to withdraw his much lower-level Secret clearance. 

© Menzel’s association with Vannevar Bush dated back to at least 

1934, according to both Bush and Menzel. Bush at that time was 
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a dean at MIT and was working on development of one of the first 

analog computers. Menzel was interested in this system for astro- 

nomical calculations. It is clear from Bush’s loyalty hearing testi- 

mony that he had contact with Menzel during World War II when 

he was serving in Washington on various projects and that that as- 

sociation continued after the war. (Bush never discussed classified 

details at the hearings, since his testimony was unclassified.) 

Menzel was known for his outstanding discretion about classi- 

fied material. Many of those who testified on his behalf at the 

loyalty hearings, including Bush, stressed his total trustworthi- 

ness with regard to security. I have talked to numerous others 

who knew Menzel, including two people who worked for him 

during the war on classified projects. There was also testimony at 

the loyalty hearings from his Ph.D. advisor at Princeton. They 

unanimously agreed that he was extraordinarily discreet. 

Menzel would have been well aware of the uses of disinformation 

by governments. For example, he knew what was done to keep 

the Germans and Japanese from suspecting that the Allies had 

broken their secret codes. 

Menzel had learned Japanese during his work in cryptography. 

(He was involved in this field before, during, and after the war.) 

He was an ideal person to analyze the symbols on the Roswell 

crash debris, since he had the high-level security clearance to go 

with his cryptographic skills and understanding of an entirely 

different—“alien”— symbolic language. 

According to the notebook he kept listing travel expenditures, he 

made frequent trips to Washington, D.C. and New Mexico from 

1947 to 1949 on government business. The trips to New Mexico 

were ostensibly for the establishment of the Air Force-sponsored 

Sacramento Peak Observatory, which is not far from Roswell. 

He was well acquainted with Detlev Bronk and Lloyd Berkner, 

other members of MJ-12, as well as most of the other top sci- 

entists of the 1950s. 

In his autobiography, Menzel wrote that he had written articles 

for newspapers as well as science fiction. He also mentioned that 
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he had done work for the CIA and had written a Top Secret doc- 

ument about the NSA which had reached Ike and hopefully 

done some good. (The Eisenhower Library was unable to locate 

a copy of the NSA memo, illustrating the researcher's night- 

mare—even decades-old classified material is still not accessible 

at archives.) 

Now my confusion about Menzel was giving way to the certainty 

that he was the best suited of all the members of Majestic-12 to pro- 

vide disinformation to the general public. He had written science fic- 

tion and popular newspaper articles about science. That his UFO 

efforts were disinformation is fairly clear if one carefully reviews crit- 

icisms of his UFO investigations by myself; Brad Sparks, a West 

Coast researcher who did a devastating critique; the late Dr. James 

McDonald in his congressional testimony and elsewhere; and optical 

physicist Dr. Bruce Maccabee, former Chairman of the Fund for 

UFO Research. For instance, Menzel often claimed sightings were 

mirages, or sun dogs. McDonald, whose specialty was atmospheric 

physics, clearly demonstrated that such explanations didn’t stand up 

to quantitative analysis of those well-known phenomena. In some 

cases, Menzel invented fictional concepts such as “reflections from 

clouds” to explain sightings. When you carefully examine the data 

used by Menzel to justify certain conclusions about specific UFO 

cases, you find that it doesn’t stand up. And Menzel was too smart 

not to know he was putting out nonsense. 

A very important aspect of Menzel’s professional persona was 

that, unlike the great majority of astronomers, he incorporated prac- 

tical engineering considerations into his work rather than being 

strictly a theorist. During World War II, for example, he used what 

he knew about blocking out the main body of the sun when view- 

ing solar prominences to help pilots deal with Japanese fighters div- 

ing at them out of the sun. After the war, Menzel had a running 

battle with Dr. Harlow Shapley, technically his boss at Harvard, 

about the need for more precise engineering work when designing an 

observatory in South Africa. Shapley did what Menzel considered a 
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slapdash job, and that telescope was never as useful as it might have 

been if the proper engineering had been done. And Menzel con- 

sulted with corporations such as Lockheed and McDonnell Douglas 

on numerous high-tech, high-security projects that required him to 

apply theory to practical matters. 

So he was a man who was ready, willing, and able to get his 

hands dirty with equipment. It is interesting that, according to the 

MJ-12 briefing document, Menzel pushed for an origin of the 

wreckage as outside our solar system. This opinion is consistent for 

a mind that understands technical applications. 

By contrast, Dr. J. Allen Hynek, also an astronomer and the 

Project Blue Book scientific consultant for 20 years, throughout his 

career refused to do any kind of research on the engineering aspects 

of interstellar flight. He often said that if the thickness of one playing 

card were the distance from the earth to the moon, the distance to the 

nearest star would be 19 miles of playing cards. He was implying that 

the ratio of the distances gives the ratio of the travel times. This was 

proof enough for Hynek that interstellar travel was impossible. 

What Hynek failed to consider, and what Menzel would have 

known, was that the playing-card analogy was false. If you double the 

velocity of a moon rocket after it leaves the earth’s gravitational field 

and begins coasting toward the moon, it will arrive 20 times faster, 

not twice as fast! 

Despite these qualifications, many people have objected to the no- 

tion that Menzel could publicly attack ufologists and explain away all 

UFO sightings while in private being on the inside. They find it im- 

possible that someone could keep the two lives so discrete. How 

could he not tell someone—his close friends, his family—about his 

secret work? 

As someone who has worked on classified projects for many 

years, my answer is straightforward: It was easy. There are many pop- 

ular examples of people who have led double lives. Take Burgess, 

MacLean, and Philby, the three Soviet spies who were very high up 

in British Intelligence. They fooled their associates, family, and 



The Double Life of Dr. Menzel 35 

friends, for more than 15 years in a high-stakes endeavor in which 

discovery meant imprisonment or banishment. Dr. Klaus Fuchs was 

a scientist who, while working at Los Alamos, turned over consid- 

erable top-secret information about the U.S. atomic bomb to the 

Soviets. His traitorous activity came as a complete shock to his as- 

sociates, and he didn’t even do it for the money. Aldrich Ames sold 

secrets to the Soviets for many years while seeming to be a dedicated 

CIA agent. And these spy cases are just the ones we know about! 

Perhaps a better example of this discretion is given in The General 

and the Bomb, William Lawren’s biography of General Leslie Groves, 

who directed the day-to-day operations of the Manhattan Project. 

On the morning of August 6, 1945, Groves’s wife received a phone 

call from an officer in her husband’s office at the Pentagon suggest- 

ing that she listen to the radio for an important news announcement 

at noon. The announcement, of course, was about the atomic bomb- 

ing of Hiroshima. As she listened to the announcement, she real- 

ized that this event probably meant that her son would not be sailing 

off to the war in the Pacific, and thought how considerate it was for 

the officer to notify her. The last sentence of the bulletin noted that 

the bomb had been developed under the direction of her husband. 

That was the first she knew about what he had been doing for the 

previous three years! 

The strongest proponents of the idea that secrets can’t be kept are 

those people who haven't kept secrets. I have talked to dozens of 

World War II generals, officers, and intelligence agents in my at- 

tempts to learn more about classified government programs. 

Universally, they have agreed that secrets can be kept; that people 

with high-level clearances simply do not tell their families or friends 

anything about their classified knowledge and work. There are two 

obvious reasons for this. First, to tell others is to put them at risk of 

kidnap and torture by enemies or terrorists. Second, those with high 

security clearances have in general accepted the validity of the notion 

that highly classified information should not be distributed to people 

who don't have a need to know it. 

Besides their agreement on how individuals keep secrets, every 
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one of the oldtimers I spoke with also agreed that there are “black 

budget” programs which the public will probably never hear about. 

New York Times correspondent Tim Weiner has won two Pulitzer, 

Prizes for investigative journalism. In his solidly documented book 

Blank Check: The Pentagon's Black Budget (Warner Books, 1990), he 

makes a strong case for an annual black budget beyond direct con- 

gressional control of $34 billion! 

Menzel and all others who had high-level clearances during 

World War II learned to be discreet. Vannevar Bush himself was fa- 

mous for his insistence on compartmentalization of classified infor- 

mation, in which not even people cleared at the highest levels know 

everything about a project. (Bush gave glowing testimony about 

Menzel’s discretion at the loyalty hearings.) Even J. Allen Hynek ad- 

mitted that he knew of Bush’s penchant for compartmentalization 

from his work under Bush at the Applied Physics Laboratory at 

Johns Hopkins University. Bush’s strong views about security were 

well known down the line. 

To establish Menzel’s own ability to segregate his activities, one 

has merely to consider that he could have saved himself a great deal 

of grief at the Air Force loyalty hearings by stating that he had an ac- 

tive Navy Top Secret Ultra clearance. Yet he didn’t do so, even 

though he later described the extended period surrounding the hear- 

ings as the worst time of his life. The hearings were held in May 1950, 

but it wasn’t until January 1951 that the Air Force cleared his record. 

During that whole period, Menzel was living with uncertainty. 

Amongst the charges against him for disloyalty were that he had 

led an eclipse expedition to the Soviet Union in 1936. Also, that he 

had said nice things about the Soviet war contribution at a govern- 

ment dinner honoring Soviet-American wartime friendship; and 

that his wife had given a pair of stockings to a Soviet astronomer to 

take home to his wife! He was also charged with guilt by associa- 

tion—Shapley, Menzel’s Harvard boss, had a reputation as a com- 

munist sympathizer. The people who made the charges against 

Menzel didn’t even show up at the loyalty hearings. The hearings 

were a travesty, but Menzel didn’t go public with his great distress— 
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not even to a number of his World War II colleagues, with whom I 

spoke, who never even learned of the hearings. 

Some people, such as Menzel’s friend Dr. Ernest Taves, who 

coauthored his last UFO book, maintain that while Menzel was in- 

deed the perfect person to be called in on such an event as the crash 

of a flying saucer, there would have been no need for secrecy past the 

first few months. However, little reflection is needed to recognize the 

national security aspect of crashed saucers at a time when the cold 

war was heating up: military exploitation of the technology of the 

saucers and the need to classify the information Above Top Secret 

to prevent enemies from learning about the work. Menzel’s many 

decades of highly classified research and his responses at the loyalty 

hearings clearly indicate his unwillingness to reveal classified infor- 

mation to anyone without a need to know (including President 

Kennedy). 

It is questionable that our top scientists would be able to divine 

the technological secrets of flying saucers in a matter of decades, let 

alone a few months. It would be like giving Christopher Columbus 

a nuclear submarine in 1492 and asking him to build one for his 

transoceanic voyage. 

Since it was clear from his comments to Kennedy that Menzel had 

the facilities for storing, preparing, shipping, and receiving highly 

classified documents, I made a serious effort to find out who did his 

postwar classified work for him. After considerable sleuthing, start- 

ing with older secretaries at Harvard, I eventually found a woman 

who had been a student in one of Menzel’s prewar cryptography 

courses, was his assistant in Washington during the war, went back to 

Harvard with him after the war, and wound up marrying one of his 

graduate students. He was so much like a father to her that her wed- 

ding took place in his house. 

In late 1986, I tracked her down in retirement. Yes, she had a 

very good recollection of her association with Menzel; however, she 

was very concerned about revealing classified data. I assured her of 

my own discretion, and we made an appointment for me to visit her. 
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However, she soon called back to cancel, with a very lame excuse. 

She had clearly talked to some people, and she was spooked. From 

my contacts at Harvard, I learned that she had talked to Menzel’s 

daughters and wife, and she was very worried. I have had subsequent 

phone conversations with her and she always steers as far from MJ- 

12 as possible. I had the impression that she knew what I was talking 

about, but felt that she couldn't say anything because of security. 

While pursuing this source, I located a man who had worked at 

Engineering Research Associates (ERA) in Minnesota after World 

War II. This company had been started by some of Menzel’s wartime 

code-breaking associates at the suggestion of James Forrestal, who 

was then Secretary of the Navy. The company became the forerunner 

of a host of major computer corporations. 

A Minnesota member of the Mutual UFO Network, a major 

UFO organization, had told me about this scientist, who remem- 

bered working with Menzel many years earlier. I checked and found 

that Menzel had actually been offered full-time employment at 

ERA, but declined the opportunity. The scientist told me that one 

summer, Menzel suddenly had to drop his consulting work and leave 

in a hurry for some very highly classified project. As casually as I 

could, I asked, “What year was that?” and I shut up. A heartbeat 

passed. “Oh,” he said, just as casually, “it must have been 1947.” 

As I followed the Menzel trail, I occasionally revealed my pre- 

liminary findings to others. One of these people was a professor at 

Harvard who had known Menzel very well for a couple of decades. 

This man had taught a course on the making of the atomic bomb, 

and so knew far more than most academics about how classified the 

project was and how closely the scientists involved in the project were 

spied upon and followed. However, he was not aware of Menzel’s 

cryptographic skills, his CIA and NSA activities, or his knowledge of 

Japanese. I finally asked him the question that was really bothering 

me because I didn’t know Menzel personally: “You knew him very 

well. How do you feel about the notion that he could have known 

all about crashed saucers and alien bodies and still have issued loads 

of disinformation?” 
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_ His answer shocked and amused me. “He would have loved it. 

He would have been in on the biggest story of the century and he 

could show how smart he was by pulling the wool over everybody’s 

eyes!” 

My research so far has not revealed a “smoking gun” pointing to 

Menzel’s involvement in Operation Majestic-12. This is not surpris- 

ing, in light of the Above-Top-Secret nature of the project. (Recall 

the Smith memo of November 21, 1950.) What I have been able to 

do is to demonstrate that Menzel could very well have been part of 

such a high-level group despite his public persona, and that his in- 

clusion on the Majestic-12 briefing document is thus no deterrent 

to that document's validity. Menzel had the right kinds of specialized 

theoretical and technical knowledge; he had written fiction and non- 

fiction for popular consumption; he had the right security clearances; 

he maintained a long and patriotic involvement with highly classified 

work; he had a close association with the other top-level people listed 

as being involved in Majestic-12. Being on the inside of one of the 

most important projects ever conceived postwar probably appealed to 

his ego and would very likely have soothed any concerns he had about 

misleading the public and other members of the scientific commu- 

nity. In addition, he would have recognized the need for protecting 

the technology associated with saucers, and of the need to prepare the 

public for the shattering notion that the planet was being visited. 

Menzel’s scientific contacts and influence were worldwide, and 

so his word would have the effect of keeping other professional as- 

tronomers and scientists away from the UFO question. This would 

have been desirable for any Top Secret organization, since even in- 

nocent prying might have revealed the existence of the crashed- 

saucer project and other intelligence activities concerning UFOs. 

Delving into the Menzel connection has also made certain bits of 

trivia seem more significant. Menzel developed the habit of doodling 

little drawings of “Martians” that were even collected and published. 

His wife even gave me one of his drawings. After reading an article 

I published about Menzel, a scientist who was aware of these pictures 
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wrote me that he now understood why the doodling. Menzel really 

knew what the aliens looked like! 

And in his 1968 congressional testimony, Menzel had com- 

mented that, if aliens had been visiting earth they would have cer- 

tainly wished to talk to the National Academy of Sciences, of which 

he was a member. His whole tone implied that, since they haven't 

asked for an appointment, they must not be coming here. It would 

certainly appear that he may have been the one Academy member 

who actually did talk to an alien! 

As for me, the most important result of my findings about Dr. 

Menzel was that they encouraged me to plunge deeper into an in- 

vestigation of the Operation Majestic-12 documents. If they were 

real, they indicated a massive, decades-long coverup of alien visits 

to our planet. If they were fraudulent or intentionally misleading, 

they were put together by somebody on the inside who knew that 

Menzel would pass muster. None on the outside knew that. 



2 

OTHER MAJESTIC-1e MEMBERS 

During my two decades of research related to UFOs and six years 

of intensive work on the Roswell crash before Jaime Shandera re- 

ceived the Majestic-12 documents, I had discovered possible con- 

nections between crashed saucers and all of the people listed as being 

part of the Majestic-12 group, except for Menzel. Now that the 

probability of Menzel being an insider as far as UFOs were con- 

cerned was established, the credibility of the list of members of the 

group was complete. 

(Later, I interviewed General Arthur E. Exon, commander of 

Wright-Patterson Air Force Base in the mid-1960s. He had heard 

a lot of scuttlebutt about crashed saucers and aliens while stationed at 

Wright Field in 1947, as commander of the base in 1964 and 1965, 

and later while on assignment at the Pentagon. I met with him and 

we had several telephone conversations. He could find no reason to 

quarrel with the three primary MJ-12 documents or the list of orig- 

inal members.) 

The original twelve-man group included six civilians and six mil- 

itary personnel. Of the military people, there were two each from the 

Air Force, the Navy, and the Army. There were outstanding research 

4] 
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and development organizers and very strong intelligence community 

leaders, trained and tested in the crucible of war. 

General Nathan Twining was certainly no surprise as a member of MJ = 

12. Twining was one of the four people on the list who were still alive 

when I started my Roswell quest, but according to his wife, one of his 

sons, and his former pilot, he was suffering with Alzheimer’s disease. 

His papers had been donated to the Library of Congress, and I man- 

aged to get approval from his son to view them. Unfortunately, the great 

bulk of the papers were still classified. I put in requests for classifica- 

tion review of a number of boxes, and eventually made a couple of im- 

portant discoveries in a folder labeled TOP SECRET EYES ONLY: 

two memos from Robert Cutler relating to Operation Solarium. 

In Twining’s correspondence files, I also found materials of in- 

terest. Twining had planned to fly to Seattle on July 16, 1947 to re- 

view the new B-50 bomber being built by Boeing and to do some 

fishing with old friends. 

The West Coast trip had clearly been planned for a long time 

(with confirmed arrangements by June 2), but it was suddenly can- 

celed. Earl Schaefer, vice president of Boeing-Wichita (Kansas) had 

written on July 10 asking Twining to stop by to see the prototype 

XL-15 liaison plane on his way to Seattle. In his July 17 response to 

Schaefer, Twining said “with deepest regrets we had to cancel our trip 

to the Boeing factory due to a very important and sudden matter that 

developed here. . . . | have been away quite a bit the last couple of 

weeks. .. .” Newspaper articles quoting Twining about flying saucers 

clearly established that he was in New Mexico around July 9. This 

strongly suggested that the very important and sudden matter was 

connected with New Mexico around the time of the Roswell crash. 

Several years later, one of Twining’s children gave me the name 

of the general’s pilot, whom I managed to locate and eventually meet 

in person. He allowed me to copy many pages of his flight log: 

* On Monday, July 7, 1947, they flew from Wright Field in Ohio 

(Twining’s base) to Alamogordo Army Air Field in New Mexico. 
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The trip took six and a half hours. 

* On Friday, July 11, they flew back to Wright Field, making stops 

at White Sands Missile Range and Albuquerque (Sandia and 

Kirtland Army Air Field). The return flight took eight hours and 

forty minutes. 

This was Twining’s only trip to New Mexico during the summer of 

1947. 

On July 8, Colonel Blanchard at Roswell Army Air Field or- 

dered Lieutenant Walter Haut to put out his press release about the 

strange wreckage that Mac Brazel found on the Foster ranch. So why 

did Twining fly to Alamogordo rather than Roswell the day before 

this announcement? A growing body of evidence indicates that there 

was actually a crash west of Socorro, New Mexico in the Plains of 

San Agustin on about July 2, which got no press coverage and which 

may well have been tracked by radar at the White Sands Missile 

Range. That installation was preparing for a rocket launch on July 

3, and standard procedure was to track weather balloons with radar 

to determine high-level winds starting 72 hours prior to launch, with 

other readings 48, 24, and 4 hours prelaunch. (These radar sets all 

used vacuum tubes, and were normally left on around the clock when 

they were needed.) Newspaper articles say the launch was postponed 

because there had been an accident in which several people were in- 

jured with a toxic substance. 

If the radar had tracked the UFO down, that would explain the 

prompt appearance of the military at the crash site and their quick 

expulsion of Barney Barnett and the archaeology group from the 

area. Surely if something had been tracked down, there would have 

been subsequent aerial reconnaissance from Alamogordo, which was 

much closer than Roswell. 

Alamogordo was the home to a contingent of Twining’s Air 

Materiel Command scientists and of numerous rocket scientists, in- 

cluding the German contingent under Werner von Braun. Probably 

the recovery near Horse Springs, New Mexico, at the western edge of 

the Plains of San Agustin would have stimulated careful monitor- 
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ing of all press wire service transmissions to assure that no story went 

out. Radio station personnel from Roswell have said they were called 

from Washington and told to discontinue coverage of the Corona 

crashed disc story or lose their licenses. It is very likely not a coinci- 

dence that President Truman met with New Mexico Senator Chavez 

on July 9 with no reason being given. 

It is important to remember that Roswell was basically a 

Strategic Air Command base whose primary purpose was not re- 

search and development, but rather the training of a powerful force 

of heavy bombers in the new tactics of atom bombing. It had very 

high security, but with an entirely different mission from nearby 

White Sands, Alamogordo (now Holloman), and Kirtland. 

Thus, General Twining would be an obvious choice for a con- 

trol group concerning the recovery and study of crashed flying 

saucers. He was young and vigorous and had numerous engineers re- 

porting to him in both Ohio and New Mexico at the time of the 

early UFO crashes. Even the media recognized him as an appropri- 

ate source. Many July 8, 1947 newspapers that had the article about 

the Roswell recovery also used a wire story from the Oregonian in 

Portland, Oregon. (The Oregonian was one of the first papers to re- 

port Kenneth Arnold’s sighting of nine flying discs flying at high 

speed over the Cascades on June 24, 1947.) 

The Oregonian said today that Major General Nathan F. 

Twining, Chief of the Materiel Command, told it flatly that the “fly- 

ing saucers are not the result of experiments of the armed services.” 

“Neither the AAF nor any other component of the armed forces 

had any plane, guided missile or other aerial device under develop- 

ment which could possibly be mistaken for a saucer or formation of 

flying discs. ... Some of these witnesses evidently saw something, but 

we don’t know what we are investigating.” 

The July 14 Alamogordo Daily News noted that Twining had been 

at the base on July 11 for a “routine” inspection. No pictures were 

taken, and the inspection was carried out with a very high-powered 
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team, indicating that it was hardly routine. Clearly Twining had al- 

ready been tasked to look into the possibility of secret government 

projects related to high-performance aircraft. 

Another piece of correspondence from Twining led me down a dif- 

ferent path. The 1969 Condon Report—a 965-page volume whose 

official name was Scientific Study of Unidentified Flying Objects and 

which was the final report of an Air Force-sponsored study at the 

University of Colorado under the direction of Dr. Edward 

Condon—included a letter from Twining to Brigadier General 

Schulgen at Air Force Headquarters (Appendix B). The letter was 

featured in the 1979 documentary UFOs Are Real, and its major im- 

plication was the reality of intelligently controlled flying discs. But 

there were other important aspects of the letter. At one point, the let- 

ter mentions “The lack of physical evidence in the shape of crash re- 

covered exhibits which would undeniably prove the existence of these 

objects.” Since the letter—dated September 23, 1947, the day be- 

fore the Truman-Forrestal memo in the Majestic-12 documents— 

was classified Secret, it could not reference information that was 

above Top Secret, which the recovered wreckage would have been. 

Later in the letter, Twining recommends that complete sets of all 

UFO data should be sent to the following: “the Army, Navy, Atomic 

Energy Commission (AEC), JRDB, the Air Force Scientific 

Advisory Group (AFSAG), NACA, and the RAND and NEPA 

projects.” It was only well after I started investigating the Roswell 

crash in 1979 that I finally appreciated the importance of this listing. 

The last six groups were all concerned with sophisticated technology, 

not ongoing defense work. The common link between them was 

Vannevar Bush. 

Back in 1982 I had noted that Bush was the prewar chairman of 

the National Advisory Committee on Aeronautics (NACA). During 

the war, he had headed the Office of Scientific Research and 

Development (OSRD)—the predecessor of the Joint Research and 

Development Board (JRDB), of which he was the first chairman, 

and the group out of which the AEC was formed. The JRDB had 
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also had a hand in establishing the Nuclear Energy for Propulsion 

Applications (NEPA) program. 

When reviewing a number of NACA documents at the Truman 

and other libraries, I had also noted that Twining had served on 

NACA and that in 1948 Detlev Bronk and General James Doolittle 

became members. Doolittle was one of the world’s great aviators, and 

was one of the first recipients of a Ph.D. in aeronautics (from MIT 

when Bush was dean). Doolittle became chairman of NACA in 

1953, was chairman of AFSAG, and was involved in a host of very 

highly classified intelligence-related activities throughout the post- 

war era, including chairing a committee to evaluate the CIA for 

President Eisenhower and organizing super-secret Operation 

Solarium in 1953. 

The MJ-12 member listing suggested other links. Jerome 

Hunsaker of MIT had succeeded Bush as NACA chairman. 

Vandenberg had served on NACA. Bronk became vice chairman of 

NACA and had headed an OSRD Biology Committee under Bush. 

In one way or another, the careers of all of the men on the list were 

intertwined. 

The first thing that strikes one about the list of Majestic-12 mem- 

bers is that these were all very important people. None were elected 

officials, but they all had very high status in the postwar period. 

Three of the original members were the first three directors of 

Central Intelligence. The Central Intelligence Group was the post- 

war successor to the Office of Strategic Services and the forerunner 

of the Central Intelligence Agency. These three and two others were 

high-ranking military commanders. One member was the first 

Secretary of Defense; another held many high-security positions 

under Truman. Five others were top scientists in aviation, research 

and development, and astronomy, and had high security clearances. 

Dr. Vannevar Bush was a world-renowned research scientist who 

was professor and later dean of MIT between the World Wars. In 

the 1930s, he was one of the original developers of the analog com- 

puter—the ancestor of today’s personal computers. His military-re- 
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lated research began during World War I, when he worked on sub- 

marine detection, but his executive ability flowered during World 

War II. As head of the OSRD, he led the development of the atomic 

bomb, the proximity fuse, radar, and at least 90 other high-tech sys- 

tems with military applications. One of his most important attributes 

was a strong desire to make scientific developments in the art of war- 

fare understandable to field personnel, not just Ph.Ds. 

Besides his scientific work, he was a member of the War Council, 

served on all kinds of committees, was close to President Roosevelt, 

and was the world’s outstanding technology administrator and de- 

veloper. After the war, he stayed active in national matters, devot- 

ing himself to the unification of the armed services, civilian control 

of atomic energy, and establishing the National Science Foundation. 

He served on the board of trustees at MIT as well as numerous other 

organizations, and was the recipient of countless awards, including 

having a building named for him at MIT. 

When he agreed to serve as chairman of the new JRDB in 1947, 

Bush wrote in his acceptance letter of “my wish ultimately to be free 

of governmental duties in order to return more completely to scien- 

tific matters.” Considering that this chairmanship was primarily an 

intensive administrative job of getting together a huge number of 

committees spanning a broad range of technological and scientific 

specialties, it is not surprising that Bush wanted to drop adminis- 

trative matters. Bush resigned from this position on October 1, 1948. 

However, it is perfectly clear that he was still heavily involved in of- 

ficial Washington activities. He was a member of the 1953 Rocke- 

feller Commission, and he had ongoing correspondence with the 

president and many other members of MJ-12. 

Bush was well known for compartmentalization of classified 

work. Contrary to the normally wide-ranging access permitted in 

most research settings, Bush insisted that working scientists be per- 

mitted access only to the classified information they needed to do 

their well-defined jobs. Scientific curiosity was not sufficient reason 

for access to classified data beyond one’s own field. This was very im- 

portant in the war mentality of the time, for the standards Bush set 
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limited the damage that could be done by spies. Since no one per- 

son working on a project had complete information about it, anyone 

who was captured by the enemy would be able to dispense informa- 

tion about only that part of a technology in which he or she was per- 

sonally involved. 

A very large, well-organized file of unclassified Bush correspon- 

dence is at the Library of Congress in Washington. Numerous other 

Bush papers and a long oral history are at the MIT archives. 

Dr. Detlev Bronk headed a biology-related research committee 

under Bush at the OSRD and went on to become the head of the 

National Research Council and, in addition, President of the 

National Academy of Sciences. He served on innumerable other sci- 

entific committees, and was an advisor to Truman, Eisenhower, and 

Kennedy. He was president of Johns Hopkins University, and then 

president of Rockefeller University in New York City. Everywhere 

one looked around the Washington scientific scene in the 1950s and 

1960s, there was Detlev Bronk. He was named to NACA in 1948. 

His primary field was aviation physiology. There were at that time 

numerous aviation biology problems since humans were beginning to 

fly higher, faster, and in more maneuverable aircraft than ever before. 

There was nobody better equipped at that time to deal with the ques- 

tion of what was special about alien bodies. 

Dr. Lloyd Berkner had an outstanding background as a pilot, as 

a scientist involved in polar expeditions, and in solving radio com- 

munications problems. He had a very strong interest in space, was 

head of the International Geophysical Year Program for the United 

States in 1958, and was the individual who announced to America 

that the Soviets had launched the first satellite in October 1957. 

Berkner became head of Associated Universities at Brookhaven, 

New York, and served on many national committees, including the 

Robertson Panel, established by then-CIA director Walter Bedell 

Smith in early 1953 to evaluate UFOs. (Perhaps he was there to 

make sure that no one without a need to know was informed about 

crashed saucers and Majestic-12.) Berkner was also the first execu- 

tive secretary of the JRDB under Bush, and in 1960 gave great en- 
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couragement to Dr. Frank Drake’s Project Ozma, the first radio- 

telescopic search for extraterrestrial intelligence. 

Dr. Jerome Hunsaker, the first-born and last to die of the 

Majestic-12 group, had an illustrious career. From 1915 to 1930, he 

was instrumental in developing a wide variety of systems in aerody- 

namics, including the first airplanes to cross the Atlantic, the first 

wind tunnels, and various lighter-than-air vehicles. He performed all 

kinds of work for the Navy and later for the Army Air Force, was 

head of aerodynamics at MIT for decades, and succeeded Bush as 

head of NACA. He was at the very apex of the field of high-perfor- 

mance aircraft design, and trained many of the top names in that 

area. Many of his papers are at the MIT archives. (Interestingly, 

Jaime Shandera received the film of the Majestic-12 documents only 

three months after Hunsaker’s death!) 

General Robert Montague, probably the least known of all the 

Majestic-12 group, was a West Point classmate of General Twining’s. 

As commander of Fort Bliss, near El Paso, Texas, he was responsi- 

ble for the White Sands Proving Ground in New Mexico, not too far 

from the Roswell crash site. He was a well-known expert in mathe- 

matics, was on the ground in a sensitive part of the country, and had 

command of a lot of soldiers. According to the old generals whom I 

interviewed, Montague had a solid technology background and a 

reputation as somebody whose judgment and discretion could be 

trusted completely. 

Montague was chosen to head the very highly classified Armed 

Forces Special Weapons Center at Sandia Base, now Sandia National 

Laboratory, adjacent to Kirtland Air Force Base in Albuquerque in 

early July 1947. Sandia’s primary mission was to convert nuclear 

weapons designed at Los Alamos into easy-to-use, safe weapons sys- 

tems able to withstand the harsh conditions of aircraft takeoff and 

landings, rocket launches, and even aircraft crashes without prema- 

ture detonation. 

Montague was introduced to high officials in Washington in 

early July 1947 by General Leslie Groves, who, because of his 

Manhattan Project activities, clearly had a need to know for anything 
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that might threaten the security of New Mexico’s nuclear weapons 

installations. Surely one of the government’s fears would have been 

that unknown intruders were checking on highly classified facilities. _ 

Were they spies from the Soviet Union in a new high-performance 

vehicle, perhaps developed by German scientists? 

Gordon Gray, a rich North Carolina newspaper publisher, was 

active in intelligence work during World War II. He later was chair- 

man of the 5412 Committee, which was in charge of covert opera- 

tions for the National Security Council (NSC) and CIA and handled 

matters considered too classified for the full NSC to hear. He was a 

protege of General George Marshall, and President Truman ap- 

pointed him as Undersecretary and later Secretary of the Army. He 

also was the head of the CIA’s Psychological Strategy Board during 

the Truman administration. (Most of the records of this board even 

from that era are still classified.) Gray later served as Special 

Assistant to the President for National Security Affairs, in effect the 

liaison between the president and the NSC. He also was a member of 

the President’s Foreign Intelligence Advisory Board. His record over 

many years in Washington was distinguished, and he served several 

administrations in a nonpartisan fashion. He was considered one of 

the more brilliant men in Washington. 

Perhaps more importantly, he was Eisenhower’s Director of the 

Office of Defense Mobilization and then chairman of the 5412 

Committee, whose only other members were the Secretaries of 

Defense and State and the Director of Central Intelligence. Stephen 

Ambrose, in his book Ike's Spies, called 5412 “the most secret com- 

mittee of the U.S. government. No covert action could be taken 

without the prior approval of the committee.” Ambrose went on to 

say that Dr. Richard Bissell, longtime CIA official, said that opera- 

tions once approved by 5412 would not even go before the full NSC 

because they were much too sensitive! 

Gray also served on the committee that deprived Dr. Robert 

Oppenheimer, who oversaw the creation of the Los Alamos labora- 

tory and of the atomic bomb, of his security clearance, much to the 

dismay of many in the scientific world. Bush had defended Oppen- 
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- heimer. However, there is correspondence on file for both Gray and 

Bush indicating that even after the Oppenheimer decision, they 

maintained a healthy respect for each other. 

In 1988, four years after we received the Majestic-12 documents, 

I crossed paths with one of Gray’s sons, C. Boyden Gray. I had lo- 

cated him in Washington, D.C., and when I called his home, I was 

given his office number. When I called there, the receptionist an- 

swered with “Office of the Vice President.” I wondered what com- 

pany he was vice president of. I spoke to Boyden for some time about 

his father, the respect with which he was held in Washington, and 

how much highly classified work he had done. I agreed to send 

Boyden copies of the Majestic-12 documents, about which he knew 

nothing. Only when I obtained his mailing address did I realize that 

Gray was in the office of the Vice President of the United States, 

George Bush, who was former head of the CIA. A few months later, 

Bush became President, and Gray served as his White House coun- 

sel. I have often wondered what kind of reaction the receipt of a Top 

Secret/MAJIC Eyes Only document by regular mail elicited at the 

top levels of government. 

In 1916, James V. Forrestal began a Wall Street career as a bond 

salesman, but soon enlisted in the Navy to fight in World War I. 

After the war, he returned to Wall Street, rising to become president 

of Dillon, Read in 1937. In August 1940, President Roosevelt ap- 

pointed him Undersecretary of the Navy, and he was instrumental 

in modernizing and enlarging that arm of the service. In 1944, he 

was appointed Secretary of the Navy. Truman named him the first 

Secretary of Defense after the unification of the command structure 

of the Army, Navy, and newly formed Air Force in September 1947. 

In this position, Forrestal was certainly somebody who would have 

been involved in an operation with the national security implications 

of Operation Majestic-12. 

Admiral Sidney Souers was very active in Naval intelligence dur- 

ing World War II. A fellow Missourian, Souers was named by 

President Truman as the first head of the Central Intelligence Group 

in 1946. The next year, Truman asked him to become the first head of 
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the NSC. His deputy at the NSC was James Lay, whom Souers 

groomed to take over as executive secretary. In 1950, he retired from 

government and went back to being a businessman in Missouri. 

(There is a Souers file at the Truman Library, and it is clear that 

Truman and Souers continued their long relationship well after 

Truman returned to Missouri.) However, because of his background 

and knowledge, he maintained an office at the White House as an 

advisor through 1953. Souers also served as a member of the first 

President’s Board of Consultants on Foreign Intelligence Activities 

appointed by Eisenhower in January 1956. Thus, he maintained his 

high-level security clearance, involvement in intelligence matters, and 

the respect of such outstanding Eisenhower associates as Generals 

Omar Bradley and James Doolittle, who were also on the board. 

Souers had a low public profile, but judging by his correspondence, he 

had the full confidence of Harry Truman, J. Edgar Hoover, Vannevar 

Bush, and other top officials inside the U.S. government. 

General Hoyt S. Vandenberg, a West Point graduate, was also 

very active in intelligence during World War II, was a member of the 

War Council, and accompanied President Roosevelt to the Yalta and 

Montreal conferences. He succeeded Souers as Director of Central 

Intelligence in 1946, but was reluctantly released to Europe at the 

specific request of General Eisenhower. He was named the first vice 

chief of staff of the Air Force under General Carl Spaatz, and suc- 

ceeded Spaatz in 1948 as chief of staff. He was a close relative of 

powerful U.S. Senator Arthur Vandenberg. 

Admiral Roscoe H. Hillenkoetter, an Annapolis graduate, was 

active in naval intelligence during World War II, was military attache 

in Europe right after the war, and was named first director of the 

Central Intelligence Agency (the successor to the Central 

Intelligence Group) in 1947. He was replaced as director by General 

Walter Bedell Smith in 1950, and went off for a year of sea duty in 

Korea, coming back to head the Brooklyn Navy Yard in 1951. In 

1952 he was named head of the 3rd Naval District, headquartered 

in New York. There is some correspondence between him and 

Menzel, and he was an Annapolis classmate of Donald Keyhoe, who 
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_was head of the National Investigations Committee for Aerial 

Phenomena (NICAP) and an agitator against government coverup 

of UFO information from the 1950s through the 1970s. 

Hillenkoetter even served on NICAP’s board of directors, though it 

essentially never met. 

General Walter Bedell Smith, who according to the briefing doc- 

uments was named a permanent replacement on Majestic-12 for 

James Forrestal in 1950, had an unusual career. He was the only one of 

the people on the list not having a college degree. He worked his way 

up in the military, becoming Eisenhower's chief of staff during World 

War II. After the war he had the sensitive, difficult role as Ambassador 

to the Soviet Union. He succeeded Hillenkoetter as CIA director in 

late 1950, and then became Assistant Secretary of State in 1953. 

Historians consider him the outstanding early director of the CIA. 

The career paths of the thirteen men listed as members of Majestic 

12 crossed again and again. Bush and Forrestal were close in 

Washington for many years. Not only did they meet often, according 

to the records in the Forrestal files at Princeton University, they even 

played tennis together. It is clear from the notes and correspondence 

between them that they liked and appreciated each other. Besides 

being men of vision, they were men of accomplishment, backing up 

their words with action. 

Vandenberg and Twining were both flyers and were old friends, 

having had more or less parallel careers in the military beginning at 

West Point. In the early 1950s, Twining served under Vandenberg 

as vice chief of staff of the Air Force, and became chief of staff after 

Vandenberg died. 

Souers was not only the first head of the Central Intelligence 

Group (followed by Vandenberg), but also became the first Executive 

Secretary of the National Security Council. There is correspondence 

between him and Bush and most of the other MJ-12 members. 

Hillenkoetter attended all the meetings of the NSC during his 

tenure as CIA director, so Hillenkoetter knew Souers well, as did 

Vandenberg, who succeeded Souers at Central Intelligence. 
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Bronk and Bush’s relationship goes back to pre-World War II 

days, and they served together on numerous postwar committees. 

Not only were Bush, Bronk, and Twining all on NACA immediately 

after the war, but judging by the correspondence, Bronk and Bush 

were close. Bush even commented in one letter about his concern 

over Bronk’s health and eyesight because of some incident. 

Menzel and Bush, of course, went back to 1934 according to 

Bush’s testimony at Menzel’s loyalty hearings in 1950, and Menzel’s 

letters to President Kennedy clearly indicate that he knew Bronk 

well. Menzel’s papers indicate that he and Berkner knew each other's 

work well, and they served on the same international radio propa- 

gation committee of one of the astronomical organizations. 

Bush and Vandenberg were on the War Council together. 

Hunsaker and Bush were together doing engineering work at MIT 

in the early 1930s, and it is clear from their correspondence that they 

knew each other extremely well. Hunsaker succeeded Bush as head 

of NACA when Bush was busy with OSRD. 

There were close links within this group of very important peo- 

ple. Considering what was happening in America and around the 

world post-World War II, they were a natural group to be on a com- 

mittee such as Majestic-12. Either by aptitude, position, or geo- 

graphic location, their inclusion would be fairly obvious. 
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AUTHENTICATING 
THE MAJESTIC-Te 

BRIEFING DOCUMENTS 

There’s been a great deal of confusion within the small but vocal 

ufological community with regard to the Operation Majestic-12 

documents. A major reason for this has been the confused, uncon- 

ventional, and often incomplete way in which information has been 

released. Moore, Shandera, and I could not immediately release the 

documents because we couldn't be sure they were legitimate. That 

search for confirmation has taken years. 

However, the first article about the Majestic-12 documents ap- 

peared in the December 1985 issue of Just Cause, a limited-distrib- 

ution newsletter of Citizens Against UFO Secrecy (CAUS). This 

group was established in the late 1970s to try to pry open the gov- 

ernment’s files on UFOs using FOIA requests against the CIA, 

NSA, and other agencies. The editor of the newsletter is Barry 

Greenwood, who works for the U.S. Postal Service, and the publisher 

is Lawrence Fawcett, now a retired police officer. Greenwood and 

Fawcett had previously published the book Clear Intent, which fo- 

cused on various government documents obtained under FOIA. 

What was missing from Clear Intent was a sense of the role of na- 

tional security in the UFO question, which would explain much 
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about why the government has gone to such great lengths to cover up 

its findings. At times they have taken the approach that the public 

has the right to know everything about everything. 

The unsigned article in Just Cause, entitled “MJ12: Myth or 

Reality?” and apparently by Greenwood, included some information 

on the MJ-12 members, but no copies of the briefing document. Just 

Cause had been in touch with another researcher on the West Coast, 

Lee Graham, who has written many FOIA requests. Graham works 

for an aerospace firm, and claimed that he had given Just Cause the 

MJ-12 list, which he had been shown by a source in the military. He 

had not been allowed to copy the list, but he had taken notes. (As 

far as I know, the source was actually Bill Moore, who was not in the 

military and does not work for the government but has a fondness for 

playing games. As a joke, Bill once pulled out a MUFON identifi- 

cation card, flashed it at Lee, and indicated that he was working for 

the government. Lee bought it.) 

The article had the right people on the list, although the infor- 

mation about each person was quite incomplete. Unfortunately, the 

information about the document itself wasn’t accurate. According to 

the article, the document was classified “Top Secret Eyes Only” (the 

compartment MAJIC was left out). It reported that the document 

was nine back-to-back pages dated September 18, 1947 and signed 

by President Truman. (Of course, the document is eight one-sided 

pages. The briefing is dated November 18, 1952; the one-page 

Truman-Forrestal memo is dated September 24, 1947; the memo was 

signed by Truman, but the briefing was not signed.) The article ex- 

plained the significance of the September 18, 1947 date as “the birth- 

date of the CIA! Is it a coincidence or a telltale clue to the document 

being phony? Or could this report have been one of the first orders 

of business for the fledgling CIA?” They were off on the wrong foot. 

In the spring of 1987, Bill and Jaime were warned that very soon 

the briefing document would be coming out in Europe. Their infor- 

mants were some insiders. Moore has since admitted that one of his 

major inside contacts 1s Richard Doty, who used to work for the Air 

Force Office of Special Investigations in Albuquerque. His name ap- 



58 TOP\SECRET/MAJIC 

pears on a document out of Kirtland Air Force Base involving mul- 

tiple-witness simultaneous observations of a UFO landing and tak- 

ing off from the nearby Manzano Nuclear Weapons Storage area in , 

New Mexico. 

Some have assumed that Doty provided the briefing document 

in the first place. Moore and Shandera have claimed that nobody has 

admitted sending the document, although the postmark on the 

brown envelope was Albuquerque. It is clear from their conversations 

with Doty that he knows about the document, but so far as I know, 

he has never admitted sending it. I doubt that he did. 

Within about a week, the London Odserver ran a page 1 article 

on the documents. The May 31, 1987 article by Martin Bailey was 

headlined “Close Encounters of an Alien Kind—And Now if You've 

Read Enough About the Election, Here’s News from Another 

World,” and showed a tiny portion of the Majestic-12 document. 

The article was picked up by Reuters and appeared in numerous 

North American papers in the following days. When I heard about 

it, I called Jaime who went out and got copies of the papers. The 

Reuters account was somewhat less full than the Odserver one. Bill 

and Jaime had already been talking to their people about releasing in- 

formation and immediately swung into high gear. They published a 

version of the document in the Fair Witness Project publication 

Focus, which Bill edits and publishes. 

The timing was interesting. 1 was going to be in southern 

California to help Bill with a national UFO conference in Burbank. 

Bill was doing the local sponsorship, besides being a speaker, | was 

also helping with public relations. A few days after Bill sent me a 

copy of the documents as they appeared in Focus, I was in California 

responding to reporters’ questions about them. Now that I finally had 

access to a full copy of the report, I was calling various archives, in- 

cluding the Truman and Eisenhower libraries, trying to pin down 

dates and activities in particular and trying to counteract some of 

the false information that was being put out by the noisy negativists. 

The version Bill had published in Focus had heavy black censor 

lines through portions of the document, espevially the security mark- 
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ings, without any explanation of why they were there or who put 

them there. Nor did Bill publish an explanation about the receipt of 

the document. Bill later explained to me that he had put the black 

markings on the documents, and that what he included in the arti- 

cle and the markings on the documents were based on instructions 

from his insider contacts in New Mexico. 

The fact of the matter is that the eight pages of the briefing doc- 

ument on the film that Jaime received were clean. There were no 

heavy markings. Bill had taken one set of 8 1/2" x 11" prints and run 

the censor lines through the security markings because getting 

caught with a copy of a Top Secret document didn’t seem like such 

a good idea. That was one of the reasons he hadn't sent me a copy 

earlier, because taking it or sending it across national boundaries 

could be dangerous. From my viewpoint, I would be happy to have 

the U.S. government arrest me for carrying that particular TOP 

SECRET/MAJIC document, for that would tend to verify that the 

document is legitimate. If the government prosecutes, they are ad- 

mitting that the briefing document is the real thing—if it were fake, 

they would have no case. 

Bill did include another very interesting item in his article—al- 

though without providing background on it: a copy of a telex from 

OSI headquarters at Bolling Air Force Base to their more than 120 

units around the world: 

1. We have reason to believe that in the near future some or all 

of our field units may receive a request for information regarding 

UFO sightings or similar subjects. The request may originate with 

Stanton T. Friedman. 

If such a request 1s received, do not repeat do not, refer the re- 

quest to this HOQS as required by AFR [Air Force Regulation] 12- 

30 AFOSI Sup 1. Respond directly to the requestor as follows: 

Quote. Requests for information from AFOSI files must be processed 

by our headquarters. Please resubmitt [sic] your request to HQS 

AFOSI, Information Release Division, Bolling AFB, DC 20332. 

Unquote. 



60 TOP SECREP/MAIE 

2. Requests of this type from persons other than Friedman should 

also be processed the same way. 

3. The original letter of request and a copy of your response 

should be forwarded to this HQS {XPU}, via Form 158. 

4. FOIA/PA requests regarding other matters should be 

processed following normal procedure. 

5. This special procedure is in effect until further notice. 

The regulation mentioned in the telex requires that an OSI office 

pull the appropriate file, send it on to headquarters for review, and 

notify the requestor that they had done so. This would reveal that 

there is material responsive to the request. By ordering local offices to 

instruct the requestors to go through headquarters, the OSI could 

avoid indicating that they had any pertinent material and gives head- 

quarters a chance to cover up. (Researchers including myself have 

found many documents showing that OSI is still heavily involved in 

UFO investigations, especially those involving military personnel.) 

Surely there must be something to hide if OSI personnel are told to 

violate their own regulations. 

Articles mentioning the briefing document then appeared in the 

New York Times of June 16 and the Washington Post of June 28, 1987. 

From Bill’s place, I heard all kinds of rumors. One of them came 

from the Times, whose science reporter told me that UFO debunker 

Philip Klass had said the briefing document couldn't be legitimate 

because Hillenkoetter had been sent to Korea in 1950 and didn’t re- 

turn until 1953. I told the science reporter that I knew that was not 

true, and promised to check and get right back to him. I remembered 

seeing information long before that Hillenkoetter did not remain in 

Korea long. Indeed, soon thereafter I was able to call the reporter 

back with the correct information which clearly established that 

Hillenkoetter was gone for less than a year before being stationed in 

New York in November 1951. 

After this whirlwind of West Coast activity, I went back to quiet 

Fredericton with my copy of the briefing document finally in hand. 

It was time to do a lot of the research that needed to be done. 
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In order to authenticate a questioned document, a researcher first 

takes it to a professional examiner. The examiner matches the paper 

to the time period, tests the ink, compares the signature to other sig- 

natures by the same person, and compares the typeface of the printed 

words to those from typewriters known to have been used in that 

person’s office. In most cases, the expert then has enough informa- 

tion to decide whether the document is likely to be authentic. 

However, even the best expert cannot guarantee absolutely that any 

document is genuine, for a clever forger or disinformation special- 

ist—especially one within the intelligence community—would have 

access to all the appropriate ink, paper, typewriters, signature sam- 

ples, and memo formats. 

In an area as controversial as ufology, the possibility of fraud or 

disinformation is everpresent. Thus, everything about each new find 

must be scrutinized in the minutest detail. The MJ-12 briefing doc- 

ument is no exception; in fact, because it arrived on film and we 

couldn't do the normal physical checks, even more attention had to 

be paid to its content and format. 

Years ago, a woman named Pat Conklin told me a great story 

about her uncle, Charles Cooke, an Air Force colonel-physician who 

had at one time been stationed in England. While Pat and her sis- 

ter were visiting him there in the 1950s, there had supposedly been 

a red alert at the base. He was at the base for three days and when 

he came home he supposedly had pictures of dead alien bodies from 

a crashed flying saucer. He was very sad that they had been unable 

to save any of the aliens. Pat claimed that her uncle was still living 

and practicing medicine in Tucson. She would get me his address 

from her mother. I casually asked for her sister’s married name and 

where she was living. 

At that time, Bill Moore was living in Prescott, Arizona, so | 

could have asked him to charge on down the interstate to get a look at 

the pictures and hear the details of the story. However, 
after years of 

chasing down leads that went nowhere, this story had a familiar ring 
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to it. I checked the Tucson phone book at a local library and found no 

listing for her uncle the doctor. Doctors should have listings. 

So I called Pat’s sister. Yes, she said, they had an uncle named 

Charles Cooke who had been an Air Force colonel and had been sta- 

tioned in England. However, she had never been to England and, 

to the best of her knowledge, Pat had never been there either. In ad- 

dition, the uncle had lived near Phoenix, not Tucson, but had died 

seven years before! 

I called information and got a listing for a Colonel Charles Cooke 

in the Phoenix area. When I called, I asked the woman who answered 

if her husband had been an Air Force colonel, a physician, and sta- 

tioned in England. I was close. As her niece had said, her husband 

had been an Air Force colonel and had been stationed in England, but 

he was not a physician and he had died seven years earlier. 

I relayed the story to Bill Moore, who called Pat and asked her 

when she had last seen her uncle. She said she had last seen him at 

the family reunion the year before at her Aunt Bertha’s home in San 

Francisco. Since at the time I was living only 30 miles from San 

Francisco, I called Aunt Bertha and confirmed my suspicions about 

Pat’s story—Aunt Bertha repeated the same facts that Pat’s sister and 

the colonel’s wife had told me. 

Out of this frustration came two very important lessons: 

* Not everything in the story was a lie. The important claims were 

lies, but Pat did have an uncle who was an Air Force colonel, had 

been stationed in England, and had lived in Arizona. 

¢ As far as I could tell, Pat had no obvious motivation to tell me 

lies. Perhaps she really believed what she was saying. I do not 

know, and it really doesn’t matter. What matters is whether she 

was telling the truth. Figuring out motivations I leave to the psy- 

chiatrists. 

This is what we had to do with the MJ-12 briefing documents. 

The validity of the briefing documents would stand or fall on our 

ability to ferret out any false details in the documents themselves. 
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Obviously, it would have been wonderful to have related docu- 

ments that would verify the information in the briefing. For example, 

it would be very useful to have attachments B through H of the 

briefing document, which from the contents page received would in- 

clude details of the alien bodies, the materials and structures, names 

of investigators, and so on. Since MJ-12 appears to have been an on- 

going project, documents from before and after the briefing would be 

important, too. 

The 1952 briefing implies that the organization had been oper- 

ating for at least five years, and the items noted as attachments were 

all done well before 1952. Using this data, I could check the dates, 

the events, and the people, cross-referencing them to other known 

sources of information. 

The first and most obvious question to answer was, of course, 

whether a crashed flying saucer with alien bodies actually was recov- 

ered outside Roswell, New Mexico, in July 1947. After years of r= 

search by myself and others, I knew without doubt that the answer 

was an emphatic yes. 

While debunkers have been attacking the Roswell story ever 

since The Roswell Incident came out in 1980, none of their arguments 

have stood up to careful investigation. The Center for UFO Studies 

(CUFOS), for example, was originally skeptical about Roswell. Don 

Schmitt, then the group’s director of investigations, selected Kevin 

Randle, a prolific writer who had a long-term interest in UFOs, to 

help him dig deeper. Kevin, a former Air Force Reserve captain and 

intelligence officer, was an associate of Philip Klass and entirely 

skeptical about the incident. However, after making several trips to 

New Mexico, talking to many of the oldtimers and then locating 

other witnesses, both Don and Kevin became convinced that there 

was indeed the recovery of a crashed flying saucer and an almost im- 

mediate coverup by the government. (The pair have written articles 

in the International UFO Reporter and have coauthored two books 

supporting this view.) 

Continued investigation of what happened in New Mexico in 
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early July 1947 has revealed a much more complete picture of the 

events. Several more crews who flew wreckage out were turned up by 

the late Leonard Stringfield, who collected crashed saucer stories, : 

and by Randle and Schmitt. Other more recent research has been 

done, including tracking down a number of leads resulting from the 

Unsolved Mysteries broadcasts of September 20, 1989 and January 24, 

1990. It is also true that, because of the publicity generated by these 

and later broadcasts, a number of phony witnesses have come out of 

the woodwork. However, I and other researchers have interviewed 

dozens of firsthand witnesses, seven of whom independently de- 

scribed the strange symbols on the wreckage and the strange char- 

acteristics of the materials. 

This is all well and good, but why should you believe something 

that the government says did not happen? Simply because all of their 

explanations of the events do not add up. 

For example, what about the government's insistence that what 

was recovered outside of Roswell was something other than a flying 

saucer—say, a prototype of a very advanced aircraft? 
This is a very tortured explanation. Consider the claim that what 

was recovered was the wreckage of an Army Air Force device based 
on the Horton brothers’ flying wing technology developed in 
Germany during World War II. First, I have talked with John 
Northrop, the inventor of the flying wing and the founder of 
Northrop Aircraft, whose YB-49 flying wing was flown in the late 
1940s. John himself believed that some UFOs were alien spacecraft, 
and he even arranged for me to speak about UFOs to a group in 
Santa Barbara. He also related a UFO sighting by one of his pilots 
who was testing the flying wing at the time. The craft was clearly not 
a flying wing or anything like it. Second, one of the Horton brothers’ 
flying wings is at the Air and Space Museum in Washington, D.C. 

The construction is two layers of plywood with sawdust and carbon 
in between, which hardly matches the Roswell wreckage. And ap- 
propriate personnel would have been seeking any “lost” advanced ve- 
hicle by radar, on the ground, and by nate This clearly was not the 
case at Roswell. 
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What about a weather balloon and radar reflector, as the Army 

claimed, or a Japanese FUGO balloon bomb made of rice paper, as 

New York writer John Keel has maintained? These are out of the 

question for a number of reasons, of which three should suffice here. 

First, the amount of wreckage reported by witnesses is far more than 

would be produced by either a weather balloon or a FUGO. These 

objects are not very big. Second, when such objects come to earth, 

they do not scatter debris over acres of land, as witnesses have re- 

ported. They tend to land relatively softly. Third, these balloon
s were 

not made of the types of materials that eyewitnesses have reported: 

-material that looked like the foil in a cigarette pack and that could 

not be torn, could not be permanently creased, could not be broken 

through with a sledgehammer, when crumpled returned to its origi- 

nal shape, and weighed next to nothing; I-beam-shaped pieces that 

were the weight of balsa wood but that could not be cut, broken, or 

burned. 

Even if the materials were “ours” and had the characteristics as- 

cribed to them by witnesses, where are they now? Extremely light- 

weight materials with very high strength would have
 enormous utility 

for aircraft, spacecraft, and other high-tech 
vehicles and products. 

Why are we not using that technology today? Because we very ob- 

viously are still unable to produce large quantities of such a material. 

And if the materials were “ours,” why was the command of the 

509th Bomb Group, the group at the Roswell Army Air Field, al- 

lowed to put out a press release saying that they had recovered s
ome- 

thing that wasn't ours? 

The 509th was the only atomic bombing group in the world. All 

the people in the unit had very-high-level security clearances; all of 

the officers were hand-picked. It is unreasonable to expect that if the 

crash was of a top-secret craft, this group would not be told, “It is 

ours. You do not have a need-to-know for the details of it. Please let 

it alone.” The 509th would not then have had to deal with the ques- 

tion at all and would not have put out a press release at noon on July 

8 1947. The 8th Air Force command in Fort Worth would then not 

have had to issue a retraction that evening. 
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* * * * 

The next question about the briefing documents was actually stim- 
ulated by our diligent research. There is strong evidence that there 
were two separate New Mexico crashes in 1947—the one near’ 
Roswell and one in the Plains of San Agustin, west of Magdalena— 
each including aliens, perhaps mutilated and perhaps with some 
alive. Why, if the briefing is a genuine document, is there nothing 
about the other crash, which many stories indicate involved the 
Alamogordo Army Air Field, much closer to the site than Roswell? 

Unlike the incident involving personnel from the Roswell base, 

there was nothing in the press about the Alamogordo or Plains of 
San Agustin activity, so from a security viewpoint it may well have 
seemed appropriate for a preliminary briefing to discuss only the 
crash that got national attention. Indeed, Eisenhower, as Army Chief 
of Staff in July 1947, may have already been informed of this one, 
although he had already announced he would be leaving the Army to 
become president of Columbia University at the end of 1947. 

And why is it called a preliminary briefing, anyway? What more 
would there have been to report, given the list of seemingly detailed 
attachments and the mention of increased activity in 1952? Suppose 
there was a live alien with whom there had been communication. 
This incredible and far-reaching interaction would have been con- 
sidered extraordinarily compartmentalized, with details to follow 
only when Eisenhower officially took office in January 1953. 

Bill Moore and I met with an individual who helped prepare 
daily briefings for Eisenhower while he was president. He noted that 
there was some worry that Kay Somersby, Eisenhower's wartime 
chauffeur with whom he was said to be very close, was a spy. hus, 
Eisenhower was not given access to everything until Somersby was 
checked out. Furthermore, Eisenhower had no power as president- 
elect. On any substantive issue, it was President Truman who would 
make all decisions. 

As I discussed in Chapter 1, I first spoke with Jesse Marcel in 1978, 
and had been researching the Roswell story for years before the brief- 
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ing papers showed up. Independent witnesses turned up by a number 

of researchers said that alien bodies were recovered, as described in 

the briefing document. The briefing document also talks about the 

strange symbols on the wreckage, which we had heard about
 long be- 

fore the document was received. So couldn't we have just made up 

the documents ourselves? 

The answer to this question comes through a careful look at the 

documents and the realization that there are many details in the 

briefing that were not known to any of us on the outside at the time. 

(See Appendix C.) 

Many of these details were turned up by my investigations after 

receipt of the document. The secret postwar life of Donald Menzel, 

for example, was not known to anybody in the UFO field. (The 

Englishman C. D. Allen claims Menzel’s involvement with intelli- 

gence was well known. But the source that he references deals only 

with his work before and during the war, which of course was well 

known. It mentions nothing about his extensive activity after the war.) 

We also checked the dates in the document. Take the date of the 

briefing: November 18, 1952. President-elect Eisenhower had 
a long 

and busy schedule that day. He came into Washington by plane from 

Georgia, landed to a tumultuous welcome, and rode in a triumphant 

cavalcade through the city to the White Hous
e with cheering crowds 

lining the way. He briefly met with Truman, the two men had their 

picture taken, and their representatives discussed certain matters. 

Then he motored over to the Pentagon for a 43-minute high-secu- 

rity meeting with the various members 
of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. 

This is established by a report in the New York Times, shows up on 

Twining’s calendar, and is mentioned in Army Chief of Staff General 

Collins’s calendar. There is no question that Eisenhower was briefed 

on that date, at the Pentagon in the vault where almost anybody with 

the right security clearance could have been present. 

It might be objected that any researcher c
ould have picked up the 

November 19, 1952 New York Times and found the reference to the 

Pentagon briefing. Perhaps. But in late 1989, during a visit to the 

National Archives, while reviewing the files of the Office of the 
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Secretary of Defense (OSD), which I had not previously reviewed, 

I discovered evidence that there were other briefings for the presi- 

dent-elect on November 18, 1952. 

The OSD files are in the form of 3" x 5" cards, alphabetized in ° 

a special kind of filing index. Under “Briefings,” an entry on card 5 
for 1952 reads “1I8NOV52-Memo F [from] Thorpe OFDA T [to] 
MSA RE Briefing for President Elect, European Defense Pro- 
duction.” Another entry begins “OFEDA 2 EMSA RE: Briefing for 
President Elect, International Export Controls.” On card 5A is this 
entry: “18NOV52 memo from Nash to Secretary of Defense RE 
Briefings for the President Elect.” I have obtained the first of these 
briefings, but the latter two are still classified, as are the cards from 
1953 on: 

So the Truman administration was making sure that there were 
all kinds of briefings for Eisenhower on November 18, 1952. 
According to Ed Reese at the National Archives, no one else had 
called his attention to these briefings listings, so other researchers 
hadn’t discovered this. There, of course, may well have been other 
briefings from other departments in the OSD. I have not yet found 
reference to them although I have written numerous letters to the 
Eisenhower and Truman libraries and have obtained quite a bit of 
background information. 

I also discovered that the date on the Special Classified Execu- 
tive Order from President Truman to Secretary Forrestal (Attach- 
ment A of the briefing document)—September 24, 1947—is highly 
significant. After I had seen a full clean copy of the Majestic-12 
briefing document and the Truman-Forrestal memo, I wrote to the 
Truman Library on June 17, 1987 inquiring about the date on the 
order. Their response, on June 23, 1987, was stunning: 

Our regulations do not permit us to pass on the authenticity of doc- 
uments or handwriting. ... President Truman’s appointment records 
indicate that his only meeting with Dr. Vannevar Bush between May 
and December 31, 1947 was on September 24, 1947. Dr. Bush was 
accompanied at that meeting by Secretary of Defense James Forrestal. 
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_ [later discovered from both Bush's and Forrestal’s files that the 

two had met for half an hour prior to their meeting with Truman and 

left the White House together. It certainly is conceivable that the two 

men prepared a memo for Truman’s signature. Both men had unclas- 

sified notes about the meeting in their files—they were observed by re- 

porters as they left the White House, so there had to be some kind of 

a cover story. One of the things that apparently took place at the meet- 

ing was Bush’s appointment to be head of the newly formed JRDB. 

In any event, no other date for that eight-month period in 1947 would 

have the same significance since that was the only day when Bush met 

with Truman at the White House and Forrestal was there. 

And it was not unusual that Forrestal and Bush were together. 

The two met quite often, sometimes more than once a week during 

1947-1948. They even played tennis together, and judging by their 

correspondence, they knew each other very well and trusted each 

other. Although in his oral history, written many years later, Bush 

mentions that he felt Forrestal was perhaps the wrong man to be the 

first Secretary of Defense because he was not a strong believer in ser- 

vice unification, there’s no question that the two served together and 

liked each other. 

The next date mentioned in the briefing was May 22, 1949, a 

well-known date because that was when Secretary Forrestal died. 

Anyone could have found that date. August 1, 1950, “upon which 

date General Walter B. Smith was designated as permanent replace- 

ment” for Forrestal, is more obscure. As such, it is more significant in 

proving the validity of the briefing. 

When I first considered this date, it was difficult to imagine what 

was special about it. But as I dug into the role of General Walter 

Bedell Smith, I learned something that, to the best of my knowledge, 

nobody else knew previously. I checked appointments for Truman for 

that date and then asked for all the dates on which Smith met with 

Truman. If the two met regularly once a week during that period, 

then the session on August 1 could have been about normal admin- 

istrative matters, and as such would not corroborate the briefing. 

What I discovered was quite intriguing. 
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Whereas Hillenkoetter, Smith’s predecessor at the CIA, did not 

meet very often with Truman, Smith did, once he was fully settled 

in as head of the CIA by the end of 1950. But August 1 was the only 

day prior to November 1950 when Smith met with Truman! It was 

a brief meeting, scheduled for less than 15 minutes at the West Door 

of the White House, off the record and no subject given. This is an 

area where they were not likely to be seen, and there was certainly 

no press coverage. None of the other meetings on Truman’s calen- 

dar that day were identified by location. (Later that day, Truman met 

with another member of MJ-12, Gordon Gray. This meeting shows 

up only on the post-calendar for that day.) 

This does raise a question, of course. How did whoever wrote the 

briefing document know that the meeting date would be of signifi- 

cance? Perhaps Truman had already decided that Smith would re- 

place Hillenkoetter as Director of Central Intelligence. He certainly 

had full trust in Smith, who had been his ambassador to the Soviet 

Union from 1946 though 1949. Smith had also been Eisenhower's 

chief of staff during World War II. Once Truman had decided that 

Smith would be the next Director of Central Intelligence, he prob- 

ably also decided that Smith should become a permanent member 

of MJ-12. The first three directors of Central Intelligence are all 

listed on the MJ-12 roster. It certainly seems appropriate for the 

fourth to be, as well. 

Therefore, although there is no record of what transpired be- 

tween Truman and Smith on August 1, 1950, we know that they met 

then and that it was their only meeting for a 10-month period. The 
Truman Library archivist told me that nobody else had ever asked 
him about the dates of meetings between Smith and Truman. It 
would be an incredible coincidence for a forger to pull such a date out 
of the air, unless he were an insider. 

Continuing, the briefing mentions June 24, 1947—the date of 

the famous Kenneth Arnold flying saucer sighting. Nothing special 
there, except that the date is correct. (If this date was incorrect, the 

document would obviously be bogus.) The next date is July 7, 1947, 
when “a secret operation was begun” to recover the Roswell wreck- 
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age. Any researcher would recognize that as the date when Major 

Jesse Marcel and Counter-Intelligence Corps officer Sheridan Cavitt 

were out at the Foster ranch near Corona bringing back the first load 

of wreckage from the crash site. Probably much more important, as 

I found much later, it was also the date when General Twining flew 

to New Mexico from Wright Field. It has become clear that 

Twining, who was head of the Air Materiel Command, had been 

tasked to delve into the saucer situation. 

On September 19, 1947, according to the briefing, a preliminary 

consensus was released on the covert analytical effort organized by 

Twining and Bush. A detailed copy of the consensus was 

Attachment D, which we do not have. What we do have is the flight 

logs of both General Twining and his pilot, who flew from Wright 

Field to Bolling Air Force Base (near Washington) on September 

18 and returned on September 19, 1947. Twining and Bush could 

easily have met in Washington on that date. Twining’s pilot, who be- 

came his aide and served him until 1957, said he often saw Bush 
and 

Twining together. Once again, the information in the briefing was 

corroborated by another source. 

Interestingly, General Twining’s letter to General Schulgen 

(Appendix B)—in which he states that the phenomenon of flying 

discs is real—is dated September 23, 1947. This letter was classified 

Secret, not Top Secret, and therefore could not have mentioned the 

recovery of alien wreckage. However, it certainly indicates that there 

was a consensus reached about the legitimacy of flying saucers and 

the need to get more information. 

The next date in the briefing, November 30, 1947, is the date of 

a report on the four dead occupants of the Roswell craft supposedly 

given by Dr. Bronk. Although I have spent considerable time going 

through some Bronk papers at the Rockefeller Archives in New York 

(Bronk was for a time president of Rockefeller University), I haven't 

found anything that establishes that this is or is not a meaningful 

date. The briefing also mentions December 1947 as the beginning of 

Air Force Project Sign; this is verified. 

December 6, 1950 is supposedly when a second object impacted 
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near the Texas-Mexico border. There is considerable indication that 

something UFO-related happened on that day. There is mention in 

several books of great concern at the White House when radar sup- 

posedly picked up strange vehicles, and some newspaper articles 

mention it. The FBI even went on red alert over them, but the “at- 

tack force” was ultimately reported as a flock of geese, or other sup- 

posedly okay phenomena and the alert was canceled. 

The other dates given in the briefing are the dates the attach- 

ments were created. We have no way of corroborating these. Thus, all 

the dates in the briefing documents (except the Bronk report) are ac- 

counted for. 

But why were we going through such contortions? Couldn't we just 

go to the appropriate archives, ask for the relevant papers, make some 

FOIA requests, and have our answers immediately? 

First of all, in the case of Top Secret documents, whom do you 

ask? The Eisenhower briefing is an “Eyes Only, Copy One of One” 

document. It would appear that there was only one copy of the doc- 

ument ever made, and it was probably kept in a vault at the White 

House. (An assistant to both Roosevelt and Truman told me that 

highly classified Manhattan Project materials were actually stored 

in the White House map room.) After requests to the Truman and 

Eisenhower libraries, they both did checks of their indexes and found 

no listing for MJ-12. 

When you go to the Eisenhower or Truman Library, you are 

told, “Here is a list of our Finders Guides. You may go through these 

and select boxes you would like to see. We will bring them to you 

for review.” The listings in the guides (file folder titles) are sketchy 

at best, and so you go through the guides and guess at which boxes 

might hold pertinent information. At the Eisenhower Library alone, 

there are eleven different Finders Guides for different portions of the 

NSC: files: 

Many people who are unfamiliar with the Freedom of Infor- 

mation Act and how the various archives work are shocked that we 

have not simply requested all the government’s MJ-12 documents 
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and not been able to obtain other documents. Contrary to what 

many people assume, FOIA is not a key that opens all doors. The in- 

tent of the act was not for the government to be a search team for 

anyone who is curious about various and sundry topics. It is quite the 

reverse. The purpose is to provide public access to certain classes of 

documents if they can be well defined and easily sought. There are 

numerous exclusions, the greatest of which include matters that af- 

fect national security and intelligence activities. (See Appendix D for 

a list of exclusions.) 

Another common misconception is that the government has to 

declassify everything after 20 or 30 or 40 years. While it is true that 

in England the Official Secrets Act does have such provisions, the 

United States does not. Certain documents are put under security 

with the proviso that they shall be periodically downgraded, but 

many do not have any such limitation. There is no automatic provi- 

sion that any classified document will be declassified after a specified 

period. 

It would seem logical that even if there isn’t automatic down- 

grading of classified material, material from the 1940s and 1950s 

should all be declassified by now, or should at least be declassified 

upon request. After all, it’s been 50 years. The world has changed. 

We won the cold war. Why keep these outdated secrets? 

Unfortunately, this logic does not hold. One of the fascinating 

revelations I had at the Eisenhower Library was going through the 

voluminous NSC materials and finding file folder after file folder 

containing only withdrawal sheets, which indicate that Top Secret 

material has been removed from the file. At the Eisenhower, these 

are pink sheets, some noting 10 to 12 different items with cryptic en- 

tries: “Memo, TS [Top Secret], James Lay to Robert Cutler, July 16, 

1954, 1 page.” 

There is a procedure for requesting mandatory classification re- 

view of still-classified documents. You fill out a form giving whatever 

information is available—the number of pages in the document, the 

date, the security level, and title information, if any. This is submitted 

to the archive, which passes the request on to the originating office, 
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say the National Security Council. The NSC will respond— 

eventually. 

The average response time to such requests for the NSC is cur- 

rently more than two years. Some responses have taken as long as 

six years. Part of the problem is that while the NSC may have no 

objection to the release, it may insist that some other agency (or 

agencies) review it as well; the CIA, for example, or the Department 

of State or Department of Defense. Then the request has to be sub- 

mitted in sequence to all of these. 

In February 1988, I requested classification review of a number 

of NSC documents. By March 1, 1990, none of my requests had 

been acted upon. And of course I have been turned down on a num- 

ber of requests. The materials were still classified. I went after the 

Operation Solarium reports after discovering that they were listed 

in the NSC files at the Eisenhower Library. I was turned down on 

their release, appealed, and was turned down on the appeal. (A cou- 

ple of years later, they were reviewed again and were released with 

some censoring.) 

In April 1990, at the National Archives, I tangled with Record 

Group 341, the important Air Force Headquarters intelligence 

records. (More about these records in Chapter 5.) The listing for the 

group is titled “Preliminary Inventory of the Records of 

Headquarters United States Air Force,” compiled in 1963. The list- 

ing is 56 pages long and includes 512 entries. The total volume of the 

records is 9,787 cubic feet covering the period 1939-1955—the 

equivalent of 1,000 four-drawer filing cabinets. The size of the in- 

dividual entries ranges from 1 inch to 1,743 feet! Entry 63 has 19 feet 

of “Orders and Memoranda, with Background Correspondence 

Relating to Personnel Actions 1948-54.” Unfortunately, there are no 

Finders Guides for any of the entries and most have not been clas- 

sification-reviewed. Entry 23, for example, includes 51 feet of Top 

Secret incoming and outgoing messages. 

I asked about the availability of 24 entries. There is no listing of 

availability, so Ed Reese had to check each entry for its location in 

the vault and then check to see if there were labels on that entry’s 
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boxes indicating the box had been reviewed and could be served to 

researchers. Fifteen of the 24 entries had no boxes available and three 

had only one box available. Of a total of about 721 boxes in the 24 

entries, only 75 could be brought to me! In several of the folders, a 

majority of the items had been withheld even for 1947 and 1948! 

Clearly, there had been a great deal of ‘Top Secret material, and much 

of it is still classifed after more than 40 years. 

The Freedom of Information Act, even in those situations in 

which it does apply, requires that you identify the record you are 

seeking, for the government cannot do a blind search. Since there are 

no Finders Guides for any of these entries, you can only request clas- 

sification review of these items based on the cryptic notes on the 

withdrawal sheets. This cannot be done by mail or phone, but re- 

quires sheet-by-sheet review. 

Similarly, at the National Archives Civilian Reference Branch, 

which houses the official NSC files, I was told that at most 15 per- 

cent of these files for the Eisenhower years are available. Of 85 “P” 

documents (1947-1959), only 27 had been declassified and 
listed. Of 

229 “Mill” documents for 1948-1960, only 22 are available. As an- 

other example, there were 20 pages of General Twining’s 187-page 

mail log for 1954 withheld as of 1989 for security reasons and listed 

only by page number! 

Thus, from a practical viewpoint it is impossible to gain access. 

Individuals, even those who are supported by grants (as my early MJ- 

12 research was supported by the Fund for UFO Research), do not 

have the time, the money, or because of security, the opportunity to 

follow the maze through to the end. 

There is an additional hurdle to getting official confirmation on 

the reality of Majestic-12. If it was a highly classified program, as 

seems to be the case from the TOP SECRET/MAJIC
 markings, the 

MAJIC would be a need-to-know compartme
ntalized limitation, and 

with “Eyes Only” and “One of One,” there would be very few peo- 

ple in government who would know about the 
program. Most people 

in government, if asked “Do you have any information on Majestic- 

12>” would say quite honestly that they had never heard of it. And 



76 TOP SECRET MATIC 

suppose a request was made of somebody who did know of the or- 

ganization. What could that person say? If the very existence of the 

organization was classified, then even a knowledgeable person would » 

be bound to deny its existence. ‘h 

This would not mean that information did not exist. Over the 

years, I have spent many weeks at 15 different archives. Although 

some of those archives certainly have compartmentalized Top Secret 

documents, I have never yet been able to see any. The Eisenhower 

Library admitted having a drawer full, but could not even search it 

for material with the terms Mayestic, MAJIC, or MJ-12. Indeed, even 

at the highest levels of government there is compartmentalization 

of data. If an official does not need to know of the existence of a re- 

port or the information in a report, he does not get to see it. Period. 

One illustration of this is a many-page formerly Top Secret list- 

ing of pre-1960 NSC documents that I saw. One of the entries said 

“Title classified for security reasons.” The very title of the report was 

still classified above Top Secret! 

Another difficulty in gaining access to highly classified material 

is the profusion of so-called “black budget” programs. These pro- 

grams are not accountable to Congress, and their budgets come out 

of other programs where there is very little oversight. In a March 18, 

1990 article, the Washington Post estimated that such programs run 

by the National Security Agency alone cost $10-$15 billion a year 

and employ 160,000 people. Most people have never even heard of 

the NSA. 

We know that the NSA was involved in UFO activities from a 

long legal battle between CAUS and the NSA. In the late 1970s, 

CAUS had asked the CIA to do a search for their UFO material. 

The search turned up almost 900 pages of UFO material and a list- 

ing by date of 57 documents originating with other agencies. 

Eighteen of those documents were from the NSA. When an FOIA 

suit was filed against the NSA, they did a court-ordered search and 

found 239 UFO documents, of which “only” 160 originated with the 

NSA. However, after eliminating four of these, the NSA absolutely 

refused to release any of the remaining 156 documents, even refusing 
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to show them to federal judge Gerhard Gesell, who was presiding 

over the case. Even the agency’s 21-page Above Top Secret justifi- 

cation to Judge Gesell for not releasing any of the documents, when 

finally obtained under FOIA, was 75 percent expurgated! 

What about the other 79 UFO documents found by the NSA 

that originated with other agencies? Twenty-three of these were sup- 

posedly from the CIA, and I requested those under FOIA in late 

1984. Thirty-five months later, the CIA released nine documents, all 

of which were press abstracts of Eastern European newspaper articles 

about UFOs. The Soviets had these the day they were published. The 

other 14 were withheld on grounds of national security. 1 appealed the 

withholding of the remaining 14 documents, and two years later, at 

the end of 1989, the CIA responded. Eleven of the documents were 

withheld in their entirety because of national security. Very small por- 

tions of the other three—such as eight meaningless words on a page 

(document reference, information location, etc.)—were released. 

Back to the information in the briefing. Since Roscoe Hillenkoetter 

is listed as the briefing officer, we had to ask if there were any indica- 

tions that Hillenkoetter could not have been the briefing officer on 

November 18, 1952. Also, were there any indications that the language 

of the briefing document was not the sort that he would use? As noted 

above, one early objection was that Hillenkoetter was sent to Korea 

‘n late 1950 after he finished his job as head of the CIA. According 

to one skeptic he didn't return until 1956. More careful investigation 

revealed that while he did go to Korea, he served there for only 11 

months, came back to the United States in 1951 to serve as head of the 

Brooklyn Navy Yard, and then in late 1952 was made head of the 3rd 

Naval District headquartered in New York, serving in that position 

until 1953. So he was not in Korea or any other distant location on 

November 18, 1952. He was stationed in New York City and certainly 

would have made trips to Washington without any trouble. 

With regard to the language of the briefing, at the suggestion of 

Connecticut lawyer Robert Bletchman, I obtained copies of more 

than twenty different notes, memos, and other writings by Hillen- 
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koetter during one of my visits to the Truman Library. Bletchman 

gave these and the briefing to Dr. Roger W. Wescott, a world-class 

linguistics expert. Wescott holds a Ph.D. in linguistics from. 

Princeton, has written more than 40 books on linguistics and an- 

thropology, and has lectured at Princeton, Harvard, Oxford, and 

other top schools around the world. At the time, he was professor 

of anthropology and linguistics at Drew University in New Jersey, al- 

though he has since retired. Here are his comments on the 

Hillenkoetter material: 

In my opinion, there is no compelling reason to regard any of these 

communications as fraudulent or to believe that any of them were 

written by anyone other than Hillenkoetter himself. This statement 

holds for the controversial presidential briefing memorandum of 

November 18, 1952, as well as for the letters, both official and 

personal. 

Some people are upset that Dr. Wescott didn’t make a positive 

statement that his work proves that Hillenkoetter wrote the briefing. 

Obviously, no such statement could be made. Somebody working for 

the CIA, for example, could have read Hillenkoetter’s papers and 

simulated his style. 

I located Mrs. Hillenkoetter in the hope of gaining access to his 

papers. She stressed that he intentionally did not keep his papers, 

precisely because he didn’t want somebody going through his files! 

The CIA refused to provide copies of memos or briefings by 

Hillenkoetter. Some files from the 3rd Naval District are at the 

National Archives branch in Bayonne, New Jersey. Unfortunately, 

these papers are not well filed. 

Because skeptics have been unable to come up with items of sub- 

stance in their dealing with Operation Majestic-12, they have 

mounted a strong attack on various peculiar aspects of format and 

style. Klass and others have repeatedly claimed that the document 

is a forgery because the date format is “wrong.” In the briefing doc- 

ument, there is a consistent pattern of day-month-comma-year for 
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the dates, rather than month-day-comma-year. In addition, a zero 

is consistently used as placeholder in front of a one-digit date; for ex- 

ample, 01 August, 1950. Klass and others claim that this format was- 

n't used until computers were in widespread use, years after the date 

of the briefing. 

It turns out that Bill Moore, in a number of letters to Klass, used 

a similar date format, and Klass implies strongly that the briefing 

document must have been forged by Moore. Klass never mentions 

that he has letters from Moore that don’t use this date format. ie 

also doesn’t mention that many examples of similar date formats have 

turned up in a variety of places in the same time period as the brief- 

ing. It was apparently standard for NATO for many years. Timothy 

Good’s book Above Top Secret includes several examples, and I have 

picked out examples in some of the older documents I have been 

through. If Hillenkoetter did prepare the briefing for Eisenhower, 

then it was one military man briefing another military man. In ad- 

dition, Hillenkoetter had served in Europe, and the French use this 

date format. 

More importantly, if you spend sufficient time doing actual work 

in archives going through many papers of a particular individual,
 you 

find many different date formats, many different letter formats, and 

many different style formats emanating from the same office. For ex- 

ample, in letters from MJ-12 member General Walter Bedell Smith 

to General George Marshall—personal notes, birthday notes, thanks 

for the greetings, and so on—there are four different date formats: 29 

December 1952; 26 October, 1954 [note the comma]; Oct. 7, 1954; 

and 12/29/54. Three of these letters were handwritten and signed 

by Smith himself, including the one with the day-month-comma- 

year format. These came from the Marshall Archives of which much 

more will be discussed later. 

And where would Hillenkoetter have had the briefing typed? 

Clearly, it would have been at a very high security level. At 3rd Naval 

District headquarters? Who there would have had a need-to-know 

for Majestic-12 information, which was considered to be accountable 

only to the President? Since Hillenkoetter was head of the CIA from 
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1947 to 1950, he should have been able to have it typed by somebody 

with a need-to-know within the CIA. 

In 1952, that somebody would have been Hillenkoetter’s succes- 

sor, Walter Bedell Smith, who supposedly became a member of 

Majestic-12 in 1950, replacing Forrestal. It shouldn’t have been a 

problem for Hillenkoetter to go to Smith. In addition, since General 

Smith had worked so closely with Eisenhower in Europe during 

World War II and was from the same branch of the service (as op- 

posed to being an admiral like Hillenkoetter), it would not be sur- 

prising if Hillenkoetter had asked Smith’s advice about the format 

for the briefing and what style Eisenhower liked. 

That Smith would have been consulted about any briefings for 

president-elect Eisenhower in November 1952 seems reasonable 

from a comment in Eisenhower’s book Mandate for Change. On the 

same page where he mentions his meeting with Truman, Eisenhower 

notes that at Truman's instruction, he was briefed on national security 

and defense matters during the election campaign by none other than 

CIA Director Smith. In addition, in a letter from Smith to Truman 

dated January 9, 1953 that I discovered, Smith recounted how many 

times he had briefed Eisenhower and Adlai Stevenson about national 

security matters during and after the election campaign. 

Smith stated that each would have been briefed four times dur- 

ing the campaign (June to November 1952) and that Eisenhower 

had been briefed by Smith himself four times after the election. The 

Eisenhower Library has the dates of two of the briefings (2-2:30 PM. 

on November 28, 1952 and 2:30-3 P.M. on December 19, 1952) and 

I have tried to get copies of what transpired at these official briefings, 
but neither the Truman nor Eisenhower libraries has that informa- 
tion. | made an FOIA request to the CIA and paid search fees. More 
than two years later they replied they could find nothing in response 
to my request! I appealed, and three years passed before they once 
again claimed they had no responsive documents. It is highly im- 
probable that the CIA has no record of briefings by its director to a 
president-elect, especially since the dates and times for two of them 
were provided. 
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It must be stressed that the MJ-12 documents were prepared by 

people who never expected that they would serve any other purpose 

than to provide information to the recipients. They were classified 

documents with very limited distribution, with certainly no Freedom 

of Information Act in existence or even contemplated in the late 

1940s and early 1950s. Format was of much less concern then than 

we seem to think it should be today. In our computerized world, it 

is very easy to have the same document format for an entire office 

or an entire government department. But in the precomputer gov- 

ernment, a lot of the typewriters were manuals, and the formats were 

often as not determined by the department head’s proclivities or a 

secretary's experience, not some database. 

There is no rule that people in government must use a particu- 

lar format for internal documents, and they certainly don’t stick to 

one. For instance, I have copies of three different brief memos from 

Allen Dulles, then CIA director, to Colonel A. J. Goodpaster, staff 

secretary to President Eisenhower. All three were typed in November 

1956, and all three have different date formats. In fact, on one of 

them, the date is stamped in, not typed. There are other style differ- 

ences between the memos, although they convey basically the same 

type of information. (They are cover letters for memorandums that 

Dulles thought would interest Goodpaster.) They were typed on dif- 

ferent typewriters, and one of them even uses a different letterhead. 

Another concern about format and style is the use of the term 

Executive Order #092447 that identifies the Truman-Forrestal memo 

on page 6 of the briefing. Obviously, the numbers signify the date of 

the memo. People have checked a whole host of available unclassified 

executive orders, including those proclaiming various special days, 

and find that this number doesn’t fit that numbering system at all. 

However, this is not the problem it might seem to be. If the 

briefing is genuine and was typed for the November 18, 1952 session, 

then this may very well have been the first time the memo was re- 

ferred to as an Executive Order. When the memo was first created in 

1947, it may not have been thought of as an Executive Order in the 

official sense. The principals had no idea of the scope of the activ- 



82 TOP SEORE.T/ MAJIC 

ity, how long it would go on, or how soon there might be a con- 

frontation with aliens or with the public demanding evidence. It ap- 

pears to be the kind of thing that was done to provide Forrestal with 

authorization should one be necessary for use of government funds 

or personnel for the effort. 

And since a Democratic administration was passing the torch to 

a Republican one, the Trumanites would have to call the memo some- 

thing official to justify things on a rather formal basis. Eisenhower, a 

former military commander, was accustomed to dealing with orders 

of one kind or another, and the Truman administration might have 

wanted to provide him with some kind of formal authorization. 

A peculiar thing about the date on the Truman-Forrestal memo 

itself is that it has two different aspects. The word September is po- 

sitioned well below the 24, 1947. In addition, the two parts of the 

date are in different typefaces. If you compare the comma in the text 

to the comma in the date, the dissimilarity is apparent. This implies 

that the date might have been added later or someplace else. 

We have some NSC memos from Lay where the date is done 

with one size type and the text with another. This certainly implies 

that the memos were put in two different typewriters. There is no 

reason to doubt the legitimacy of these memos. 

The someplace else is suggested by the period after the date. 

While there are occasional items from Truman’s office with the pe- 

riod after the date, the great majority do not use that style. One of- 

fice that almost invariably used a period after the date was that of 

Vannevar Bush. Not only did his secretaries put a period after the 
date, but they also put a period after the typed-in closing name. 

And why would the memo be signed? If some kind of Executive 
Order was given to Forrestal, then his original would have Truman’s 
signature, but the White House copy would not. It might have had 
a rubber stamped original “signed by Harry Truman” on it. 

The memo was prepared and signed by Truman and kept by 
Forrestal. Copies were perhaps made for Bush and for CIA Director 
Hillenkoetter, both of whom are mentioned in the memo and were 
extremely well known for their discretion. Forrestal remained in of- 
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fice until he resigned in March 1949, was soon hospitalized, and 

committed suicide in May 1949. There is a real question as to what 

happened to his files. Would he have had a copy of this memo in his 

files, and were they automatically turned over to his successor, Lewis 

Johnson? We simply do not know. 

What we do know is that Forrestal was mentally unbalanced for 

months before his suicide. There was even an active FBI investiga- 

tion because he requested that agency to check out people who were 

“spying” on him, amongst other paranoid manifestations. Because 

of this situation, possibly Hillenkoetter or Walter Smith decided that 

any authorization to Forrestal that they were going to present to 

Eisenhower would need to have Truman’s signature on it to guaran- 

tee its authenticity. Bush was still around, and his files would have 

had a copy and the signed letter from Truman of October 1, 1947. 

Truman himself might have added the signature, or perhaps Smith 

had the file copy from Hillenkoetter’s files and knew that 

Eisenhower would want to see a signed copy or original. 

Ah, yes—Truman’s signature. One of the most serious charges 

made by Philip Klass toward the end of 1989 was that the signature 

on the Truman-Forrestal memo is identical to that on a brief letter 

from Truman to Bush on October 1, 1947. Thus, he claimed, the 

Truman-Forrestal memo was a forgery, making the entire MJ-12 

briefing a fraud. His reasoning was that supposedly no two signatures 

are identical. If they are, one must be a forgery. 

In a Winter 1987-1988 Skeptical Inquirer article, Klass included 

pictures of the signature part of each memo and measurements of the 

lengths of different portions of the Truman-Forrestal signature (done 

by Bill Moore). He didn’t include measurements for the Truman- 

Bush signature, nor did he show the White House letterhead. In 

other of his writings, he states that the signature on the Truman- 

Forrestal memo is actually 1.032 times longer than that on the 

Truman-Bush memo. He explains this difference by stating that the 

photocopying process normally stretches the type in a document, and 

that it would have taken a forger three copies to make the fake. 

If he Aad included the measurements for the Truman-Bush sig- 
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nature and the letterheads of both memos, readers would have been 

able to make certain judgments for themselves: 

- The signatures are clearly mot identical. When you hold the two * 

up to a light one behind the other, as Klass recommends, they 

do not match, even allowing for the supposed “stretching.” 

* The Truman-Forrestal Harry is 1.012 longer than the Truman- 

Bush Harry, the Truman-Forrestal Truman is 1.032-1.04 times 

longer than the Truman-Bush Truman, but the letterhead is ex- 

actly the same length for both. Clearly, to claim evidence of pho- 

tocopying, the type on a sheet of paper would have to be 

stretched by the same ratio on all parts of the paper. 

* What about comparisons between other pairs of Truman signa- 

tures? Truman signed tens of thousands of letters, memos, and 

other documents. In a family letter after his astonishing election 

victory in November 1948, Truman noted that he was signing 

thank-you notes at the rate of 500 per hour! If there are other 

signature pairs that are very similar, then the closeness of the 

Truman-Forrestal and Truman-Bush signatures means nothing. 

Klass made various other claims. He ballyhooed a small slip of 

the fountain pen in the upper right part of the H on both signatures 

as proof that the two signatures were identical, and claimed that a 

forensics expert (a former CIA agent) assured him that the typeface 

of the Truman-Forrestal memo is that of a Smith-Corona typewriter 

not available until the mid-1960s. Both of these claims are spurious 

at best. 

* The thickness of the ink mark by the Hin each memo is differ- 

ent. In addition, I have copies of at least three legitimate Truman 

signatures, all of which have the same kind of mark by the H. 

* Other examiners disagree with Klass’s CIA source about the 

typewriter used for the text of the memo. There seems to be no 

doubt, however, that the typewriter used for the 24, 1947. por- 

tion of the date does match the time period. If a forger had access 
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to the older typewriter, why would he use it for only one portion 

of the date instead of for the whole memo? 

Klass also wrote of a “smoking gun” proving the fraudulence of 

the MJ-12 documents in the Winter 1990 Skeptical Inquirer article 

“New Evidence of MJ-12 Hoax.” His major reference in that arti- 

cle was the book Questioned Documents by Albert S. Osborn, which 

Klass says was published in 1978. Klass quotes: “The fact that two 

signatures are very nearly alike is not alone necessarily an indication 

of forgery of one or both, but the question is whether they are sus- 

piciously alike” [Klass's emphasis].” 

What Klass did not reveal in the article was that Osborn’s thou- 

sand-page book was actually published in 1910, with a second edi- 

tion in 1929! Osborn was born in 1858 and died in 1943. The 

chapter from which Klass took his quote is titled “Traced Forgeries,” 

which were a major legal problem before copy machines. Three sen- 

tences after Klass’s quote, Osborn wrote, “It should be understood 

that suspicious identity [Osborn’s emphasis] is that which suggests the 

tracing process and which is not inconsistent with the theory of trac- 

ing.” Klass also ignored the footnotes to the sentence he quoted, to 

legal references from 1903, 1904, 1900, and 1879. The first one deals 

with four identical signatures on a will by a man more than 80 years 

old! None of this has anything to do with legitimate signatures by 

people who sign loads of documents every working day. And finally, 

even Osborn admits, on the same page as the Klass quote, “In some 

cases such {identical] signatures can be found ” [Osborn’s emphasis]. 

This carries the analysis of the MJ-12 documents themselves about 

as far as it can go. Surprisingly, nothing that we had found or that 

others had alleged indicated that the documents were anything other 

than legitimate. Barring independent confirmation of the briefing, 

_ you either believed its validity or you did not. 

As mysteriously as we had received the MJ-12 documents, we 

found our first confirmation. 



D 

THE CUTLER-TWINING MEMO 

The MJ-12 group was a collection of high-powered individuals— 

some of the prime movers and shakers of the postwar period. None 

were elected officials. However, such a group was not self-con- 

tained—it required various support and technical people to help it do 

its work. Given the dispersed nature of the group, these assistants 

would have been in many different departments in different loca- 

tions. Classified laboratories all over the United States would have 

been involved. And as administrations changed, as key individuals 

retired, moved on, or died, the composition of the support staff 

would change as well. Few of these people would have known all of 

the details, but they participated in the paper trail that even such a 

compartmented organization as MJ-12 had to produce. 

One of the highest-placed of these personnel was a man named 

Robert Cutler. Judging by his book No Time for Rest, written about 

his life in government, Cutler was a fascinating personality. He was 

a bachelor, a banker from Boston, and a man who worked hard and 

took his responsibilities very seriously. He was a general during 

World War II handling administrative work, served on the CIA's 

Psychology Strategy Board after the war, and was very active in 

86 
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Eisenhower's 1952 presidential campaign. He was a man of many ac- 

complishments but a relatively low profile by Washington standards. 

In July 1954, Cutler was Special Assistant for National Security 

to Eisenhower. He had been responsible for overseeing the actions 

and activities of the National Security Council, sat in on all its meet- 

ings, and technically was the liaison between the NSC and the pres- 

ident, working very closely with James Lay, executive secretary of the 

NSC. The NSC during Eisenhower’s administration was not a high- 

profile organization, as it became in Oliver North’s day. However, it 

was still a very important group, and Ike used it far more than 

Truman did. There were many meetings, and much of what it did 

was considered privileged information to the president. That was its 

role: to provide guidance and advice to the president. 

In this role, the NSC prepared all kinds of position papers, al- 

most all of them classified, especially with regard to foreign affairs. 

These often went through numerous revisions. Copies of proposed 

changes would go to dozens of officials for comment and emenda- 

tion. All of these changes would be synthesized by Cutler and Lay, 

and then sent back around for additional comments. Thus, Cutler 

and Lay were paper-pushers supreme, responsible for tracking a load 

of classified material. 

July 14, 1954 was probably a day like so many others in Washington. 

James Lay came back to his office from a meeting with President 

Eisenhower at 2:30 P.M. At 4:30, he took a short call from Eisen- 

hower. When he put down the phone, he perhaps beckoned to a sec- 

retary and started dictating some work. The secretary took down the 

dictation, most likely returned to her desk and typed up the material, 

including the following memo: 

MEMORANDUM FOR GENERAL TWINING 

SUBJECT: NSC/MJ-12 Special Studies Project 

The President has decided that the MJ-12 SSP briefing should 

take place during the already scheduled White Hous
e meeting of July 

16, rather than following it as previously intended. More precise 
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arrangements will be explained to you upon arrival. Please alter your 

plans accordingly. 

Your concurrence in the above change of arrangements is assumed. 

ROBERT CUTLER 

Special Assistant 

to the President 

When it was finished, the security marking TOP SECRET RE- 

STRICTED SECURITY INFORMATION was typed on the 

memo, and it was sent on its way. A perfectly normal occurrence. 

More than 30 years later, in March 1985, I was visiting Washington, 

D.C. to present a paper at an international conference on food irra- 

diation. I had some spare time and checked in with Ed Reese at the 

Modern Military Branch of the National Archives. Ed told me that 

the archives were classification-reviewing Air Force Headquarters 

intelligence files. Since UFO information was normally handled by 

the intelligence departments of various government agencies, it 

seemed logical to expect that in this material, dating back to the ear- 

liest days of the Air Force, there would be some UFO-related items. 

Ed referred me to the classification division at the archives, and | 

eventually spoke with Jo Ann Williamson there. Jo Ann told me that 

the review would be finished in about a month. I went home. 

A classification review doesn’t mean blanket declassification. It 

means every document in a file is examined by people—usually mil- 

itary reservists—with appropriate clearance and need-to-know who 

follow guidelines laid down by the originating agencies to decide 

what can be released and what must remain classified. Sometimes, 

a document as a whole is declassified although it may contain small 

deletions (names of people or agencies, perhaps). Such a review is 

painstaking, especially with intelligence files since they deal with a 

wide variety of subjects. 

Three months later, and after many phone calls, I finally deter- 

mined that Entry 267 from Air Force Record Group 341 had been 

reviewed. I notified Moore and Shandera about this, and also that I 
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had discovered a 1948 Top Secret UFO document that had been re- 

leased. (Another Top Secret document was also released about the 

same time dealing with a sighting by powerful U.S. Senator Richard 

Russell of Georgia on a trip to Eastern Europe.) 

While I was waiting for the classification review to be com- 

pleted, Jaime Shandera and Bill Moore had received several pecu- 

liar postcards with provocative riddles on them. The return address 

on one was “Box 189, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia,” and it was post- 

marked New Zealand. Considering that Jaime and Bill were in con- 

tact with government insiders, we knew it was easy enough for 

someone to put a postcard in an envelope, send it overseas, and have 

someone else mail the postcard back here. Moore read one of the 

cards to me over the phone, and we tried to puzzle it out. It men- 

tioned Reese’s Pieces and also Suitland, a repository for government 

files—and a sort of annex of the National Archives—that I had vis- 

‘ted in March. We decided that it would be a good idea for somebody 

to go to Washington. 

In early July, Bill and Jaime flew to Washington and started 

going through the boxes of Entry 267. During the course of several 

days, they had gone through 120 boxes and found about 75 pages 

that looked worth copying. As strange as it sounds in this era of in- 

stantaneous computerized searches, that was a good piece of work. 

None of the millions of older documents in most government 

archives are computerized. The standard procedure at an archive is 

for a researcher to sit in a guarded area and request to see certain 

boxes, At some archives there are Finders Guides that list the titles of 

the file folders in each box. At others, the Guides are so general as 

to be next to useless, leaving the researcher to guess what boxes to re- 

quest. The archivists bring the boxes to the researcher on a cart—six 

or eight or twelve or eighteen at a time, depending on the individ- 

ual repository’s rules. Each box is about twelve inches high and six 

inches wide with a hinged lid and a label on the end and contains file 

folders holding the documents. Although the folders have titles, they 

don’t give any indication of what the individual documents are (let- 

ters, memos, etc.) within the folder, and a researcher must go throu
gh 
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the file piece by piece looking for appropriate material. Under the 

watchful eye of an archivist sitting at a nearby desk, the researcher 

pulls one folder out of the box, goes through it, puts it back in the _ 

box, and then takes out another folder. When the researcher is done 

with one batch of boxes, the cart is rolled away, and after a while a 

new load is brought in. 

Original documents cannot be removed from archives. (Thieves 

have on occasion “borrowed” papers with signatures of famous peo- 

ple, but that’s an entirely different matter.) Prior to 1990, to get pages 

copied the researcher indicated the selections by inserting a special 

sheet of paper marking the place of each. The clerks in the archive 

would eventually make the copies and mail them to the researcher 

along with a bill of 35 cents a page. 

Archives not only don’t let you bring any original documents out, 

they wont allow you to bring anything into secure areas. All of your 

belongings—briefcases, notebooks, jackets, even scrap paper—are 

placed in a locker outside the secure areas. If you require notepaper 

while you're working, the clerks give you some—from inside. 

The boxes at the National Archives are stored in locked vaults, 

and boxes containing any classified material at the presidential li- 

braries are also stored in vaults. Only approved people, normally em- 

ployees with security clearances, can go into the vaults. Remember 

the last scene of the movie Raiders of the Lost Ark? That’s what the 

vaults are like—huge areas with floor-to-ceiling shelves and rows of 

closely packed boxes as far as the eye can see. 

I had earlier had the privilege of being in a vault at the National 

Archives, closely escorted by Ed Reese. We were trying to determine 

what material was in which of the more than 300 boxes of the files of 

the JRDB, an organization with subcommittees on everything from 

biological warfare to missiles and rockets. The material had been 

classification-reviewed, and so there was a long list of all kinds of 

material available, but no correlation between the lists and the boxes. 

I selected a number of items on the lists, and then went down with 

Reese into the vault. He checked particular boxes to see whether my 

requests were in them. Otherwise, he would have had to bring up the 
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box, talk to me, take the box back down, bring up another one, and so 

on. This way we could proceed quickly to find at least some of the 

materials I was looking for. I, was, of course, in his sight all the time. 

Bill and Jaime found that much of the material in Entry 267 was 

still classified, as indicated by withdrawal sheets in place of the still- 

classified documents. These sheets had only cryptic summaries; for 

example, “Memo three pages, Top Secret, Bill Jones to Robert Smith, 

July 22, 1953.” To get a chance of seeing this material, they would 

have to request a mandatory classification review—the painstaking, 

frustrating experience that can take years. 

While putting one file folder back in a box and pulling out the 

next file, Jaime discovered a piece of paper between the files: the July 

14, 1954 memo from Robert Cutler to General Twining. The box 

in which Jaime found this document? Box 189. 

The memo is a carbon copy in blue ink on onionskin paper. The mes- 

sage is straightforward and simple—the complete text appears above. 

It refers to an NSC/MJ-12 Special Studies Project briefing. The 

paper is old, and has a watermark. There is aging around the edge of 

the paper. There is a slanted red pencil mark through the unusual se- 

curity marking in the upper right corner. The text doesn't provide a 

clue as to the subject matter of the project—it is clearly a simple ad- 

ministrative notice that a briefing will take place during an already 

scheduled meeting rather than after, as originally planned. The word 

during is underlined. There is no signature on the memo, nor even 

an // next to Cutler’s name indicating that he had signed the original. 

However, if this innocent little note is genuine, it means that 

there was an NSC/MJ-12 Special Studies Project group working on 

a highly classified project. And therein lies the controversy sur- 

rounding this innocent little note. Since the discovery was revealed in 

1987, people have misrepresented the memo’s text, tried to disprove 

its authenticity, and even smeared the reputations of the discover- 

ers. Debunkers clamor that the typeface is all wrong. Cynics have 

claimed that Moore and Shandera planted the memo themselves and 

then “discovered” it—an impossibility given how archives operate. 
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Bill called me after he and Jaime left the archive for the evening. 

He read the memo to me and described how Jaime found it. The 

memo had no relation to anything else in Box 189, which lent greater _ 

credence to the riddle postcards. 

As with any new bit of UFO documentation, we tried to make 

meticulous checks on the memo’s authenticity before revealing its ex- 

istence to the world. The process is like running down clues in an in- 

volved mystery—there is a lot of legwork that must be done, but each 

step takes you closer to being sure. 

To begin, Bill and Jaime clearly saw the watermark with the 

name of the manufacturer—Fox Paper—when they held the paper 

up to the window of the office in the archive. (Several years later, Ed 

Reese allowed Bruce Maccabee and I to photograph the memo, pro- 

viding a permanent record of the color of the paper and the markings 

as well as the watermark.) Moore contacted Fox Paper in Wisconsin, 

talked to their watermark expert, and determined that this paper was 

made only in bid lots between 1953 and the early 1970s. The gov- 

ernment bought a great deal of the paper, and the bid lot limitation 

meant that it wouldn't show up in retail stores all over the country— 

only major customers such as the government would buy it. So we 

know that the paper fits the time scheme, it would have been avail- 

able in a number of government offices, and it would generally not 

have been available to the public. 

Besides the paper checking out, the language, style, format, and 

typeface of the memo appear to be genuine, especially when com- 

pared to other memos from Cutler that are known to be valid. 

As Bill read the memo to me over the phone, I was immediately 

reminded of a July 13, 1953 Cutler-Twining memo we had found in 

late 1981 in General Twining’s papers at the Library of Congress 

Manuscript Division. Inside a box of material that had been declas- 

sified, we found a folder labeled TOP SECRET EYES ONLY— 

normally the most-classified material. Two memos in the file—both 

from Cutler—dealt with Operation Solarium. One was dated June 

25, 1953, and was routed through the Secretary of Defense and then 
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.on to General Twining, who was at that time the Air Force chief of 

staff. The other was dated July 13, 1953, and was sent directly to 

Twining. Here is the text of the latter memo, which Cutler signed: 

MEMORANDUM FOR GENERAL TWINING 

The President expects you to attend the Extraordinary Meeting 

of the National Security Council in the Broadcast Room of the 

White House, Thursday, July 16, at 9:00 A.M. It is advisable not to 

plan any other engagements before 6:00 P.M. on that day. 

Due to the nature of the Meeting, it is necessary to take special 

security precautions and to maintain absolute secrecy regarding par- 

ticipation in, as well as the substance of, the Meeting. It is requested 

that you enter the White House grounds via the Southeast Entrance 

not later than 8:45 A.M. and descend from your car at the South 

(Diplomatic) Entrance of the Mansion. Your car should be dis- 

charged and not wait anywhere in the vicinity of the White House. 

The President expects you to lunch with him at the White House 

at 12:30 P.M. 

In order to avoid communication on this subject, it 1s understood 

that in the absence of contrary word your concurrence in the above 

arrangements is assumed. 

ROBERT CUTLER 

Special Assistant 

to the President 

The concluding words of the two memos are virtually the same. 

Another similarity in wording is the indication that specific de- 

tails will be given at the meeting only. The June 25, 1953 memo says, 

“The program will be explained in detail at the meeting”; the 1954 

memo says, “More precise arrangements will be explained to you 

upon arrival.” 

In addition to similarities in what the memos say, there are sim- 

ilarities in what they don't say. Neither gives any clue as to the subject 

of the meetings to which they refer—another indication of authen- 

ticity. 
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Although it would seem that a highly classified memo would 

give full details because only a select few would see it, the opposite 

is actually the rule. I have seen many declassified Top Secret memos 

that give very little information, and I have determined through in- 

terviews with officials that this is standard practice. The less infor- 

mation in a memo between people the better, for it makes life a lot 

simpler from a need-to-know standpoint. As long as the ultimate re- 

cipient knows what is being discussed, then the people between the 

sender and recipient—secretaries, couriers, and so forth—need not 

be made aware of the subject, even though they might have appro- 

priate clearance. 

Verification of another peculiar aspect of the 1954 Cutler- 

Twining memo—the absence of a signature or /5/, since Cutler gen- 

erally signed his memos—came from another source. Robert Todd, 

an unusual researcher on the East Coast who has written well over 

1,000 FOIA requests, sought more information about Cutler's activ- 

ities in July 1954. From the Eisenhower Library, he obtained infor- 

mation that Cutler was on an extended trip to Europe when the 

memo was typed! This piece of the authenticity puzzle was of major 

importance, for if there Aad been a signature or an /4*/, the document 

would have to be bogus. Cutler couldn't be in Europe and in his of- 

fice at the White House on the same day. 

One of the most virulent attacks on the memo came as no sur- 

prise. It was from Philip Klass, who for more than two decades has 

been attacking anything pro-UFO. He has published four books 

about UFOs; has written a number of articles, especially for the 

Skeptical Inquirer; and is head of the UFO subcommittee of the self- 

anointed Committee for the Scientific Investigation of Claims of the 

Paranormal (CSICOP). He is aware of Project Blue Book Special 

Report 14, yet he claims there are no UFO sightings that cannot be 

explained and never mentions Special Report 14 in his books. 

Klass has been attacking the MJ-12 items right from the start. 

One of his contentions was that the Cutler-Twining memo could not 

be authentic because the typewriters in use in the White House at 

that time did not have that typeface. The memo was typed in a large 
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pica face, and Klass maintained that the White House used only the 

smaller elite face at that time. As he wrote to me on January 16, 1989: 

I challenge you to produce known-to-be-authentic White House 

business letters/memoranda written by Cutler or Lay during the 

1953-1955 time period which use a typeface identical in size and style 

to that used in the alleged Cutler-Twining memo of July 14, 1954. 

(Lay was a career public servant who had worked in Army 

Intelligence during World War II. In 1954, Lay was executive sec- 

retary of the NSC, having succeeded Sidney Souers in that position 

in 1950. Prior to that, he had been Souers’s assistant. Lay stayed on 

as executive secretary right through to the end of the Eisenhower ad- 

ministration.) 

Klass enclosed nine samples of Cutler NSC memos from that 

time period, all in elite type. To “provide motivation,” he wrote, he 

offered me $100 for each such verified document I could provide 

him, to a maximum of $1,000. 

A solid-looking argument, and he was risking money, too. 

Copies of this challenge were sent to many people. However, Klass 

ignored research done by Dr. Bruce Maccabee and Robert Swiatek of 

the Fund for UFO Research, who earlier spent time going through 

portions of the declassified NSC material from the Eisenhower era 

then available at the National Archives. Although there werent that 

many declassified NSC documents, these researchers determined 

that the NSC had at least three different typewriters in use at the 

time: two with different pica faces as well as one with an elite face. 

I knew Klass’s statement that the White House didn’t use pica 

typewriters was untrue even without Maccabee and Swiatek’s work. 

I had in my own files numerous memos from Cutler and Lay typed 

in a pica typeface. I mailed him copies of twenty of these, and a 

month later, copies of fourteen more pica memos from Lay that I 

found at the Eisenhower Library. On March 3, Klass sent me a check 

for $1,000. It appeared that the primary debunker of UFOs was sat- 

isfied that the typeface of the Cutler-Twining memo was legitimate. 
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* * * * 

Another challenge to the document came from a less-expected quar- 

ter—the Eisenhower Library. In the May 31, 1987 London Observer _ 

article that discussed the MJ-12 briefing document, writer Martin 

Bailey had also mentioned the Cutler-Twining memo. While con- 

tacting various archives about the memo, Bailey called Jo Ann 

Williamson at the National Archives. She made a flat statement that 

the Cutler-Twining memo was a very strange document. Bailey 

quoted Williamson as stating, “It [the memo] was found in the files 

of the US Air Force Director of Intelligence and is certainly genuine, 

but we have found no minutes of the MJ-12 meeting which was 

scheduled for at least two days later. It is very surprising that there are 

no other papers on MJ-12 and we have no idea what it was.” 

Williamson was, in a sense, caught between a rock and a hard 

place with the Cutler-Twining memo definitely being found in her 

facility, but having no backup information. She put out a listing of 

the archive’s somewhat negative comments because she got so many 

requests for information. She had apparently talked to the Eisen- 

hower Library to get their views as well. 

As often happens, a number of the statements in her review were 

misleading because they lacked context. For example, Williamson 

mentioned that there were no NSC meetings on July 16, 1954. 

However, the Cutler-Twining memo does not specify that the brief- 

ing will take place during an NSC meeting, but an “already scheduled 

meeting.” The meeting could have been of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, 

the cabinet, or any one of a number of other groups. 

Similarly, the Eisenhower Library originally contributed a state- 

ment to the effect that all carbons of Cutler’s memos were done on 

onionskin paper with a certain watermark that was different from 

that on the Cutler-Twining memo. They made it sound as if they 

had done a complete search of NSC materials. What they really 

meant was all of the small number of carbons they had examined. 

Obviously, they did not search all of the 250,000 pages of NSC ma- 

terial in their archive, which include tens of thousands of pages by 
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Cutler, because they do not have the personnel to attempt such a 

study. They later changed their statement after I pointed out a num- 

ber of copies done on onionskin paper with differing watermarks. 

Bailey went on to quote Barry Greenwood as a UFO writer who 

raised an intriguing question about a very sophisticated fraud: “There 

are some things that look wrong with the White House memo. For 

example, it is unsigned. It is just possible that it was manufactured by 

someone waiting to prove the existence of MJ-12 and then inserted 

into Air Force Intelligence records which had recently been opened 

up to the public. The hoaxer would then have ordered a copy from 

the National Archives which would carry the official declassifica- 

tion stamp. MJ-12 may well have existed, but more research is 

needed to authenticate the documents.” 

A seemingly logical argument—if the reader is unaware of 

archive procedures. If one looks at the original of the Cutler-Twining 

memo, one is struck not only by the fact that it’s in blue ink, appar- 

ently from carbon paper, but that there is a short red pencil mark 

drawn on a slant through the security marking. Of course, in a pho- 

tocopy it’s hard to tell that it is pencil, and it is certainly impossible to 

tell that it is red. During my own visit to the Eisenhower Library 

after the Cutler-T wining memo was found, I noted in a file consist- 

ing mostly of original documents a number of cases of such slant red 

pencil marks through the security markings. 

Recalling the Cutler-Twining memo, I asked the archivist if 

there was any significance to the red mark. His response was affir- 

mative. When it is decided that a document can be declassified, he 

told me, a slant red pencil line is run through the security markings. 

I did not know this previously; nor did Jaime or Bill, which points 

to the memo being a legitimate document. Whoever put it in Box 

189 at the National Archives was apparently well aware of the red 

pencil convention. It would have been a perfectly natural thing for 

somebody accustomed to such matters to do, such as the members 

of the many four-man teams of classification reviewers. (The 

National Archives would not identify the team members to me.) 
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Other objections to the memo related to the security markings. The 

NSC claimed to the National Archives that the security designation 

on the memo—TOP SECRET RESTRICTED SECURITY IN; 

FORMATION—was not used until the Nixon administration. This 

objection is more transparent than it first seems. I have reviewed a 

number of NSC documents from 1953 that were stamped RE- 

STRICTED SECURITY INFORMATION. There was one that 

had an additional SECRET on it; another one was stamped CON- 

FIDENTIAL RESTRICTED SECURITY INFORMATION. 

Normally, when there is CONFIDENTIAL and SECRET prior to 

a subsequent designator such as RESTRICTED DATA (which is 

used for nuclear information), there will also at some point be TOP 

SECRET RESTRICTED SECURITY INFORMATION. 

In addition, in my ongoing work in the archives, I had noted oc- 

casional security markings that I would see only once. TOP SE- 

CRET CONTROL is one example. However, just because a 

marking is found only once is no indication that it is fraudulent. 

Another example is the marking COSMIC, which turns out to 

be a NATO security marking. I came across it once at the 

Eisenhower Library. When I asked that library for samples of doc- 

uments with the COSMIC marking from the Eisenhower admin- 

istration, they said, “Well, they’re all classified, but here’s some 

declassified material dating back to when Eisenhower was Chief of 

the Allied Forces in Europe.” Sure enough, the marking COSMIC 

showed up a number of times. 

Since no one searched all the NSC materials at the Eisenhower 

Library, the NSC’s claim that the security marking TOP SECRET 

RESTRICTED SECURITY INFORMATION was not used sim- 

ply has no documentary basis. 

Another objection was that the security markings are not rubber- 

stamped top and bottom but are merely typed in the upper righthand 

portion. Some people are convinced that government rules require 

that documents be stamped top and bottom in large letters with 

whatever the security indications are. The answer to this once again 

lay in the NSC files at the Eisenhower Library. Over and over again 
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in those papers, variations on the normal crop up. Often the secu- 

rity markings are typed rather than rubber-stamped; sometimes they 

are a mix. Sometimes they are top and bottom, sometimes only top; 

sometimes in the upper and lower righthand corners, sometimes in 

the center. There obviously are no hard and fast rules, especially for 

information that was intended to be for internal use only. 

The Cutler-Twining memo passed muster as to the kind of paper, 

the language, and the typeface. But there were still other questions 

about it that had to be resolved. 

One of those queries was why would a memo be sent out under 

Cutler’s name when he wasn't there? A good question, and one that 

has a good answer. In his FOIA searches, Robert Todd turned up an- 

other pertinent memo from Cutler, this time to James Lay and Lay’s 

close associate, J. Patrick Coyne, who actually worked for the FBI. In 

this memo, dated July 3, 1954, Cutler gave Lay and Coyne specific 

‘nstructions about how to handle his duties while he was away in 

Europe. In a separate paragraph, Cutler notes, “Keep things moving 

out of my basket.” 

On March 6, 1990, I received the first response to my mandatory 

classification review requests of February 1988, which I discussed in 

Chapter 4. Of the dozens of documents that I had requested, only 

one document had been acted upon: a message from Lay to Cutler 

dated July 16, 1954, just two days after the Cutler- Twining memo 

(which is why I requested it). It was transmitted electronically by 

General Paul Carroll, White House Secretary, to Cutler in Europe. 

It is a quick review of the activities at the July 15, 1954 NSC meeting 

as originally instructed by Cutler to Lay in his July 3, 1954 memo. 

The last two lines of this memo are: “Hope you will recuperate, rest 

and enjoy yourself for few days before returning. Will try to have 

everything tidy and not too much pressure upon you when you re- 

turn.” According to the Eisenhower Library, the message was a blue 

carbon on onionskin without a watermark and there is no heading on 

the stationery. Clearly, Lay was handling things for Cutler. 

Lay and Cutler worked very closely together. They sat next to 



100 TOP SECRET/MAIIC 

each other at the weekly meetings of the NSC. They handled pa- 

perwork together, and appear to have gotten copies of each other’s 

memos. For example, Lay’s name is on the distribution list for 

Cutler’s June 25, 1953 memo to the Secretary of Defense. 

Since Cutler gave Lay specific instructions to keep things mov- 

ing out of his basket, it is logical that Lay would have sent the memo 

to Twining in Cutler’s name, since Cutler was Eisenhower’s man. But 

logic isn’t enough to make a solid case. I needed more information 

before I could feel secure about this hypothesis. 

I next determined from White House schedules that Lay and his 

assistant S. Everett Gleason had met with Eisenhower off the record 

at 2:30 P.M. on July 14, 1954, and that, according to the White House 

phone logs, Eisenhower and Lay had a brief conversation at about 

4:35 P.M. Eisenhower could have asked Lay to notify Twining of a 

slight change in plans which would influence Twining’s schedule, since 

a briefing was to take place during an already scheduled meeting rather 

than after it as originally planned. One can envision a phone conver- 

sation in which Eisenhower tells Lay, “With regard to the matter we 

discussed earlier, there’s been a slight change in plans. Please notify 

Twining that the briefing will take place during the already scheduled 

meeting, rather than afterward.” Lay could have dictated a short 

memo that didn’t reveal anything classified, but told Twining every- 

thing he needed to know. The secretary would have put the memo into 

the secure pouch for delivery to Twining over at the Pentagon by 

courier, and Twining would make appropriate arrangements. 

Certainly, most civilians wouldn't address a four-star general with 

language like “your concurrence in the above arrangements is as- 

sumed,” but as shown by Cutler’s 1953 memo to Twining, it was 

something he did. And Lay would have known this from his close as- 

sociation with Cutler. 

Another question, also raised by Klass, was that neither 

Eisenhower’s nor Twining’s calendar for July 16, 1954, the date on 

which the briefing mentioned in the memo was to take place, says 

anything about an MJ-12 briefing. Doesn’t this absence establish 

that there was no such meeting? 
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No. What it does establish is that nothing was listed on the of- 

ficial calendars. First, Twining’s schedules were unclassified—theo- 

retically, any private citizen could have requested them. Judging from 

the memo, the MJ-12 briefing was highly classified. 

Second, it is common for government and military officials to 

be present at only parts of meetings listed on their calendars. For ex- 

ample, the daily log for Twining on January 25, 1960, when he was 

chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, shows that he was at the 

Conference of Governors on Civil Defense from 9:15 in the morning 

until 10:30, when he had a meeting with President Eisenhower. 

After leaving the president, Twining went back to the governors’ 

conference. (The log was in Twining’s papers in the Library of 

Congress Manuscript Division.) President Eisenhower, as well as 

other presidents before and after him, very often stayed for only part 

of cabinet meetings, letting Vice President Nixon run parts of the 

meetings. And the other cabinet members would generally stay only 

for the portions of the meetings that directly concerned them, espe- 

cially with regard to highly classified matters. The Postmaster 

General, for instance, might not have had a need-to-know for im- 

portant defense or atomic energy information and would not be pre- 

sent during those segments. 

Third, I found out that there may be multiple versions of impor- 

tant officials’ calendars. For example, August 1, 1950 is listed in the 

Majestic-12 briefing document as the day on which General Smith 

was designated as a permanent replacement for Secretary Forrestal. 

When I wrote to the Truman Library requesting Truman calendar 

for that date, I was sent a listing that was prepared ahead of time. 

When I visited the library, however, I discovered the list of meetings 

that Truman actually had that day. It includes five meetings that 

weren't on the preliminary sheet! 

We know that Eisenhower and Twining were both in Washing- 

ton on July 16, 1954. Eisenhower's docket included a meeting of his 

cabinet from 9:30 a.m. to noon. Twining had a Joint Chiefs of Staff 

meeting from 11 A.M. to 11:55 A.M. and continuing from 2 P.M. to 

4:15 pM. Travel time between the Pentagon and the White House 
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is only a few minutes. Twining could have opened the meeting of the 

Joint Chiefs, slipped out to see Eisenhower, and then come back to 

the Joint Chiefs. : 

We cannot prove that such a meeting took place. Eisenhowe 

was famous for committing as little information to paper as possi- 

ble, for he was very concerned about security as befits the comman- 

der who oversaw the invasion of Normandy. And we have myriad 

examples of Eisenhower's failure to mention meetings which we 

know took place. Take what happened on November 18, 1952, the 

day of the MJ-12 briefing. Eisenhower had a 43-minute meeting at 

the Pentagon with the various members of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. 

We know that the meeting took place. The Eisenhower Library has 

detailed information about who was in which car, what the order of 

the cars was, and the detailed schedule for the day, including the 

briefing at the Pentagon. And yet, in his book Mandate for Change, 

Eisenhower made no mention of the Pentagon meeting. Not only 

that, but in five other books about the Eisenhower presidency by 

close associates, there is no mention of the briefing. 

Thus, it appears that the Cutler-Twining memo is the real thing, in- 

dicating that there was a Top Secret MJ-12 group. Now we had to 

turn to other sources to find out more. 



B 

GOVERNMENT TREATMENT UF 
MAJESTIC-12 AND ROSWELL 

The U.S. government had been relatively silent about UFOs since 

closing the old Air Force Project Blue Book in 1969. I made sporadic 

attempts using FOIA in the late 1970s to get information from the 

government, but learned quickly that there was very little chance of 

finding a smoking gun. The fact that no one sees special compart- 

mented Top Secret documents, along with the many restrictions on 

FOIA requests, makes it easy for any government agency to withhold 

documents. 

This is not to say that useful information cannot be obtained, just 

that it is almost invariably meaningful only when put together with 

other information. For example, when CAUS went after the CIA's 

UFO information, they were told there was none. When the case 

went to court, the CIA “found” almost 900 pages about UFOs, most 

of it relatively dull and none of it classified above Secret. But the CIA 

did provide a list of 57 UFO documents originating with other agen- 

cies. Only the originating agencies could declassify these. Thus, al- 

though CAUS didn’t get much new from the documents themselves, 

they could now prove that there were many different government 

agencies collecting information on UFOs: the Defense Intelligence 

103 
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Agency, the Army, the Navy, the Air Force, the State Department, 

and the super-secret National Security Agency. Eighteen documents 

about UFOs in the CIA files were listed as being from the NSA. | 

As discussed in Chapter 4, an FOIA request was made in 1979 

to the NSA for the 18 NSA UFO documents (listed by date only) 

found by the CIA. The NSA turned the request down cold on the 

grounds of national security, and an appeal was also rejected using 

the same excuse. Thanks to the efforts of CAUS, its attorney Peter 

Gersten, and a grant from the Fund for UFO Research, the case was 

brought to federal court in 1980, where Judge Gerhard Gesell di- 

rected the NSA to search its files for UFO materials. When the NSA 

came back to court, they announced they had found 239 highly clas- 

sified UFO documents, 79 of which originated with other agencies, 

including 23 from the CIA which that agency had not found in its 

own search. That left 160 NSA UFO documents. Four were thrown 

out as being nonresponsive, and the other 156 were withheld by the 

NSA. Why? National security. 

CAUS tried a different legal tack, requesting that Judge Gesell 

be shown the 156 documents, all of which were certainly pre-1980 

and many of which dated back to the 1950s. CAUS wanted the judge 

to determine whether the NSA was properly invoking national secu- 

rity. (There is legal precedent for the request.) However, the NSA re- 

fused to show any of the UFO documents to Judge Gesell. 

Previously, the NSA had provided Gesell with an unclassified justi- 

fication based on national security and “sources and methods” infor- 

mation that they said could not be released to the public. But this 

time they gave him a 21-page Above Top Secret affidavit justifying 

the withholding. They also had to give the judge an Above Top 

Secret security clearance just so he could review the affidavit in 

chambers. Naturally, attorney Gersten was not able to view the affi- 

davit. The judge stated in his finding that “the in-camera affidavit 

presents factual considerations which aided the court in determin- 

ing that the public interest in disclosure is far outweighed by the sen- 

sitive nature of the materials and the obvious effect on national 

security their release may well entail.” 
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Judge Gesell agreed with the NSA; we couldn't have the 156 

NSA UFO documents. We lost a chance to look at the documents, 

but we won something perhaps more valuable in the long run: a 

high-level legal opinion linking UFOs and national security. The Air 

Force, however, had for decades been claiming that UFOs do not 

represent a threat to national security. Surely, therefore, the UFO in- 

formation should be segregatable from intelligence sources, methods, 

and techniques, all of which understandably could be withheld. 

Based on this logic, we filed another appeal, this time with the 

Federal Court of Appeals in Washington, D.C. This involved both 

oral and written arguments. Normally the Court of Appeals takes 

two months to reach a decision. Only five days after the three-judge 

tribunal was shown the NSA’s Top Secret affidavit, it agreed with the 

lower court. CAUS then attempted to have the case submitted to the 

Supreme Court, but the Supreme Court declined to review it. 

We did at least receive a copy of the NSA’s affidavit within a few 

months of an FOIA request. Seventy-five percent of the material was 

blacked out! Clearly the NSA was able to segregate the blacked-out 

Above Top Secret information from the releaseable information. But 

for some reason they couldn’t seem to be able to do this for the 156 

withheld documents. 

At most of my lectures now, I recount the story of this legal battle 

and show the censored pages. It’s a guaranteed laugh for the audi- 

ence, and it proves that the NSA is withholding information about 

UFOs. 

Unfortunately, the papers don’t give us much insight into what 

is being withheld. You might well expect that, since the major job of 

the NSA is to listen in on military communications around the world 

with extraordinarily sophisticated listening devices and decoding sys- 

tems, many of the 156 documents came from electronic intercepts 

about UFO encounters by foreign military personnel. 

In 1977, I learned of one such encounter when I met someone 

who had worked for the NSA at Boca Chica Naval Air Station in 

Florida while he was in the military in 1967. My informant told me 
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this story in private after hearing my lecture. I assured him I would 

not use his name, but I confirmed his version with another man who 

had been stationed there at the same time. j 

Boca Chica is the base closest to Cuba. It’s dull duty. You must 

be a linguist with fluency in at least Russian and Spanish for that 

base. Listening in on run-of-the-mill military communications 1s not 

very exciting. However, in this instance, Cuban Air Defense 

Command reported a UFO heading toward Cuba from the north- 

east in broad daylight at an altitude of 30,000 feet and a speed ap- 

proaching Mach 1—about 760 miles per hour. Two Cuban 

MIG-21s were scrambled to intercept the UFO. They approached it, 

radioing that it should leave Cuban airspace. They communicated 

back to their base that the UFO was a bright metallic sphere, had 

no appendages or markings, and was neither changing its course nor 

acknowledging the warnings. 

By now the UFO was over Cuba, and the base commanded the 

pilots to shoot it down. The lead pilot armed his missiles and secured 

a radar lock-on. Suddenly, the wingman was screaming over the radio 

that the lead plane had disintegrated! The UFO took off straight up 

to 100,000 feet and moved off southeast at Mach several. 

The man who related this story to me noted that when they sent 

a spot report of these communications to headquarters, they got an 

unusual response. They were told not only to list the plane loss as 

equipment malfunction, but to send the original tapes to headquar- 

ters! Normally, transcripts of the communications—time lines and 

words as translated—were fine. I asked my informant whether head- 

quarters might have wanted to try to get the exact words from the 

tape. He said that was possible. 

Robert Todd made several FOIA requests to get the official 

records on this event. The FBI and the Air Force responded very 

strongly, threatening Todd and demanding copies of the report I had 

given Todd and the identity of the informant. (I had not provided the 

man’s identity.) I was very concerned when Todd told me of this of- 

ficial reaction. I was living in California at the time, my wife was 

visiting family in eastern Canada, and I was at home with two handi- 
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capped children. I was the only one who knew the informant’s name, 

and I wasn’t about to give it up. Nevertheless, I felt somewhat in- 

timidated and spent several sleepless nights listening for knocking 

at my door. I made a number of phone calls to colleagues explain- 

ing the story, so that if anyone was listening in they would know that 

others knew what was happening. As far as I know, no one carried 

through on any threats. 

Sometime later, | had my own cloak-and-dagger contact with 

the government. When the NSA revealed they had found 23 CIA 

UFO documents, I naturally filed an FOIA request with the CIA. 

When the agency finally responded after 35 months, they sent me a 

letter outlining appeal procedures and noting that, if I had any ques- 

tions, I should call a certain number and ask for Chris. Just Chris. 

I decided to play the game. When I called Chris, he pressured 

me not to appeal the decision. “You don’t expect to get anything, do 

you>” This time, I was more amused than intimidated, and I appealed 

anyway. As explained in Chapter 4, the CIA responded 24 months 

later in a totally unsatisfactory, but not unexpected, fashion. 

It may appear that a few dozen documents is hardly a strong indi- 

cation of great CIA interest in UFOs. However, recall that the orig- 

inal court case brought by CAUS had revealed almost 900 pages of 

material, and these pages had internal references to some 200 other 

documents, none of which were ever released. And I have good rea- 

sons to believe the CIA has a lot more than that. 

John Marx is a lawyer who has managed to obtain a great deal 

of information about mind-control experiments conducted, usually 

illegally, in the early 1960s by the CIA and a number of subcontrac- 

tors. His first FOIA release from the CIA was 400 pages of docu- 

ments. He yelled and screamed. As a lawyer practicing in 

Washington, he could easily take the agency back to court, so he was 

given another box of 400 pages. More fussing; more boxes. He even- 

tually wound up with 40,000 pages, and he still didn’t get all the ma- 

terial. So the minuscule amount of UFO material we have received 

so far is probably just the barest tip of the iceberg. 
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* * * * 

Other government agencies have their own ways of dealing with 

people who ask too many questions. For instance, when visiting the 

Project Blue Book files at the National Archives in Washington in 

the late 1970s, I had noted that they had added about 2,000 pages 

of Air Force OSI material, all declassified. Recognizing that this 

probably meant that there were many other documents that were not 

declassified, I made an effort to obtain them from the Air Force. 

They responded to my request with doubletalk, intentionally mis- 

interpreting my request. I dissected the doubletalk, sent another let- 

ter, and got more doubletalk. I wrote another letter and finally heard 

from a section chief in OSI, Noah D. Lawrence, who said they had 

done everything they could to assist me. (They had done nothing.) 

He was gracious enough to provide me, per my request, a list of the 

addresses of all OSI offices at Air Force bases around the world. 

The next I knew about this was the copy of an order from 

Lawrence to all OSI offices that Bill Moore printed in Focus. The 

order, of course, instructed OSI field offices to violate their own reg- 

ulations when confronted by FOIA requests from UFO researchers 

in general and me in particular. (See Chapter 4.) So what did the 

OSI have to hide? It clearly wasn’t going to be of much use to ask 

them directly. 

Even members of Congress are not immune from such treat- 

ment. In the early 1990s, momentum was building through the ef- 

forts of the Fund for UFO Research, associated with Karl Pflock, to 

get congressional involvement, especially with regard to the Roswell 

event. In addition to support for research by myself and others, the 

Fund had sponsored a gathering of Roswell-related witnesses. The 

culmination of these efforts was a collection of notarized statements 

from these witnesses and a 105-minute Recollections of Roswell video- 

tape including the statements of 28 of the witnesses. 

When Crash at Corona was being publicized in Washington, 

D.C, in the summer of 1992, Dr. Jesse Marcel—the son of the late 

Jesse Marcel, the Army Air Force major who first saw the Roswell 

wreckage in 1947—was brought in from his home in Montana. Dr. 
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Marcel is a medical doctor, a flight surgeon, a pilot in the reserves, 

and has served on a number of military aircraft accident investigation 

teams. As an 11-year-old, he had handled wreckage that his father 

brought home from the Roswell crash site. He and I and members of 

the Fund briefed various Congressional staff personnel about saucer 

crashes in New Mexico and the intimidation of various witnesses. 

As a result of these briefings and the responsiveness of the staff 

people, Congressman Steve Schiff of New Mexico made a request of 

Secretary of Defense Les Aspin for a full briefing about what had 

happened at Roswell. (Fred Whiting, himself of the Fund, had been a 

Congressional aide and Karl Pflock’s wife worked in the office of 

Congressman Schiff.) Schiff had also received a number of statements 

and requests from constituents and others in New Mexico indicat- 

ing that there had been strong witness intimidation, and they wanted 

the truth about what had happened in New Mexico 45 years before. 

Normally, when a congressman asks for a briefing from the 

DOD, he gets it. There was no response. A second request also 

brought no response. Finally, the request was passed to the Congres- 

sional Liaison office and Schiff got a three-sentence letter from the 

Air Force stating that his request had been referred to the National 

Archives, which had the Project Blue Book files. The National 

Archives responded to Schiff that they had no records on the 

Roswell incident, as they had been saying to others for many years! 

Because of this stonewalling, at the end of 1993 Schiff turned 

to Congress’s investigative arm, the General Accounting Office 

(GAO), to search for government records with regard to the Roswell 

incident. He wasn’t looking for “everything” about flying saucers, or 

really anything about flying saucers. He was simply looking for 

records of the highly publicized Roswell event. In 1947, the com- 

mander of a major Army Air Force group had made an official state- 

ment that a flying disc had been recovered. This was followed by an 

official statement by the head of the 8th Air Force that what was re- 

covered was just a weather balloon radar reflector. There had been a 

special flight of a B-29 from Roswell to Fort Worth, Texas. There 

also had, according to an FBI memo, been a special flight up to 
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Wright Field with the wreckage. Surely there should be records 

somewhere. 

But before the GAO could make its report, the Air Force struck 

back. Not surprisingly, a former OSI disinformation specialist, 

Colonel Richard L. Weaver, was the point man. 

I had bumped up against Weaver and his colleagues before. In late 

1993, Nicholas Redfern, an English researcher, had sent me copies of 

two letters from Colonel Weaver, then Deputy for Security and 

Investigative Programs at the Pentagon. These letters were totally 

negative toward MJ-12. The first letter said, “this is in response to 

your FOIA request concerning the so-called Majestic 12 or MJ-12. 

We have no documents responsive to your request,” and continued: 

Having said that, however, I can state that the Air Force considers the 

MJ-12 (both the group described and the purported documents) to be 

bogus. In fact, we mark the copies of the documents that come into 

our possession with the annotation “NOT AN OFFICIAL AIR 

FORCE DOCUMENT, NOT CLASSIFIED, SUSPECTED 

FORGERY OR BOGUS DOCUMENT.” Such marking only 

proves to believers that we are obviously part of a gigantic ongoing 

coverup regarding the documents. These markings do, however, alert 

persons who may come into contact with them, that they are not re- 

ally dealing with TOP SECRET CLASSIFIED DOCUMENTS 

and do not have to employ security measures to protect them (usu- 

ally at great cost and inconvenience to all concerned). 

Colonel Weaver even sent Redfern a copy of the Eisenhower briefing 

document, minus certain key identifying features but marked 

BOGUS on every page in two-inch-high letters in black ink. You 

might say he was emphasizing his comment. 

The second letter from Weaver was in response to Redfern’s re- 

quest for information about potential criminal code violations that 

may have been violated by authors of UFO hoaxes. “As I previousiy 

stated,” Weaver wrote, “no one has been-interested in seriously pur- 
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suing the issue which is universally viewed in security and investiga 

tive circles as an obvious hoax.” 

Since Weaver had offered Redfern a seemingly official opinion, 

one must presume his office had done a detailed investigation of the 

MJ-12 documents. I sent a strong letter to Weaver on February 13, 

1994, reviewing the evidence and making an FOIA request for any 

and all memos, letters, and documents on which Weaver based his 

official statement that the MJ-12 documents were a hoax. No re- 

sponse. I wrote again on April 3. This time Weaver wrote back: “We 

have no records responsive to your request.” That was all. I sent a 

strong appeal, to which no reply had been received by April 1996. 

Is it stupidity that made Weaver think that UFO researchers don't 

talk amongst themselves? Or is it simply arrogance born of decades 

of unchallenged Air Force misrepresentation that allowed him to 

proclaim whatever he wanted? 

This attitude was demonstrated by another Air Force officer, 

Lieutenant Colonel Thomas W. Shubert, Congressional Inquiry 

Division, Office of Legislative Liaison, whose job is to respond to in- 

quiries by members of Congress on behalf of their constituents. In 

early 1994 Michael Atkins of the state of Washington sent me a copy 

of a gem from Colonel Shubert to Senator Patty Murray of 

Washington. It repeats totally misleading claims dating back to 

December 1969, when Project Blue Book was closed. 

Because I always run down every lead (you never know when a 

break in the dam will occur), I wrote to Shubert, stressing the many 

problems with the Air Force’s response. (See Appendix E.) After 

waiting months for a reply, I tried calling Shubert, and was told by 

a major that the office only responds to members of Congress. So I 

sent Shubert’s letter and my critique to other elected representatives. 

Senator Slate Gordon of Washington tried to rattle the Air Force's 

cage, but unsuccessfully. In response to my FOIA requests, I received 

copies of dozens of similarly false and misleading letters from the Air 

Force to other elected representatives asking about Roswell. 

Although they regularly make themselves out to be the public’s 

watchdog, no media group has had the courage yet to blow the lid off 
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this cosmic Watergate despite the unambiguous evidence of official 

lying, ignorance, or both. The Washington Post made numerous fac- 

tual errors when it reported in January 1994 that the GAO had 

agreed to seek the paper trail about Roswell for Congressman Schiff. 

I left phone messages for reporter William Claibourne three times. 

No response. The Post Ombudsperson did respond to my calls, and 

asked that I send information, which I did. Then nothing. 

On September 8, 1994, the Air Force executed an astonishing pre- 

emptive strike by releasing “their report” on Roswell. This was a clear 

violation of their agreement with the GAO. They and all other agen- 

cies approached by the GAO were to make all files available which 

might contain relevant information, not pick and choose on their 

own. 

The officer listed as the author of the Air Force report was none 

other than Colonel Weaver, so I was not surprised that the report was 

loaded with false information and used the standard tactics of the 

propagandist: selective choice of data, name-calling, and false rea- 

soning ad nauseum. (My 27-page detailed critique of the Air Force’s 

report is entitled “The Roswell Incident, the USAF, and the New 

York Times.”) The Air Force report concludes that what was recov- 

ered near Roswell wasn’t a flying saucer with alien bodies; nor was 

it a weather balloon and accompanying radar reflector, as claimed by 

8th Air Force Commander Roger Ramey back in 1947. Instead, ac- 

cording to Weaver, the wreckage probably consisted of balloons, 

radar reflectors, sonobuoys, and miscellaneous junk from a highly 

classified Project Mogul balloon assembly. Weaver's report, while 

only 23 pages long, made much ado about a 1,000-page collection 

of supporting documents at the Air Force Library at the Pentagon. 

An associate was lucky enough to gain access to a set of the sup- 

porting documents. However, media personnel were denied access to 

the material—and for good reason. In November 1995, the attach- 

ments and the original report were published by the Government 

Printing Office as an impressive-looking, two-and-a-half-inch- 

thick, heavily illustrated report entitled The Roswell Report: Truth 
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Versus Fiction in the New Mexico Desert costing $52. In it was more 

information about Project Mogul than anybody would ever want. 

Weaver, as it turns out, has taught courses to OSI personnel on 

the uses of disinformation. Project Mogul was no revelation; its ex- 

istence had been known for decades. None of the technology was 

highly classified. The project’s objective—to develop a constant-al- 

titude balloon which could monitor sounds produced by a Soviet nu- 

clear explosion thousands of miles away—had been highly classified. 

(Project Mogul began in 1946. The first Soviet nuclear explosion 

took place in 1949, and was detected by analyzing air samples gath- 

ered by U.S. aircraft, not by Mogul devices.) 

Each Mogul ensemble consisted of 20-25 balloons tied together 

with twine at about 20-foot intervals and included sonobuoys, ballast 

containers, radio gear, and other equipment. The balloons used in 

June 1947 were standard neoprene weather balloons, which turned to 

gray ash after weeks in the sun. The radar reflectors consisted of foil 

over a frame of balsa wood sticks with tape holding the whole busi- 

ness together like a child’s kite. Supposedly the tape had strange pas- 

tel flower symbols on it and the balsa wood was soaked in something 

to make it tougher. But no matter how tough they made the wood 

or the foil reflectors, this standard junk simply does not relate to the 

extraordinarily strong, lightweight material that Roswell witnesses 

have described. 

Weaver had no qualms about making other misrepresentations. 

He attempted to tabloidize the story by claiming, “In 1978, an article 

appeared in a tabloid newspaper, the National Inquirer |sic], which 

reported the former intelligence officer, Marcel, claimed that he had 

recovered UFO debris near Roswell in 1947. Also in 1978 a UFO re- 

searcher, Stanton Friedman, met with Marcel and began investigat- 

ing the claims that the material Marcel handled was from a crashed 

UFO.” This implies that I get my leads from tabloid newspapers. 

I did talk to Marcel in February 1978, but it was on the phone 

after I was referred to Marcel by the station manager of a Baton 

Rouge television station, who knew Marcel. I met with Marcel in 

May 1979, when making UFOs Are Real. More importantly, the 
¥ 
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National Enquirer (not Inquirer) article Weaver references didn’t ap- 

pear until February 1980, and it was based on a December 1979 in- 

terview with Marcel by outstanding Enguirer UFO reporter Bob 

Pratt—who had gotten Marcel’s address from me! By that time, Bill 

Moore and I had done almost all the research reported in The Roswell 

Incident. We spent an enormous amount of time, money, and effort 

locating witnesses, taking testimony, and tracking down our own 

leads. There was no tabloid influence. 

Weaver quoted from a July 8, 1947 FBI memo referring to the 

wreckage recovered by the 509th, but left out an interior clause 

which totally changes the meaning: “Further advised that the object 

found resembles a high altitude weather balloon with a radar reflec- 

tor but that telephonic conversation between their office and Wright Field 

had not borne out this belef.” He quotes at length from a July 9, 1947 

Roswell Daily Record article “Harassed Rancher Who Located 

‘Saucer’ Sorry He Told About It,” but leaves out this all-important 

part of Brazel’s quote: “I am sure what I found was not any weather 

observation balloon.” He also doesn’t mention, as is noted in several 

books, that Brazel was brought back into town after showing the 

wreckage to Marcel and Cavitt on July 7 and given a new story by the 

military. 

Weaver talked to several persons connected with Project Mogul, 

and also with Sheridan Cavitt, the Counter-Intelligence Corps man 

who went out to the Brazel ranch with Marcel. Cavitt, who is on a 

military pension, is quoted as saying, “The area of this debris was 

very small, about 20 feet square and the material was spread on the 

ground, but there was no gouge or crater or other obvious sign of im- 
pact. I remember recognizing this material as being consistent with a 
weather balloon. We gathered up some of this material which would 

easily fit into one vehicle.” 

Simple, straightforward, and certainly false. Since 1980, when I 

located him, Cavitt has spoken on numerous occasions with re- 
searchers such as Bill Moore, myself, Don Schmitt, and Kevin 

Randle. Never did he say anything like what Weaver claims he said. 
Rather, he has steadfastly claimed he had nothing to do with the in- 
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cident, even claiming at one point that he wasn’t even in Roswell at 

all that week. The July 9 Roswell Daily Record article that Weaver 

quoted from also included Brazel’s statement that the wreckage was 

“scattered over an area 200 yards in diameter.” Major Marcel testified 

in the 1979 documentary UFOs Are Real that the wreckage covered 

an area three quarters of a mile long and hundreds of feet wide. 

Even if we could believe the claim that the wreckage was from 

a Mogul ensemble, the Air Force report doesn’t stand up. One of the 

report’s attachments states that the reason Marcel and Blanchard 

didn’t recognize the wreckage was that there were 23 balloons, 

sonobuoys, and other debris. How could an ensemble that extensive 

(it would have been at least 500 feet long) come down in an area 

“about 20 feet square”? How could it “easily fit into one vehicle”? 

Weaver had already left his Pentagon assignment by the time the re- 

port was released, having been transferred back to the OSI office at 

Langley Field, Virginia, and was unavailable for interviews. But his 

disinformation continued to flourish. His original debunking was 

covered in gory detail in a long front-page article in the New York 

Times of Sunday, September 18, 1994. The article, by Pulitzer-win- 

ning science reporter William Broad, touted the “discovery” of the 

Project Mogul explanation. The article was syndicated, and appeared 

on the front page of many other newspapers. But it was obvious that 

Broad had done little independent research himself—he bought the 

Weaver bunk hook, line, and sinker. 

For instance, although he talked to some Project Mogul special- 

ists, Broad didn’t note that C. B. Moore, the key engineer on the pro- 

ject, had been interviewed years ago by Bill Moore and also by Don 

Berliner and myself. If he had, he would have known that this ex- 

planation was not new. The language of his article was also extremely 

biased against ufologists. He used such terms as flying saucer fans, 

coverup theorists, flying saucer cultists, conspiracy theories, and flying 

saucer devotees. He appeared oblivious to the fact that Gallup polls 

have shown for more than 30 years that believers outnumber non- 

believers, and that the greater the education a person has, the more 
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likely he or she is to believe that some UFOs are alien spacecraft. 

In fact, of engineers and scientists, two-thirds who express an opin- 

ion say flying saucers are real. And perhaps most telling was his ref- 

erence to Walter Haut as being connected with the Roswell 

Museum, but never mentioning that Haut was the one who put out 

the first press release about the Roswell crash! 

On July 29, 1995, the GAO released its long-awaited Roswell doc- 

ument search report (GAO/NSIAD-95-187 “Results of a Search for 

Records Concerning the 1947 Crash Near Roswell, New Mexico”) 

to Congressman Schiff. Although Schiff could have held it for 30 

days, he released it to the public later that same day with a press re- 

lease which noted that numerous records of Roswell Army Air Field, 

which should have been kept, had been destroyed. According to the 

GAO report, these destroyed items included administrative records 

from March 1945 through December 1949, and outgoing messages 

from October 1946 through December 1949. 

The GAO also included a separate two-page report to 

Congressman Schiff about the MJ-12 documents. The long and 

short of this special report is that the GAO made a number of in- 

quiries to various archives and the Air Force concerning MJ-12, 

and—surprise! Nobody knew anything. The CIA “cooperated” with 

the GAO, doing a search of their files using only two keywords: 

Project Mogul and Roswell! (There must be dozens of other keywords 

they could have used, including Corona, flying disc, flying saucer, crash, 

etc.) A letter from the Department of Defense in the GAO report 

says that Colonel Weaver's report included all that they found. The 

FBI letter referenced their July 8, 1947 memo about Roswell, but 

said nary a word about the July 10 memo discussing a request from 

Brigadier General George Schulgen, Chief of the Requirements 

Intelligence Branch of Army Air Corps Intelligence, to the FBI re- 

questing their assistance with regard to investigation of flying saucer 

reports. On that memo is this handwritten notation made five days 

later by J. Edgar Hoover: “I would do it but before agreeing to it we 

must insist upon full access to discs recovered. For instance in the Sw 
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[or La—the handwriting is unclear] case the army grabbed it & 

would not let us have it for cursory examination.” Surely this points 

to a recovered disc. Could Sw stand for Southwest? Or could La 

stand for Los Alamos? 

In addition, the GAO reviewed only the FOIA files of the CIA, 

FBI, and NSA, rather than the entire files, as is borne out by one of 

the tables in the report. Surely the documents the GAO saw would- 

n't have included highly classified materials! Based on past experi- 

ence, these agencies should not be trusted to do their own searches. 

The GAO should have demanded that their staff gain access to the 

potentially useful files of these agencies. 

So once again, absence of evidence was assumed to be evidence 

for absence. The GAO report fell victim to one of the basic false 

logic tricks of the debunkers. Although the GAO found no smok- 

ing guns, it is clear that the Air Force and other government agencies 

have played hardball about Roswell and MJ-12. Unless a congres- 

sional committee or some major media outfit has the courage and the 

resources to really dig into the subject, the public will be denied the 

truth about the cosmic Watergate. 
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THE MJ-e DEBUNRERS 

Ever since the publicity given to Kenneth Arnold’s June 24, 1947 

sighting of flying saucers, there have been people who have tried to 

prove that no sighting has ever been of an alien craft. Generally, their 

attacks have been based on three premises. First, all UFO sightings 

have prosaic explanations. Second, there is no evidence to support 

the notion of extraterrestrial visitors. Third, there is no government 

coverup about UFOs. Sometimes, a fourth premise is added: inter- 

stellar travel is impossible. 

These debunkers seem to be serious in their beliefs. They have 

written over a dozen books and hundreds of articles buttressing their 

arguments. They make regular appearances on radio and television 

talk shows, provide testimony for learned panels, and publish white 

papers and their own periodicals. They claim to do serious research 

on the veracity of documents and witness reports. They spend so 

much time in this pursuit that their work must be legitimate, right? 

Hardly. After years of locking horns with the naysayers, I have to 

admit to being somewhat perplexed by their attitudes. Perhaps it is 

their approach to research that is so confusing. Whereas the scientific 

method used by generations of research scientists is to collect all the 
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data possible and then draw conclusions, the debunkers seem to take 

the opposite tack—decide on the conclusion, present data that 

agrees, and ignore data that does not agree. This slant is borne out by 

their minimal work in archives, the unfounded claims of fraud they 

make against ufologists, their restatement of theories and claims long 

ago discredited, and their problems when confronted with the facts. 

Or maybe it is what they choose to ignore in making their pro- 

nouncements. I am sure that, because I am certain of the existence 

of alien UFOs, I make assumptions that I wouldn't make if I was not 

certain, and probably give more weight to some pieces of evidence 

rather than to others. However, my certainty is based on 38 years of 

investigation and the facts—such as the data in Project Blue Book 

Special Report 14, corroborated eyewitness accounts from reliable 

sources, physical traces, radar reports, and documents culled from 

endless hours in more than 15 archives. However, when you read the 

work of the debunkers, you generally do not find references to ac- 

cepted legitimate sources such as Special Report 14. These people 

know about these works and how they point to the existence of ex- 

traterrestrial vehicles, but choose not to pass this knowledge on to 

their audience. 

Or perhaps it is the emotional cast they have given the entire 

subject. Their publications are rife with wild charges against ufolo- 

gists and UFO observers. They use highly charged terms to refer to 

their opponents— UFO believers, buffs, flying saucer cultists, hoaxers, 

and others. A poor way to deal with any subject. 

Whatever the reasons for their actions, they seem to have cap- 

tured the ear of the major media. This is sad, for poll after poll has es- 

tablished that the public overwhelmingly believes in the existence 

of extraterrestrial spacecraft. 

Of the naysayers, Philip Klass (born 1919) has been the most per- 

sistent and the most influential. For decades senior avionics editor for 

the respected Washington magazine Aviation Week and Space Techno- 

logy, his opinions and pronouncements receive great acceptance from 

the media. He has an impressive background, but has unfortunately 
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fallen prey to the debunker’s devil. Klass is often vituperative, and 

shows little predilection for true journalistic or scientific investigation 

about UFOs. He stands foursquare on the absolutely false premises 

that are the bedrock of debunker philosophy: every sighting has a ; 

prosaic explanation, and there is no coverup. He says that supposed 

abductees are either mentally disturbed or are publicity seekers. And 

his theories collapse when hard evidence is carefully considered. 

He appears to have no qualms about using all the techniques of 

the propagandist: selective choice of data, name-calling, false rea- 

soning, and misrepresentation. One of his favorite techniques in 

radio and TV battles is to distract the moderator with irrelevant 

sorties in order to avoid coming to grips with data that disproves 

his basic premises. “Why didn’t Friedman apply for the Cutty Sark 

million-pound UFO award for evidence of an ET saucer?” Klass 

once asked on a Canadian TV show on which we both appeared. He 

was implying that I didn’t really believe my own research. But what 

he didn’t say, and what I pointed out, was that the Cutty Sark award 

was for an actual saucer or bona fide piece thereof, which I have 

never claimed to have, not simply documentary or eyewitness 

evidence. 

Klass, since mid-1987, has been attacking the MJ-12 briefing 

document and the Cutler-Twining memo. A major venue for his at- 

tacks has been The Skeptical Inquirer, the periodical of the Com- 

mittee for the Scientific Investigation of Claims of the Paranormal 

(CSICOP). Over and over, one finds in these writings false state- 

ments, character assassination, selective choice of data, and a seeming 

unwillingness to do adequate research. 

The danger is that unless a reader knows about the subject, Klass’s 

claims seem reasonable. For instance, in a June 1987 radio appearance 

about the MJ-12 briefing documents, Klass made his claim that 

Roscoe Hillenkoetter could not have been the briefing officer because 

he was away on sea duty from 1950 until 1956. Fortunately for that 

program’s listeners, I was also on the show, and presented the evi- 

dence that Hillenkoetter certainly was back in the country by 1951. 
Another example appeared in Klass’s article “The MJ-12 
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Crashed-Saucer Documents” in The Skeptical Inquirer (Winter 1987- 

1988). He raised these two questions about the documents: “Why 

would the film [on which the documents appeared] be sent to 

Shandera, who has never published any papers on UFOs or crashed 

saucers and does not even consider himself a ufologist? How could 

the sender of the 35mm film even know that Shandera and Moore 

were friends and that the contents would find their way to Moore?” 

What an innocent reader would not know was that Shandera had 

been working and sharing information and contacts with Moore and 

me ever since we collaborated on the abortive 1980 UFO movie I dis- 

cussed in Chapter 1. The insiders who contacted Moore (finally 

numbering 10 in all) knew very well that Moore and Shandera were 

working together and keeping me informed. And although Jaime had 

at the time never published any papers by himself, he has spent far 

more time at various archives than has Klass (despite the fact that 

Klass lives minutes away from the National Archives and the Library 

of Congress Manuscript Division). 

Klass then comes to what he describes as “the most revealing 

substantive anomaly” in the briefing documents—the date format. 

Here is an opportunity to display the adequacy of Klass’s research. As 

discussed in Chapter 4, Klass’s complaint is that the format 18 

November, 1952 and 01 August, 1950 (with the zero preceding the 

single-digit date) is an erroneous mixture of civil and military for- 

mats. Klass also claims that the zero was not used to precede a single- 

digit date until very recently: “Examination of numerous military and 

CIA documents written during the 1950s, 1960s, and 1970s shows 

the standard date format was to write: 1 August 1950.” 

Klass did not quantify the term numerous, and so the reader has 

no way of knowing how many military and CIA documents he 

checked. I suspect that he checked very few, for I have been able to 

find numerous examples of such documents with the “wrong” format 

in sources that are easily accessible to Klass. One was a letter from 

Hillenkoetter himself. Others show up in Tim Good’s book Aéove 

Top Secret (page 446) and in the Alsos Mission by Colonel Boris T. 

Pash (pages 84 and 98). Perhaps most damning is a 1954 U.S. gov- 
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ernment document found by Bill Moore—Joint Army Navy Air 

Publication (JANAP) 146 (C), which includes instructions to mili- 

tary personnel for reporting UFOs. And two different English. 

sources with extensive World War II military background made the 

following comments to Tim Good, as reported in Above Top Secret: 

You raise the query that the prefix “0” as in “O2 July 1947” was not 

used until modern computer technology was developed. I beg most 

strongly to differ. Certainly my experience in wartime in the Navy was 

that the “O” was a vital prefix whether in the date as in “02 July” or 

the hour as in “0300.” I should think such methods were still used in 

NAPO) 

NATO documents always used the “0” in front of single-date fig- 

ures in my day, but I do not know when it started. 

In addition, there are numerous examples of the MJ-12 date format 

in Ewen Montagu’s fascinating book The Man Who Never Was, 

an excellent account of the very effective World War II disinforma- 

tion campaign intended to throw the Germans off the scent of 

the Normandy invasion by placing bogus documents on a dead 

body that was then “washed ashore” where the Germans could find 

it. [The declassified files of the Canadian Defence Research Board 

also provide many other examples pre-1954, and English researcher 

Nicholas Redfern has located numerous examples of various “ 
nonstandard” date formats, including the one in the briefing docu- 
ments. 

Klass’s other statements in this article, especially those about the 
Truman-Forrestal memo, also reveal his poor scholarship. In dis- 
cussing the likelihood that Vannevar Bush would be on MJ-12, he 
states that Bush was “President of the Carnegie Foundation.” First, 
this statement makes it seem that Bush was involved with the char- 
itable work done by that organization when in fact he was president 
of the Carnegie Institution, which dealt with scientific research. 

Second, Klass doesn’t mention Bush’s contemporaneous activities 

with other organizations, especially the prewar NACA, the wartime 



The MJ-12 Debunkers 1273. 

OSRD, and the postwar JRDB. Nor does he mention that Bush was 

the common person in the several organizations listed in General 

Twining’s September 23, 1947 letter for receipt of UFO information. 

(This letter was, of course, dated the day before President Truman’s 

special classified executive order creating MJ-12.) 

The simple fact is that the formerly Top Secret Canadian memo 

of November 21, 1950 written by W. B. Smith and sent to me in the 

late 1970s by Canadian researcher Scott Foster, included a direct 

mention of Bush and a small group investigating the modus operandi 

of flying saucers. The memo also stated that “The matter is the most 

highly classified subject in the United States Government, rating 

higher even than the H-Bomb.” Klass’s response to this memo? A vi- 

cious attack on the late Smith, an award-winning Canadian engineer, 

as “crazy” in a debate with me on a Boston T'V show. 

Klass’s second Skeptical Inquirer article, “The MJ-12 Papers: Part 

2” (Spring 1988), contained so much baloney it should have been 

distributed by a delicatessen. Over and over he maintains what the 

main players in MJ-12 “logically” or “certainly” or “surely” would 

have done in hypothetical situations. You would think Klass had re- 

ally gone all out to study these famous people. But as far as | know 

Klass had never been to the Eisenhower or Truman libraries, accord- 

ing to the archivists at both repositories, nor had he spent much time 

at the National Archives or Library of Congress Manuscript 

Division. Judging by what he says about the activities of the MJ-12 

people, he hasn't even gone past a quick look at Who's Who. Some 

specific examples will illuminate his apparent lack of knowledge 

about the MJ-12 team. 

Klass claims, with little supporting evidence, that people would 

have been chosen for a mythical MJ-12 because of the positions they 

held as of September 1947: “When they left these posts for other 

assignments or retired from government, their successors in those 

posts would logically have replaced them on MJ-12.” This implies 

that the listing of MJ-12 members in the 1952 Eisenhower briefing 

is “out of date,” as a number of these people had by that time 

switched jobs or left government. However, a much more intensive 
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investigation of the people involved and of the Washington scene 

leads to the notion that the members would have been chosen for 

their skills, competence, background, and demonstrated capabilities, 

not for transitory titles. I have read many recommendations for gov- 

ernment positions, including some from the MJ-12 people. The 

focus was always on capabilities, not job titles. World War II pro- 

duced a host of people who, even when back in civilian jobs, served 

on government committees and task forces in Washington. The ex- 

perience of Dr. Menzel jumps to mind. 

Here is Klass’s comment about Gordon Gray: 

Gordon Gray, who had become assistant secretary of the army about 

the time that MJ-12 allegedly was created, would have been a most 

unlikely member based on background and position. Gray was trained 

as a lawyer and had spent the previous ten years as publisher of two 

newspapers, and he did not hold a top-ranking Pentagon position. 

In mid-1949, Gray was named secretary of the Army, but he resigned 

April 12, 1950, to return to civilian life and was succeeded in that post 

by Frank Pace, Jr. 

From this, you would think that Gray did his stint, went back to pri- 

vate life, and couldn’t have been on such a powerful group as MJ-12. 

Similarly for Sidney Souers, about whom Klass says the following: 

Souers might have been a logical choice as an original member of MJ- 

12, because on September 26, 1947, he was named executive secretary 

of the president’s newly created National Security Council. Souers, a 

naval reservist, had risen to the rank of rear admiral during World 

War II to become deputy chief of Naval Intelligence and played a role 

in organizing the then-new CIA. Souers retired from his NSC posi- 

tion in early 1950 to return to civilian life, but he, rather than his suc- 

cessor at NSC, is listed in late 1952 as an MJ-12 member. 

The implication is that Souers was finished with Washington, and 

therefore his place on MJ-12 would have been taken by his NSC suc- 
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cessor, James Lay. Klass makes similar remarks about other mem- 

bers listed in the briefing. 

Unfortunately, it is not obvious to the unaware that Klass’s eval- 

uations are based on only the most superficial examination of the ca- 

reers of these men. As discussed in Chapter 3, these were unique 

personalities whose activities on government panels and committees 

extended well beyond their publicized tenures in one or another of- 

fice. When they moved on, they maintained their security clearances, 

their knowledge, their influence, and their ability to get things done 

discreetly. This would help maintain the need-to-know secrecy of the 

organization: instead of members changing each time someone new 

was appointed to a post (often a political consideration), only the 

person to whom the committee was accountable—the president— 

would be likely to change. 

In a final misrepresentation, Klass claims that hard evidence of 

the MJ-12 briefing document's fraudulence can be found in the de- 

classified December 10, 1948 Top Secret document “Analysis of 

Flying Object Incidents in the U.S.” There is no such evidence at 

all in this document. It is clear that the Navy-Air Force group 

preparing it had been given specific guidelines for their work. Their 

primary objective was to investigate the possibility that some flying 

discs were of Soviet origin, perhaps constructed with the help of c
ap- 

tured German scientists. There was no serious discussion of saucers 

having an extraterrestrial origin, and nothing about crashed 

saucers—which would have been Above Top Secret. This limited 

emphasis would not have been unusual for a classified task force. 

Many books about the CIA have stressed that there were often sev- 

eral groups set up completely independently to look at a particular 

problem and with no knowledge of the existence of the other groups. 

There is no reason to deny the possibility that the people who wrote 

the 1948 document had no need-to-know for Majestic-12 material. 

These examples (there are many more) establish that, in deni- 

grating UFOs in general and the MJ-12 briefing document in par- 

ticular, Klass is basically whistling in the dark. The small amount of 

time he has spent in archives shows that he is essentially an armchair 
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theorist, as are most debunkers. (On a 1991 Larry King show on 

which he appeared with Kevin Randle, Klass was forced to admit 

that he had not then spoken to any of the more than 90 Roswell eye- 

witnesses who we had located up to that time.) His minimal re- ; 

search, flawed logic, and propagandistic writing call into question the 

validity of his claims. 

However, these considerations have never stopped Klass before, 

and will probably not in the future. The only way to overcome his 

brand of “scholarship” is to confront it with facts, as I have done. 

When Klass and I appeared together on the New York television 

program People Are Talking on March 14, 1988, 83 percent of phone 

respondents to a poll taken by the show said they believed UFOs are 

real. When an audience compares anti-UFO claims with pro-UFO 

facts side-by-side, the facts always win. 

I was not surprised that Phil Klass attacked the MJ-12 documents 

almost from the first moment he heard about them. Obviously, if the 

documents are legitimate, then his basic position on UFOs would 

immediately be destroyed. I am sure that one of the reasons he never 

discusses Project Blue Book Special Report 14 is that he would have 

to admit that the Air Force says there are hundreds of UFO sightings 

that can't be explained. Besides, if a government agency admits that 

some UFOs are alien spacecraft, he would have to pay me $10,000 

per the terms of an agreement we made many years ago. 

However, another attack on MJ-12 came from another, and un- 

expected, quarter. 

In 1991, Don Schmitt of the Center for UFO Studies (CUFOS) 
and Kevin Randle were publicizing their book UFO Crash at Roswell. 
I had shared a great deal of information with the two while they were 
working on the book, but when it came out I was surprised by the 

amount of misleading information it had. None of the many papers 
about Roswell that had been published in the proceedings of vari- 
ous Mutual UFO Network (MUFON) symposia were referenced. In 
the three pages of acknowledgments, there was no mention of the 
Fund for UFO Research, which had given the duo about $10,000 to 
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help their research. (This is a princely sum for UFO research.) Bill 

Moore’s major contributions to Roswell research were barely men- 

tioned, although I was acknowledged well: “Stanton Friedman. 

Nuclear Physicist and UFO researcher, who first learned of the 

events at Roswell and through persistence was able to find the key 

witnesses that broke the story open.” However, the treatment of 

Majestic-12 and the crash that occurred in the Plains of San Agustin 

was startlingly subjective. 

At almost the same time as UFO Crash at Roswell was published, 

CUFOS issued “The Roswell Report: A Historical Perspective,” a 

report that included a number of papers previously published in the 

organization's periodical I nternational UFO Reporter. A 1988 paper 

of mine about MJ-12, “The MJ-12 Debunking Fiasco,” was in- 

cluded; so was the anti-Majestic-12 paper by Joseph Nickell and 

John Fischer, “The Crashed Saucer Forgeries,” although the two re- 

buttal pieces (one by Moore and one by me) which had originally ac- 

companied the paper in the Reporter were not even referenced. 

CUFOS seemed to be taking an anti-Majestic-12 position, and the 

reason seemed to be testimony from an impeccable source, retired 

Air Force Brigadier General Arthur E. Exon, who had been com- 

mander of Wright-Patterson Air Force Base from August 1, 1964 

through December 2OR1965; 

I had first spoken with Exon in 1989 after he had been men- 

tioned to me in a note from retired Colonel J. Bond Johnson, who 

had taken the widely circulated pictures in Gene
ral Ramey’s office on 

July 8, 1947 of the weather-balloon-and-radar-reflector debris that 

was the Army Air Force’s first explanation of the Roswell wreckage. 

Johnson wrote me that Exon had told him quite openly that there 

were alien bodies at Wright-Patterson. He also indicated that it did- 

n't appear that security was being enforced anymore on this matter. If 

what Johnson said was true, this was major news. 

I had a long and friendly phone conversation with
 General Exon 

then. He made it very clear that Johnson had gone well beyond
 what 

he himself had said. He had heard scuttlebutt about bodies and 

wreckage, but had no firsthand knowledge of the subject. I sent him 
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some background information and some of my papers and let it go at 

that. jt 

Now, in the summer of 1991, Randle and Schmitt were claim- 

ing that Exon knew there was a control group (which they called “the 

unholy 13”) for Roswell, knew who the members of that group were, 

and had direct firsthand involvement with the crashed saucer. They 

claimed that Exon told them the members of the control group in- 

cluded Stewart Symington, then Secretary of the Air Force; Carl 

Spaatz, first chief of staff of the Air Force; General Eisenhower, then 

Army chief of staff; General Ramey, head of the 8th Air Force; and 

others. None of the people they mentioned were on the MJ-12 brief- 

ing list. 

The whole business sounded fishy. At the MUFON conference 

in Chicago in July 1991, a group of us from MUFON, CUFOS, and 

the Fund were talking about the possibility of congressional hearings 

and testimony behind closed doors. Since General Exon’s testimony, 

if truthfully reported in UFO Crash at Roswell, would be very im- 

portant, I asked Schmitt if he had sent a copy of that portion of the 

book to the general so he would be on record that it was accurate. If 

others approached him, he would not be able to deny having made 

the statements attributed to him. This is what Bill Moore had done 

with many witnesses before the publication of The Roswell Incident. 
Don said that he had not sent Exon a copy of their version of 

his testimony. Looking at our stunned faces, he added, “And he has- 
n't been returning our calls.” 

Shaking this off, I then asked Don if he thought that the an- 

thropologist, whose supposed testimony about bodies and wreckage 
and the military at the Corona site they touted so strongly, would be 
willing to testify behind closed doors. In the book, Randle and 
Schmitt noted that the man was concerned about losing government 
research contracts if he spoke out openly, strongly suggesting that 
he had a Ph.D. Surely, he would be an ideal eyewitness. Shock num- 
ber two. Don said, “We don’t know who he is. He was an anonymous 
phone caller.” 7 

I had had my doubts about Randle and Schmitt’s book before, 
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and they were growing stronger. When I returned home from the 

conference, I wrote a detailed and generally negative review of the 

book for the MUFON Journal. The review, published in the 

September 1991 issue of the Journal, focused on the authors’ negative 

slant on the Plains of San Agustin crash and what | perceiv
ed as their 

petty attitude toward many specific examples. 

When I finished the review, I decided to give General Exon a 

call. I left him a message on his answering machine, and rather than 

ignoring me, a few days later he called me back. He had not seen 

Randle and Schmitt’s book, and so I read him portions of his sup- 

posed testimony from the volume. He politely but firmly indicated 

that Randle and Schmitt had attributed considerably more to him 

than he had said. He had no firsthand involvement with Roswell, 

although he had heard lots of scuttlebutt from people he trusted. He 

had been at Wright Field in July 1947, when the Roswell wreckage 

had been brought there. He had heard stories while he was base 

commander (not even as commander did he have a need-to-know for 

all activities there) and also during a stint at the Pentagon. We had 

another enjoyable conversation, during which he gladly agreed to re- 

view my Final Report on Operation Majestic 12. 1 mailed him my re- 

port and copies of the pages from Randle and Schmitt’s book on 

which he was mentioned. 

Not wishing to burden the general unnecessarily, I waited a few 

weeks and then called and left another message. Once again, he re- 

turned the call promptly. He strongly approved of my MJ-12 report, 

and he reiterated his comments about Randle and Schmitt, adding 

that the names he had given them were those of high-level personnel 

he thought would know about what was happening, not of people 

he knew to be involved in a control group. 

So now there were major elements of UF’ O Crash at Roswell that 

were suspect. And it seemed that every week brought more revela- 

tions from other sources of fabricated or misleading testimony, es- 

pecially by Randle, in the book. 

Randle and Schmitt's next book, The Truth About the UFO Crash 

at Roswell (1994), contained even more distortions and misrepre- 
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sentations. In fact, a number of friends told me that parts of the book 
seemed like thinly veiled attacks on me! Included in the book was 
an appendix entitled “The Majestic 12 Hoax.” 5 

Soon after, at Randle’s request, the Fund for UFO Research pub- 
lished a report by him (the work for this was not sponsored by the 
Fund) entitled Conclusions on Operation Majestic 12. | was clearly the 
target of the report, which included much of the material from the 
Truth appendix as well as the article “The Unholy Thirteen.” This 
was an in-depth attack on the MJ-12 documents. 

At first blush, Conclusions appears to be excellent investigative 
journalism. Nine of its 30 pages are given over to 103 footnotes and 
92 references, and nine of the references are works I have written or 
coauthored. However, a careful review by somebody knowledgeable 
about the materials indicates that the paper is an almost textbook ex- 
ample of pseudoscientific propaganda. 

Twenty-seven of the footnotes refer to personal communications 
or interviews which the reader cannot check. There are serious errors 
of omission and commission, false reasoning, and massive misrep- 
resentation. 

Randle quotes this 1991 statement of mine: “the simple fact of 
the matter is that Moore, Shandera, and I had already picked up on 
all the names of the list prior to receipt of the film (except for Dr. 
Donald Menzel) as a result of the many days spent in archival re- 
search begun a decade ago. ... We had noted who was where in early 
July 1947, when the Roswell incident occurred.” Randle then makes 
this outrageous claim: “In other words, Friedman was telling us that 
he along with Moore and Shandera had the knowledge to create the 
document . . . if that is what they had decided to do. The suggestion 
that no one could have invented the document without extensive re- 
search is accurate and Friedman was admitting they had done the 
research.” 

The obvious implication was that Jaime, Bill, and myself were 
the hoaxers! What Randle omitted, however, was a fair nod to my 
Final Report on Operation Majestic 12 and its discussion of more than 
30 items of information, some very subtle, in the MJ-12 documents 
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which establish that the documents had to have been prepared by 

government insiders, not outsiders like Moore, Shandera, or myself. 

(See Appendix C.) Yes, our research on the names of the people (ex- 

cept Menzel) occurred before we received the film, but our research 

on the other details, including what we discovered about Menzel, 

could only have occurred after we got the film. Obviously, research- 

ing the MJ-12 people was only a small part of the information 

needed to evaluate the content of the documents. 

Randle, it seems, would prefer to airbrush my research out of the 

picture entirely. Although I was the original investigator of the 

Roswell crash, was the first to locate and interview many of the key 

witnesses (including Jesse Marcel Sr., Walter Haut, Glenn Dennis, 

and others), and shared my research generously with Randle and 

Schmitt, in his later publications Randle has attempted to ignore my 

contributions. He scrapped the acknowledgment of my work from 

UFO Crash at Roswell, and omitted 29 of my 30 Roswell/MJ-12 pa- 

pers in his list of sources in The Truth About the UFO Crash at 

Roswell. (He included more than 200 other references.) Instead, he 

leaned heavily on the pseudoscientific proclamations of Joseph 

Nickell, never mentioning that Nickell is a CSICOP Fellow. Though 

he often referenced Nickell and Fisher’s paper “The Crashed Saucer 

Forgeries,” he never mentioned the rebuttals by Moore and me 

which appeared in the very same issue of the International UFO 

Reporter. 

Typical of the selective choice of data and a constant willingness 

to repeat without verification any argument against MJ-12 are the 

following: 

* His discussion of the Truman-Forres
tal memo. He does not men- 

tion that the date on the memo was typed by two typewriters, 

and the period after the date points to Van Bush’s office as the 

place where it was typed. In addition, he refers to the order as an 

Executive Order or EO at least 15 times, using the initals SCEO 

only once, which implies that there is no difference between an 

Executive Order and a Special Classified Executive Order. 
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Nickell and others have complained about the special classified 
executive order number 092447 being the date. As I found ina 
quiet but extensive research visit to the George C. Marshall 
Archives, the State Department normally used the date as part 
of filing nomenclature. This makes sense, since there would be 
few special classified executive orders. A date is a unique desig- 
nation. 

His reliance on Nickell’s work despite the fact that Nickell made 
the absurd claim in a letter in International UFO Reporter that 
he knew the date format for the briefing documents was wrong 
because it violated the government style manual! Anybody who 
spends serious time in archives with holdings of pre-1960 de- 
classified material will note that the style manual is ignored in 
very limited distribution highly classified memos. 
His omission of Eisenhower’s November 18, 1952 very-high- 
security briefing about national security matters at the Pentagon. 
Randle does mention Eisenhower’s brief meeting with Truman 
on that day. 

His omission of my published comments about the membership 
of the MJ-12 group and his continued misrepresentation of 
General Exon’s comments. 

His contention that the lack of exact titles for the military mem- 
bers of MJ-12 is a sign of fraud. Randle is upset by the use of 
generic military titles, such as Admiral instead of Rear Admiral. 
Neither General Exon, Colonel Jesse Marcel, Jr., nor several 
other military people with whom I spoke had any problem with 
the generic ranks. Randle is particularly upset by Hillenkoetter 
being referred to as Admiral rather than Rear Admiral. Randle 
doesn’t seem to understand that a group with six military mem- 
bers and six civilians could not possibly make distinctions on the 
basis of military rank. 

His demand to see any letters signed by Hillenkoetter in which 
he includes the rank Admiral instead of Rear Admiral. Since 
Randle doesn’t include the briefing document in his report, read- 
ers wouldn't know there are no signatures or even initials on the 
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_briefing, from Hillenkoetter or anyone else. 

* His omission of linguistics expert Roger Wescott’s conclusions 

supporting the legitimacy of the briefing document on the basis 

of Hillenkoetter’s writing. 

* His omission of the facts and research supporting the legitimacy 

of the Cutler-Twining memo, including Phil Klass’s challenge to 

me about the typeface and the results of that challenge. 

* His touting of unsubstantiated anti-Majestic comments by Air 

Force Colonel Richard Weaver, the man who authored the Air 

Force’s preemptive strike against the General Accounting 

Office’s attempt to locate Roswell-related documents. 

* His nitpicking about certain mistakes in base names in the brief- 

ing document and assurances that such an important document 

wouldn't have had mistakes. All the air base names had been 

changed after the Air Force became an independent body in 

1947. Neither Eisenhower nor Smith nor Hillenkoetter had 

been in the Air Force. What was important was the event. The 

briefing was not a public proclamation for a worldwide audience. 

It is marked “Eyes Only,” so nobody but Eisenhower and the 

briefing officer would see it. Eisenhower was facing an entirely 

new career with a myriad of new duties, and had been in the 

United States only a few months in the preceding two years. He 

also had to plan a secret trip to Korea to end the war. He would 

be worried about proper base names? 

Throughout Conclusions, Randle claims that information in the 

briefing document is wrong, basing his evaluation on the unsubstan- 

tiated claims of a new date and crash scenario at Roswell that he in- 

cluded in Truth About the UFO Crash at Roswell. According to 

Randle, the alien bodies were recovered soon after the crash on July 5 

at a specific site 34 miles north of Roswell—far from the Foster 

ranch. However, as noted by Karl Pflock in his detailed and very ex- 

tensive 1994 report Roswell in Perspective (available from the Fund 

for UFO Research), many of these claims as to a new scenario are 

without foundation. 



134 TOP SEC REC MATIC 

I can personally testify to some of the misrepresentation. Randle 

claims that the testimony of Sergeant Pyles, a supposed firsthand 

witness to the crash, establishes a date, time, and location for the 

crash, as does a note in an event log of a Roswell Convent of a bright 

fireball between 11 and 11:30 PM. on July 4. No texts are provided. 

I spoke with Pyles (as did Pflock independently), who was very 

cooperative. Pyles stated to me that he couldn't pin down the date 

of his nighttime fireball observation much better than the first half of 

July 1947, he couldn't recall the direction it was traveling, and he cer- 

tainly did not see a crash. There were no characteristics that would 

lead one to believe it was a vehicle and certainly none that back up 

a particular time, date, and location for a saucer crash. Apparently 

nothing in the convent entry would lead one to a vehicle crash lo- 

cation, either. But a time and date were noted which Randle focused 

on for his new scenario. 

Randle ignores Mac Brazel’s testimony, as noted in many con- 

temporaneous newspapers, that there was a long delay between his 

discovery of the debris and his trip to Roswell to see Sheriff Wilcox 

on July 6. He also ignores the statement by mortician Glenn Dennis's 

nurse that the bodies smelled to high heaven and that the mortuary 

officer had noted that they had been out in the desert. Barbara 

Dugger, Sheriff Wilcox’s granddaughter, told me she vaguely re- 

membered hearing the crash site was “north of Roswell.” That she 

had the impression it wasn’t that far away is not proof of anything. 

There are very few main roads in and out of Roswell. “North of 

Roswell” covers a great deal of ground in New Mexico. 

Much of Randle’s new scenario depends on the word of a strange 

character named Frank J. Kaufmann, who is also listed as McKenzie 

and who Randle identified at another Chicago conference as Joseph 

Osborne. Kauffman/McKenzie/Osborne knew everything about 

everything. According to Randle, he claimed he had been assigned to 

watch a radar scope at White Sands for 24 straight hours, reporting 

directly to General Scanlon of the Air Defense Command. He was 

so clever he rigged up mirrors so he could watch from the latrine! 

Randle provided no evidence that Kaufmann was knowledgeable 
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about radar, or even that he was in the military at that time. There 

were no Air Defense Command radars in New Mexico in 1947. 

General Scanlon was in the Air Defense Command, but he retired in 

February 1948, with his last job being Public Affairs Director at 

Mitchell Field on Long Island, New York, hardly a location from 

which to be in charge of radars seeking and monitoring flights of fly- 

ing saucers in New Mexico. Finally, on June 30, 1995, Randle ad- 

mitted to me that the absurd 24-hour duty came out of his 

imagination. Kaufmann had nothing to do with radar. 

Randle also provided no backup or substantiation for the sup- 

posed eyewitness testimony as to how many alien bodies were recov- 

ered or the shape of the crashed craft. Kaufmann, who did appear 

on the television show 48 Hours—probably wisely with his face 

blocked out—and on a Roswell special on British TV, would not 

even sign a notarized statement as to the truth of his claims. When 

I finally met with Kaufmann on July 3, 1995, thanks to the efforts 

of Don Schmitt, Kaufmann wouldn't allow me to record the conver- 

sation though both Schmitt and Randle were present. 

During the conversation, he stated that he was in the military 

from 1941 to 1945. He claimed that after that he was in the “para- 

military,” but gave no qualification of that term. He also told a very 

weird tale of being at White Sands when there was supposedly a 

huge flareup on the radar screen, indicating that a major explosion of 

some kind had occurred north of Roswell. He notified the Roswell 

base, and someone was sent north of town and saw a glowing some- 

thing to the west. That person notified the base. Kaufmann rushed 

back the more than 100 miles, woke Colonel Blanchard and Major 

Marcel in the middle of the night, and then went with them cross- 

country to the crash site. There they found the alien bodies and 

crashed saucer. I asked why they wouldn't have waited until morn- 

ing and a report from reconnaissance craft so they would have some 

‘dea what was out there. Kaufmann told me that there were no small 

planes on the base. 

This story from Randle’s major new source is simply not believ- 

able. First, radar experts tell me the only way to flood a screen with 
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glare is for something to explode very close to the antenna. The sup- 

posed site was more than 100 miles away. (Balloon expert Dr. C. B. 

Moore also notes that the range of the radar was no more than 39 

miles.) Second, the Roswell base did have small aircraft that could be 

used for reconnaissance. Third, the commander of an atomic bomb 

delivery outfit and his intelligence officer driving cross-country at 

night through terrain with gullies and arroyos and fences and rat- 

tlesnakes without foreknowledge of what might be there? Colonel 

Blanchard would have been derelict in his responsibility. 

And if Marcel had already been to the crash site and had seen the 

crashed saucer and alien bodies, it doesn’t sound reasonable that he 

would be sitting quietly eating lunch at the Officers Club the next 

day when he took the call from Sheriff Wilcox about strange wreck- 

age brought in by rancher Brazel. If Marcel and Blanchard had been 

out to the crash site, it is more likely that they would already have 

been organizing a major recovery effort. Kaufman’s entire story is at 

odds with Major Marcel’s own recollection. 

And so it goes for other “testimony” that Randle relies on. James 

Ragsdale was supposedly out in the boondocks at the Randle- 

Kaufmann site with his girlfriend when the crash occurred. However, 

Ragsdale insisted to me and others in Roswell that he was with his 

lady at a lovely wooded glade 53 miles west northwest of Roswell, 

rather than in the desolate treeless area 34 miles north of Roswell, 

where Randle places the crash and where no Lothario would take a 

girlfriend. And the testimony of Frankie Rowe, whose father was a 

fireman who supposedly went to the Randle crash site and who her- 

self supposedly played with a piece of wreckage at the firehouse, also 

has no substantiation. According to a former Roswell city council- 

man, the Roswell fire department, which employed Rowe’s father, 

didn’t make treks 30 miles out of town. 

Although Philip Klass has worked hard at trying to debunk UFOs 

for several decades and Kevin Randle has been trying to debunk the 

MJ-12 documents for several years, the most popular debunker, in 

terms of worldwide coverage, has been: Carl Sagan. As one of the 
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world’s best-known scientists, Carl has probably done more to pop- 

ularize science in general and the Search for Extra-Terrestrial 

Intelligence (SETI) than anyone. His Cosmos TV series has been 

shown in many countries. The book Cosmos was a major bestseller, 

and he has published a number of other bestselling books which 

often discuss life in the universe. His occasional articles in Parade 

magazine are read by upwards of 80 million people. He has appeared 

on a wide range of TV shows, and has pontificated about UFOs on 

shows as various as the Tonight Show, 48 Hours, Nova, a Larry King 

special on UFOs in 1994, and many others. 

Now, Carl and I were classmates at the University of Chicago 

from 1953 to 1956, where we were both physics majors. In fact, we 

are the same age, and we agree on many things, scientific or not. But 

as far as UFOs go, he just hasn’t been getting things right. 

Some people have wondered why Sagan, who has pushed so hard 

to search the reaches of space for intelligent life, would have a prob- 

lem with the idea of alien visitations. Carl claims that there are very 

likely more than a million civilizations in our galaxy, and that some 

are emitting radio waves that radiotelescopes can detect if we look 

hard enough. But he claims that since there is no evidence that any 

UFOs are extraterrestrial spacecraft, no one from any of these ad- 

vanced civilizations is coming here. 

Sagan, and SETI supporters in general, never discuss the scien- 

tific evidence that some UFOs are extraterrestrial craft. In the many 

articles and TV appearances where Carl has discussed UFOs, he has 

consistently misrepresented or ignored the facts. For instance, in his 

latest book, The Demon Haunted World: Science as a Candle in the 

Dark, Carl takes on the MJ-12 documents. He states: 

_..an envelope containing a canister of exposed but undeveloped film 

was thrust into the home mail slot of a film producer, Jaime Shandera, 

interested in UFOs and government coverup—temarkably just as he 

was about to go out and have lunch with the author of a book on al- 

leged events in Roswell, New Mexico. When developed it “proved to 

be” page after page of a classified eyes only executive order dated 24 
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September, 1947, in which president Harry S. Truman seemingly es- 

tablished a committee of twelve scientists and government officials . 

.. tantalizing references to appendices about the nature of the aliens 

... but the appendices were not included in the mysterious film. 

Sagan writes that “The Air Force says the document is bogus,” and 

that “UFO expert Philip J. Klass and others find lexicographic and ty- 

pographic inconsistencies that suggest that the whole thing is a hoax.” 

These statements contain obvious errors of fact: Truman’s memo 

to Forrestal was, of course, only one page of the Eisenhower brief- 

ing document. Sagan takes a belittling tone toward Jaime Shandera 

and the MJ-12 documents: Klass is a “UFO expert,” whereas 

Shandera is merely a “film producer . . . interested in UFOs.” Sagan 

feels it is “remarkable” that the film was delivered just before Jaime 

went to lunch with an unnamed author who wrote about “alleged” 

events. He leaves out that the author was Bill Moore, whom Jaime 

often met for lunch; and the book was The Roswell Incident, the 

events in which were attested to by more than 100 eyewitnesses. 

Throughout the book, Sagan stresses the need for objective skep- 

ticism and relevant evidence while decrying appeals to authority. 

However, he accepts the Air Force’s pronouncement without men- 

tioning that they made it but never provided any backup. And he ac- 

cepts Klass’s pronouncements without mentioning the outcome of 

the typographic challenge over the Cutler-Twining memo—which 

certainly puts Klass’s credentials as an expert in doubt. 

Then Sagan equates MJ-12 with a fairy tale: “Where the 

MJ-12 documents are most vulnerable and suspect is exactly on the 

question of provenance—the evidence miraculously dropped on a 

doorstep like something out of a fairy story, perhaps “The Shoemaker 

and the Elves.” 

As I have established, there was nothing miraculous about how 

the evidence arrived. The film came in the regular mail, delivered by 

the mail carrier upon his appointed rounds. Whether the documents 

are valid or not, they must have been created by an insider, and Jaime 

and Bill had been having conversations with insiders (including 
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Richard Doty of the OSI) for years before Jaime got the film. 

Sagan says “A coverup to keep knowledge of extraterrestrial life 

or alien abductions almost wholly secret for 45 years, with hundreds 

if not thousands of government employees privy to it, is a remarkable 

notion.” Why is it remarkable? The Manhattan Project involved 

more than 50,000 people. At least 10,000 people knew we had bro- 

ken the German and Japanese codes during World War II. And 

thousands were involved in the secret development of the Stealth 

bomber. 

In discussing the idea of a government coverup, he comments: 

Certainly government secrets are routinely kept, even secrets of sub- 

stantial general interest. But the ostensible point of such secrecy is to 

protect the country and its citizens. Here though it’s different. The al- 

leged conspiracy of those with security clearances is to keep from the 

citizens knowledge of a continuing alien assault on the human 

species. 

Any serious researcher recognizes that the major value of UFO 

wreckage and detailed scientific observations of flight characteris- 

tics is the technological advances they demonstrate. Thus, the gov- 

ernment would feel that these must be kept secret lest the technology 

fall into the hands of the country’s enemies, which would obviously 

endanger the country and its citizens. 

Carl also gives an incomplete account of the NSA and their 

UFO documents: “So a more or less typical intercept released by 

NSA in response to an FOIA request will be a third of a page 

blacked out, a fragment of a line saying ‘reported a UFO at low al- 

titude, followed by two thirds of a page blacked out. The NSA’s po- 

sition is that releasing the rest of the page would potentially 

compromise sources and methods.” 

The complete truth is that there are no “typical” intercepts re- 

leased by NSA, at least in regard to UFOs. The NSA has never re- 

leased any portion of any page of its 156 UFO documents, even to 

the federal judge who ordered them to search for the documents. 
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Another illustration of Carl’s misrepresentations about UFOs is 

this statement in The Demon Haunted World: “There are reliably re- 

ported cases that are unexotic, and exotic cases that are unreliable. 

There are no cases—despite well over a million UFO reports since 

1947—in which something so strange that it could only be an ex- 

traterrestrial spacecraft is reported so reliably that misapprehension, 

hoax, or hallucination can be reliably excluded.” 

That the truth is exactly the opposite is borne out by the Air 

Force’s own Project Blue Book Special Report 14. This report, which 

evaluated 3,201 UFO sightings, categorized the sightings as 

“knowns,” “unknowns,” and “insufficient information.” Unknown was 

defined as “Those reports of sightings wherein the description of the 

object and its maneuvers could not be fitted to the pattern of any 

known object or phenomenon.” It also rated the quality of each 

sighting, from “excellent” to “poor.” The number of unknowns— 

689—trepresented 21.5 percent of all the sightings evaluated. And 

of the 308 sightings considered “excellent,” more than 35 percent— 

108—were deemed to be unknowns. The better the quality of the 

sighting, the more likely it is to be listed as “unknown.” Clearly, there 

are many reliably reported “exotic” cases. 

But why denigrate a scientist who has done so much to bring sci- 

ence to the masses? Surely Sagan deserves better treatment than 

Klass and Randle, who do not have Sagan’s scientific credentials. 

That is precisely the point. The public trusts Sagan; they believe 

what he says. About UFOs, however, what he says is far from the 

whole truth. But since he consistently avoids dealing with the sub- 

stantial scientific evidence and doesn’t even reference it in his works, 

the public is denied the truth. 

A prime example of this is his treatment of the 1961 abduction 

case of Betty and Barney Hill. Their story was well depicted in John 

Fuller’s 1966 book The Interrupted Journey. The Hills, a respected 

couple, were returning to their home in New Hampshire from 

Montreal when they saw a strange light in the sky. They remembered 

watching it through binoculars as it followed them, then zoomed 

ahead of their car and hovered in the air approximately 200 yards 
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ahead of them. They recalled Barney getting out of the car to get a 

better look, and Betty screaming at him to get back in the car. They 

remembered driving away from the scene and going home. 

Curious about the experience and wanting to find an explana- 

tion, a few days later, Betty obtained a book about UFOs by NICAP 

director Donald Keyhoe. At the back NICAP’s address was given as 

a place to send a report. She wrote a letter to NICAP about their 

experience, and a month later was interviewed by a NICAP investi- 

gator. When he went over the case systematically, it became obvious 

that they had gotten home two hours later than they should have. 

The investigator suggested that they be hypnotized to find out what 

happened in those two hours. Betty, who was a social worker, 

checked with a psychologist colleague who told her not to worry; 

their memories would probably return if they waited a while. 

So they waited. Over the next two years, both had unexplained 

physical and psychological complaints. Barney deve
loped ulcers that 

resisted medical treatment. Betty had recurring dreams of being cap- 

tured by strange beings. His doctor suggested that they see Dr. 

Benjamin Simon, a psychotherapist, who used medical hypnosis in 

weekly sessions for several months to help the Hills independently 

recreate their missing two hours on board the flying saucer. 

Carl met once with the Hills, and once with Dr. Si
mon. He dis- 

cussed the Hills in Cosmos (both the book and the TV series), in a 

Parade article in March 1993, and in The Demon Haunted World. in 

the latter, he states that “Betty spotted a bright initially starlike UFO 

that seemed to follow them,” and “Because Barney feared it might 

harm them, they left the main highway for narrow mountain roads, 

arriving home two hours later than they'd expected.” (There is no 

basis for this claim about the mountain 
roads.) And finally, “The ex- 

perience prompted Betty to read a book that described spaceships 

from other worlds; their occupants were little men who sometimes 

abducted humans.” 

Carl didn’t mention that the craft had followed the Hills, had 

swooped ahead of their car, and then had hovered in front of them. 

He didn’t mention that Barney got out of the car and walked t
oward 



142 POP SECRET MAyTC 

the craft, nor that both Hills observed through binoculars what they 

described as an object the size of an airliner. And he didn’t mention 

that in 1961, there were no books that described aliens who abducted 

humans. (In fact, Sagan himself calls the Hill case “the first alien ab- 

duction story in the modern genre.”) 

It is a shame, since in The Demon Haunted World, Sagan enjoins 

scientists and educators to “Encourage substantive debate on the ev- 

idence by knowledgeable proponents of all points of view.” However, 

when the subject is UFOs, Carl almost never appears in venues 

where a knowledgeable critic can confront him. For instance, for 

Larry King’s October 1, 1994 UFO special, Kevin Randle and I ap- 

peared live; Sagan appeared only in taped segments. Since Carl once 

again made false claims about lack of evidence for extraterrestrial 

spacecraft, about a month later I sent him a letter formally challeng- 

ing him to a debate about UFOs. Correspondence went back and 

forth; Carl never said no, but he never said yes. (He then became se- 

riously ill, and I dropped the matter.) It appears to me that he has 

no desire to take on scientists who are knowledgeable about UFOs. 

Many people have asked me why Carl has been so stridently, un- 

scientifically negative about UFOs. Despite all his references to ob- 

scure texts about demons, he doesn’t refer to the many excellent UFO 

papers presented by scientists in various forums—including the July 

29, 1968 Congressional hearings and the 1969 session of the 

American Association for the Advancement of Science, to both of 

which Carl contributed papers. (He even edited the proceedings of 

the latter.) Although Carl is an astronomer, he doesn’t reference the 

work of J. Allen Hynek, the astronomer who for 20 years was the sci- 

entific consultant for Project Blue Book. 

Others have suggested that he is fulfilling the role that Donald 

Menzel seems to have originated—sort of a government rent-a- 

skeptic. This explanation doesn’t sit well with me: Sagan has far more 

often been at odds with the government—about nuclear testing, for 

example—than Menzel ever was. In addition, Menzel was in the 

military for many years, and Sagan was never in the service. 

For decades, Carl has been one of the major champions of SETI 
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as the way to investigate alien life. If aliens are visiting earth, ab- 

ducting earthlings, and occasionally crashing their vehicles, what is 

the point of spending billions of dollars on a massive array of ra- 

diotelescopes trying to detect faint radio waves from advanced civi- 

lizations within the galaxy? Has Carl been putting his credibility on 

the wrong horse all these years? 

Enough. The more debunkers say about UFOs and MJ-12, the more 

holes appear in their arguments. As more details come out, as more 

eyewitnesses surface, as more corroboration for the existence of alien 

craft on earth is produced, the debunkers’ version of events is 

stretched thinner and thinner. You have to wonder how much longer 

this can go on without the fabric shredding altogether. 

In the meantime, for new members of the audience, here is my 

“top ten’ list of debunker principles of logic, gleaned from many years 

of contact with them: 

. What the public doesn’t know, don't tell them. 

. Don’t bother me with all the facts. 

. Absence of evidence is evidence of absence. 

. Select the data that matches your conclusions. 

ay ass ey 1 ie _ If at first a scenario supporting your theory crumbles under the 

weight of the facts, try, try again to prop up your theory with an- 

other scenario, then another, then another. 

6. Hearsay testimony is acceptable if it supports you, but unaccept- 

able if it supports the other guy. 

7. It is important to be right. 

. Loudly proclaim the strength of your testimony. oo 

9. Pepper your publications with references to as many personal 

(i.e., unverifiable) interviews as possible. 

10. Don’t mention references that don’t support your theory. The 

public won't know the difference. 
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NEW MJ-le DOCUMENTS 

In late 1992, out of the blue, three new Majestic-12 documents were 

received by Tim Cooper, a California researcher. 

Tim had become interested in Roswell and MJ-12, and tried to 

learn as much as he could about crashed saucers in New Mexico. He 

had been talking to a number of retired military personnel who were 

living near him and who had been heavily involved in highly classi- 

fied matters back in the 1940s. His own father, while running the 

printing department at Alamogordo Army Air Field, had apparently 

been asked to print a long, highly classified document dealing with at 

least one crashed saucer and alien bodies. His father always refused to 

give many details. We had a number of telephone conversations, and 

Tim eventually passed on copies of the documents he had received. 

The appearance of the documents was exciting because they were 

the first Majestic-related documents to surface since the Cutler- 

Twining memo in 1985. If they were genuine, they would buttress 

the validity of the original Operation Majestic-12 documents— 

among other details, they cross-referenced Special Classified Exe- 

cutive Order 092447 and had similar security markings. In some 

ways, however, they were too perfect. Once again, we would have to 

144 
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do much quiet and careful research before going public with the doc- 

uments. It was a good thing we did. 

The first document was extremely poorly reproduced, and Tim 

was initially reluctant to pass it on for fear he would be accused of 

forging it. Several members of the Fund for UFO Research, includ- 

ing myself, Rob and Susan Swiatek, Fred Whiting, Don Berliner, 

and Bruce Maccabee combined to salvage the message. It was sup- 

posedly from Roscoe Hillenkoetter, and was headed only MEMO- 

RANDUM FOR THE PRESIDENT. Centered at the top and 

bottom were the security markings TOP SECRET/MAJIC EYES 

ONLY. In the upper right corner were the date, February 1948, and 

what appears to be a reference number, 092447. The memo read as 

follows (material in brackets are our best approximations): 

Subject: “Majic” 

I have heard that you seldom see the Army summaries of “Majic” 

material. For some time, the last two months in particular, T have had 

our intelligence lia[ison] organization concentrating on a [possi]ble 

presentation on “Majic” for my use as well as for the other officials 

concerned, particularly yourself. A highly specialized organization is 

[now engaged in the very] neccessary [sic] process of seperating [sic] 

the wheat [from the chaff and] correlating the items with past infor- 

mation in order that I may be able to quickly and intelligently eval- 

uate the [importance] of the product. 

Recently I have had these summaries [bound in a] Black Book 

both for convenience of [reading] and for greater [security] in han- 

dling. Sometimes two or three of these booklets are [gotten] out ina 

single day. I think they contain all of the worthwhile information 

culled from the tremendous mass of material now available and that 

are accumulated each twenty-four hours. The recent discovery of the 

machines has added a tremendous [amount] of such material and will 

continue to give us a great deal from day to day. The problem is how 

to avoid being [buried under] the mass of information, and I think 

the present arrangements satisfactorily meets that difficulty. 

I am attaching two of the [current] booklets which I hope you 



146 TOP SECRET MAIC 

will glance through in order to familiarize yourself with the manner in 

which the information is presented. I will send these booklets each 

week to you direct at the White House. 

/S/ 

R. H. Hillenkoetter 

Rear Admiral, USN 

Director of Central Intelligence 

» 

In the lower left corner was a list of organizations to receive carbon 

copies, including NSC, JCS, USAFOSI, SAG/USAF, ONI, and G2 

USA. In the lower right corner, under Hillenkoetter’s closing, was a 

stamped APPROVED followed by a handwritten Harry and the 

handwritten initials VB. 

The Director of Central Intelligence sending the President pos- 

sibly 10 or 15 books of “Majic” information a week? You would think 

that we would run right out and start tracking leads. Not so. We 

started by posing some questions to ourselves. If a group were run- 

ning tests on a crashed flying saucer, the results would be pretty tech- 

nical stuff. Why would the President be interested in such material? 

Wouldn't he be more concerned with the global implications of the 

results? The books were supposedly to be sent to the President direct. 

Why? What would he do with them after he looked at them? And 

how could the President have the time to read even the summaries? 

Yet, there were the appropriate security markings, and the 

092447 that matched the date on the Truman-Forrestal memo. At 

least initially, this document had to go in the gray basket—neither 

positively authentic nor definitely fraudulent. 

Several weeks later, Tim sent me two more documents. One was 

a TOP SECRET/MAJIC Eyes Only memo to President Truman 

from General George Marshall, dated September 25, 1947: 

Ref: ‘MAJIC’ Cryptographic security does not apply 

EO 092447 Handle as TOP SECRET correspondence per 

MJ-12 Rpt Par 44-G and 53-A AR 380-5 

19 SEP ’47 
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. The memo itself read as follows: 

MEMORANDUM FOR THE PRESIDENT 

The following letter from Secretary Marshall to the President was 

dictated to me this morning over the secret telephone: 

“Dear Mr. President: 

“T understand General Twining is presenting his report to you at 

noontime today. It seems to me mandatory that we treat Twining’s re- 

port top secret and that no indication to its contents be divulged to 

the public. This will allow us time to review our policy in the light of 

the report. 

“If you agree, I suggest Twining be informed by you accordingly. 

“If questioned, you might state a cover summary of the report be 

issued until careful consideration has been given it by the various 

chiefs of staff and department heads of the Government concerned. 

Faithfully yours, 

G.C. MARSHALL 

The memo had a second closing and a signature, of a “C. H. 

Humelsine, Executive Secretary,” of whom I was not familiar. The 

initials were run together with the last nnme—CHHumelsine.At the 

bottom was a handwritten “I agree” and the initials HST’ The other 

document was a Top Secret Eyes Only directive to General Twining. 

This memo had no typed-in date, but at the bottom was a scrawled 

“Approved Harry Truman July 9, 1947.” The memo read: 

DIRECTIVE TO LIEUTENANT GENERAL TWINING 

You will proceed to the White Sands Proving Ground Command 

Center without delay for the purpose of making an appraisal of the 

reported unidentified objects being kept there. Part of your mission 

there will deal with the military, political and psychological situa- 

tions—current and projected. In the course of your survey you will 

maintain liaison with the military officials in the area. 

In making your appraisal it is desired that you proceed with de- 
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tachment from any opinions of feelings expresed by personnel in- 

volved which do not conform to sound reasoning with regard to the 

possible outcome. In presenting the findings of your mission you 

should endeavor to state as concisely as possible your estimate of the 

character, extent, and probable consequences in the event that assis- 

tance is not given. 

When your mission in New Mexico is completed you will pro- 

ceed on a brief trip to the Sandia AEC facility to make an appraisal of 

the situation there, also of the reaction by the Los Alamos people in- 

volved. Before going to White Sands you will communicate with 

General Eisenhower to ascertain whether he desires you to proceed 

via Kirtland AAF. 

You will take with you such experts, technicians, scientists and as- 

sistants as you deem necessary to the effectiveness of your mission. 

These two documents we could do some checking on. I made 

preliminary phone calls to researcher Dennis Bilger, a long-time con- 

tact at the Truman Library, and to the Marshall Foundation, with 

which I had had contact earlier about the date format in correspon- 

dence between General Walter Smith and General Marshall. I was 

informed that Truman, if confronted with something as significant as 

the recovery of crashed flying saucers in New Mexico, would have 

very likely consulted Marshall, then Secretary of State. 

According to many sources, Truman considered Marshall the 

outstanding living American. Marshall certainly knew all the top 

military people, since he had been Army chief of staff during World 

War II. Though he turned 65 on December 31, 1945, the work that 

he is justifiably most famous for—the Marshall Plan and the re- 

building of Europe—was still ahead of him. He was Truman’s 

Secretary of State from January 1947 to January 1949, and then 

Secretary of Defense from September 1950 to September 1951. 

Bilger made two encouraging remarks. He told me that C. H. 

Humelsine had worked for Marshall at the State Department, and 

that the Truman Library had various documents with the handwrit- 

ten “Approved Harry Truman” or similar. notation at the bottom. 
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. However, he also noted that no meeting was listed between Truman 

and Twining for September 25 or 26, 1947. 

As it turned out, this last was not a negative. I knew (and Bilger 

later reconfirmed) that Truman often had meetings that were not 

listed on his official calendar. Although I couldn’t get confirmation 

from Truman's calendar, I did have the flight log for General 

Twining, which had been declassified for me at the Library of 

Congress Manuscript Division when I was checking on the dates of 

the attachments in the original MJ-12 documents. I also had the 

copy of his pilot’s flight log. In the pilot’s log, there was a roundtrip 

from Dayton (home of Wright Field) to Washington on September 

18 and 19, 1947, which corresponds to the listing “Preliminary 

Analytical Report” (Attachment D) noted in the Eisenhower brief- 

ing document. But there was no flight listed to Washington for 

September 25, and the pilot was definitely off somewhere else. 

However, when I checked Twining’s own log, I discovered that he 

himself had flown a complete roundtrip from Dayton to Washington 

on September 26. 

So Twining did go to Washington, but on September 26. That 

was a very busy time at the White House—the first meeting of the 

National Security Council was held on that very day, involving 

Truman, Forrestal, Souers, and Hillenkoetter, among others. When 

Marshall dictated his note to Humelsine, he might have been oper- 

ating under preliminary information that the meeting would be on 

September 25. Or perhaps Humelsine made a mistake. (I have a copy 

of a memo from Secretary Forrestal about his meeting with Truman 

and Vannevar Bush on September 24, 1947 in which Forrestal refers 

to the date as September 25.) 

There were other positive signs. From the Marshall Library, I 

learned that C. H. Humelsine was Carlisle Hubbard Humelsine 

(1915-1989). He was not a typewriting, dictation-taking secretary, 

but an executive in the State Department who had worked for 

Marshall during the war. He later served for many years as president 

of the Colonial Williamsburg Foundation, and was chairman of the 

board of the National Trust for Historic Preservation. 
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As for the directive to General Twining, I had long since noted 

that Twining had flown from Dayton to Alamogordo on July 7, 

1947. He had spent a full work week in New Mexico, visiting White 

Sands, Sandia, and Kirtland and supposedly making a “routine” in- 

spection of Alamogordo Army Air Field. This was actually no rou- 

tine inspection, since there was no advance planning for it, no PR 

pictures were taken, and the team was too high-powered for a regu- 

lar inspection. In addition, the Air Materiel Command group at 

Alamogordo actually staged a launch of a weather balloon with a 

radar reflector on July 9 for the press so that they could claim loudly 

that this was the explanation of the flying saucer reports .. . which 

made little sense except as disinformation. And although the hand- 

written date of July 9 on the Twining directive seems to be contra- 

dictory, I have often seen documents with different dates on them for 

preparation, receipt, approval, and so on. In addition, I had located 

a letter indicating that Twining had canceled a long-planned trip to 

Boeing in Seattle “because of a very important and sudden matter 

that developed here.” 

In the back of my mind, though, was the nagging suspicion that 

the documents, or at least some of them, might be too good to be 

true. The original MJ-12 documents had long ago been publicized, 

and so the dates, people involved, and security markings on the doc- 

uments were well known. It just seemed like too many elements were 

matching up. Two of the new documents, for example, make refer- 

ence to 092447 and MAJIC. The memo from Hillenkoetter clearly 

puts him in charge, which would jibe with the reference to him as 

MJ-1 in the briefing document. The security markings on the direc- 

tive to Twining—written before the Truman-Forrestal memo estab- 

lishing Majestic 12—is TOP SECRET/Eyes Only, whereas the later 

Hillenkoetter and Marshall memos are both TOP SECRET/ 

MAJIC Eyes Only. The directive to Twining instructs him as to what 

to do at places we know he visited. The initials VB certainly suggest 

high involvement of Vannevar Bush, which was already strongly in- 

dicated. None other than Twining’s pilot had already noted to Don 

Berliner and I that he saw Twining and Bush together often. 
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There were seeming contradictions that would have to be re- 

solved as well: 

* Why did Marshall use the secret telephone to dictate his note 

to Truman instead of just calling in a secretary? 

- If Twining made a presentation on September 19 to the MJ-12 

group and/or the president, why would he then fly a round trip 

by himself just a week later to make another presentation to the 

president? 

* Why did the Marshall memo refer to AR (Army Regulation) 

380-5? Was this just window dressing? Did Paragraphs 44-G and 

53-A mean anything in 1947? AR 380-5 is mentioned in Air 

Intelligence Report 100-203-79, Analysis of Flying Object Incidents 

in the U.S., dated December 10, 1948. This report is one of very 

few formerly Top Secret UFO documents which have been re- 

leased. It is well known amongst serious UFO researchers, such 

as the members of CAUS, some of whom have been attacking the 

MJ-12 documents for years. Since the report doesn’t discuss ex- 

traterrestrial spacecraft but focuses on foreign technology, some 

debunkers claim that it somehow proves that no UFOs are alien 

spacecraft. Could this be a sting operation by the anti-UFO crowd 

to get us to tout the document and then show they had faked it? 

* RH has a rubber stamped APPROVED below which is hand- 

written Harry and VB. Did President Truman ever sign anything 

Harry? 

With expense money provided by the Fund for UFO Research, I 

went to Washington and then on to the Marshall Archives in 

Lexington, Virginia in order to puzzle out as many details as possible 

by finding false clues, “facts” inconsistent with reality, and details not 

before known to anybody on the outside. 

The Marshall Foundation had sent me a 164-page Guide to the 

George C. Marshall Papers, and they informed me that Marshall bi- 

ographer Dr. Forrest Pogue was probably still alive and living in the 

Arlington, Virginia area near Washington. They also mentioned that 
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a Sergeant Heffner, who had been Marshall’s aide for eleven years, 

also lived in Virginia and that some of Marshall’s office secretaries 

were still alive. I arranged to visit Dr. Pogue, and spoke on the phone | 

with Heffner and two secretaries. 

I determined that not only did the Foundation have the more 

than 255 archive boxes and other materials listed in the guide I re- 

ceived before the visit, but, of very much more utility, an unlisted col- 

lection of almost 1 million pages of Marshall-era files from the State 

Department, Defense Department, and other agencies which had 

been reviewed and declassified at the National Archives by Dr. Pogue 

and others. Thankfully, summaries of each document in this batch of 

papers, cross-referenced by name, were kept on 5" x 8" file cards con- 

tained in filing cabinets. There was a three-inch stack of cards under 

Forrestal, for example. None of the other fourteen archives I have vis- 

ited have anything approaching this cross-reference file. 

The documents themselves are kept in filing cabinets full of five- 

sided (open top) manila file holders. Since there are no longer any 

classified materials at the center, I was permitted to go right into the 

vault and dig out the documents I had noted on the file cards. The 

documents were ordered with a fairly elaborate numerical scheme. 

As I was familiarizing myself with the numerical scheme, I re- 

alized that the system included dates as part of the key numbers. For 

instance, document 710.J/3-2548 was an item dated March 25, 

1948; document 710.J/4-648 was dated April 6, 1948. The 

September 24, 1947 Truman-Forrestal memo is referred to in the 

1952 briefing and in the newer documents as Special Classified 

Executive Order 092447. Thus, at least one major branch of the U.S. 

government uses a similar date format for referral or filing purposes. 

Although the Marshall Archive was a joy to use, getting the full 

cooperation and assistance of the Marshall Foundation was not so 

easy. I had to convince Foundation historian Dr. Larry Bland, who 

was at first very skeptical, that there was indeed a cosmic Watergate. 

What seemed to have the most impact was the story of the legal bat- 

tle over the CIA and NSA UFO documents. When I showed him 

the mostly blacked-out NSA affidavit about-their documents and the 
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blacked-out CIA documents, he was won over. 

After Bland looked at those documents and my MJ-12 report, he 

was very helpful. He remarked that he, an historian, would not have 

been able to fake the MJ-12 documents because of the many details 

included. He could find the correct stationery and an appropriate 

typewriter, but there would have been virtually no way for him to dis- 

cover all of the inside information required to fake the documents. 

As a result of these fortuitous events, my trip to Virginia was re- 

markably productive, and I was able to go far in judging the authen- 

ticity of the new MJ-12 documents. 

Dr. Pogue, though 80 years old and slowly losing his eyesight, 

was very vigorous of mind and memory and most cordial. He could 

find no reason to dismiss either the Marshall-Truman memo or the 

directive to Twining. Before I even showed him the documents, he 

assured me that Truman often signed his initials vigorously at the 

bottom of memos, and that he remembered Truman signing off on 

various documents. He knew a lot about Humelsine, including his 

work for Marshall during the war and his later work at the Colonial 

Williamsburg Foundation. He confirmed that Humelsine was much 

more than a paper-pushing clerk. 

Pogue had received a Ph.D. in history before enlisting during 

World War II, and was actually at the Normandy landing on D-Day 

+2. Earlier, he had been a code clerk with a high-level Crypto clear- 

ance, giving him access to coded and decoded Top Secret messages. 

He had been asked to work on the official histories of a number of 

Army groups. After the war he spent a year in Europe as a civilian in- 

terviewing many military leaders as well as lower-level people. 

(General Marshall had refused to write his memoirs, but did respond 

to questions asked by Pogue in many interviews.) He had letters of 

introduction from Eisenhower and Marshall. His ability to evaluate 

the validity of Top Secret documents was vastly superior to that of a 

number of armchair historians, who have trouble believing that se- 

crets can be kept for decades. However, Pogue, who had been in the 

military and had had a very-high-security clearance, had no prob- 

lem at all with the notion of major secrets being kept. 
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Dr. Pogue took a lively interest in my MJ-12 report and my 

methodology. He agreed that formats in highly classified, pre-FOIA 

documents did not follow any style guide. He volunteered that 

General Marshall was a stickler about editing subordinates’ memos, 

making every effort to keep the wording simple and clear. He could 

write like a bureaucrat, but didn’t like to. Of course, much of what 

Marshall signed off on had been prepared by others, so style is not 

a final arbiter on legitimacy. 

That Pogue could find nothing obviously fraudulent with the 

documents did not prove they were valid. However, it was comfort- 

ing that such a well-informed expert on General Marshall felt that 

they could be authentic. 

At the Marshall Library, I learned a number of other facts that 

helped me evaluate the new documents: 

When going through the 5" x 8" filing cards, I found occasional 

notations such as “signed Approved, Harry Truman [date].” I dug out 

a number of these documents and copied them and also received 

some examples from the Truman Library. (At one time, the Truman’s 

director, Dr. Zobrist, wrote to me that although he had stated they 

had such examples, none had been found.) These approvals vary in 

format both for the order, the wording, and the date format. Truman 

did sign off on various documents using wording like that on the 

ones Tim had sent me. 

In early September 1947, Truman went to Brazil for a major in- 

ternational conference. He and his family returned home on a Navy 

ship, and they were not yet back at the White House on September 

19, 1947. File copies of communiques between Rio de Janiero and 

Washington establish this, and Margaret Truman also talks about the 

trip in one of her books about her father. Thus, Truman could not 

have attended General Twining’s briefing on September 19 noted in 

the original MJ-12 document, and Twining would have had to return 

to Washington later to brief him. 

Marshall was in attendance as head of the U.S. delegation to the 

United Nations in New York City starting September 21, 1947 and 

lasting for several days. He was not in Washington on September 25. 
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Thus, the use of the secret telephone to dictate the memo to 

Humelsine makes sense. Scramblers were already in wide use; for in- 

stance, Roosevelt and Churchill had used them often for their phone 

conversations during the war. 

Humelsine worked for Chief of Staff Marshall at the Pentagon 

from 1941 to 1945. According to one article about Humelsine, his 

first major assignment from Marshall was to reorganize the handling 

of secret military communications between Marshall and military 

commands around the world. Soon he was in charge of this com- 

munications effort. Marshall had a reputation for not tolerating in- 

competence. Humelsine would certainly have been familiar with 

Army Regulation 380-5, which deals at great length with protection 

of classified documents. 

(Don Berliner, with the help of Larry Bryant at the Pentagon 

Library, found a 1946 version of AR 380-5 containing the relevant 

paragraphs 44-G and 53-A. In a much later version which I found in 

the government documents section of the University of New 

Brunswick Library, the regulation was different, having only fourteen 

sections. Military installations normally destroy old versions of regu- 

lations when they receive new versions. Thus, if someone was try- 

ing to forge the letter from Marshall, not only would he need to 

know Marshall’s whereabouts on that day, but he would have to be 

familiar with Army regulations in 1947.) 

In both Humelsine’s Who's Who entry and in his handwritten 

background file at the Marshall Foundation, the term Executive 

Secretary is used. Nowhere else was this title used in reference to 

Humelsine. His official titles were Deputy Under Secretary of State 

and Assistant Secretary of State. What forger would have known 

about Humelsine’s little-used title? 

While Humelsine achieved a considerable reputation for his 

work at Williamsburg, being on the boards of many projects, and 

being awarded four honorary degrees, his name is certainly not well 

known these days for his work at the State Department or with 

Marshall. (He actually-assisted Marshall at the Malta, Yalta, and 

Potsdam conferences that helped shape the postwar world.) One 
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wonders how many modern-day ufologists or even government peo- 

ple would have recognized his name. Indeed, one of Marshall’s sec- 

retaries from his Department of Defense days didn’t recognize 

Humelsine’s name. ; 

The Marshall Foundation had a folder of information on 

Humelsine which made it possible for me to locate his two daughters 

and his widow. I called Mrs. Humelsine and then sent her a copy of 

the Marshall memo so she could authenticate her husband’s unusual 

signature. The run-together initials didn’t match any of the big sig- 

natures of his that I found in a quick look at his file, although all of 

these occurred in important letters on fancy stationery when he was 

head of Williamsburg. On the phone, Mrs. Humelsine, who was very 

alert, remarked that her husband usually ran the CHH together in 

his signature. Upon later contact, she and her daughter agreed that 

the signature was indeed his. 

Mrs. Humelsine also indicated that her husband had Marshall’s 

full trust, and that Carlisle had actually established a large group of 

secretaries at the State Department at Marshall’s request, since 

Marshall liked how that form of organization worked for him during 

the war. She also noted that on some occasions her husband acted 

as a courier taking classified items to the White House for Marshall. 

I knew that all classified documents accepted at the White 

House or any other classified installation are receipted, and I had 

seen some receipt lists at the Eisenhower Library. Perhaps the 

Humelsine memo had been receipted and was listed at the Truman 

Library. I checked with Dennis Bilger, but he was unable to find any 

White House receipts for classified documents for 1947. He did 

however forward Truman’s phone logs for September 25 and 26, 

1947, and there is an entry for Humelsine at 4:42 P.M. on September 

26. Bilger also told me that the library did have various items, espe- 

cially personal notes to old friends, which were signed simply Harry. 

During this trip, I also got back in touch with George Elsey in 

Washington, who was well known to Dr. Pogue, and sent him a copy 

of the new documents seeking his comments. He had worked tor 

Roosevelt and then Truman in the White. House, had a high-level 
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. clearance, and had responded three years before to my questions as to 

whether he could find anything wrong with the original MJ-12 doc- 

uments and the Cutler-Twining memo. He could find no problems. 

I had learned to be very careful in how I posed questions to peo- 

ple like Elsey. Ifhe had known about Majestic-12 as a program whose 

very existence was classified, he would not have been able to tell me 

anything useful in response to direct questions. I didn’t ask him if he 

thought the documents were genuine; rather, I asked if he saw any- 

thing about the documents that would lead him to believe they were 

fraudulent. This was a question he could answer, having handled 

thousands of classified documents at the White House. His answer 

was no; there was nothing to make him think they were fraudulent. 

Since Elsey knew almost all the listed MJ-12 members, I asked if 

there was any reason to think that Truman would not have appointed 

any of them to such an important group, if it had been real. Again 

the answer was no; there was no question in his mind that these were 

all people who Truman trusted. Since he knew James Lay and Robert 

Cutler, I asked if there was any reason to think that Lay would not 

have prepared a simple administrative memo for Cutler if Cutler was 

out of the country. Again Elsey said no, and noted that the two men 

worked very closely together. Finally, I asked about the possibility 

of Bush and/or Forrestal preparing a memo for Truman's signature. 

Elsey noted that perhaps 90 percent of what a president signs is pre- 

pared by someone else, and that Truman certainly trusted those two. 

Because Mr. Elsey had been so forthright the first time around, 

I sent him the Humelsine and Twining memos and sought his opin- 

ion. On February 11, 1993, he wrote: 

In response to the questions posed in your letter of 5 February: 

(1) From the appearance of the photo-copies, I have no reason 

at all to doubt the authenticity of the directive to General Twining ap- 

proved by President Truman and dated July 9, 1947 and the 

Memorandum for the President of September 25, 1947 from Carlisle 

Humelsine. 
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(2) As to who prepared the directive to Twining, the style of lan- 

guage convinces me that it was prepared in the War Department. It 

is definitely not phrased in terms that President Truman would have 

used nor would any of the White House staff employed such stilted 

military praseology. I have no way of surmising which office in the 

War Department might have been involved. 

(3) As for my knowledge as to whether President Truman had off 

the record meetings, of course he did—as have Presidents before and 

after. They were customarily held right in the Oval Office—as secure 

a place as any in the country. Occasionally, for one reason or another, 

a meeting might be held in the family quarters of the mansion or 

some other room in the mansion—as, for example, the meeting re- 

ferred to by Robert Cutler in the 7/13/53 memo you include in your 

document. There is no need for a President to leave the White House; 

secrecy was and is easy to maintain there and is impossible to main- 

tain anyplace else. Moving a President involves complicated logistics 

with an unbelievable number of persons involved. 

(4) You are quite right in assuming “somebody always knew 

where to reach the president ... .” Scores of people know—Secret 

Service, his Press staff, his national security advisor, those involved 

in making the travel arrangements, etc etc. I was associated with the 

Truman White House in one capacity or another throughout the ad- 

ministration, as a relatively junior staff member, and there was never a 

day in the nearly eight years that I did not know where the President 

was and how to reach him should occasion arise. 

Obviously, the letter doesn’t prove the documents are genuine, but I 

know of no one better qualified than Elsey to appraise them as 

hoaxes. 

I had planned a follow-up trip to the Truman and Eisenhower li- 

braries seeking more documents that might have been added to their 

collections or been declassified when another bunch of documents 

arrived from Tim Cooper! 

Several of these documents also looked too good to be true. One, 
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which was a terrible reproduction, was ostensibly a long letter to 

Humelsine from General Marshall dated September 27, 1947. Typed 

on it were “TOP SECRET/Eyes Only” and “For Mr. Humelsine’s 

eyes only.” It began “My Dear Carl,” and referred to “MAJIC mili- 

tary communications” being sent to Humelsine. 

I sent the letter to Dr. Bland at the Marshall Foundation. He im- 

mediately recognized it as a retyped and slightly reworded version 

of a well-known letter from Marshall to Republican presidential can- 

didate Thomas Dewey during the 1944 campaign. Dewey had been 

trying to make an issue out of the Pearl Harbor attack by raising 

questions as to how much the top command knew via document in- 

terception that might have prevented the surprise attack. Marshall on 

his own was trying to keep Dewey from saying too much in public 

that might lead the Japanese to worry about their codes having been 

compromised, and noted one incident that caused the Japanese to 

change their codes. It was a delicate time in the war—the Allies had 

recently landed at Normandy and were fighting their way through 

France. Since the Japanese ambassador to Germany was sending 

coded information about German plans back to Japan, the Allied 

command simply could not afford a slip that would make the 

Japanese change their codes. 

With this unambiguous fraud as background, I became con- 

vinced that several other items were retyped and slightly changed 

versions of old memos or letters. For example, one document dealt 

with supposed travels to New Mexico of “Archbishop” Spellman in 

the summer of 1947, during which he would be protected by the mil- 

itary. By checking the New York Times Index, | determined that 

Spellman was clearly in New York during the summer, did not travel 

to New Mexico, and had already been named a Cardinal. During the 

war, however, he had traveled to the European theater, quietly and 

with military protection. 

Lalso concluded that the March 1948 Hillenkoetter memo—the 

first document that Tim Cooper had sent to me—was really a doc- 

tored version of a memo that would have been sent to President 

Roosevelt during World War II. It just made no sense that President 
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Truman would want to see loads of notebooks containing technical 

data about flying saucers. However, it made perfect sense that 

President Roosevelt would want to see summaries of decoded 

Japanese military messages—which were done as part of a very clas- 

sified project whose code name was MAGIC. 

If the original Majestic-12 documents are genuine, as clearly appears 

to be the case, the person who risked so much in sending that roll 

of film in 1984 must have been feeling terribly frustrated. Nine years 

were gone, and there were no truly solid results from the revelation. 

The original documents were still being attacked, and the govern- 

ment agencies involved continued to stonewall. The source couldn't 

go public without revealing his identity and the fact that he proba- 

bly broke several laws by distributing highly classified material to un- 

cleared persons. The debunkers seemed to be holding the upper 

hand. Perhaps the documents that Tim Cooper received showed that 

the source was still alive, still trying to get the truth out. 

A year later, a new breakthrough confirmed this hope. 
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THE MAJESTIC-Te 
OPERATIONS MANUAL 

In December 1994, I learned of what is perhaps the mother of all 

Majestic-12 documents! I was on the phone with Don Berliner, who 

is a member of the board of the Fund for UFO Research, when Don 

let slip that he had received another MJ-12 document in March. Just 

as a decade before Jaime Shandera had received the original MJ-12 

documents on a roll of film in the mail in a manila envelope with no 

return address, so did Don receive this new material. 

The roll of 35mm film had been mailed from Wisconsin, but 

without a return address. At first, Don thought nothing of the mat- 

ter, since he had recently come back from the huge Experimental 

Aircraft Show in Oshkosh, Wisconsin, where he had shot many rolls 

of film. He presumed that he had left a roll of film behind and some- 

one from the show had sent it on to him. 

Only when he had the film developed did he realize that he had 

black-and-white pictures of a document, not of aircraft. The first 

frame was the cover page of a report entitled Majestic-12 Group 

Special Operations Manual: Extraterrestrial Entities and Technology, 

Recovery and Disposal. It was marked TOP SECRET/MAJIC Eyes 

Only, and was dated April 1954. The report outlined how to secure, 

package, ship, and store artifacts and extraterrestrial biological enti- 

ties from recovered alien flying saucers! The contents page indicated 

161 
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that the original manual contained six chapters, four appendixes, 30 

pages of text, and a section of photographs. Unfortunately, not all of 

the pages of the manual had been photographed. 

There were 22 images on the roll of film, each showing a hand 

holding a different page of a document apparently held together by 

an Accobinder. Don had a trustworthy associate print 5" x 7" prints 

of each frame. On the back of each page was a security warning: 

WARNING! This is a TOP SECRET—MAJIC EYES ONLY doc- 

ument containing compartmentalized information essential to the 

national security of the United States. EYES ONLY ACCESS to the 

material herein is strictly limited to personnel possessing MAJIC-12 

CLEARANCE LEVEL. Examination or use by unauthorized per- 

sonnel is strictly forbidden and is punishable by federal law. 

Removal of any page(s) from this document for examination by 

authorized persons requires written authorization from the MJ-12 

OPNAC OPERATIONS OFFICER. Reproduction in any form or 

the taking of written or transcribed notes is strictly forbidden. 

Don had made a few people aware of the document, including 

the General Accounting Office, which at that time was in the midst 

of trying to find government records about the Roswell event. The 

GAO apparently submitted a copy to the Air Force. However, nei- 

ther the Air Force, in their official attack on Roswell in September 

1994, nor the GAO, in its report of July 28, 1995, mentioned the 

manual. 

If this manual proves to be genuine (research on it is ongoing), 

then it is truly dynamite. It corroborates information found in the 

Eisenhower briefing and certain other MJ-12 documents. For exam- 

ple, one section of the manual, titled “History of the Group,” in- 

cludes this statement referring to the Truman-Forrestal memo: 

“Operation Majestic-12 was established by special classified presi- 

dential order on 24 September 1947 at the recommendation of 

Secretary of Defense James V. Forrestal and Dr. Vannevar Bush, 

Chairman of the Joint Research and Development Board.” 
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As information about this find has become public, a number of peo- 

ple have leaped to the conclusion that the document is fraudulent, 

seemingly just on the basis of a quick review of the poor-quality pho- 

tocopies of the prints and their presumption that there was never any 

Majestic-12 group. But those of us who have dug into the subject 

have concluded that none of the objections yet raised are substantive. 

Some new, very-high-quality 8" x 10" prints clearly indicate that the 

photographer had done a much better job than had originally seemed 

to be the case, and we have been able to read just about every word in 

the manual. 

There are a number of ways that the manual is being checked 

for validity. For instance, page 28 of the manual is a list of references. 

Don went to the Army archives at Carlyle Barracks, Pennsylvania 

and talked to some oldtimers, who found copies of some of the un- 

classified documents referenced in the manual. The particular edi- 

tions listed were accurate and appropriate for pre-April 1954. 

At my request, Don sent me a set of photocopies of photocopies 

of the prints done two to a page. I began focusing on the facts given 

in the manual that could be independently checked. For example, 

Paragraph 17 is a table listing facilities to which artifacts should be 

sent. Were these facilities in operation at the time? As to the rest of 

the manual, were there anachronisms with regard to other manuals? 

Were the instructions for packaging both wreckage and biological 

specimens reasonable? 

A number of obvious questions came to my mind when I received 

the copies. For example, if the person who took the pictures had 

enough time to shoot more than 20 pages, why didn’t he take apart 

the Accobinder, lay the pages flat, and get much better quality by 

using two hands to hold the camera? The Eisenhower briefing doc- 

ument had clearly been laid flat on a kind of jig using the punched 

holes so that focus would only have to be set once. The copies Don 

had sent me were very poor quality, and parts of many of the pages 

were obscured. Why wasn’t the focus better? Was the focus deliber- 

ately poor? Who took the pictures? Where? When? Why? 

And why was page 30 missing from the film? According to the 
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table of contents, this was the listing of MAJIC personnel. Did this 

mean that when the pictures were taken, some of the personnel were 

still alive? The Eisenhower briefing document film had been received 

about three months after the death of the last surviving member of 

the original MJ-12 group. 

Another obvious concern was the mention of “downed satellites” 

on page 8 as one of several acceptable “Deceptive Statements” to dis- 

tribute to help provide a cover. Considering that the first Sputnik 

wasnt launched until 1957, was this a goof by a forger? I dug out 

some pre-1954 books about space flight and checked back issues of 

the Readers’ Guide to Periodical Literature for uses of the term satellite. 

I found several articles that used the term for a manufactured object 

in orbit around the earth prior to April 1954. There had also been 

an active program led by Clyde Tombaugh, who had discovered 

Pluto as a very young amateur astronomer in 1930, to search for ar- 

tificial satellites near earth. 

And the manual used the term UFOB, instead of UFO, for 
unidentified flying object. | checked some old government documents 

and found that in 1954, UFOB was used, even though it was out of 

favor within a short time. 

With Don’s permission, I shared a copy of what he sent with Dr. 
Robert Wood, who had recently retired after more than 40 years as 
a scientist and project manager for McDonnell Douglas in 
California. Bob had a high-level professional interest in UFOs and 
advanced technology dating back to the 1960s and had given lectures 
on UFOs to several organizations. He is one of a handful of profes- 
sional people interested in UFOs whom I trust completely: excel- 
lent technical background, sound judgment, very knowledgeable 

about UFOs and high security. I hoped that Bob, because of past ef- 
forts on high-security programs, could check on the appropriateness 
of the security warning and other markings. We discussed the doc- 
ument at length. 

Bob then did something truly special. Using his computer, he 
matched the typefaces in the manual and tried to read every portion 
of the available pages. Don had better 8" x 10" prints made from 
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some of the negatives and used a magnifying glass to determine what 

some of the words were. With a lot of effort, Don and Bob were fi- 

nally able to decipher just about every square inch of the pages. 

In addition, Bob and a colleague, who also had long experience 

with highly classified reports, each found somebody knowledgeable 

about the Government Printing Office and made some sense out of 

the little numbers on the bottom of the pages. Everything they found 

was consistent with a typeset GPO document of that era. For in- 

stance, although Bob's digitally-typeset version of the manual is very 

professional-looking, there are subtle differences between it and the 

original typesetting, which was done mechanically. In other words, 

although someone could create this document on a computer, and 

even use the same typeface and typesize, there would be telltale signs 

that the pages were not mechanically set. 

Why would a manual such as this even exist? From the wording of 

the manual, it is obvious that it would have been circulated more 

widely than the other MJ-12 documents that have been found, 

strongly implying that more crashes were occurring. As Don Berliner 

explained in a July 1989 paper he had given at a MUFON confer- 

ence, the government would have to have a set of wreckage handling 

procedures. Without a standard operating procedure, there would 

be too much risk of information leaking out inadvertently, as oc- 

curred in 1947 directly after the Roswell crash. Attempts to duplicate 

alien technology and understand alien biology would require care- 

ful handling of wreckage and specimens and prompt action to pre- 

vent both publicity and recovery by others. 

Various government agencies have had special retrieval teams 

whose activities and identification have been kept very low profile for 

decades. One recently published article in a scientific journal noted 

that there were seven different teams ready to take action in case of 

a nuclear accident, the loss of nuclear-weapons-related materials, and 

so on. Trucks and airplanes with nuclear weapons, spent fuel, and 

other classified cargoes crisscross the country regularly. Terrorists and 

spies seek such materials. Vehicles do crash. Highly classified, and 
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sometimes highly radioactive, portions of satellites sometimes sur- 

vive reentry into the atmosphere and fall to earth. Both sides in the 

cold war were desperate to recover these in secret. ; 

Most of the members of rapid response teams have other jobs, but 

are ready to go anywhere at a moment’s notice. When portions of the 

Soviet Cosmos 954 satellite came down in January 1978, sprinkling 

many chunks of radioactive debris from its nuclear reactor across a 

large area in northern Canada, response teams were in action quickly. 

A highly classified Stealth aircraft, about whose existence the 

public had not yet been apprised, crashed near Bakersfield, 

California a number of years ago. Security teams were in place very 

quickly, keeping people away from the crash site. They were followed 

by collection, packaging, and clean-up teams. These groups made 

sure that all the wreckage was recovered and that the ground was 

treated so that no one would be able to recover a piece of the high- 
technology skin of the vehicle. Civilians unfortunate enough to be 
caught up in the security web were made to sign silence agreements 
ending with the phrase “upon penalty of death” according to a wit- 
ness who very quietly spoke to me about it after a lecture. 

Following is some of the text of the manual, as determined by Dr. 

Wood, Don Berliner, and others. Words that could not be made out 
from the photographs, or that were illegible, are bracketed. Note that 
Chapter 6 ends in midsentence; besides the list of references 
(Appendix I), this was the last page of the manual that was received. 

A detailed proposal to validate this document by investigating its 
internal references, the appropriateness of the procedures enumer- 
ated, the relationship to the other MJ-12 documents, and the occur- 
rences of any possible anachronisms has been made by myself, Dr. 
Wood, Dr. Bruce Maccabee, and another researcher, and it awaits 
funding. Based upon past experience, authentication will be no easy 
task, as the results must be solid enough to withstand the onslaught 
of both debunkers and a government that denies the existence of 
alien craft. 
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CHAPTER 1 

OPERATION MAJESTIC—12 

Section |. PROJECT PURPOSE AND GOALS 

1. Scope 

This manual has been prepared especially for Majestic—12 units. Its purpose is to 

present all aspects of Majestic—12 so authorized personnel will have a better under- 
standing of the goals of the Group, be able to more expertly deal with Unidentified 
Flying Objects, Extraterrestrial Technology and Entities, and increase the efficiency of 

future operations. 

2. General 

MJ—12 takes the subject of the UFOBs, Extraterrestrial Technology and Extra- 

terrestrial Biological Entities very seriously and considers the entire subject to be a mat- 

ter of the very highest national security. For that reason everything relating to the subject 

has been assigned the very highest security classification. Three main points will be cov- 

ered in this section. 

a. The general aspects of MJ—12 to clear up any misconceptions that anyone may have. 

b. The importance of the operation. 

c. The need for absolute secrecy in all phases of operation. 

3. Security Classification 

All information relating to MJ—12 has been classified MAJIC EYES ONLY and 

carries a security level 2 points above that of Top Secret. The reason for this has to do 

with the consequences that may arise not only from the impact upon the public should 

the existence of such matters become general knowledge, but also the danger of hav- 

ing such advanced technology as has been recovered by the Air Force fall into the hands 

of unfriendly foreign powers. No information is released to the public press and the of- 

ficial government position is that no special group such as MJ—12 exists. 

4. History of the Group 

Operation Majestic-12 was established by special classified presidential order on 

24 September 1947 at the recommendation of Secretary of Defense James V. Forrestal 

and Dr. Vannevar Bush, Chairman of the Joint Research and Development Board. 

Operations are carried out under a Top Secret Research and Development—Intelligence 

Group directly responsible only to the President of the United States. The goals of the 

MJ-12 Group are as follows: 

a. The recovery for scientific study of all materials and devices of a foreign or 

extraterrestrial manufacture that may become available. Such material and devices will 

be recovered by any and all means deemed necessary by the Group. 

b. The recovery for scientific study of all entities and remains of entities not of ter- 

restrial origin which may become available though independent action by those enti- 

ties or by misfortune or military action. 

c. The establishment and administration of Special Teams to accomplish the above 
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operations. 

d. The establishment and administration of special secure facilities located at se- 
cret locations within the continental borders of the United States for the receiving, pro- 

cessing, analysis, and scientific study of any and all material and entities classified as 
being of extraterrestrial origin by the Group of the Special Teams. 

e. Establishment and administration of covert operation to be carried out in con* 
cert with Central Intelligence to effect the recovery for the United States of extrater- 
restrial technology and entities which may come down inside the territory of or fall into 

the possession of foreign powers. 

f. The establishment and maintenance of absolute top secrecy concerning all the 

above operations. 

5. Current Situation 

It is considered as far as the current situation is concerned, that there are few in- 
dications that these objects and their builders pose a direct threat to the security of the 
United States, despite the uncertainty as to their ultimate motives in coming here. 
Certainly the technology possessed by these beings far surpasses anything known to 
modern science, yet their presence here seems to be benign, and they seem to be avoid- 
ing contact with our species, at least for the present. Several dead entities have been 
recovered along with a substantial amount of wreckage and devices from downed craft, 
all of which are now under study at various locations. No attempt has been made by 
extaterrestrial entities either to contact authorities or to recover their dead counterparts 
of the downed craft, even though one of the crashes was the result of direct military 
action. The greatest threat at this time arises from the acquisition and study of such ad- 
vanced technology by foreign powers unfriendly to the United States. It is for this rea- 
son that the recovery and study of this type of material by the United States has been 
given such a high priority. 
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CHAPTER 2 

. INTRODUCTION 

Section I. GENERAL 

6. Scope 

a. This operations manual is published for the information and guidance of all 

concerned. It contains information on determination, documentation, collection, and 

disposition of debris, devices, craft, and occupants of such craft as defined as 

Extraterrestrial Technology or Extraterrestrial Biological Entities (EBEs) in Section II 

of this chapter. 

b. Appendix I contains a list of current references, including technical manuals 

and other available publications applicable to these operations. 

c. Appendix II contains a list of personnel who comprise the Majestic-12 Group. 

7. Forms and Records. 

Forms used for reporting operation are listed in Appendix Ia. 

Section II. DEFINITION AND DATA 

8. General 
Extraterrestrial Technology is defined as follows: 

a. Aircraft identified as not manufactured in the United States or any terrestrial 

foreign powers, including experimental military or civilian aircraft. Aircraft in this cat- 

egory are generally known as Unidentified Flying Objects, or UFOBs. Such aircraft 

may appear as one of several shapes and configurations and exhibit extraordinary flight 

characteristics. 

b. Objects and devices of unknown origin or function, manufactured by processes 

or of materials not consistent with current technology or scientific knowledge. 

c. Wreckage of any aircraft thought to be of extraterrestrial manufacture or ori- 

gin. Such wreckage may be the results of accidents or military action. 

d. Materials that exhibit unusual or extraordinary characteristics not consistent 

with current technology or scientific knowledge. 

Extraterrestrial Biological Entities (EBEs) are described as: 

a. Creatures, humanoid or otherwise, whose evolutionary processes responsible 

for their development are demonstrably different from those postulated or observed in 

homo sapiens. 

9. Description of Craft 

Documented extraterrestrial craft (UFOBs) are classified in one of four categories 

based on general shape, as follows: 

a. Elliptical, or disc shape. This type of craft is of a metallic construction and dull 

aluminum in color. They have the appearance of two pie-pans or shallow dishes pressed 

together and may have a raised dome on the top or bottom. No seams or joints are vis- 

ible on the surface, giving the impression of one-piece construction. Discs are estimated 
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from 50-300 feet in diameter and the thickness is approximately 15 per cent of the di- 
ameter, not including the dome, which is 30 per cent of the disc diameter and extends 
another 4-6 feet above the main body of the disc. The dome may or may not include 

windows or ports, and ports are present around the lower rim of the disc in some in- 
stances. Most disc-shaped craft are equipped with lights on the top and bottom, and also 
around the rim. These lights are not visible when the craft is at rest or not functioning. 
There are generally no visible antenna or projections. Landing gear consists of three 
extendible legs ending in circular landing pads. When fully extended this landing gear 
supports the main body 2-3 feet above the surface at the lowest point. A rectangular 

hatch is located along the equator or on the lower surface of the disk. 

b. Fuselage or cigar shape. Documented reports of this type of craft are extremely 
rare. Air Force radar reports indicate they are approximately 2 thousand feet long and 95 
feet thick, and apparently they do not operate in the lower atmosphere. Very little in- 

formation is available on the performance of these craft, but rader reports have indicated 
speeds in excess of 7,000 miles per hour. They do not appear to engage in the violent 
and erratic maneuvers associated with the smaller types. 

c. Ovoid or circular shape. This type of craft 1s described as being shaped like 

an ice cream cone, being rounded at the large end and tapering to a near-point at the 
other end. They are approximately 30-40 feet long and the thick end diameter is ap- 
proximately 20 per cent of the length. There is an extremely bright light at the pointed 
end, and this craft usually travels point down. They can appear to be any shape from 

round to cylindrical, depending upon the angle of observation. Often sightings of this 
type of craft are elliptical craft seen at an inclined angle or edge-on. 

d. Airfoil or triangular shape. This craft is believed to be new technology due to 
the rarity and recency of the observations. Radar indicated an isosceles triangle pro- 

file, the longest side being nearly 300 feet in length. Little is known about the perfor- 

mance of these craft due to the rarity of good sightings, but they are believed capable 

of high speeds and abrupt maneuvers similar to or exceeding the performance attributed 
66? 

to types “a” and “c”. 

10. Description of Extraterrestrial Biological Entities (EBEs) 

Examination of remains recovered from wreckage of UFOBs indicates that Extra- 

terrestrial Biological Entities may be classified into two distinct categories as follows: 

a. EBE Type I. These entities are humanoid and might be mistaken for human be- 
ings of the Oriental race if seen from a distance. They are bi-pedal, 5-5 feet 4 inches in 
height and weigh 80-100 pounds. Proportionally they are similar to humans, although 
the cranium is somewhat larger and more rounded. The skin is a pale, chalky-yellow in 
color, thick, and slightly pebbled in appearance. The eyes are small, wide-set, almond- 
shaped, with brownish-black irises with very large pupils. The whites of the eyes are 
not like that of humans, but have a pale gray cast. The ears are small and not low on the 
skull. The nose is thin and long, and the mouth is wider than in humans, and nearly lip- 
less. There is no apparent facial hair and very little body hair, that being very fine and 
confined to the underarm and the groin area. The body is thin and without apparent body 
fat, but the muscles are well-developed. The hands are small, with four long digits but no 
opposable thumb. The outside digit is jointed in a manner as to be nearly opposable, 
and there is no webbing between the finger as in humans. The legs are slightly but no- 
ticeably bowed, and the feet are somewhat splayed and proportionally large. 
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b. Type II. These entities are humanoid but differ from Type I in many respects. 
They are bi-pedal, 3 feet 5 inches-4 feet 2 inches in height and weigh 25-50 pounds. 
Proportionally, the head is much larger than humans or Type | EBEs, the cranium being 
much larger and elongated. The eyes are very large, slanted, and nearly wrap around 
the side of the skull. They are black with no whites showing. There is no noticeable brow 
ridge, and the skull has a slight peak that runs over the crown. The nose consists of two 

small slits which sit high above the slit-like mouth. There are no external ears. The skin 

is a pale bluish-gray color, being somewhat darker on the back of the creature, and is 

very smooth and fine-celled. There is no hair on either the face or the body, and these 

creatures do not appear to be mammalian. The arms are long in proportion to the legs, 

and the hands have three long, tapering fingers and a thumb which is nearly as long as 

the fingers. The second finger is thicker than the others, but not as long as the index fin- 

ger. The feet are small and narrow, and four toes are joined together with a membrane. 

It is not definitely known where either type of creature originated, but it seems 

certain that they did not evolve on earth. It is further evident, although not certain, that 

they may have originated on two different planets. 

11. Description of Extraterrestrial Technology 

The following information is from preliminary analysis reports of wreckage col- 

lected from crash sites of extraterrestrial craft 1947-1953, excerpts from which are 

quoted verbatim to provide guidance as to the type of characteristics of material that 

might be encountered in future recovery operations. 

a. Initial analysis of the debris from the crash site seems to indicate that the de- 

bris is that of an extraterrestrial craft which exploded from within and came into contact 

with the ground with great force, completely destroying the craft. The volume of mat- 

ter indicates that the craft was approximately the size of a medium aircraft, although 

the weight of the debris indicates that the craft was extremely light for its size. 

b. Metallurgical analysis of the bulk of the debris recovered indicates that the sam- 

ples are not composed of any materials currently known to Terrestrial science. 

c. The material tested possesses great strength and resistance to heat in propor- 

tion to its weight and size, being stronger by far than any materials used in military or 

civilian aircraft at present. 

d. Much of the material, having the appearance of aluminum foil or aluminum- 

magnesium sheeting, displays none of the characteristics of either metal, resembling 

instead some kind of unknown plastic-like material. 

e. Solid structures and substantial beams having a distinct similarity in appearance 

to very dense grain-free wood, was very light in weight and possesses tensile and com- 

pression strength not obtainable by any means known to modern industry. 

f, None of the material tested displayed measurable magnetic characteristics or 

residual radiation. 

g. Several samples were engraved or embossed with marks and patterns. These 

patterns were not readily identifiable and attempts to decipher their meaning has been 

largely unsuccessful. 

h. Examination of several apparent mechanical devices, gears, etc. revealed little 

or nothing of their functions or methods of manufacture. 
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CHAPTERS 
RECOVERY OPERATIONS 

Section |. SECURITY 

12. Press Blackout 

Great care must be taken to preserve the security of any location where 
Extraterrestrial Technology might be retrievable for scientific study. Extreme measures 
must be taken to protect and preserve any material or craft from discovery, examination, 

or removal by civilian agencies or individuals of the general public. It is therefore rec- 
ommended that a total press blackout be initiated whenever possible. If this course of 
action should not prove feasible, the following cover stories are suggested for release 
to the press. The officer in charge will act quickly to select the cover story that best fits 
the situation. It should be remembered when selecting a cover story that official policy 

regarding UFOBs is that they do not exist. 

a. Official Denial. The most desirable response would be that nothing unusual has 
occurred. By stating that the government has no knowledge of the event, further inves- 

tigation by the public press may be forestalled. 

b. Discredit Witnesses. If at all possible, witnesses will be held incommunicado 

until the extent of their knowledge and involvement can be determined. Witnesses will 

be discouraged from talking about what they have seen, and intimidation may be nec- 
essary to ensure their cooperation. If witnesses have already contacted the press, it will 
be necessary to discredit their stories. This can best be done by the assertion that they 
have either misinterpreted natural events, are the victims of hysteria or hallucinations, or 

are the perpetrators of hoaxes. 

c. Deceptive Statements. It may become necessary to issue false statements to pre- 
serve the security of the site. Meteors, downed satellites, weather balloons, and mili- 

tary aircraft are all acceptable alternatives, although in the case of the downed military 
aircraft statement care should be exercised not to suggest that the aircraft might be ex- 

perimental or secret, as this might arouse more curiosity of both the American and the 

foreign press. Statement issues concerning contamination of the area due to toxic spills 
from trucks or railroad tankers can also serve to keep unauthorized or undesirable per- 
sonnel away from the area. 

13. Secure the Area 

The area must be secured as rapidly as possible to keep unauthorized personnel 
from infiltrating the site. The officer in charge will set up a perimeter and establish a 
command post inside the perimeter. Personnel allowed on the site will be kept to the 
absolute minimum necessary to prepare the craft or debris for transport, and will consist 
of Military Security Teams. 

Local authorities may be pressed into service as traffic and crowd control. Under 
no circumstances will local official or law enforcement personnel be allowed inside 

the perimeter and all necessary precautions should be taken to ensure that they do not in- 
terfere with the operation. 

a. Perimeter. It is desirable that sufficient military personnel be utilized to set up 
a perimeter around the site large enough to keep both unauthorized personnel and the 
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perimeter personnel from seeing the site. Once the site is contained, regular patrols will 
be set up along the perimeter to ensure complete security, and electronic surveillance will 
be utilized to augment the patrols. Perimeter personnel will be equipped with hand com- 
munication and automatic weapons with live ammunition. Personnel working at the site 
will carry sidearms. No unauthorized personnel will be allowed into the secured area. 

b. Command Post. Ideally, the command post should be as close to the site as is 
practical to efficiently coordinate operations. As soon as the command post is opera- 

tional, contact with the Majestic—12 Group will be established via secure communi- 

cations. 

c. Area Sweep. The site and the surrounding area will be cleared of all unautho- 
rized personnel. Witnesses will be debriefed and detained for further evaluation by 
MJ—12. Under no circumstances will witnesses be released from custody until their 

stories have been evaluated by MJ—12 and they have been thoroughly debriefed. 

d. Situation Evaluation. A preliminary evaluation of the situation will be com- 
pleted and a preliminary report prepared. The MJ—12 Group will then be briefed on the 
situation at the earliest possible opportunity. The MJ—12 Group will then make a de- 

termination as to whether or not a MJ—12 RED TEAM or OPNAC Team will be dis- 

patched to the area. 

Section Il. TECHNOLOGY RECOVERY 

14. Removal and Transport 

As soon as communication is established, removal and transport of all material 

will commence under order of MJ—12. 

a. Documentation. If the situation permits, care should be taken to document the 

area with photographs before anything is moved. The area will be checked for radia- 

tion and other toxic agents. If the area cannot be kept secure for an extended period of 

time, all material must be packed and transported as quickly as possible to the nearest 

secure military facility. This will be accomplished by covered transport using little-trav- 

eled roads wherever possible. 

b. Complete or Functional Craft. Craft are to be approached with extreme cau- 

tion if they appear functional, as serious injury may result from exposure to radiation 

and electrical discharges. If the craft is functioning, but appears to be abandoned, it may 

be approached only by specially trained MJ—12 RED TEAM personnel wearing pro- 

tective clothing. Any craft that appears to be functioning should also be left to MJ— 

12 RED TEAM disposal. Complete craft and parts of crafts too large to be transported 

by covered transport will be disassembled, if this can be accomplished easily and 

quickly. If they must be transported whole, or on open flatbed trailers, they will be cov- 

ered in such a manner as to camouflage their shape. 

c. Extraterrestrial Biological Entities. EBEs must be removed to a top security fa- 

cility as quickly as possible. Great care should be taken to prevent possible contami- 

nation by alien biological agents. Dead EBEs should be packed in ice at the earliest 

opportunity to preserve tissues. Should live EBEs be encountered, they should be taken 

into custody and removed to a top security facility by ambulance. Every effort should be 

taken to ensure the EBEs survival. Personnel involvement with EBEs alive or dead must 

be kept to an absolute minimum. (See Chapter 5 for more detailed instruction on deal- 

ing with EBEs.) 
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15. Cleansing the Area 

Once all material has been removed from the central area, the surrounding area 
will be thoroughly inspected to make sure that all traces of Extraterrestrial Technology 
have been removed. In the case of a crash, the surrounding area will be thoroughly gone 
over several times to ensure that nothing has been overlooked. The search area involved 
may vary depending on local conditions, at the discretion of the officer in charge. When 
the officer in charge is satisfied that no further evidence of the event remains at the site, 

it may be evacuated. 

16. Special or Unusual Circumstances 

The possibility exists that extraterrestrial craft may land or crash in heavily pop- 
ulated areas, where security cannot be maintained effectively. Large segments of the 

population and the public press may witness these craft. Contingency Plan MJ-1949- 

04P/78 (TOP SECRET * EYES ONLY) should be held in readiness should the need to 

make a public disclosure become necessary. 

17. Extraterrestrial Technology (See Table on next page) 

TOP SECRET | MAJIC EYES ONLY 

EXTRATERRESTRIAL TECHNOLOGY PACKING LIST 

lf addronal space # required, atach MJ For 1-007a 
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Figure 2. MJ Form 1—007 
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18. Packaging and Packing Data 

a. Domestic Shipment. Individual items are tagged and wrapped in a moisture- 

vaporproof barrier and heat sealed. They are then placed in a corrugated fiberboard box. 

The voids within the box are packed thoroughly with a neutral cellulose wadding to pre- 

vent movement of the items. The box closure is sealed with gummed Kraft tape. MJ 

Form 1-007 is placed in a sealed manila envelope marked “MAJIC—12 ACCESS 

ONLY” and is firmly taped to the top of the box. The box is then cushioned at each cor- 

ner and at the top and bottom with fiberboard inserts and is placed within a large cor- 

rugated fiberboard box. The entire outer box closure is sealed with gummed Kraft tape. 

A label is affixed to the outer box bearing the following information: destination, ship- 

ping code number, and the warning, “MAJIC—12 ACCESS ONLY.” 

b. Overseas Shipment. Items are packaged as described above except that a dessi- 

cant and humidity indicator are included within the inner corrugated fiberboard box. 

Next, the box is wrapped in a moisture-vaporproof barrier and heat sealed. Then, pack- 

aged items are placed within a second waterproof carton sealed with waterproof tape. 

This second carton is marked “MAJIC—12 ACCESS ONLY” on all sides and is placed 

within a water-grease-proof lined wooden shipping container. The lining is sealed with 

waterproof tape and the wooden shipping container is screwed shut. The shipping con- 

tainer is reinforced further by nailing two [3/4]-inch metal caps about 8 inches from 

each end. Shipping information is then stenciled on the surface of the wooden shipping 

container. 

Note. The packaging and packing procedure detailed above applies to non-organic 
items only. Data for handling, packaging, packing, and shipping of organic matter and 
non-living entities is provided in Chapter 5, Section II of this manual. 
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CHAPTER 4 

RECEIVING AND HANDLING 

Section |. HANDLING UPON RECEIPT OF MATERIAL 

20. Uncrating, Unpacking, and Checking 

(fig. 3) 

Note. The uncrating, unpacking, and checking procedure for containers marked 
“MAJIC—12 ACCESS ONLY” will be carried out by personnel with MJ—12 clear- 
ance. Containers marked in this manner will be placed in storage in a top security area 

until such time as authorized personnel are available for these procedures. 

a. Be very careful when uncrating and unpacking the material. Avoid thrusting 
tools into the interior of the shipping container. Do not damage the packaging materi- 
als any more than is absolutely necessary to remove the specimens; these materials may 

be required for future packaging. Store the interior packaging material within the ship- 
ping container. When uncrating and unpacking the specimens, follow the procedure 

given in (1) through (11) below: 

(1) Unpack the specimens in a top security area to prevent access of unautho- 

rized personnel. 

(2) Cut the metal wires with a suitable cutting tool, or twist them with pliers until 

the straps crystallize and break. 

(3) Remove screws from the top of the shipping container with a screw driver. 

(4) Cut the tape and seals of the case liner so that the waterproof paper will be 

damaged as little as possible. 

(5) Lift out the packaged specimens from the wooden case. 

(6) Cut the tape which seals the top flaps of the outer cartons; be careful not to 

damage the cartons. 

(7) Cut the barrier along the top heat sealed seam and carefully remove the inner 

carton. 

(8) Remove the sealed manila envelope from the top of the inner carton. 

(9) Open the inner carton and remove the fiberboard inserts, dessicant, and hu- 

midity indicator. 

(10) Lift out the heat sealed packaging containing the specimens; arrange them 

in an orderly manner for inspection. 

(11) Place all packaging material in the shipping container for use in future 

repacking. 

[In place here is Figure 3—a diagram showing how to package non-organic extrater- 

restrial specimens. ] 

b. Thoroughly check all items against the shipping documents. Carefully inspect 

all items for possible damage during shipping or handling. Sort the items according to 

classification number in preparation for transfer to the designated Laboratory or de- 

partment. Laboratory or department personnel are responsible for transporting items 

to the designated areas. This will be accomplished as quickly as possible by covered 

transport escorted by security personnel. 
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CHAPTER 5 

EXTRATERRESTRIAL BIOLOGICAL ENTITIES 

Section I. LIVING ORGANISMS 

21. Scope 

a. This section deals with encounters with living Extraterrestrial Biological 

Entities (EBEs). Such encounters fall under the jurisdiction of MJ-12 OPNAC BBS— 

01 and will be dealt with by this special unit only. This section details the responsibili- 

ties of persons or units making the initial contact. 

22. General 

Any encounter with entities known to be of extraterrestrial origin is to be consid- 

ered to be a matter of national security and therefore classified TOP SECRET. Under no 

circumstance is the general public or the public press to learn of the existence of these 

entities. The official government policy is that such creatures do not exist, and that no 

agency of the federal government is now engaged in any study of extraterrestrials or 

their artifacts. Any deviation from this stated policy is absolutely forbidden. 

23. Encounters 

Encounters with EBEs may be classified according to one of the following cate- 

gories: 

a. Encounters initiated by EBEs. Possible contact may take place as a result of 

overtures by the entities themselves. In these instances it is anticipated that encounters 

will take place at military installations or other obscure locations selected by mutual 

agreement. Such meeting would have the advantage of being limited to personnel with 

appropriate clearance, away from public scrutiny. Although it is not considered very 

probable, there also exists the possibility that EBEs may land in public places without 

prior notice. In this case the OPNAC Team will formulate cover stories for the press and 

prepare briefings for the President and the Chiefs of Staff. 

b. Encounters as the result of downed craft. Contact with survivors of accidents or 

craft downed by natural events or military action may occur with little or no warning. In 
these cases, it is important that the initial contact be limited to military personnel to 
preserve security. Civilian witnesses to the area will be detained and debriefed by MJ- 
12. Contact with EBEs by military personnel not having MJ-12 or OPNAC clearance 

is to be strictly limited to action necessary to ensure the availability of the EBEs for 

study by the OPNAC Team. 

24. Isolation and Custody 

a. EBEs will be detained by whatever means are necessary and removed to a se- 
cure location as soon as possible. Precautions will be taken by personnel coming in con- 
tact with EBEs to minimize the risk of disease as a result of contamination by unknown 
organisms. If the entities are wearing space suits or breathing apparatus of some kind, 
care should be exercised to prevent damage to these devices. While all efforts should 
be taken to assure the well-being of the EBEs, they must be isolated from any contact 

with unauthorized personnel, While it is not clear what provisions or amenities might be 
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required by non-human entities, they should be provided if possible. The officer in 
charge of the operation will make these determinations, since no guidelines now exist to 
cover this area. 

b. Injured or wounded entities will be treated by medical personnel assigned to the 
OPNAC Team. If the team medical personnel are not immediately available, First Aid 

will be administered by Medical Corps personnel at the initial site. Since little is known 

about EBE biological functions, aid will be confined to the stopping of bleeding, ban- 
daging of wounds and splinting of broken limbs. No medications of any kind are to be 
administered as the effect of terrestrial medications on non-human biological systems 
are impossible to predict. As soon as the injuries are considered stabilized, the EBEs will 

be moved by closed ambulance or other suitable conveyance to a secure location. 

c. In dealing with any living Extraterrestrial Biological Entity, security is of para- 

mount importance. All other considerations are secondary. Although it is preferable to . 
maintain the physical well-being of any entity, the loss of EBE life is considered ac- 

ceptable if conditions or delays to preserve that life in any way compromises the secu- 

rity of the operations. 

d. Once the OPNAC Team has taken custody of the EBEs, their care and trans- 
portation to designated facilities become the responsibility of OPNAC personnel. Every 

cooperation will be extended to the team in carrying out duties. OPNAC Team person- 
nel will be given TOP PRIORITY at all times regardless of their apparent rank or status. 
No person has the authority to interfere with the OPNAC Team in the performance of its 

duties by special direction of the President of the United States. 

Section II. NON-LIVING ORGANISMS 

25. Scope 

Ideally, retrieval for scientific study of cadavers and other biological remains will 
be carried out by medical personnel familiar with this type of procedure. Because of 
security considerations, such collection may need to be done by non-medical personnel. 
This section will provide guidance for retrieval, preservation, and removal of cadavers 

and remains in the field. 

26. Retrieval and Preservation 

a. The degree of decomposition of organic remains will vary depending on the 
length of time the remains have been lying in the open unprotected and may be accel- 

erated by both local weather conditions and action by predators. Therefore, biological 

specimens will be removed from the crash site as quickly as possible to preserve the 

remains in as good a condition as possible. A photographic record will be made of all re- 

mains before they are removed from the site. 

b. Personnel involved in this type of operation will take all reasonable precautions 

to minimize physical contact with the cadavers or remains being retrieved. Surgical 

gloves should be worn or, if they are not available, wool or leather gloves may be worn 

provided they are collected for decontamination immediately after use. Shovels and 

entrenching tools may be employed to handle remains provided caution is exercised to 

be certain no damage is done to the remains. Remains will be touched with bare hands 

only if no other means of moving them can be found. All personnel and equipment in- 

volved in recovery operations will undergo decontamination procedures immediately 

after those operations are [sic] have been completed. 
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c. Remains will be preserved against further decomposition as equipment and con- 

ditions permit. Cadavers and remains will be bagged or securely wrapped in waterproof 

coverings. Tarpaulins or foul weather gear may be used for this purpose if necessary. 

Remains will be refrigerated or packed with ice if available. All remains will be tagged 

or labeled and the time and date recorded. Wrapped remains will be placed on stretchers 

or in sealed containers for immediate removal to a secure facility. 

d. Small detached pieces and material scraped from solid surfaces will be put in 

jars or other small capped containers if available. Containers will be clearly marked as 

to their contents and the time and date recorded. Containers will be refrigerated or 

packed with ice as soon as possible and removed to a secure facility. 

¥ 

[In place here is Figure 4—diagrams of the various types of extraterrestrial craft dis- 

cussed in the text. ] 
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CHAPTER 6 

. GUIDE TO UFO IDENTIFICATION 

Section |. UFOB GUIDE 

27. Follow-up Investigations 

A UFOB report is worthy of follow-up investigation when it contains informa- 

tion to suggest that positive identification with a well-known phenomenon may be made 
or when it characterizes an unusual phenomenon. The report should suggest almost im- 
mediately, largely by the coherency and clarity of the data, that there is something of 

identification and/or scientific value. In general, reports which should be given con- 
sideration are those which involve several reliable observers, together or separately, and 
which concern sighting of greater duration than one quarter minute. Exceptions should 
be made to this when circumstances attending the report are considered to be extraor- 
dinary. Special attention should be given to reports which give promise to a “fix” on 

the position and those reports involving unusual trajectories. 

28. Rules of Thumb 

Each UFOB case should be judged individually but there are a number of “rules of 
thumb,” under each of the following headings, which should prove helpful for deter- 

mining the necessity for follow-up investigation. 

a. Duration of Sighting. When the duration of a sighting is less than 15 seconds, 

the probabilities are great that it is not worthy of follow-up. As a word of caution, how- 

erver, should a large number of individual observers report an unusual sighting of a 

few seconds duration, it should not be dismissed. 

b. Number of Persons Reporting the Sighting. Short duration sightings by single 

individuals are seldom worthy of follow-up. Two or three competent independent ob- 

servations carry the weight of 10 or more simultaneous individual observations. As an 

example, 25 people at one spot may observe a strange light in the sky. This, however, 

has less weight than two reliable people observing the same light from different loca- 

tions. In the latter case a position-fix is indicated. 

c. Distance from Location of Sightings to Nearest Field Unit. Reports which meet 

the preliminary criterion stated above should all be investigated if their occurrence is 

in the immediate operating vicinity of the squadron concerned. For reports involving 

greater distances, follow-up necessity might be judged as being inversely proportional 

to the square of the distances concerned. For example, an occurrence 150 miles away 

might be con- 
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APPENDIX | 
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There is some writing here No. 4, AB 

1. [Applicable] Regulations 

-4 Military security (Safeguarding Security 
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Maintenance Supplies and Equipment, 
Maintenance Responsiblities and Shop 

Operation. 

2. Supply 

xx 725-405-5 Preparation and Submission of Requisitions for 
Supplies. 

3. Other Publications 

XX 219-20-3 Index of Training Manuals. 

XX 310-20-4 Index of Technical Manuals, Technical Regu- 
lations, Technical Bulletins, Supply Bulletin, 
Lubrications Orders, and Modification Work 

Orders. 

XX310-20-5 Index of Administrative Publications. 

XX310-20-7 Index of Tables of Organization and Equipment, 
Reduction Tables, Tables of Organization, 
Tables of Equipment, Type Tables of Distribu- 
tion and Tables of Allowance. 

4. Test Equipment References 

TM 11—664 Theory and Use of Electronic Test Equipment. 

5. Photographic References 

TM 11—404A Photographic Print Processing Unit AN/TFQ-9. 

TM 11—405 Processing Equipment PH—406. 
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SCOPE OF THE 
MAJESTIC-Te ACTIVITY 

A thoughtful reader would have recognized by now that the few doc- 

uments relating to Majestic-12 discussed in this book are surely only 

the tiny tip of the iceberg. Somewhere there is a huge number of doc- 

uments done under the auspices of Majestic-12 and whatever suc- 

cessor groups there may be. Just think of the paperwork necessary for 

the recovery operations discussed in the Special Operations Manual! 

If you have difficulty believing that undertakings involving huge 

quantities of data and many thousands of people can be kept secret 

for years, two World War II examples prove that it can be done: the 

Manhattan Project and the breaking of the German and Japanese se- 

cret codes. 

The Manhattan Project involved more than 50,000 people be- 

tween 1942 and 1945 and the creation of huge new installations at 

Oak Ridge, Tennessee; Hanford, Washington; Los Alamos, New 

Mexico; and other places. The cost of the project has been estimated 

at $2 billion in 1940s dollars—or about $20 billion in today’s dollars. 

Breaking the enemy codes and the subsequent interception, de- 

coding, and distribution of messages involved, according to an esti- 

185 
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mate by Robin Wink, a Yale professor, at least 10,000 people. Yet 

there was no unclassified word about this in public view until 25 

years after the war was over. : 

Both of these comparatively short-term projects produced a huge 

amount of paperwork. If in 1947, an organization was established 

to recover and investigate material from extraterrestrial vehicles, then 

all the many groups participating in one way or another in the analy- 

sis and evaluation of the specimens, the transmission of information 

from each group to a few compartmented special offices, and the in- 

terpretation of what it all means from a technological, military, po- 

litical, social, economic, and religious standpoint, would have 

produced a veritable mountain of paperwork. 

Between 1956 and 1970, I worked on a number of fairly large 

classified (not black budget) research and development programs. 

In 1958, the Aircraft Nuclear Propulsion program at General 

Electric was spending more than $100 million a year and employed 

about 3,500 people. Almost everything we did was classified Secret 

Restricted Data as mandated by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954. We 

published internally classified documents in the tens of thousands. 

Some of these documents were updated in format and style and were 

distributed to professionals at other installations who were involved 

in the ANP program; for example, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, 

General Dynamics in Fort Worth, Pratt and Whitney Aircraft in 

Connecticut, and others. Every time we did a series of experiments, 

classified technical reports had to be written. Every time plans were 

made for an experiment, reports had to be written. Paper was just a 

natural part of the system. 

All classified documents had to be accounted for. When you left 

the company, if you couldn't locate and return all the documents you 

had signed out, you were in deep, deep trouble. Each scientist or en- 

gineer might have two or three large filing cabinets stuffed with these 

documents, and some had a good many more. 

Of course, none of this material made it out to the public at the 

time, although some was declassified after the program was canceled 

in 1961. A couple of people have suggested to me that there must 
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be serious morale problems among professionals working in isolation 

on highly classified projects. This, quite frankly, is nonsense. It is very 

exciting and satisfying to work on leading-edge technology where 

you have the finest equipment, outstanding colleagues, and a chance 

to make a real contribution, even if you can’t publish in the open sci- 

entific literature. Academics may think in terms of publish or per- 

ish. Nonacademic scientists and engineers get their satisfaction from 

accomplishment. 

We used code words in our work, whose use was gradually 

changed as they became compromised. For example, when I began 

work at GE, the term /ithium hydride—a compound of hydrogen and 

lithium which has very attractive nuclear properties even though it’s 

a pain in the neck to formulate into large chunks—was classified. It 

was not classified because of our program, which concerned radiation 

shielding material, but because combinations of hydrogen and 

lithium play a role in building hydrogen bombs. By changing iso- 

tope ratios—using the right isotopes of hydrogen and the right iso- 

topes of lithium—you get a material that produces the fusion portion 

of the hydrogen bombs that were made. So any facilities that man- 

ufactured and tested segments of lithium hydride, for any purpose, 

were classified. 

As I recall, the code name for lithium hydride was d/ack salt. Pretty 

soon, you could use the term /ithium hydride, but you couldn't say what 

its use was. Next, you could say it was used for radiation shielding pur- 

poses, but you couldn't say which project it was being used for. 

Classification people often went overboard in their zeal to pro- 

tect security. One classification officer thought that soon we would 

find a magic material that could be painted on and would absorb all 

radiation. Therefore, all radiation shielding work had to be highly 

classified. As a matter of fact, there were unclassified charts of vari- 

ous compounds with certain classified materials left off. "These mate- 

rials would have been identifiable by any enlightened reviewer, who 

probably could figure out that their absence was a tip-off that we 

were using them for our classified work. This is a bit too subtle for 

some classification officers. 
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As soon as you start spending money on extensive experimenta- 

tion and testing, you produce reports: test data, preliminary reports, 

final reports, summary reports, quarterly reports, annual reports. 

Projects are littered with paper. For an operation such as Majestic-12, 

clearly numerous tests would have been done to try to determine the 

characteristics of the materials that were found, reproduce those ma- 

terials, and test them against other materials. As new analytical tech- 

niques became available, new tests would have been run. 

This drawn-out process of testing is not understood by most 

people. I once met somebody who claimed to have a small piece of 

the Roswell saucer. First he was willing to have it analyzed by an out- 

standing test laboratory, as long as he could be there to ensure that 

the small piece he had would not be destroyed or stolen. He didn't 

want any publicity. Robert Wood and I were able to line up a test- 

ing lab with the assurance that his name wouldn't be revealed, al- 

though we each met him separately. We stressed that a whole host 

of tests would have to be run because it would not be easy to deter- 

mine that something was not produced on earth. The man stalled. 

Finally his lawyer got in on the act. 

I met with the lawyer, and we had a pleasant lunch. He said, “My 

client really doesn’t want to get involved. He’s fearful that he will be 

identified and then perhaps eliminated by the government. What he'd 

like is to get a simple test done that shows this is an extraterrestrial 

material, and then sell this to someone. Obviously, whoever had that 

data would put the aluminum and steel industries out of business.” 

I agreed that an extraordinarily strong, lightweight material is 

of obvious economic value, but explained that it wasn’t easy to de- 

termine that something was not of terrestrial origin. It was very likely 

made of elements that are found here, but put together in a differ- 

ent way using special techniques, perhaps under special circum- 

stances. Furthermore, knowing that something isn’t a conventional 

alloy doesn’t prove that it isn’t used in some very highly classified 

program, such as a vital component in nuclear weapons, Star Wars, 

laser weapons systems, and so on. Those alloys aren’t known to the 

general run of technical people. 
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Furthermore, proving that a material is of extraterrestrial origin 

and has special properties not only doesn’t allow you to duplicate it, 

but also clearly doesn’t establish economic viability. Material that 

costs $500 a pound to produce will not find immediate acceptance by 

automobile or airplane or rocket manufacturers. There is no way that 

any test would ensure that anybody would want to purchase the ma- 

terial, except for souvenir value. 

I argued in vain. Finally I asked, “How much do you think he 

wants for the material?” The lawyer answered, casually, “Oh, $15 

million.” 
We've never seen the material, but that’s not even the point. 

Showing that something is, for example, ten times as strong as any 

other known element at a temperature of 1500° doesn’t tell you how 

to duplicate it. That takes years of research and development, and 

billions of dollars. 

Some people have suggested that alien craft would be made of ma- 

terials composed of elements that we don’t know about here on earth. 

A great deal of attention has been given to a man named Robert 

Scott Lazar, who claims to be a physicist and to have discovered the 

motive force for flying saucers—which requires something he calls 

“element 115.” Almost all matter in our world is composed of ele- 

ments with atomic numbers 1 through 92, from hydrogen to ura- 

nium. (The atomic number of an element is the number of protons 

and electrons in one atom of the element.) The Manhattan Project 

produced plutonium, which is element 94, and a whole host of 

higher-than-uranium atomic number (transuranic) elements. Every 

couple of years some new ones are discovered, updating the Periodic 

Chart of Elements to the low hundreds. These transuranic elements 

normally have several special characteristics: 

* They have very short half-lives, existing on the average for per- 

haps a millionth of a second. 

* Only very small numbers of these atoms are produced despite 

enormous effort to produce them with huge accelerators. 
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* They are all radioactive in one way or another, which means they 

decay rapidly. All elements above 90, including uranium, are ra- 

dioactive. Uranium has a half-life measured in millions of years., 

Depending on the isotope, plutonium’s half-life can be 27,000 

years. Cobalt 60, which is used for medical purposes, has a half- 

life of 5.3 years. This is a relatively long life, and large amounts can 

be accumulated by exposing certain cobalt isotopes in reactors. 

Lazar at one time claimed that his project had over 500 pounds of el- 

ement 115, which he said wasn’t radioactive and had an incredible 

potential energy production rate. But there is no way to accumulate 

so much of such a short half-life material. He also claimed that he 

had stolen some element 115. Such material would certainly have 

been as accountable as fully enriched uranium or weapons-grade plu- 

tonium. Private citizens are simply not able to steal any. 

There are a number of other problems with Lazar’s claims, in- 

cluding apparently bogus statements—which I checked—that he has 

made about his education and work history at Los Alamos National 

Laboratory and the mysterious Area 51 near Las Vegas. His pro- 

posed propulsion system involving element 115 sounds wonderful, 

but collapses on close examination. The point remains—and this has 

been borne out by our trips to the moon, tests on meteorites that 

have hit the earth, and especially by analysis of light from distant 

stars—that materials found other places in the universe are going to 

be composed of the same elements as those we have found here. It 

would be up to the scientists connected to Majestic-12 to determine 

how the elements were combined to create the materials that have 

been described to us by eyewitnesses. 

The Operation Majestic-12 leaders would have been well aware 

of the rapidly improving analytical capabilities of scientists. In the 

1950s, for example, there were nuclear reactor systems proposed 

which used liquid sodium, a metallic element that is a very good heat 

transfer agent, as the reactor coolant instead of water. Liquid sodium 

can remove much more heat from the reactor per unit time and at 

lower pressure than can water. However, researchers found that they 
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couldn't predict corrosion of the piping no matter how many tests 

they ran. 

The answer—it depended on the amount of oxygen in the 

sodium—was found only after equipment was developed that could 

measure sodium abundances in parts per million. We couldn't mea- 

sure oxygen in sodium that accurately at the beginning of the devel- 

opment effort, so we didn’t know then how to be sure of preventing 

corrosion. But as the analytical techniques improved, scientists could 

learn more about the process and determine corrosion-controlling 

techniques. 

In biology, there are a whole host of biochemical compounds in 

the human body for which we couldn’t analyze 50 years ago, and 

genes that we didn’t even dream of analyzing 50 years ago. So the 

Majestic-12 scientific leaders like Bush, Bronk, Berkner, Menzel, 

and Hunsaker would have been sure that, in time, improvements 

would be made. This would mean that the initial samples, both bi- 

ological and metallurgical, would have to be preserved and eventually 

reanalyzed. 

Thus, in a number of labs around the country there would have 

been tests done, reports written, people involved, who may not even 

have known what their work was a part of, but who were doing sig- 

nificant, step-by-step work to understand and eventually duplicate 

this entirely new collection of technologies. 

Some people have asked why, if we earthlings have recovered the 

wreckage of at least two very advanced flying saucers in New Mexico 

in 1947, that technology hasn’t shown up yet in our own products. In 

response, I have to say that I think it has shown up. As a matter of 

fact, I think we can look at a couple of specific examples of relevant 

technology originating with flying saucers and being moved from the 

secret world to the outside world by Majestic-12 members. 

Vannevar Bush and his associates were completely familiar with 

all the major high-technology, high-security laboratories in the 

country in 1947 as the result of all the projects carried out by the 

OSRD. Specimens would be sent under security to each lab with- 

out identification as to the source of the material—it could have been 
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obtained by spies, or from German or Russian laboratories investi- 

gated in Europe. 

At one lab, the charge might be to determine the composition , 

of the sample. After running a battery of tests, the lead scientist 

might report, “I don’t know where you obtained this material, but it 

is a combination of two elements, samarium and cobalt. I have no 

idea why those two materials would be combined.” 

“Are you sure?” 

“Yes, I checked three times. It is samarium and cobalt.” 

“Thanks.” 

The samples then would have been sent out to other labs to de- 

termine physical properties such as strength at high temperature, 

electrical and magnetic properties, and so on. 

“T don't know what this is or its origin, but it has the highest 

magnetic moment of any material I have ever measured. It would 

make a great permanent magnet.” 

“Thanks.” 

Next, a fabricating lab would work hard to determine the best 

way to combine the proper proportions of samarium and cobalt to 

make permanent magnets. The saucer propulsion secret would not 

have been determined, but there would be a real technological ad- 

vance. I mean rea/ advances: manufacturers of portable stereos are 

major users of samarium-cobalt materials. 

Tused to use this example in my talks since samarium-cobalt per- 

manent magnets were for many years the best available. Then while 

preparing a weekly science commentary I did for six years at the 

Canadian Broadcasting Company radio station in Fredericton, I read 

about new and improved permanent magnets made of iron, boron, 

and neodymium. Buried in the article was the comment that the old 

samarium-cobalt technology was developed at Wright Air 

Development Center in Ohio—located at the old Wright Field. I 

laughed out loud, thinking, “I bet that technology was stimulated by 
investigation of a piece of a flying saucer.” 

A much more speculative example would be the development of 
the transistor by Bell Labs, one of the world’s finest scientific re- 
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search and development facilities. Bell had for many years close ties 

with Sandia National Laboratory in Albuquerque (one of the trio of 

high-security U.S. nuclear weapons labs), and did a lot of highly clas- 

sified electronics research during the war. The official birthdate for 

the transistor is given as December 23, 1947, although the an- 

nouncement of its discovery wasn't actually made until mid-1948 be- 

cause of the patenting process, journal article submission, and so on. 

The first transistor was a very simple sort of device. 

The team that worked on the transistor included three very well- 

established scientists. Normally when a new idea is being investi- 

gated, a senior scientist works with a junior one. It is very unlikely 

that three top scientists would be assigned to a single project unless 

someone knew that if the secret could be unlocked, the results might 

be very exciting indeed. Sandia, of course, is very close to the New 

Mexico crash sites, and there is evidence that wreckage from the 

crashes was investigated there. 

The single most important aspect that makes a new development 

project more likely to succeed (or less likely to be canceled) is know- 

ing that the desired objective can be achieved. For example, Soviet 

scientists pushing to develop the atomic bomb after World War {I 

knew for certain that atomic bombs could be made to work, since five 

had been exploded by the United states by the end of 1946. German 

scientists working on the bomb during World War II did not know 

for sure such a weapon could be built, especially in time to help win 

the war. Hence, the German research and development focus was 

on making better missiles such as the V-2 rather than on the atomic 

bomb. 

This does not mean we have learned either how to duplicate fly- 

ing saucer propulsion techniques or how to copy the technique eco- 

nomically. The development of industries to make new materials and 

products based on the extraterrestrial specimens is not easy. New ma- 

chines and new processes have to be invented. Materials might have 

to be molded at higher pressures than ever imagined, or in a vac- 

uum. How do you contain materials that need to be poured at very 

high temperatures—probably above the melting point of the avail- 
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able containers for those materials? It could take decades to duplicate 

the simplest specimens of extraterrestrial material. This isn’t to say 

that progress wouldn't be made in many areas, but it would be slow. 

There would have to be quantum leaps in other areas of our knowl- 

edge before we would be able to duplicate the vehicle, let alone the 

propulsion system. 

Consider what would happen if you gave Christopher Columbus 

a modern nuclear submarine in 1492, and said, “Chris, money is no 

object. Build me three more of these babies.” A mighty tall order— 

and not just because nuclear power was unknown. Electricity was un- 

known. The internal combustion engine was unknown. Even the 

steam engine was more than 200 years in the future. The scientific 

principles governing the skin of the ship, its propulsion, its power 

source, and its instrumentation did not exist in his world. Even the 

vessel’s purpose might be suspect. Travel below the waves? Why? 

Here’s another example closer to our time. Suppose you gave a 

digital wristwatch, costing about $15, to the smartest people around 

in 1940. Could they have duplicated it from scratch? Not the slight- 

est chance. They would have known it was a watch. They would have 

known it was battery-powered. But they would have had to create 

the whole science of solid-state electronics before they could even 

begin to analyze the computer chip that runs the watch. 

But these great pioneers would have given it their best try. And 

step by step, they would build a path that others would follow 

straight to the future. 
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THE “ALIEN AUTOPSY” FILM 

After almost four decades of intensive UFO research, I am not eas- 

ily surprised by new UFO stories. But on January 14, 1995, I received 

a phone call that truly shocked and excited me. It was from an 

English colleague with whom I had spent time a decade before dur- 

ing a speaking tour in England. He stated that the day before, Friday 

the 13th, the well-known rock musician Reg Presley (no relation to 

Elvis) had said on network TV that he knew of fifteen 10-minute 

reels of silent, black-and-white 16mm motion picture film showing 

the autopsy of alien bodies recovered near Roswell in 1947! 

Presley’s primary interest was in crop circles, of which there had 

been very many in the UK over the past several years. After a long 

conversation with my friend about the TV report, I decided that my 

best bet was to contact people in the UK who might be able to put 

me in touch with Presley. I called Dan Silver of London's Value 

Added Talent, a booking agency that arranges concerts and tours by 

rock groups. We had previously talked about a lecture tour. 

Dan was able to get Reg’s phone number, and Reg and I had a 

long, friendly conversation during which he said that the film was 

in the possession of Ray Santilli of Merlin Productions, who sup- 

195 
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posedly had obtained it from a former military cameraman who had 

shot the footage himself and somehow managed to keep a copy. Reg 

had seen only a little of the film. : 

Reg put me in touch with Santilli, and our first phone conver- 

sation was very cordial. He claimed he had done two years’ research 

about Roswell to establish the validity of the cameraman and his 

footage, although this was the first time he had heard my name and 

he was unfamiliar with the MJ-12 documents. Plans were afoot to 

make a BBC documentary movie using the footage, Ray said, and 

he wasn't worried about government agents giving him a hard time. 

He said he had “boxes” of paperwork from the cameraman proving 

that he was who he said he was and where he said he was in 1947. 

When Ray mentioned that there were recognizable people in the 

film, I immediately thought of the copy of the base yearbook that I 

had. I also knew the faces of the prominent scientists of the time, or 

I could get their pictures. Name tags and vehicle license plates could 

be read. I asked Ray if he had recognized anybody in the film. 

“How about President Truman?” he responded. 

“Ts he in the film?” 

“Yes, he is, and we have established that he was indeed in Dallas 

at the time of the autopsy.” 

“Dallas?” Strange. 

“Yes. Hasn't anybody mentioned Dallas to you?” 
“No, but the headquarters of the 8th Air Force was in Fort 

Worth, not too far away,” I mused. “Did you check with the Truman 

Library?” 

rxes 

Why would Truman want to go see the aliens himself? He 
trusted his advisors. If Forrestal, Bush, and Marshall told him there 

were bodies and wreckage of a crashed saucer, I couldn’t imagine 
Truman wanting to get involved, what with all the logistic problems 
of keeping it secret. 

Ray also told me that his company had originally spoken to the 
cameraman about some footage he had shot of Elvis Presley in Ohio 
in the 1950s when he was just starting out: After they reviewed that 
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footage, which Ray admired, the cameraman said he had something 

else that he might be willing to sell. And that’s when he mentioned 

the footage of the autopsy. 

Ray’s story was that, supposedly, the cameraman always 

processed his own film, and so the cameraman was able to make a 

copy for himself. The cameraman was supposedly now in his eighties 

and had sold the film only because he wanted to buy a wedding pre- 

sent for his granddaughter. I told him that if he would give me the 

cameraman’s name, I would be happy to look it up in confidence in 

my copy of the Operation Crossroads yearbook of 1946, which has 

pictures of many cameraman who helped film the explosions of nu- 

clear weapons at Bikini atoll in 1946 by the 509th Bomb Group. 

All the cameramen involved in Crossroads had to have high- 

level security clearances, which would also be required to film alien 

bodies, and they had to be known to the 509th. If Ray’s man was 

listed in the yearbook, it would be a strong indication of his legiti- 

macy. Ray declined to give me the name. 

I wanted to see the film. If it was genuine, it was clearly of ex- 

traordinary importance—the smoking gun that would break the case 

wide open. If it was fraudulent, all my work on Roswell might come 

crashing down on my head. The debunkers would claim, “The film is 

a fraud, and therefore Roswell is a fraud.” Although an irrational 

claim, rationality has never guided the press and the debunkers in 

their attacks against UFOs. 

Dan Silver made an appointment to see Ray. Ray canceled that 

date, accepted another, canceled again, and then canceled a third ap- 

pointment before seeing Dan. He didn’t seem at all interested in hav- 

ing anybody knowledgeable about Roswell review the footage. In the 

meantime, I checked with Dennis Bilger at the Truman Library and 

found that, according to their records, Truman was in neither Texas 

nor New Mexico between June and October 1947. This does not 

mean that somehow Truman didn’t fit in a secret trip to the 

Southwest then, but it’s highly unlikely, considering how many peo- 

ple would have to know about even a “secret” trip by the president. In 

addition, this was the time when the military was undergoing its 
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major reorganization, the National Security Council was established, 

the Marshall Plan was going into effect, and the cold war was heat- 

ing up. But it was clear that Ray had not obtained confirmation,of 

a Truman presence in Dallas from the Truman Library. What else 

was he stretching the truth about? 

During March, there was a great deal of media talk in England and 

across the Internet about the footage. Philip Mantle of the British 

UFO Research Association (BUFORA) had said that Ray would 

show the footage at the association’s conference in Sheffield in 

August. That seemed to imply acceptance of the footage by BU- 

FORA. All sorts of faxes and letters were rushing back and forth, 

partly because of rivalries between various UK UFO groups. The 

idea of actual film of an alien autopsy and saucer wreckage was catch- 

ing the fancy of people around the world, and publicity about the 

footage was starting to take off. 

On March 29, Dan invited me to come to Birmingham, England 

to be on a Central TV talk show discussing the footage, with Ray 

possibly in attendance. It was short notice, for the show was sched- 

uled for March 31, but Dan came up with a low-fare option for the 

sudden trip, Central TV said come ahead, and I jumped at the op- 
portunity. 

When I got to Birmingham and talked to the show’s producer, 

he laughed when I told him about Ray not having come across my 

name in two years of research. The producer had found many refer- 

ences to me in an hour-and-a-half of effort. 

As it turned out, Ray didn’t show up. Several UK debunkers were 
in the live audience, as well as a debunking astronomer who was with 
me on stage. This man knew nothing about UFOs, New Mexico, 

how security works, or classified development programs. It was a bat- 
tle royal. Also in the audience were Mantle and his long-time op- 
ponent, Graham Birdsall from Leeds, who publishes UFO Magazine, 

which has a worldwide circulation of approximately 50,000. Despite 
their rivalry, they both stood up for UFOs. Solicitor Harry Harris 
was also present on the pro-UFO side. Mantle has been more or less 
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inclined to accept the footage, which Santilli had mentioned—but 

had not shown—to him almost two years before. Birdsall is con- 

vinced it is all a scam to make money. (It has been claimed on the 

Internet that Santilli and associates paid the cameraman at least 

$100,000 for the footage.) 

Amidst other media interviews that Dan Silver set up for me, I 

managed to see Ray Santilli at his office. It is a small place, and has 

no sign on the door. Before we could talk, Ray hustled me out to a 

coffee shop. He said the cameraman had been married to the same 

woman for more than 50 years and was living in Orlando, Florida. 

(He has told others that they were living in Cleveland and 

Cincinnati.) He claimed that the wife was the dominant partner in 

the marriage, but didn’t know about the money for the film. (Giving 

a big gift to a granddaughter without your spouse finding out? 

Someone in the family would tell.) Naturally Ray didn’t show me the 

film. 

When I boarded the plane back to Canada, I was pretty frus- 

trated. The trip was not without its positives, but I didn’t get any of 

the answers I had been seeking. Soon after I got home, I heard that 

the footage was going to be shown on May 5 to a bunch of media 

types for the purpose of getting someone to pay for the rights to 

show it on television. I prepared a challenge to Ray to back up his 

claims with facts. 

The footage was shown at the London Museum with no intro- 

duction, no explanations or background, and no question-and-an- 

swer session afterward. (Dan Silver was there, and he distributed my 

challenge to many of the attendees.) The immediate reactions to the 

footage bordered on pandemonium. Some viewers claimed—with no 

follow-up research—that the footage was fraudulent because of var- 

ious anachronisms; for example, a coiled phone cord shown in the 

film was supposedly not made until after 1947. (Western Electric 

later told me that the production of such a cord started in 1937.) 

Others said the autopsy looked real. Meanwhile, Ray was negotiating 

with TV networks all over the world who wanted to broadcast the 

film and were willing to pay lots of money for the privilege. 
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Fox Network was the leading candidate to take the prize; Robert 

Kiviat, a producer of UFO segments for various TV shows, even set 

up a separate company—Kiviat-Greene Productions—to develop the 

property. However, Ray was again being difficult. He canceled a 

meeting with top executives at the last minute and made various 

promises about access to the cameraman that he didn’t keep. I had 

made an offer, on behalf of the For the People Network, which in- 

cluded a large fee and royalties on sales, contingent on my acceptance 

of the footage as genuine and access to the cameraman. Ray didn’t 

acknowledge the offer, although he referred to it later (without the 

conditions) as though I was saying the film was genuine. 

In June, I had another chance to talk to Ray. Dan Silver had 

arranged a lecture in London, and he and I and Ray and an associ- 

ate,met in a hotel lounge. Ray was perturbed, and insisted I had said 

_ the film was fraudulent. (What I had said was that I had found no 

reason to think it was genuine, which means | hadn't been given suf- 

ficient evidence.) I gave Ray a copy of my 1995 MUFON paper 

Roswell Revisited, in which I called into question Ray’s motives, in- 

dicating that Ray seemed to be in this strictly for the money and did- 

n't care whether or not the film was genuine. (Ray had himself said 

he wasn't a researcher and was only interested in the money.) This 

upset Ray and his associate. I also mentioned that I had called the 

Truman Library to ask about Truman’s trips in 1947 and was told 

that he did not visit Texas or New Mexico between June and October 

of that year. Ray responded that Truman’s Southwest trip was made 

in conjunction with his trip to Ottawa in June. Unfortunately, the 

meeting turned acrimonious, and once again we were disappointed in 

our quest. 

Returning home again, I checked the New York Times Index and 

called the Truman Library once more and found out that Truman did 

make a very public trip to Ottawa around June 10; by train, at that. 

He spoke to the Canadian Parliament and was in full public view. 

Since Ottawa is 450 miles north of Washington and Dallas is 1,100 

miles southwest, there seems little credible connection between the 

two sites. 
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Since I had made no headway with Santilli, I called Kiviat, who 

had bought the rights to the film. We had a number of conversa- 

tions about bringing together an interdisciplinary group in Roswell 

to review the footage and be interviewed about it. Kiviat told me that 

I was “their man on Roswell,” and that the goal of this project was 

the truth. 

As the weeks went by, dates and places were changed. Finally, 

Kiviat asked me to go down to Washington, D.C., in early August 

1995 to review the footage with Bruce Maccabee, who is experienced 

in film analysis. That was a good start, I thought, because I have 

known and respected Bruce as a colleague and friend for more than 

two decades. However, there was no mention of the interdisciplinary 

team—no pathologists or doctors, no cameramen, no film makers. 

I was in Washington for three days. I spent most of one day with 

Bruce at his home carefully reviewing about 20 minutes of footage 

that Kiviat provided. The tape included a segment showing pieces 

of girders inscribed with what apparently were ancient Greek let- 

ters. These girders looked nothing at all like the lightweight I-beams 

with strange lavender symbols described by the Marcels. But there 

were some very interesting panels on the girders which had hand- 

holds for six-fingered hands. These would not have been cheap to 

manufacture. 
Not surprisingly, President Truman was nowhere to be seen. 

There was no second autopsy of a similar being, without a gash on 

the right thigh, which others had said was on the tape. One story is 

that Santilli sold this to a collector to make some quick money. There 

was no saucer on the ground with a crane ready to haul it away as de- 

scribed by others. There was no sheet of paper with MJ-12 member 

Detlev Bronk’s name plainly visible on it, as had been claimed. 

The amount of footage was also much different. Originally, 

Santilli had claimed there were fifteen 10-minute reels. Then the 

story was fourteen 7-minute reels. Then it became twenty-two 3- 

minute reels, but several had film that couldn’t be used. (Spring- 

wound Bell and Howell Filmo cameras used the latter 100-foot reels 

of film.) 
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People knowledgeable about the movie business indicated that 

many oldtimers almost routinely ran off extra copies of the stuff they 

filmed. But keeping extra copies of a highly classified film? It would 

seem extremely unusual that somebody with a clearance would bla- 

tantly violate security, or even be allowed to walk away with that 

many film cans, especially in 1947. Other explanations have been 

proposed: one that the cameraman had processed and shipped off to 

the government the bulk of the footage, but that he kept the reels 

requiring special processing for later processing. When he asked the 

government to get them, they never responded. 

Experienced oldtime cameramen did say that the lack of image 

sharpness in close shots is because the Filmo camera did not have 

through-the-lens viewing. Focus could be set only from the front of 

those cameras, making focusing on closeups difficult. 

Santilli had told me that Kodak had definitely dated the film 

from 1947, but that question has been debated much since. Many 

people said they were quoting the cameraman’s answers to a variety 

of questions, but later had to admit that they were only going by 

what Santilli said. This is highly suspect, since Ray changed dates 

and crash locations and the homebase for the cameraman with 

aplomb, seemingly responding to details in various publications 

about Roswell. Both Fox and Channel 4 (London), which was mak- 

ing its documentary for showing in England, claimed they would 

interview the cameraman, but when both shows were aired on 

August 28, neither network had done so. In fact, I have yet to see any 

evidence that this cameraman is alive and, as discussed below, have 

very serious factual reasons for my skepticism. 

The bodies in the film looked nothing like any aliens described 

to me by either Roswell eyewitnesses or abductees. None of the wit- 

nesses I interviewed mentioned aliens with six fingers, but there they 

were on each hand in the film. (The right hand of the alien in the 

film seemed to have been chopped off, and so might have been 

placed there from another body.) Each foot also had six toes. John 

Carpenter, a psychiatric social worker trained at the Menninger 

Clinic, confirms this analysis. He has worked on more than 130 alien 
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abduction cases, and none of his witnesses have mentioned six fin- 

gers and only one said five. Almost all had said four long fingers, as 

the Roswell and San Agustin witnesses had. 

The day after reviewing the tape, I spent the evening being in- 

terviewed below the Lincoln Memorial with the Washington 

Monument in the background to prove we were in Washington. 

Every few minutes, we had to stop as airliners passed overhead. 

Earlier that day, the crew had interviewed world-famous forensic 

pathologist Dr. Cyril Wecht, but I couldn’t talk to him. Since re- 

searcher Linda Howe had mentioned that someone had said that the 

beings in the film were female earthlings with a genetic defect known 

as Turner’s Syndrome, I called around and found a geneticist, located 

the Turner Syndrome Society, and attempted to get educated quickly. 

I continued my research along these lines after I returned home. The 

more I learned, the better the Turner’s Syndrome explanation seemed. 

The one-hour Fox special Alien Autopsy: Fact or Fiction was well put 

together, but was weak in several aspects. None of the long interview 

with Dr. Maccabee was used. A very short segment of my interview 

was used completely out of context. Many minutes were given over to 

a detective talking about trying to find the cameraman. All he wound 

up with was a trip to Florida to see someone in a Denny’s restaurant 

who claimed he had been at a bar in Florida and heard someone say 

he had been at Roswell when the saucer crashed. I am absolutely cer- 

tain many Army Air Force men who served at Roswell in 1947 even- 

tually retired to Florida. (Both Counter-Intelligence Corps officer 

Rickett and General DuBose were living in Florida when I met with 

them.) No evidence of a cameraman was found. 

The tearful, yet totally unsubstantiated testimony of Frankie 

Rowe was portrayed without any hint that there are many reasons 

to reject it. Her father was a fireman who supposedly saw the crashed 

saucer and alien bodies some 30 miles north of Roswell because of 

the fire that the crash caused. However, a former Roswell fire chief 

and a city councilman say trucks rarely, if ever, went out that far. And 

that a state police officer would bring a piece of wreckage from a 
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highly classified crash site and show it to his buddies at the firehouse 

where Frankie was allowed to play with it, as maintained in the spe- 

cial, makes no sense to me in a state where national security was such 

a big issue. 

Much of the show focused on trying to set up an either/or situ- 

ation—either the footage was a hoax or it was of an actual alien au- 

topsy. Many outstanding Hollywood special effects people pointed 

out that it would have been very difficult and expensive to fake such 

a gory autopsy. Certainly the organs didn’t look like earthling ones, 

though body proportions were very earthling. However, the footage 

is not continuous, so we don’t know what took place while the cam- 

era wasn't running. 

There are two other, more important, problems with the footage. 

First, there was absolutely nothing in the film that linked it to 

Roswell, the Plains of San Agustin, alien spacecraft, or a crashed fly- 

ing saucer. Second, there are other options. It could have been a real 

autopsy of a real earthling with a genetic defect such as Turner’s 
Syndrome. The body seemed to be short, definitely female, but with 
no breasts; with unusual earlobes, a wide chest, and what seemed to 

be a somewhat webbed neck; i.e., more skin at the bottom than at 
the top. These characteristics, plus the unusual palate, the angle of the 
elbow, the length of the cranial bones, and others, all suggest Turner's. 

The eyes were large, but not like those described so often for aliens. 

There was a dark flap lifted off the eyes by the surgeons, but it ap- 
parently was not actually attached. Eyewitnesses have generally de- 
scribed the aliens as having holes for noses and ears rather than an 
almost normal human nose and real ear flaps, as shown in the footage. 

The people shown conducting the autopsy did not seem to be 
taking any extraordinary, or even scientific, measures. Pathologists ex- 
amining obviously alien life form and not making measurements, not 
weighing organs, not examining carefully? It is hard for me to believe. 

I was further shocked by the segment featuring Dr. Wecht, who 
said that his first thought was that these bodies were those of 
Turner’s Syndrome patients, but that survival of these patients into 
the teens “would have been rare.” Having done my homework on 
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Turner’s Syndrome—I spoke with a doctor who sees many T'S pa- 

tients, the parent of a young lady who has the condition, and have 

heard of a TS patient who is over 90 years old—I knew that this 1s 

simply not true. Most fetuses with the genetic defect, which includes 

the absence of an X chromosome and therefore only afflicts women, 

do not come to term. But one in about 2,500 live female births have 

the syndrome. Without growth hormone, they are almost always 

short, with an average height for hundreds of adults of 4'6". With es- 

trogen and other hormones, secondary sexual characteristics can de- 

velop. Though most would otherwise be sterile, a number of TS 

women have given birth as a result of artificial practices. The disease 

does not kill at an early age despite a wide variety of related symp- 

toms such as misplaced or horseshoe kidneys, certain heart defects, 

diabetes, hearing problems, and others. 

I do have a grudging admiration for the way in which Ray Santilli 

has managed to manipulate ufologists and the media and make a 

load of money without solid backup for any of his stories. As of 

October 1, 1995, the cameraman’s story and name have been 

changed. The location and date of the crash, despite always being as- 

sociated with the Roswell events, have been changed to near Socorro, 

New Mexico, and late May or very early June. Other rumors include 

the notion that the cameraman actually has died and his son is mak- 

ing claims based on his diaries. Supposedly, the cameraman told 

Santilli that he was flown from Washington to Wright Field to 

Roswell, and then driven overland the 170 miles to Socorro. (Why 

this route, when Alamogordo, White Sands, Kirtland, and Sandia 

are much closer to Socorro than Roswell?) Yet because of the high 

ratings that TV shows featuring portions of the footage had around 

the world, the autopsy’s bubble will not be burst for some time. 

Those who do not know the truth seem to be blissful in their ig- 

norance. One downer for me was to review loads of submissions 

about the footage on various computer networks. The percentage of 

garbage was awfully high. For instance, two of the comments after 

I got back from England were that I had both seen the footage and 
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had demonstrated that Truman was in Dallas at the time of the au- 

topsy. Both were false. 

And through the disinformation highway, order forms for the 

raw Santilli footage—initially at $60 apiece—traveled around the 

world. Even though the form carried four disclaimers—Santilli guar- 

anteed nothing—many orders for the video were taken. I am sure 

that once people saw the specials on Fox TV in the United States and 

on UK Channel 4 that orders leaped. 

Other people have done real research on aspects of the story as 

well. First, it was determined that Kodak had not positively identi- 

fied the film as from the 1947 time period. To be able to accurately 

date the film by analysis of its composition would require Kodak to 

have at least 50 full-width frames (less than three-seconds’ worth) 

showing actual scenes, not just from the leader. Several times, Santilli 

promised to provide this from the original film, but he never did. 

Then he claimed that he no longer had access to the actual footage, 

which was supposedly being kept by his financial backer, Voelker 

Spielberg, in a European vault. 

A French researcher named Nicholas Maillard has really dug 

into the various cameraman stories. Santilli had quietly told me and 

others that the cameraman’s name was Jack Barnett. Maillard located 

a quote in E/vis Presley from A to Z stating that a Jack Barnett had 

filmed Elvis for the first time in Cleveland in 1955. However, the 

owner of the rights to that footage was a famous disc jockey named 

Bill Randle who worked in both New York and Cleveland and was 

the first to play Elvis records outside the South. Randle went on to 

get a Ph.D. in history and then became a successful lawyer. He sold 

the rights to the film to Santilli in 1992. He had indeed known Jack 

Barnett. 

However, Barnett, who was a well-known cameraman for Fox 

Movietone News and later for NBC, died in 1967 in Chicago. 

Although he was a war correspondent in Europe during World War 

IT, he was never in the military, according to both his death certifi- 

cate and obituary information that I managed to obtain. Apparently 

he did know Eisenhower and Truman. 
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Maillard also checked on the name later attributed to the cam- 

eraman—Jack Barrett. His military service ended in December 1945. 

He was not a motion picture cameraman though he did take some 

stills. He was in the movie industry as a grip for Columbia Pictures 

for 35 years, but he died in Los Angeles in August 1995. 

Interestingly, a graphologist to whom Maillard submitted Barrett’s 

signature along with copies of the labels from some of the purported 

film cans indicated that the writing on the labels could have been 

Barrett’s. Had the autopsy footage been stored in some Hollywood 

vault, perhaps from some science fiction film? After this, a new name 

for the cameraman—Bennett—was put forth. 

Many special effects experts have been asked about the footage. 

In one survey, eight of nine said that the body in it was manufac- 

tured. One outfit, Truly Dangerous, even published more than 20 

pages of instructions on how to make the body shown in the footage. 

I spoke with Richard Doty, the former Air Force OSI agent. He 

said he had seen the film in the early 1980s and even then it was 

known not to be of aliens. 

Bill Moore had an interesting suggestion in the September 1995 

issue of Saucer Smear, a UFO gossip sheet published every month by 

Jim Moseley: 

The story I get is that there was a remote village in Brazil wherein 

quite a number of these cases [of Turner’s Syndrome] had developed. 

The footage reportedly depicts scenes of actual autopsies performed 

upon two unfortunate victims around 1960... shot opportunistically 

by some B grade sci-fi film outfit with the vague intention of some- 

how using it as the centerpiece of a feature film at some later date... . 

This doesn’t explain what might be a real film dating of 1947, but is 

as good an explanation as any. 

My current position on the footage is that I believe it is possibly that 

of a genuine autopsy of an abnormal earthling, probably one with 

Turner’s Syndrome. Alternatively, it might be a special effects tr1- 
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umph. But I can find no reason to relate it to crashed saucers or alien 

bodies in New Mexico in 1947. Although it has been exploited by 

Ray Santilli, I don’t think he was responsible for creating it. 

One positive result of all the discussion has been that far more 

people are thinking about UFOs and are willing to express them- 

selves than had been the case just a couple of years ago. It’s like the 

old Hollywood line—“I don’t care what you say about me, just spell 

my name right.” 

At last count, parts of the footage have been seen in at least 36 

countries. Because of the high ratings in Argentina, a major company 

there decided to publish a book about Roswell in Spanish. Dan Silver 

managed to book me for a series of seven lectures in England and a 

debate at the historic Oxford University Debate Union in October 

1995. The question before the house: “This house believes that in- 

telligent alien life has visited Planet Earth.” My partner on the af- 

firmative side was British solicitor Harry Harris, who played several 

audiotapes dealing with abduction cases. I presented a series of slides 

to cover major studies. 

Our opponents included a pair of students who spoke very clev- 

erly and humorously, but who gave no factual evidence, and a writer 

named Peter Brookesmith. He had written clever articles about 

UFOs, but he focused on quotes from contactees and tabloid stories 

while ignoring the data I presented. There was a packed house, and 

at the end a vote of the club members was taken to decide the winner. 

The result: Aye, 207; Nay, 140. Sixty percent of the Oxford Debating 

Society agreed with Harry and myself. 

This vote was of special importance to me because I had found in 

the course of doing 40 interviews and seven lectures in England that 

the audiences and interviewers, though certainly friendly, were woe- 

fully uninformed about the scientific side of the UFO question. The 

results at the Debate Union confirm for me that, when presented 

with the facts, people will come down on the side of the truth. 
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THE BOTTOM LINE 

I have approached reaching a conclusion about the Majestic-12 doc- 

uments from three different directions. First, I have critically exam- 

ined the available documents in comparison with other highly 

classified documents, with the kinds of papers I have seen at 15 

archives, and those I handled myself in industry. I have consulted 

with a number of trusted professional colleagues, some of whom have 

spent decades working under security with a wide variety of docu- 

ments. I have directly confronted the arguments of anti-MJ-12 writ- 

ers rather than ignore them, and I have been honest about the 

questions we cannot yet answer. 
Second, I have tried to take advantage of my more than 17 years 

of investigation of the Roswell incident and my more than 35 years 

of investigation of the cosmic Watergate. The seminal events of 1947 

cannot be examined out of context. That agencies of the U.S. gov- 

ernment have been withholding data about extraterrestrial flying 

saucers seen all over the world, in the sky and on the ground, by eye 

and with radar, is as certain as that the sun will rise tomorrow. That 

secrets can be kept from the public is also an absolute certainty. 

Third, I have examined the behavior of the aliens, so far as we 

209 
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know it, and of the government, based on what little we have been 

able to observe, by putting myself in the shoes of each to come up 

with a behavioral approach to the actions of both groups and the im- 

pact that those actions might have on the public. Although I am not 

a psychologist or psychiatrist, I have interacted with all kinds of peo- 

ple in all kinds of places as a result of my more than 700 lectures, 

hundreds of classroom appearances and informal discussions, and 

many hundreds of media appearances, many of them on call-in radio 

shows. Since I almost always provide an address to which people can 

write for more information, I also receive a great deal of mail. 

I am convinced that the documents, when carefully and objec- 

tively examined, lead to the conclusion that there indeed was an 

Operation Majestic-12. All of the Top Secret/MAJIC documents 

that have been discovered so far are old ones, the most recent being 

the Standard Operating Manual, which dates back to 1954. Of 

course I would like access to more recent documents. As a scientist 

who took great joy in working on leading-edge technology, I would 

like to know far more about what has been learned under the aus- 

pices of the Majestic-12 group and its successors. What are the ori- 

gins of our visitors, their mode of propulsion, their motivation? Have 

official government representatives been dealing directly with aliens? 

Have we learned what the aliens know about our origins, the local 

galactic neighborhood association, the world of the mind and spirit? 

When I read my first book about UFOs in 1958, my focus was on 

hard data. That was my role in life—dealing with technical questions 

associated with the design, evaluation, and testing of radiation 

shielding materials. I was heavy into exciting experiments with ex- 

pensive and exotic materials at specialized facilities. The goal was to 

synthesize a mountain of data to determine what it all meant in prac- 

tical terms. 

Having found the very exciting privately published version of 

Project Blue Book Special Report 14 in about 1961, the challenge 

was the same: evaluation and interpretation of a mountain of data. 

The report had over 240 tables, maps,:and charts covering a wide 
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variety of aspects of the UFO phenomenon. There were quality eval- 

uations and categorizations of more than 3,000 sightings. There were 

cross-comparisons between the knowns and the unknowns. There 

were tables showing the size, color, velocity, and other characteris- 

tics of all the UFOs. I was in data heaven. 

Although I still discuss the very important and exciting Special 

Report 14 in all my lectures, that data is no longer my focus. Most 

people have no trouble accepting the notion that humans are not 

alone in the universe, that aliens are visiting, and that our govern- 

ments are not telling all they know. In fact, as the polls show and my 

personal experiences attest, the greater a person’s education, the more 

likely he is to accept flying saucer reality. What people really want 

to know are the answers to the w/y questions. 

1. Why have government agencies such as Majestic-12, the CIA, 

Defense Intelligence Agency, NSA, Air Force, etc., been cover- 

ing up the UFO data mountain? 

2. Why would aliens come here? 

3. What difference does it make to us that flying saucers are visiting 

and that there was an official investigatory group reporting only 

to the president?< 

Many years ago it was widely proclaimed that the reason the gov- 

ernment wouldn't tell us about flying saucers was fear of panic. 

Supposedly this was a legitimate fear, based upon the numbers of 

people who supposedly took seriously Orson Welles’s 1938 radio 

broadcast of H. G. Wells’s War of the Worlds. 

I think references to the broadcast are red herrings. If it had been 

about an actual invasion, with extraterrestrials destroying everyone 

and everything in their path, panic would have been justified. But 

as far as we can tell, aliens are not coming here to slash and burn. A 

much more probable radio announcement would be that a delegation 

of extraterrestrials would be landing to discuss trade, sharing of tech- 

nology, and wisdom about the universe. Would there be large-scale 

panic over that? I think not. 
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My feeling of history is that governments usually act out of their 

own self-interest, or at least what they believe to be their own self-in- 

terest. National security is one of the favorite buzz words of our time 

for politicians and bureaucrats who want to keep secrets from the 

public. But over the years, conditions change. Is a national security 

matter of 50 years ago still a national security matter today? 

In 1947, the U.S. government may not have had any choice but 

to cover up the crashes in New Mexico. The world was in a terrible 

mess. It was a mere two years after the end of the most devastating 

war in history. Anywhere from 40 million to 70 million people were 

killed, the majority of them civilians. More than 1,600 cities were 

flattened, entire regions were blasted, and the world economy was 

shattered. Food, clothing, and shelter were in very short supply in 

many countries. The only countries spared were those in the Western 

Hemisphere, and the United States was far and away the foremost 

political, military, and economic power of the world. 

After fighting a desperate war to defeat the greatest threat the 

world had ever experienced, could the U.S. government come out 

and say, “We thought you would like to know that our skies are being 

invaded by alien spacecraft whose origin and purpose we do not 

know. They have been observed near our most secret facilities in New 

Mexico, Tennessee, Washington, and elsewhere. Their technology 

is far beyond our own. We cannot stop them from entering our air- 

space. If they have evil intentions, we cannot defend against them.” 

This message could not possibly be sent. 

Such an announcement would have shook the world and might 

have stopped the postwar rebuilding in its tracks. In addition, if it 

had been revealed that the U.S. government was in possession of at 

least two flying discs and their crews, this would have told the Soviet 

Union, then building its military capabilities as rapidly as it could, 

that here was military technology which, if understood, could put 

them in the driver’s seat. 

Thus, it seems to me that another primary reason for the coverup 

is military secrecy. The U.S. had in its possession vehicles (or wreck- 

age thereof) with the ability to fly at extremely high speed with in- 
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credible maneuverability and very little noise, and the ability to land 

and take off from areas little larger than themselves. They could lit- 

erally fly circles around anything we had and would make wonder- 

ful weapons delivery and defense systems. Certainly no conventional 

systems under development at the time could duplicate these capa- 

bilities or defend against them. This would be of great military ben- 

efit to whomever could understand the secrets. 

Thus the initial coverup makes sense. But why continue it to the 

modern era? There are several cogent, but not overwhelming, argu- 

ments. 

1. Contrary to what debunkers say, it might take decades or cen- 

turies, not merely a few years, to be able to understand, duplicate, and 

economically mass produce the new technology revealed by the 

wreckage of the flying discs. Rule 1 for security is that you can’t tell 

your friends anything without also telling your enemies. Opening the 

files would give competitors access to the new technology. 

2. Although the cold war is over, we still have enemies around 

the world. A constant worry would be penetration of the research 

work by enemy spies and fear that they might discover the mode of 

propulsion or other new weapons technologies based on their own 

crashed saucer recoveries before we did. We don’t want them to know 

we know they know. 

3. If the public learned that other intelligent life was actually 

coming to our planet, many of our social institutions would be dis- 

rupted. Probably church attendance would increase tremendously, 

as would psychiatric admissions, and the stock market would go 

down. Perhaps most important from a political viewpoint, younger 

members of society, especially those who grew up with the space pro- 

gram, would push for a new view of ourselves. Instead of thinking 

of ourselves as Americans, Canadians, Peruvians, French, or Chinese, 

they would start to think of themselves as earthlings. 

As idyllic as this sounds, I know of no government that wants its 

citizens to owe their primary allegiance to the planet instead of to the 

nation. (Look at the problems the UN has.) Nationalism is really the 

only game in town. The biggest fear of anybody in power, whether 
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mayor, governor, or president, is losing that power. National govern- 

ments do nof want their subjects to have a planetwide orientation. 

4. Certain religious groups would be very disturbed by any an- 

nouncement that humans are not alone, even though this is pre- 

sumed to be true by many Eastern religions, the Mormons, and 

others. Certain Christian fundamentalist sects have made public an- 

nouncements that earthlings are the only intelligent life in the uni- 

verse—let us hope they are wrong—and that this UFO stuff is the 

work of the devil. (I frequently hear this view on call-in shows.) 

These same people have been for years supporting the conservative 

politicians who, at least for the moment, hold the whip hand in 

American government at all levels. They could be left up a religious 

creek without a paddle if it were widely known that aliens—in all 

probability more advanced than us—were visiting. 

Other religions might have problems with the theological im- 

plications of extraterrestrial life. For example, for over 1,000 years, 

the Catholic Church has been against the notion of reincarnation, 

which is an important idea for many religions. Any advanced civi- 

lization would investigate biology as well as the physical sciences. 

Doing so would mean gaining understanding of genetics and aging. 

This would lead to controlling disease and aging, suggesting that 

their members would live proportionately much longer than earth- 

lings. And they would certainly investigate the world of the mind 

and spirit. Suppose they long ago recognized the kind of information 

that indicates reincarnation does occur, as discussed by psychiatrist 

Brian Weiss in two outstanding books: Many Lives, Many Masters 

and Through Time into Healing. If our government has learned about 

such work, they might well be disposed to withhold it in the inter- 

est of preserving the Church, a major influence on the lives and be- 

havior of hundreds of millions of earthlings. You can’t just take away 

an article of faith without replacing it with something else. 

5. There might well be economic discombobulation brought 

about by even the mildest announcement of the most peaceful of 

alien visitations. Many thoughtful people, including the captains of 

economy, would undoubtedly feel that, since alien technology is so 
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far beyond ours, there would soon be new methods of energy pro- 

duction, ground transport, air transport, communications, medicine, 

computers, and other systems. But which of the old buggy whip 

manufacturers would build the new systems and which would fade 

into oblivion? Uncertainty is the enemy of the stock market. 

We need look no farther than Eastern Europe to see what hap- 

pens when there is sudden, large-scale economic upheaval. When the 

Berlin Wall came down it was widely believed that with freedom, 

democracy, and capitalism, everything would soon be splendid for 

the peoples of the old Soviet Empire. What they have found instead 

is increased crime, corruption, inflation, and loss of opportunity. We 

earthlings don’t seem to be very good at handling large-scale eco- 

nomic changes without bloodshed. 

6. The government may know things about the aliens that are 

truly terrible. Aliens eat earthlings. Aliens kidnap them to distant 

planets. Earthlings are sexual fodder for aliens to use. Earth is due 

to be destroyed. We are the booby prize in some celestial lottery. 

Those with very-high-level security clearances and access to such 

terrible secrets may well believe that, since they know more than the 

public does, they must make the choices for us ignorant beings. This 

runs counter to democracy, wherein educated voters make rational 

decisions about their elected representatives. 

A major assumption of all these arguments is that, when confronted 

with the truth, the public will do the wrong thing—panic, withdraw 

all their savings, sell their stocks, desert the churches, what have you. 

What our governments must recognize is that people will more often 

than not do the right thing when presented with correct information. 

They will not panic. They will do their best to survive. But they may 

not support the old authorities as they used to. 

I have on occasion been asked pointblank if I really think the 

public should be told the truth. There is an obvious downside to the 

revelation of technical data related to flying saucers—the technol- 

ogy could be used for new weapons systems or some other form of 

coercion. I don’t think that all the information should be put on the 
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table. However, I believe humans need to know that we are being vis- 

ited. In the long run, I think we will use the revelations for correct 

purposes. ; 
I am convinced that our future is inextricably tied with the ex- 

ploration of other planetary bodies and interactions with more ad- 

vanced civilizations in our local galactic neighborhood. Our future 

is not limited by earth’s resources, but by a failure to see that other 

worlds are in reach. I am not advocating the exploitation of new 

worlds a la the Spanish conquistadors and more recent plunderers. 

But despite crashes, explosions, failed missions, and variable funding, 

humans have continued to probe the skies and our reach is steadily 

becoming longer. 

Part of my own faith in the public’s ability to handle whatever it 

is 6ur governments know comes from my own assessment of what 

spacefaring civilizations are like. Despite the vision of galactic bat- 

tle shown in the Star Wars trilogy and other popular myths, I believe 

that space travelers will ultimately be peaceful. It seems to me that 

advancing technology means control of new and more powerful en- 

ergy sources. As we have moved from human power to animal power 

to water power to steam, oil, electric, and nuclear power, we are 

learning that we must either learn to live at peace with our neigh- 

bors or be destroyed by the power available in our new sources of en- 

ergy. Any civilization that has advanced enough to travel across 

space—meaning any civilization that is far beyond ours—has un- 

doubtedly learned to live at peace with their neighbors—anybody 

they can reach—because of the immense power available in the en- 

ergy sources they must be using. 

This does not mean I believe aliens are necessarily coming here 

to “help” us—a common theme in sci-fi literature. So if they’re not 

here to destroy us, and they’re not here to help us, why are they here? 

The question is a fair one, if somewhat egocentric. The first 

thing to consider is that the galactic neighborhood is not as big as 

some researchers make it out to be. Those seeking radio signals from 

distant civilizations often act as though visitors would have to come 

from other galaxies millions of light years away, and that they would 
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be using the dumb old chemical rockets we are stuck with now. If 

that were the case, of course no one would be visiting. That would 

be like having to go from Canada to Australia to get a loaf of bread. 

But this point of view is not the truth. There are about 1,000 

stars within our local galactic neighborhood, meaning the region 

within 54 light years of earth—a mere walk down the block by galac- 

tic standards. According to an excellent study done by Terence 

Dickinson, one of North America’s finest astronomy writers, 46 of 

those stars are very similar to our sun. Amongst astronomers, there 

seems to be a general consensus that sunlike stars are likely to have 

planets. 

As Dickinson has pointed out, the star pair Zeta 1 and Zeta 2 

Reticuli, in the southern sky constellation Reticulum (the Net) only 

37 light years away from us, are sunlike stars about 100 times closer 

to each other than the sun is to our nearest stellar neighbor. They 

are also about 1 billion years older than the sun. A civilization that 

had a billion-year head start on us will certainly know things that 

we can’t even dream of. Our own limited science has shown that nu- 

clear fusion rockets can provide thrust far in excess of that provided 

by chemical rockets, and so interstellar travel may be as easy for other 

civilizations now as nonstop flight across the ocean is for us today. 

(Remember that less than 70 years ago, many people considered 

Charles Lindbergh to be crazy, or at least eccentric, to attempt to fly 

nonstop across the Atlantic Ocean. In 1995, about 10 million peo- 

ple made the trip.) 

Once the travel is easy, the number of reasons for making the trip 

rapidly increases. From the aliens’ point of view, they might have as 

many reasons for traveling here as we have for visiting San Francisco 

or London. Maybe the visitors are broadcasters with a weekly show 

called Bloopers in the Boondocks. Maybe they are graduate students 

doing theses on the development of primitive societies. Maybe we 

are somebody’s colony, perhaps the Devil’s Island of the interstellar 

neighborhood, which is how Georgia and Australia were founded. 

The original settlers might have been the bad boys and girls of the 

neighborhood, and that is why we are so nasty to each other. Or 
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maybe the earth is the honeymoon capital of the neighborhood or 

the place with the best fishing and hunting. Advanced civilizations 

must have time for leisure, too. 

There is one reason I believe that would be incumbent on any ad- 

vanced civilizations—namely that they are concerned with their own 

security and survival. Thus, they have to pay attention to all the prim- 

itive societies in the neighborhood, and especially close attention to 

those showing signs of venturing beyond ancestral boundaries. 

Earthlings had been showing signs of accelerating technologi- 

cal growth for some decades prior to World War II. The air was pol- 

luted with easily measured products of industrial development from 

mining and smelting, from large-scale agriculture, from power plants, 

and from electromagnetic radiation. The pace jumped during the 

early 1940s. By the end of the war, it would be perfectly clear to any 

alien observers that this primitive society, whose major activity 

seemed to be tribal warfare, would within about 100 years—a short 

time by cosmic measures—be turning starward. There were three ob- 

vious indicators: 

* Powerful rockets such as the V-2 

* Nuclear weapons 

* Powerful electromagnetic devices such as those used for ad- 

vanced radar systems 

Combining these three technologies with the will to progress would 

lead to star travel. If you were an alien, would you wish to have these 

people, for whom every new frontier seemed to become a new place 

to battle, move out without some advance warning? I doubt it. 

I don’t believe it is coincidence that the first crash of flying 

saucers occurred in southeastern New Mexico, the only place on the 

globe in 1947 where all three of these technologies could be moni- 

tored. The first atomic explosion took place at Trinity Site at the 

White Sands Missile Range. All American firings of captured 

German V-2 rockets took place at White Sands as well. In addition, 
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our best radar systems were being used there to track the rockets, 

which often went astray. 

In other words, I believe that the aliens are here primarily for 

their own purposes, one of which is to make sure that our brand of 

“friendship” is not visited upon other civilizations in the neighbor- 

hood. If we can’t get our act together, they will keep us from leaving. 

I also believe that the members of Operation Majestic-12, a very 

impressive group, would have come to similar conclusions, especially 

in view of their remarkable contributions during World War II. They 

were all aware that the Germans were far ahead of the Allies in tech- 

nology at the beginning of the war. They knew the United States 

could never again be protected by the oceans in time of general war. 

They would have done everything possible to study advanced alien 

technology and keep our enemies from beating us to the punch 

which that technology might represent. 

However, the cold war now being over, it’s time for planetary dis- 

cussion as to what it means to be part of a galactic neighborhood. 

International conferences should be convened, perhaps through the 

United Nations, to evaluate the religious, economic, military, politi- 

cal, and philosophical implications of our situation with regard to ex- 

traterrestrial visitors. | hope we can soon qualify for admission to the 

cosmic kindergarten—or at least the preschool. I am sure space will 

be the place in the future. My own personal goal is to help move 

earthlings down this path. The current members of Operation 

Majestic-12 (or whatever it is now called) must have the courage to 

do the same. 
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SUBJECT: OPERATION MAJESTIC-12 PRELIMINARY BRIEFING FOR 

PRESIDENT-ELECT EISENHOWER. 

DOCUMENT PREPARED 18 NOVEMBER, 1952. 

BRIEPING OFFICER: ADM. ROSCOE H. HILLENKOETTER (MJ-1) 

NOTE: This document has been prepared as a preliminary briefing 

only. It should be regarded as introductory to @ full operations 

briefing intended to follow. 

e* # @ @ @ 

OPERATION MAJESTIC-12 is a TOP SECRET Research and Development/ 

Intelligence operation responsible directly and only to the 

President of the United States. Operations of the etree are 

carried out under control of the Majestic-1l2 (Majic-12) Group 

which was established by special classified executive order of 

President Truman on 24 September, 1947, upon recommendation by 

Dr. Vannevar Bush and Secretary James Forrestal. (See Attachment 

"aAt,) Members of the Majestic-l12 Group were designated as followe: 

Adm. Roscoe H. Hillenkoetter 

Dr. Vannevar Bush 
Secy. James V. Porrestal* 
Gen. Nathan F. Twining 

Gen. Hoyt S. Vandenberg 
Dr. Detlev Bronk 
Dr. Jerome Hunsaker 
Mr. Sidney W. Souers 
Mr. Gordon Gray 
Dr. Donald Menzel 

Gen. Robert M. Montague 

Dr. Lloyd V. Berkner 

The death of Secretary Forrestal on 22 May, 1949, created 

a vacancy which remained unfilled until Ol August, 1950, upon 

which date Gen. Walter B. Smith was designated as permanent 

replacement. 
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On 24 June, 1947, a civilian pilot flying over the Cascade 

Mountains in the State of Washington observed nine flying 

disc-shaped aircraft traveling in formation at a high rate 

of sveed. Although this was not the first known sighting 

of such objects, it was the firet to gain widespread attention 

in the public media. Hundreds of reports of sightings of 

similar objects followed. Many of these came from highly 

credible military and civilian sources. These reports res- 

ulted in independent efforts by several different elements 

of the military to ascertain the nature and purpose of these 
objects in the interests of national defense. A number of 
witnessea were interviewed and there were several unsuccessful 
attempts to utilize aircraft in efforts to pursue reported 
discos in flight. Public reaction bordered on near hysteria 
at times. 

In svite of these efforts, little of substance was learned 
about the objects until a local rancher reported that one 
had crashed in a remote region of New Mexico located approx- 
imately seventy-five miles northwest of Roswell Army Air 
Base (now Walker Pield). 

On 07 July, 1947, a secret operation was begun to assure 
recovery of the wreckage of this object for scientific study. 
During the course of this operation, aerial reconnaissance 
discovered that four small human-like beings had apparently 
ejected from the craft at some point before it exploded. 
These had fallen to earth about two miles east of the wreckage 
site. All four were deud and badly decomposed due to action 
by predators and exposure to the elements during the approx- 
imately one week time period which had elapsed before their 
discovery. A special soientific team took charge of removing 
these bodies for study. (See Attachment "C",) The wreckage 
of the craft was also removed to several different locations. 
(See Attachment "B".) Civilian and military witnesses in 
the area were debriefed, and news reporters were given the 
effective cover story that the object had heen a misguided 
weather research balloon. 
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A covert analytical effort organized by Gen. Twining and 

Dr. Bush acting on the direct orders of the President, res- 

ulted in a preliminary concensus (149 September, 1947) that 

the disc was most likely a short range reconnaissance craft. 

This conclusion was based for the most part on the craft's 

size and the apparent lack of any identifiable provisioning. 

(See Attachment "D".) A eimilar analysis of the four dead 

occupants was arranged by Dr. Bronk. It was the tentative 

conclusion of this group (30 November, 1947) that althourh 

these creatures are human-like in appearance, the biological 

and evolutionary processes responsible for their development 

has apparently heen quite different from those observed or 

postulated in homo-sapiens. Dr. Bronk's team has suggested 

the term "Extra-terrestrial Biological Entities", or "ERES", 

he adopted as the standard term of reference for these 

creatures until such time as a more definitive designation 

can be agreed upon. 

Since it is virtually certain that these craft do not origin- 

ate in any country on earth, considerable speculation has 

centered around what their point of origin might be and how 

they get here. Mars was and remains a possibility, although 

some acientists, most notably Dr. Menzel, consider it more 

likely that we are dealing with beings from another solar 

system entirely. 

Numerous examples of what appear to be a form of writing 

were found in the wreckage. Efforts to decipher these have 

remained largely unsuccessful. (See Attachment "EB", ) 

Equally unsuccesaful have been efforts to determine the 

method of propulsion or the nature or method of transmission 

of the power source involved. Research along these lines 

has heen complicated by the complete absence of identifiable 

wings, propellers, jets, or other conventional methods of 

propulsion and ruidance, as well as a total lack of metallic 

wiring, vacuum tubes, or similar recopnizable electronic 

components. (See Attachment “pu,) It ies assumed that the 

propulsion unit was completely destroyed by the explosion 

which caused the crash. 
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A need for as much additional information 928 possible about 

these craft, their nerformance characteristics and their 

purpose Jed to the undertakina known as U.S. Air Force Project 

SIGN in December, 1947. In order to preserve security, liason 
between SIGN and Majestic-12 was limited to two individuals 
within the Intelligence Division of Air Materiel Command whose 
role was to pase along certain types of information through 
channels. SIGN evolved into Project GRUDGE in December, 1948. 
The operation is currently being conducted under the code name 
BLUE BOOK, with liason maintained through the Air Porce officer 
who is head of the project. 

On 06 December, 1950, a second object, probably of similar 
orifrin, impacted the earth at high speed in the Fl Indio - 
Guerrero area of the Texas - Mexican hoder after following 
a long trajectory through the atmosphere. By the time a 

© search team arrived, what remained of the object had been almost 
totally incinerated. Such material as could be recovered was 
transported to the A.E.C. facility at Sandia, New Mexico, for 
study. 

Implications for the National Security are of continuing im- 
portance in that the motives and ultimate intentions of these 
visitors remain completely unknown. In addition, a sipnificant 
upsurge in the surveillance activity of these craft beginning 
in May and continuing through the autumn of this year has caused 
considerable concern that new developments may be imminent. 
It is for these reasons, 2a well as the obvious international 
and tschnolorical considerations and the ultimate need to 
avoid a public panic at all costs, that the Majestic-1l2 Group 
remains of the unanimous opinion that imposition of the 
stricteat security precautions should continue without inter- 
ruption into the new administration. At the same time, con- 
tinvency plan MJ-1949-04P/78 (Top Secret - Fyes Only) should 
be held in continued readiness ahould the need to mike a 
public announcement present itself. (See Attachment "G".) 
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FNUMERATION OF ATTACHMENTS: 

®ATTACHMENT "“A....2---Special Classified Executive 

order #092447. (TS/EO) 

*ATTACHMENT "B"....----Operation Majestic-12 Status 

Report #1, Part A. 3Q°NOV '47. 

(TS-MAJIC,’B0 ) 

*®ATTACHMENT "C",,.....-Operation Majestic-12 Status 

Report #1, Part B. 30 NOV ‘47. 

(TS-MAJIC/EO ) 

®ATTACHMENT "D"......--Oparation Ma jestic-l2 Preliminary 

Analytical Report. 19 SEP "47. 

(TS-MAJIC/EO ) 

*ATTACHMENT "E"..-..---Operation Ma jeatic-l2 Blue Tean 

Report #5. 30 JUN ‘52. 

(TS-MAJIC/EO) 

*ATTACHMENT "F"....2---Operation Majestic-l2 Status 

Report #2. 31 JAN ‘48. 
(TS-MAJIC/EO ) 

ATTACHMENT "G".......-Operation Majestic-12 Contingency 

Plan MJ-1949-04P/78: 31 JAN '49. 

(TS-MAJIC/EO ) 

*ATTACHMENT "H"........Operation Majestic-l2, Maps and 

Photographs Folio (Extractions). 
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THE WHITE HOUSE 

WASHINGTON 

September 24, 1947. 

MEMORANDUM FOR THE SECRETARY OF DEFENSF 

Dear Secretary Forrestal: 

As per our recent conversation on this matter, 
you are hereby authorized to proceed with all due 
speed and caution upon your undertaking. Hereafter 
this matter shall be referred to only as Operation 
Majestic Twelve. i 

It continues to be my feeling that any future 
considerations relative to the ultimate disposition 
of this matter should rest solely with the Office 
of the Fresident following appropriate discussions 
with yourself, Dr. Bush and the Director of Central 
Intelligence. 
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APPENDIX B 

LETTER FROM GENERAL THINING 
TO GENERAL SCHULGEN 

This letter, which was published in the January 1969 Condon 

Report, was only classified Secret, and so could not discuss informa- 

tion that was classified Top Secret or above. 

23 September 1947 

SUBJECT: AMC Opinion Concerning “Flying Discs” 

TO: Commanding General 

Army Air Forces 

Washington 25, D.C. 

ATTENTION: Brig. General George Schulgen 

AC/AS-2 

1. As requested by AC/AS-2 there is presented below the consid- 

ered opinion of this Command concerning the so-called “Flying 

Discs.” This opinion is based on interrogation report data furnished 

by AC/AS-2 and preliminary studies by personnel of T-2 and Aircraft 

Laboratory, Engineering Division T-3. This opinion was arrived at 

in a conference between personnel from the Air Institute of 
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Technology, Intelligence T-2, Office, Chief of Engineering Division, 

and the Aircraft, Power Plant and Propeller Laboratories of 

Engineering Division T-3. 

2. It is the opinion that: 

a. The phenomenon reported is something real and not visionary 

or fictitious. 

. There are objects probably approximating the shape of a disc, of 

such appreciable size as to appear to be as large as man-made 

aircraft. 

. There is a possibility that some of the incidents may be caused 

by natural phenomena, such as meteors. 

. The reported operating characteristics such as extreme rates of 

climb, maneuverability (particularly in roll), and action which 

must be considered evasive when sighted or contacted by 

friendly aircraft and radar, lend belief to the possibility that 

some of the objects are controlled either manually, automatically 

or remotely. 

. The apparent common description of the objects is as follows: 

(1) Metallic or light reflecting surface. 

(2) Absence of trail, except in a few instances when the object 

apparently was operating under high performance condi- 

tions. 

(3 ar Circular or elliptical in shape, flat on bottom and domed on 

top. 

(4) Several reports of well kept formation flights varying from 

three to nine objects. 

(5 ed Normally no associated sound, except in three instances a 

substantial rumbling roar was noted. 

(6) Level flight speeds normally above 300 knots are estimated. 

It is possible within the present U.S. knowledge—provided ex- 

tensive detailed development is undertaken—to construct a pi- 

loted aircraft which has the general description of the object in 

subparagraph (e) above which would be capable of an approxi- 

mate range of 7000 miles at subsonic speeds. 

. Any developments in this country along the lines indicated 
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would be extremely expensive, time consuming and at the con- 

siderable expense of current projects and therefore, if directed, 

should be set up independently of existing projects. 

h. Due consideration must be given the following: 

(1) The possibility that these objects are of domestic origin— 

the product of some high security project not known to 

AC/AS-2 or this Command. 

(2) The lack of physical evidence in the shape of crash recov- Sr 

ered exhibits which would undeniably prove the existence 

of these objects. 

(3 wa The possibility that some foreign nation has a form of 

propulsion possibly nuclear, which is outside of our domes- 

tic knowledge. 

3. It is recommended that: 

a. Headquarters, Army Air Forces issue a directive assigning a pri- 

ority, security classification and Code Name for a detailed study — 

of this matter to include the preparation of complete sets of all 

available and pertinent data which will then be made available 

to the Army, Navy, Atomic Energy Commission, JRDB, the 

Air Force Scientific Advisory Group, NACA, and the RAND 

and NEPA projects for comments and recommendations, with 

a preliminary report to be forwarded within 15 days of receipt of 

the data and a detailed report thereafter every 30 days as the 

investigation develops. A complete interchange of data should 

be effected. 

4, Awaiting a specific directive AMC will continue the investigation 

within its current resources in order to more closely define the na- 

ture of the phenomenon. Detailed Essential Elements of Information 

will be formulated immediately for transmittal thru channels. 

N. F TWINING 

Lieutenant General, U.S.A. 

Commanding 

> 



AIPIPENDUX C 

INSIDER INFORMATION 
UNCOVERED DURING 
AUTHENTICATION OF 

MAJESTIC-le DOCUMENTS 

This appendix lists information that was not known to UFO re- 

searchers before we began authenticating the Eisenhower briefing, 

the Truman-Forrestal memo, and the Cutler-Twining memo. 

DONALD MENZELS CONNECTIONS AND TALENTS 

1. Longer continuous association with NSA and predecessor Navy 

agency than anyone else (30 years as of 1960). 

Top Secret Ultra clearance and work with CIA. 

Classified work for many major contractors. 

Close connections with Vannevar Bush from 1934 on. 

Extraordinary discretion concerning classified matters (brought 

out in 1,300 pages of testimony at his loyalty hearings). 

Expert cryptanalyst; taught cryptanalysis before World War II. 

Expert knowledge of another symbolic language (Japanese). 

8. Frequent trips to New Mexico on government expense account 

during 1947 and 1948. 

9. Suddenly left consulting position at ERA in summer of 1947 to 

work on highly classified matter. 

de Pi 

NS 

BSS: 



234 TOP SECRET/MAJICy 

10. Strong engineering orientation, which is very unusual for an as- 

tronomer. 

11. Close connections with Detlev Bronk, Lloyd Berkner, and vari- 

ous space scientists. 

12. Head of Naval Reserve Communications Unit 1-1, Cambridge, 

Massachusetts. 

13. His papers at Harvard require three different permissions for ac- 

cess, rather than being easily accessible. 

SPECIAL DATES 

1. November 18, 1952. Date of MJ-12 briefing. Eisenhower was 

briefed in Pentagon vault, although no record has yet been found 

of the briefing. References to other still-classified briefings for 

Eisenhower on this date found in OSD files. General Twining 

was definitely at one of the Pentagon briefings with Eisenhower. 

2. September 24, 1947. Date of Truman-Forrestal memo. Only 

date in last eight months of 1947 when Bush met with Truman. 

Forrestal was also present. Bush and Forrestal met prior to 

Truman meeting, and left together. 

3. August 1, 1950. Date when Walter Bedell Smith was named per- 

manent member of MJ-12. Only date in first 10 months of 1950 

when Smith met with Truman. The meeting was off the record 

and not publicized. 

4. September 19, 1947. Briefing notes preliminary analytical re- 

port—directed by General Twining—given on this day. Twining 

flew from Ohio to Washington, D.C. on September 18, and re- 

turned to Ohio on September 19. 

OTHER ESSENTIAL INFORMATION 

1. The Cutler-Twining memo has neither a signature nor an /s/ 

Years after the memo was found, it was discovered that Cutler 

was out of the country on that date, and so could not have signed 

the memo. 
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2. James Lay had an off-the-record meeting with Eisenhower at 

9. 

2:30 P.M. on July 14, 1954—the date of the Cutler-Twining 

memo—and a phone conversation with Eisenhower at 4:30 P.M. 

that day. 

. The typeface of the Cutler-Twining memo is exactly the same 

size and style as used in other NSC memos between 1953 and 

1955. 

. The phrase “your concurrence in the above change of arrange- 

ments is assumed” apparently used by Cutler and Lay in highly 

classified memos to avoid necessity of response. 

. Placing a slant red pencil mark through the security marking—as 

appears on the Cutler-Twining memo—is standard procedure 

for declassifiers at repositories. 

. The use of a period after the date on the Truman-Forrestal memo 

was found to be standard style for the office of Vannevar Bush. 

. The supposedly odd date format of day month comma year occurs 

in numerous examples in published works as well as in items sent 

by both Walter Bedell Smith and Roscoe Hillenkoetter. 

The discovery of a memo from Lay to Cutler dated July 16, 

1954, in which Lay speaks of keeping the pressure off Cutler 

when he returns by taking care of things. 

It was standard practice for highly classified memos to obscure 

the subject rather than to spell it out clearly. 

10. There can be identical signatures by the same person, although 

11. 

12: 

3: 

they are very likely not to be consecutive signatures. 

During and after the 1952 election campaign, Eisenhower was 

briefed by Walter Bedell Smith, then head of the CIA, on na- 

tional security and defense matters. 

General Robert Montague, although little known by the public, 

was an appropriate person for membership in MJ-12 because of 

his position at Fort Bliss, which included command of White 

Sands Missile Range; his appointment as head of the Armed 

Forces Special Weapons Centre at Kirtland; and because he was 

well-known to General Twining, his West Point classmate. 

Government documents of that time period were occasionally 
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typed using one typewriter for the text and a different one for the 

date. : 

The numerical portion of the date on the Truman-Forrestal 

memo (“24, 1947.”) was done on a different typewriter than that 

used for the text of the letter. 

Many government offices of that time period used varying for- 

mats, styles, and typewriter faces for their classified memos, let- 

ters, and so on, rather than always being consistent. 

Huge numbers of documents from the Truman and Eisenhower 

administrations are still classified even after recent classification 

review. The Eisenhower Library has at least 100,000 pages of 

classified NSC material still unreviewed and unavailable. 

17. James Forrestal’s papers at Princeton require permission for ac- 

18. 

cess rather than being open. 

Dictation Onionskin—the type of paper used for the copy of the 

Cutler-Twining memo found in the National Archives—was 

made only in bid lots from 1953 through the mid-1970s. 
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SOME EXCLUSIONS 10 Tht 
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 

The following is a list of exclusions to material that can be requested 

under FOIA. These are regulations that apply just to FBI material, 

and they illustrate the almost insurmountable stumbling blocks that 

face any researcher looking for UFO material. 

SUBSECTIONS OF TITLE 5, UNITED STATES CODE, 

SECTION 552 

(b) (1) (A) specifically authorized under criteria established by an 

Executive order to be kept secret in the interest of national 

defense or foreign policy and (B) are in fact properly classi- 

fied pursuant to such Executive order; 

(b) (2) related solely to the internal personnel rules and practices of 

an agency; 

(b) (3) specifically exempted from disclosure by statute (other than 

section 52b of this title), provided that such statute (A) re- 

quires that the matters be withheld from the public in such 

a manner as to leave no discretion on the issue, or (B) estab- 

lishes particular criteria for withholding or refers to particu- 

lar types of matters to be withheld; 
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(b) (4) 

(b) (5) 

(b) (6) 

(b) (7) 

TOP SECKET/MA] ix. 

trade secrets and commercial or financial information ob- 

tained from a person and privileged or confidential, : 

inter-agency or intra-agency memorandums or letters which 

would not be available by law to a party other than an agency 

in litigation with the agency; 

personnel and medical files and similar files the disclosure 

of which would constitute a clearly unwarranted invasion of 

personal privacy; 

records or information compiled for law enforcement pur- 

poses, but only to the extent that the production of such law 

enforcement records or information (A) could reasonably be 

expected to interfere with enforcement proceedings, (B) 

would deprive a person of a right to a fair trial or an impartial 

adjudication, (C) could reasonably be expected to constitute 

an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy, (D) could rea- 

sonably be expected to disclose the identity of a confidential 

source, including a State, local, or foreign agency or author- 

ity or any private institution which furnished information on 

a confidential basis, and, in the case of a record or informa- 

tion compiled by a criminal law enforcement authority in the 

course of a criminal investigation, or by an agency conduct- 

ing a lawful national security intelligence investigation, in- 

formation furnished by a confidential source, (E) would 

disclose techniques and procedures for law enforcement in- 

vestigations or prosecutions, or would disclose guidelines for 

law enforcement investigations or prosecutions if such dis- 

closure could reasonably be expected to risk circumvention of 

the law, or (F) could reasonably be expected to endanger the 

life or physical safety of any individual; 

contained in or related to examination, operating, or condi- 

tion reports prepared by, on behalf of, or for the use of an 

agency responsible for the regulation or supervision of finan- 

cial institutions, or 

geological and geophysical information and data, including 

maps, concerning wells. 
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SUBSECTIONS OF TITLE 5, UNITED STATES CODE, 

SECTION 552A 

(d) (5) information compiled in reasonable anticipation of a civil ac- 

tion proceeding; 

(j) (2) material reporting investigative efforts pertaining to the en- 

forcement of criminal law including efforts to prevent, con- 

trol, or reduce crime or apprehend criminals, except records 

of arrest; 

(k) (1) information which is currently and properly classified pur- 

suant to Executive Order 12356 in the interest of the na- 

tional defense or foreign policy, for example, information 

involving intelligence sources or methods; 

(k) (2) investigatory material compiled for law enforcement pur- 

poses, other than criminal, which did not result in loss of a 

right, benefit or privilege under Federal programs, or which 

would identify a source who furnished information pursuant 

to a promise that his/her identity would be held in confi- 

dence; 

(k) (3) material maintained in connection with providing protective 

services to the President of the United States or any other in- 

dividual pursuant to the authority of Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 3056; 

(k) (4) required by statute to be maintained and used solely as sta- 

tistical records; 

(k) (5) investigatory material compiled solely for the purpose of de- 

termining suitability, eligibility, or qualifications for Federal 

civilian employment or for access to classified information, 

the disclosure of which would reveal the identity of the per- 

son who furnished information pursuant to a promise that 

his identity would be held in confidence; 

testing or examination material used to determine individ- 

ual qualifications for appointment or promotion in Federal 

Government service the release of which would compromise 

(k) (6 ———Z 

the testing or examination process; 
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(k) (7) material used to determine potential for promotion in the 

armed services, the disclosure of which would reveal the iden- 

tity of the person who furnished the material pursuant toa 

promise that his identity would be held in confidence. 
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AIR FORCE RESPONSE TO 
SENATOR PRITY MURRAY 

When Senator Patty Murray of Washington requested information 

about the events in Roswell in July 1947, Lieutenant Colonel 

Shubert of the Air Force sent her this one-page letter, dated August 

25, 1993. (Following this letter is my own response to Shubert.) 

The Honorable Patty Murray 

United States Senator 

2988 Jackson Federal Building 

915 2nd Avenue 

Seattle, Washington 98174 

Dear Ms. Murray: 

This is in reply to your inquiry to the Secretary of Defense in be- 

half of Mr. Michael C. Atkins regarding events occurring near 

Roswell, New Mexico, in July 1947. 

The Air Force possesses no records regarding this incident. We 

are not aware that any other governmental department or agency, 

other than the National Archives, possesses any records pertaining 

to UFOs. 

As information, the Air Force began investigating UFOs in 1948 

241 



242 TOP SECRET/MAJIC 

* 

under a program called Project Sign. Later, the program’s name was 

changed to Project Grudge and, in 1953, it became known as Project 

Blue Book. On December 17, 1969, the Secretary of the Air Force 

announced the termination of Project Blue Book. The decision to dis- 

continue UFO investigations was based on a number of factors, in- 

cluding reports and studies by the University of Colorado and the 

National Academy of Sciences, as well as past UFO studies and the 

Air Force’s two decades of experience investigating UFO reports. 

As a result of these investigations, studies, and experience, the con- 

clusions of Project Blue Book were: 1) no UFO reported, investigated 

and evaluated by the Air Force has ever given any indication of threat 

to our national security, 2) there has been no evidence submitted to, or 

discovered by, the Air Force that sightings categorized as “unidenti- 

fied” represent technological developments or principles beyond the 

range of present-day scientific knowledge and, 3) there has been no 

evidence indicating that sightings categorized as “unidentified” are 

extraterrestrial vehicles. 

Similar information is being sent to several Members of Congress 

in response to their inquiries. 

We appreciate your interest in this matter and trust this informa- 

tion is helpful. 

Sincerely, 

THOMAS W. SHUBERT, Lt Col, USAF 

Congressional Inquiry Division 

Office of Legislative Liaison 

. 
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Feb. 11, 1994 

Thomas W. Shubert, Lt. Col. USAF 

Congressional Inquiry Division 

Office of Legislative Liaison 

Office of the Secretary 

Department of the Air Force 

Washington, DC 20330-1000 

Dear Colonel Shubert: 

Mr. Michael C. Atkins has sent me a copy of your letter of August 25, 

1993, to Senator Patty Murray of Washington State, concerning 

UFOs. I am writing to inform you that whoever provided the infor- 

mation in the letter has provided both inaccurate information and 

misleading information, as will be established below. 

Perhaps I should add that I have had a serious professional inter- 

est in UFOs since 1958, have lectured on the subject “Flying Saucers 

ARE Real” to more than 600 colleges and 100 professional groups 

in all 50 states, provided testimony to the congressional hearings of 

July 29, 1968, and written 62 papers about UFOs in addition to coau- 

thoring Crash at Corona, a book about the U.S. government's recov- 

ery and coverup of crashed saucers in New Mexico in 1947. 

To simplify the exposition, I will use the term USAF to include 

both the Air Force and the Army Air Force, which was the proper 

name until September 1947. I will also use the term “you” rather than 

“the letter to Senator Murray.” 

1. USAF began its investigation into flying saucers (the term UFO 

was invented by USAF Captain Edward Ruppelt after 1950) at least 

as early as June 1947, NOT in 1948 as you state. There were many 

newspaper articles throughout the U.S. indicating great government 

concern with the well over 1,000 flying disc reports made in more 

than 40 states shortly after the publicity given to pilot Kenneth 

Arnold’s sighting of nine objects in Washington State on June 24, 

1947. Ruppelt’s comments will be enclosed. 
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A. Serious USAF investigation focused on the crashed saucer re- 

covered outside Roswell, New Mexico in early July 1947. USAF _ 

Colonel William Blanchard, Commander of the 509th 

Composite Bomb Group and Roswell Army Air Field, ordered 

his Intelligence Officer, Major Jesse Marcel, to accompany a 

rancher, who had brought very strange wreckage into the office 

of Roswell Sheriff Wilcox, back to the site of the discovery of 

the wreckage with a Counter Intelligence Corps (later OSI) 

Officer on July 6, 1947. Not incidentally, the 509th dropped the 

atomic bombs on Hiroshima, Nagasaki, and in Operations 

Crossroads in the Pacific in 1946. Colonel Blanchard eventually 

became a four-star USAF general and USAF vice chief of staff. 

All officers of the 509th were hand-picked. The 509th was part 

of the 8th Air Force. 

B. When Major Marcel returned to the base on July 8 with a ve- 

hicle loaded with pieces of the very strange wreckage, Colonel 

Blanchard ordered USAF Lt. Walter Haut to issue a press re- 

lease indicating that wreckage of a flying disc had indeed been 

recovered. He also ordered Major Marcel to get a B-29 crew to 

take the major and some of the wreckage to Wright Field in 

Ohio with a stop at 8th Air Force HQ in Fort Worth, Texas. 

USAF General Roger Ramey, Commander of the 8th Air 

Force, received instructions prior to Major Marcel’s arrival to 

cover up the story and never to talk about the wreckage again 

through his chief of staff, Colonel T. J. DuBose (later a USAF 

general), who got them directly from USAF General Clements 

McMullen, who was basically acting as Commander of the 

USAF SAC under USAF General Kenney. Testimony from 

both Marcel and DuBose (both deceased) is on file and readily 

available. General Ramey ordered Marcel to say nothing and 

told the press (which was waiting because Haut’s press release 

went out on the newswire about noon New Mexico time) that 

the wreckage they were observing was that of a radar reflector 

from a weather balloon. 

Ramey had replaced the real wreckage with the radar reflec- 
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tor foil-like material and got away with this intentional decep- 

tion for 31 years until I got involved. An FBI memo (enclosed) 

indicates the wreckage was NOT that of a weather balloon and 

was shipped on a special flight to Wright Field. The notion that 

Blanchard and Marcel couldn't recognize the wreckage of a 

radar reflector from a weather balloon is absurd, as is the no- 

tion that pieces of one could cover an area 3/4 mile long and 

hundreds of feet wide and that the wooden sticks couldn't be 

broken, burnt, or cut and would have strange pastel symbols. 

General Ramey’s cover story went out about four hours after 

Haut’s. Both releases were too late for morning papers. Haut’s 

made it into evening papers from Chicago west. I will enclose 

copies of several of these. Some include the text of the release. 

The Roswell story is told in detail in the three books and 

about eight long papers that have been published. Walter Haut 

is alive and well (in Roswell), as is Jesse Marcel, Jr., M.D., pilot, 

flight surgeon, and member of military aircraft accident investi- 

gating teams who also handled the very unusual material. Both 

have given notarized testimony. 

C. General Nathan Twining’s Sept. 23, 1947 formerly Secret let- 

ter (enclosed) concerning UFOs clearly indicates that signifi- 

cant effort had been put into the flying saucer problem by then, 

long before Sign, Grudge, and Blue Book. The National 

Archives copy of the original lists five top technical men from 

AMC as contributing to the letter. Twining was head of the Air 

Materiel Command and later went on to become vice chief and 

then chief of staff of the USAF, and eventually served as chair- 

man of the Joint Chiefs. 

2. The notion that Project Blue Book and its predecessors, Sign and 

Grudge, were the sum total of Air Force UFO investigations as im- 

plied in your letter is easily demolished. 

A.A Jan. 31, 1949 FBI memo states that Army and Air Force 

Intelligence (NOT Sign and Grudge or later Blue Book) con- 

sider the subject of flying saucers Top Secret. I certainly could- 



246 Os 7S EGR Wa SMA) Ue 
* 

n't find any Top Secret or TS Plus files in the Blue Book ma- 

terial. 

. The problem of unidentified aerial objects is directly related to 

the mission of the Air Defense Command with its continent- 

wide radar net, computers, closed communications system, and 

instrument aircraft ready to be scrambled to identify and mon- 

itor the characteristics of uncorrelated targets. Whether one is 

seeking Soviet aircraft and missiles or flying saucers matters not; 

the technical effort is the same. Project Blue Book had a major, 

a sergeant, a few secretaries, a bunch of filing cabinets, and a 

once-a-month visit from a quiet astronomer. There were no 

computers, radars, instruments, or closed communications sys- 

tem. Perhaps of most importance, it had no need-to-know for 

Air Defense Command data. It accepted and occasionally in- 

vestigated civilian reports. Of far greater interest are reports 

from military personnel. 

C. According to the very memo that resulted in the December 

1969 closure of Project Blue Book (the October 20, 1969 memo 

from General Carroll Bolender—copy enclosed), “Moreover re- 

ports of UFOs which could affect National Security are made in 

accordance with JANAP 146 or Air Force Manual 55-11 and 

are not part of the Blue Book system. . . . However, as already 

stated, reports of UFOs which could affect national security 

would continue to be handled through the standard AIR 

FORCE procedures designed for this purpose. . . .” It should 

be noted that Blue Book had not even been on the distribution 

list for these reports. Any reasonable person would certainly ex- 

pect that objects which could affect national security would be 

of far greater significance than mere civilian uninstrumented 

observations. It is obvious that any USAF claim that all Air 

Force investigations were subsumed under the heading of Blue 

Book, Sign, and Grudge is false. 

D.I do have on hand copies of two formerly Top Secret Air Force 

Intelligence UFO-related documents. Neither had anything to 

do with Blue Book, Sign, and Grudge. Both relate, as might be 
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expected from item 2A above, to Air Force Intelligence. Copies 

are enclosed. There are surely more where these came from, just 

waiting to be released. 

3. The conclusions of Project Blue Book as noted in your letter make 

no more sense today than they did in 1969. They are very well written 

propaganda: 

A. Penguins in Antarctica have also given “no indication of being 

a threat to our national security.” They are certainly real. The 

best question about UFOs is are any of them intelligently con- 

trolled extraterrestrial spacecraft. The evidence, including some 

very interesting data from Project Blue Book Special Report 14, 

clearly indicates that some are. 

B. If any of the functions noted—reporting, investigation, evalua- 

tion—were performed by some other agency, such as the CIA, 

DIA, ONI, NRO, this first statement could be technically true, 

but totally meaningless. This same limitation applies to the 

statement about the evidence “submitted to or discovered by the 

Air Force.” In addition, such information would almost by de- 

finition be extremely highly classified and could not be dis- 

closed. After all, a country which has an annual black budget 

of $34 billion, according to a Pulitzer Prize-winning journal- 

ist, must have cover stories to protect “black” programs. 

Obviously, I should also note as a scientist who worked on a 

host of far-out, exciting, eventually cancelled, highly classified R 

& D programs, that trips to the stars do NOT represent tech- 

nological developments or principles beyond the range of pre- 

sent-day scientific knowledge any more than a trip to the moon 

was beyond the range of scientific knowledge in 1947. It just 

took a huge effort and tons of money to go from principles to 

practice. 

Conclusion 3 is frankly absurd. Anybody who studies the 

large-scale scientific studies noted in my enclosed paper “The 

Case for the Extraterrestrial Origin of Flying Saucers” will find 

that the conclusion that some UFOs are ET spacecraft is in- 

escapable. For example, USAF Project Blue Book Special 
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Report 14 (essentially never mentioned in official USAF state- 

ments for obvious reasons) demonstrates that 21.5 percent of 

the 3,201 sightings investigated could NOT be identified, com- 

pletely separate from the 9.5 percent which were labeled 

Insufficient Information. The probability that the Unknowns 

were just missed Knowns was shown to be less than 1 percent. It 

was found that the better the quality of the sighting, the more 

likely to be an Unknown. It is clear that the combination of ap- 

pearance and incredible flight behavior rule out an earth origin 

for those pre-1955 Unknown sightings. If any terrestrial source 

could duplicate that flying behavior back then, we earthlings 

would no longer be building F-16, F-17, F-18, MIG 29, 

Mirage 5, etc., aircraft. 

The press release which was very widely distributed when 

BBSR 14 was completed, like your letter, was totally mislead- 

ing, including this statement by the then secretary of the USAF: 

“On the basis of this report, we believe that no objects such as 

those popularly described as flying saucers have overflown the 

United States. Even the Unknown 3% could have been identi- 

fied as conventional phenomena or illusions if more complete 

observational data had been available.” The fact is that the 

Unknowns were, as noted above, 21.5 percent of the total, not 

3 percent, and were completely separate from the Insufficient 

Information cases. 

Parenthetically, I should note that it is hilarious for the 

USAF over and over again to suggest that ONLY 500 or 600 

sightings couldn't be explained. Fewer than 1 percent of natu- 

rally occurring isotopes are fissionable, or of chemicals cure dis- 

eases, or of people are 7 feet tall, or of the matter in a ton of 

good grade gold ore is gold. Would any rational person say no 

isotopes are fissionable, or no chemicals cure disease, or no one 

is 7 feet tall, or the ore is worthless? 

4. Your paragraph 2 makes this incredible statement: “We are not 

aware that any other governmental department or agency, other than 

the National Archives, possesses any records pertaining to UFOs.” If 
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the USAF is not so aware, it certainly should be. Let me educate you. 

The CIA admitted finding over 900 pages of material concerning 

UFOs and released a list of 57 documents originating with other 

agencies, including the State Department and the DIA and 18 from 

the NSA. The NSA, when taken to court and forced to do a search, 

admitted finding 239 UFO documents with 79 originating with other 

agencies, including 23 from the CIA, which somehow hadn't found 

them when doing its initial search. 

Of course the NSA refused to release any of its 160 UFO docu- 

ments even to Judge Gerhard Gesell on the grounds of national se- 

curity. Everybody and his brother has been collecting UFO data. I 

should add that, as described in the enclosed piece, “The Cosmic 

Watergate,” the CIA also hadn't found the 200 UFO documents ref- 

erenced internally in the 900 released pages, none of which were clas- 

sified above Secret. I have been to 15 archives. There should have 

been loads of TS material. Also Maxwell AFB had quite a number 

of documents relating to UFOs, but NOT part of the Blue Book sys- 

tem. The US Army had numerous CIRVIS reports relating to UFOs. 

Somebody needs to do some homework. 

5. If the Air Force has no unreleased UFO-related data, then why did 

the USAF Office of Special Investigations instruct its many units to 

violate its own procedures should they receive a Freedom of 

Information request about UFOs from me? Their memo is enclosed. 

The only “reasonable,” if unethical, reason is the intent to hide data 

from the public. It probably violates all kinds of rules and regulations. 

In summary, Colonel Shubert, an apology is in order to Senator 

Murray and the other members of Congress to whom your office pro- 

vided such false and misleading information. It is time to at least get 

educated about the facts and to stop misrepresentation to the 

American people and their elected representatives. I have my finger 

on the pulse of the country after all my lectures. Perhaps you need 

information from somebody like me who has been on the hot seat? 

The GAO should certainly be given the data about Roswell. It may 

well be that you don’t know where it is. Perhaps Majestic-12 or some 
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such organization does. As former President Nixon found out, mis- 

representation to the American people can eventually have serious z 

consequences. 

Most cordially, and looking forward to your response, 

Stanton T. Friedman 

ce: Senator Patty Murray, Congressman Steven Schiff, others 
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Stanton Friedman shines the. bright 

light of truth on the dark world of 

official secrets, omissions, and outright 

lies. For all UFO-philes, it’s definite 

need-to-know material.” Bryce Zabel 

Executive Producer/Creator NBC’s 
Dark Skies. 

TOP SECRET/MA JIC. is-the result 

of nuclear physicist Stanton T. Friedman's 

eleven year search for the truth about 

the mysterious Operation Majestic 12, 

classified TOP. SECRET/MAJIC. 

Some of the most startling of these 

documents are published here for the 

first time. They tell the incredible tale 

of the July 1947 recovery of a-crashed 
flying saucer near Roswell, New Mexico andl the establishment by President Truman 
of a truly all-star cast (Majestic-12) to deal with the saucer and its non human inhab- 
itants. The first four Directors of Central Intelligence, the first Secretary of Defense, 
and several outstanding scientists-and military leaders were part of the team: 

Friedman has been investigating the MJ-12 story since the initial document was leaked 
to a colleague in 1984. He has wrestled publicly. with both ufologists and debunkers 
and privately with his own skepticism concerning the role of a prominent Harvard 

~ astronomer who was both a named member of Majestic-12 and a vocal debunker. Dr. 
Donald Menzel's double life, and his long term, high-level association with the 

- National Security Agency and the CIA, convinced Friedman to dig more deeply into 
the MJ-12 documents. 

Nobody is better qualified to explode the mystery of Majestic-12 than Stanton 
Friedman. He began the serious investigation of the Roswell incident in 1978. He was 
the first to locate and interview many of the key witnesses. He dug deeply into the 

- backgrounds ofthe Majestic-12 members, sifting through fifteen document archives to 
establish the cross relationships between them. Friedman has worked under security on 
many advanced nuclear and space system development programs for General Electric, 
Westinghouse and General Motors, and brings his unique qualifications to bear on.an 
‘investigation’ most often conducted by amateurs. Stanton Friedman is NOT a UFO 

most { outspoken, best known and most ed Ne renetire ufologist in 

‘ te ae 
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